### **GUIDELINES**

### Management of severe perioperative bleeding

Guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology

Sibylle A. Kozek-Langenecker, Arash Afshari, Pierre Albaladejo, Cesar Aldecoa Alvarez Santullano, Edoardo De Robertis, Daniela C. Filipescu, Dietmar Fries, Klaus Görlinger, Thorsten Haas, Georgina Imberger, Matthias Jacob, Marcus Lancé, Juan Llau, Sue Mallett, Jens Meier, Niels Rahe-Meyer, Charles Marc Samama, Andrew Smith, Cristina Solomon, Philippe Van der Linden, Anne Juul Wikkelsø, Patrick Wouters and Piet Wyffels

The aims of severe perioperative bleeding management are three-fold. First, preoperative identification by anamesis and laboratory testing of those patients for whom the perioperative bleeding risk may be increased. Second, implementation of strategies for correcting preoperative anaemia and stabilisation of the macro- and microcirculations in order to optimise the patient's tolerance to bleeding. Third, targeted procoagulant interventions to reduce the amount of bleeding, morbidity, mortality and costs. The purpose of these guidelines is to provide an overview of current knowledge on the subject with an assessment of the guality of the evidence in order to allow anaesthetists throughout Europe to integrate this knowledge into daily patient care wherever possible. The Guidelines Committee of the European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESA) formed a task force with members of scientific subcommittees and individual expert members of the ESA. Electronic databases were searched without language restrictions from the year 2000 until 2012. These searches produced 20 664 abstracts. Relevant systematic reviews with meta-analyses, randomised controlled trials, cohort studies, case-control studies and cross-sectional surveys were selected. At the suggestion of the ESA Guideline Committee, the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) grading system was initially used to assess the level of evidence and to grade recommendations. During the process of guideline development, the official position of the ESA changed to favour the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) system. This report includes general recommendations as well as specific recommendations in various fields of surgical interventions. The final draft guideline was posted on the ESA website for four weeks and the link was sent to all ESA members. Comments were collated and the guidelines amended as appropriate. When the final draft was complete, the Guidelines Committee and ESA Board ratified the guidelines.

Published online 25 April 2013

		This article is	accompanied by	the following l	Invited Commentary:	
--	--	-----------------	----------------	-----------------	---------------------	--

Spahn DR, Rossaint R. All we ever wanted to know about perioperative bleeding. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2013; 30:267-269.

From the Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Evangelical Hospital Vienna, Austria (SAKL), Department of Anaesthesia, Mother and Children's section, Juliane Marie Center, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Denmark and Department of Pediatric and Neonatal Intensive Care Service, Geneva University Hospital, Switzerland (AA), Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, Grenoble University Hospital, Grenoble, France (PA), Department of Anaesthesiology and Resuscitation, University Hospital Rio Hortega, Valladolid, Spain (CAAS), Department of Neurosciences, Odontostomatologic and Reproductive Sciences, University of Napoli Federico II, Naples, Italy (EDR), Department of Cardiac Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Emergency Institute of Cardiovascular Disease, Bucharest, Romania (DCF), Department of General and Surgical Intensive Care Medicine, Medical University Innsbruck, Austria (DF), Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, University Hospital Essen, Universität Duisburg-Essen, Germany (KG), Department of Anaesthesia, University Children's Hospital Zurich, Switzerland (TH), Copenhagen Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Copenhagen University Hospital Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark (GI), Department of Anaesthesia and Pain Therapy, Department of Intensive Care, Medical Centre, Netherlands (ML), Department of Anaesthesia and Pain Therapy, Department of Intensive Care, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands (PL), Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, Hospital Clinico Universitario of Valencia, University Hospital, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Germany (JM), Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Intensive Care Medicine, Hospital Bielefeld, Germany (NRM), Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care (CMS), Department of Anaesthesia, Royal Lancaster Infirmary, Lancaster, UK (AS), Department of Anaesthesia Oligy, Perioperative Medicine and General Intensive Care, Salzburg University Hospital SALK, Salzbur

Correspondence to Sibylle A. Kozek-Langenecker (chairperson of the guideline task force), Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Evangelical Hospital Vienna, Hans-Sachs-Gasse 10-12, 1180-Vienna, Austria E-mail: sibylle.kozek@aon.at

0265-0215 © 2013 Copyright European Society of Anaesthesiology

DOI:10.1097/EJA.0b013e32835f4d5b

### Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

### Contents

1	Abbreviations	271
2	Summary: Recommendations, suggestions and statements	274
	Transfusion of labile blood products	275
	Visceral and transplant surgery	278
	Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding	279
	Paediatric surgery	279
	Antiplatelet agents	279
	Vitamin K antagonists	280
	Comorbidities involving haemostatic derangement	281
	Introduction	283
4	Methods	283
	4.1 Selection of task force	283
	4.2 The search for evidence	283
_	4.3 Review of the guideline	284
5	Coagulation monitoring.	284
	5.1 Perioperative coagulation testing	284
,	5.2 Evaluation of platelet function	289
6	Anaemia management	291
	6.1 Preoperative correction of anaemia	291
	6.2 Intra- and postoperative optimisation of macro- and microcirculation	295
7	6.3 Transfusion of labile blood products.	297
1	Coagulation management.	<b>303</b> 303
	<ul><li>7.1 Indications, contraindications, complications and doses</li><li>7.2 Correction of confounding factors</li></ul>	305 305
	7.2 Contection of contouring factors	305
Q	Multimodal approach (algorithms) in specific clinical fields	<b>308</b>
0	8.1 Cardiovascular surgery	308
	8.2 Gynaecology and obstetrics	315
	8.3 Orthopaedic surgery and neurosurgery	319
	8.4 Visceral and transplant surgery.	325
	8.5 Paediatric surgery	331
9	Anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy	333
	9.1 Introduction	333
	9.2 Antiplatelet agents.	333
	9.3 Anticoagulant agents	335
10	Perioperative bleeding management in patients with comorbidities with haemostatic derangements and	
	congenital bleeding disorders	340
	10.1 Patients with comorbidities involving haemostatic derangement	340
	10.2 Patients with congenital bleeding disorders.	341
11	Final remarks	349
12	References.	351

### **1 ABBREVIATIONS**

A5, A10	Amplitude at 5/10 min following clotting time
AAGBI	Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland
ACS	Acute coronary syndrome
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ALI	Acute lung injury
APA	Anti-platelet agents
APCC	Activated prothrombin complex concentrate
APTEM	Thromboelastometry assay incorporating aprotinin and recombinant tissue factor as an activation
	enhancer
aPTT	Activated partial thromboplastin time

AT	Antithrombin
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AVB	Acute variceal bleeding
BART	Blood conservation using antifibrinolytics in a randomised trial
BAT	Bleeding assessment tool
CABG	Coronary artery bypass graft
CADP	Collagen and ADP (PFA-100 assay)
CCI	Corrected count increment
CEPI	Collagen and epinephrine (PFA-100 assay)
CFT	Clot formation time (also called k time)
CI	Confidence interval
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
CLD	Chronic liver disease
$\mathrm{CMV}$	Cytomegalovirus
COX	Cyclo-oxygenase
CPA	Cone and plate(let) analyser (Impact-R)
CPB	Cardiopulmonary bypass
CT	Clotting time
CVP	Central venous pressure
DIC	Disseminated intravascular coagulation
DPG	Diphosphoglycerol
EACA	ε-aminocaproic acid
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EXTEM	Extrinsic thromboelastometry assay incorporating recombinant tissue factor as activation enhancer
$\mathbf{FF}$	Functional fibrinogen (assay)
FFP	Fresh frozen plasma
FIBTEM	Fibrinogen thromboelastometry assay, incorporating recombinant tissue factor as activation enhancer and
	cytochalasin D as platelet inhibitor
FNHTR	Febrile non-haemolytic transfusion reactions
FVIII	Factor VIII
FXa	Factor Xa
FXIII	Factor XIII
G	Clot rigidity
GP	Glycoprotein
Hb	Haemoglobin
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HELLP	Haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelets
HEPTEM	Thrombelastometry assay incorporating heparinase and ellagic acid as an activation enhancer
HES	Hydroxyethyl starch
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HTLV	Human T-cell lymphotropic virus
HTRs	Haemolytic transfusion reactions
HV	Hyperoxic ventilation
ICH	Intracerebral haemorrhage
ICS	Intraoperative cell salvage
ICT	Intracardiac thrombi
ICU	Intensive care unit
INR	International normalised ratio
INTEM	Intrinsic thromboelastometry assay incorporating ellagic acid as activation enhancer $(\%, af alat arrangth remaining 30 min after CT)$
LI30 LMWH	Lysis index (% of clot strength remaining 30 min after CT)
LMWH L T A	Low molecular weight heparin
LTA LY30	Light transmittance aggregometry Lysis index (% of clot strength remaining 30 min after MA)
MA	
MA MBD	Maximum amplitude Mild bleeding disorders
MCB	Mild bleeding disorders Mucocutaneous bleeding
THE D	in account of the only of the

## EJA

MCE	Maximum clot elasticity
MCF	Maximum clot firmness
MEA	Multiple electrode aggregometry (Multiplate)
ML	Maximum lysis
NATEM	Native thromboelastometry assay (no activation enhancement or additional modifications)
NICE	National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence
NOA	New oral anticoagulant agent
NSAID	Non-selective, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
OLT	Orthotopic liver transplantation
PAI	Plasminogen activator inhibitor
paO2	Partial pressure of oxygen
PCC	Prothrombin complex concentrate
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
PEP	Pulmonary embolism prevention (trial)
PFA-100	Platelet function analyser
PPV	Pulse pressure variation
PT	Prothrombin time
r	Reaction time
RBC	Red blood cell
RBD	Rare bleeding disorder
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
rFVIIa	Recombinant activated factor VII
ROTEM	Thromboelastometry
SBT	Skin bleeding time
ScvO2	Central venous oxygen saturation
SD	Solvent and detergent
SHOT	Serious hazards of transfusion
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
SLT	Standard laboratory test
SPRINT	Systolic blood pressure intervention trial
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
SVV	Stroke volume variation
TACO	Transfusion-associated circulatory overload
TAE	Transcatheter arterial embolisation
TA-GVHD	Transfusion-associated graft-versus-host disease
TEG	Thromboelastometry
TF	Tissue factor
THA	Total hip arthroplasty
TRALI	Transfusion-related acute lung injury
TRAP	Thrombin receptor activator peptide
TRICC	Transfusion requirements in critical care (trial)
TRIM	Transfusion-related immunomodulation
UFH	Unfractionated heparin
UGIB	Upper gastrointestinal bleeding
vCJD	Variant Creutzfeldt-Jacob disease
VKA	Vitamin K antagonist
VTE	Venous thromboembolism
VWD	Von Willebrand disease
VWF	Von Willebrand factor

### 2 SUMMARY: RECOMMENDATIONS, SUGGESTIONS AND STATEMENTS

Grade of recommendation shown in bold type (see Table 1)

### **Evaluation of coagulation status**

We recommend the use of a structured patient interview or questionnaire before surgery or invasive procedures, which considers clinical and family bleeding history and detailed information on the patient's medication. **1C** 

We recommend the use of standardised questionnaires on bleeding and drug history as preferable to the routine use of conventional coagulation screening tests such as aPTT, PT and platelet count in elective surgery. **1C** 

We recommend the application of transfusion algorithms incorporating predefined intervention triggers to guide haemostatic intervention during intraoperative bleeding. **1B** 

We recommend the application of transfusion algorithms incorporating predefined intervention triggers based on point-of-care (POC) coagulation monitoring assays to guide haemostatic intervention during cardiovascular surgery. **1C** 

### **Evaluation of platelet function**

We suggest preoperative platelet function testing only in addition to a positive bleeding anamnesis. **2C** 

We suggest that preoperative platelet function testing be used to identify decreased platelet function caused by medical conditions and antiplatelet medication. 2C

### Preoperative correction of anaemia

We recommend that patients at risk of bleeding are assessed for anaemia 4–8 weeks before surgery. **1C** 

If anaemia is present, we recommend identifying the cause (iron deficiency, renal deficiency or inflammation). **1C** 

We recommend treating iron deficiency with iron supplementation (oral or intravenous). **1B** 

If iron deficiency has been ruled out, we suggest treating anaemic patients with erythropoietin-stimulating agents. **2A** 

If autologous blood donation is performed, we suggest treatment with erythropoietin-stimulating agents in order to avoid preoperative anaemia and increased overall transfusion rates. 2B

### **Optimising macrocirculation**

We recommend aggressive and timely stabilisation of cardiac preload throughout the surgical procedure, as this appears beneficial to the patient. **1B** 

#### Table 1 Grades of recommendation – GRADE system

		Clarity of risk/benefit	Quality of supporting evidence	Implications
1A	Strong recommendation. High quality evidence.	Benefits clearly outweigh risk and burdens, or vice versa.	Consistent evidence from well performed randomised, controlled trials or overwhelming evidence of some other form. Further research is unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of benefit and risk.	Strong recommendation, can apply to most patients in most circumstances without reservation.
1B	Strong recommendation. Moderate quality evidence.	Benefits clearly outweigh risk and burdens, or vice versa.	Evidence from randomised, controlled trials with important limitations (inconsistent results, methodological flaws, indirect or imprecise), or very strong evidence of some other form. Further research (if performed) is likely to have an impact on our confidence in the estimate of benefit and risk and may change the estimate.	Strong recommendation, likely to apply to most patients
1C	Strong recommendation. Low quality evidence.	Benefits appear to outweigh risk and burdens, or vice versa.	Evidence from observational studies, unsystematic clinical experience, or from randomised, controlled trials with serious flaws. Any estimate of effect is uncertain.	Relatively strong recommendation; might change when higher quality evidence becomes available
2A	Weak recommendation. High quality evidence.	Benefits closely balanced with risks and burdens.	Consistent evidence from well performed, randomised, controlled trials or overwhelming evidence of some other form. Further research is unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of benefit and risk.	Weak recommendation, best action may differ depending on circumstances or patients or societal values.
2B	Weak recommendation. Moderate quality evidence.	Benefits closely balanced with risks and burdens, some uncertainty in the estimates of benefits, risks and burdens.	Evidence from randomised, controlled trials with important limitations (inconsistent results, methodological flaws, indirect or imprecise), or very strong evidence of some other form. Further research (if performed) is likely to have an impact on our confidence in the estimate of benefit and risk and may change the estimate	Weak recommendation, alternative approaches likely to be better for some patients under some circumstances
2C	Weak recommendation. Low quality evidence.	Uncertainty in the estimates of benefits, risks and burdens; benefits may be closely balanced with risks and burdens.	Evidence from observational studies, unsystematic clinical experience, or from randomised, controlled trials with serious flaws. Any estimate of effect is uncertain.	Very weak recommendation; other alternatives may be equally reasonable

We recommend the avoidance of hypervolaemia with crystalloids or colloids to a level exceeding the interstitial space in steady state, and beyond an optimal cardiac preload. 1B

We recommend against the use of central venous pressure and pulmonary artery occlusion pressure as the only variables to guide fluid therapy and optimise preload during severe bleeding; dynamic assessment of fluid responsiveness and non-invasive measurement of cardiac output should be considered instead. **1B** 

We suggest the replacement of extracellular fluid losses with isotonic crystalloids in a timely and protocol-based manner. **2C** 

Compared with crystalloids, haemodynamic stabilisation with iso-oncotic colloids, such as human albumin and hydroxyethyl starch, causes less tissue oedema. C

We suggest the use of balanced solutions for crystalloids and as a basic solute for iso-oncotic preparations. **2C** 

### **Transfusion triggers**

We recommend a target haemoglobin concentration of  $7-9 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  during active bleeding. **1C** 

### **Oxygen fraction**

We recommend that inspiratory oxygen fraction should be high enough to prevent arterial hypoxaemia in bleeding patients, while avoiding extensive hyperoxia ( $PaO_2 > 26.7 \text{ kPa}$  [200 mmHg]). **1C** 

### Monitoring tissue perfusion

We recommend repeated measurements of a combination of haematocrit/haemoglobin, serum lactate, and base deficit in order to monitor tissue perfusion, tissue oxygenation and the dynamics of blood loss during acute bleeding. These parameters can be extended by measurement of cardiac output, dynamic parameters of volume status (e.g. stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation) and central venous oxygen saturation. **1C** 

### Transfusion of labile blood products

We recommend that all countries implement national haemovigilance quality systems. **1C** 

We recommend a restrictive transfusion strategy which is beneficial in reducing exposure to allogeneic blood products. **1A** 

We recommend photochemical pathogen inactivation with amotosalen and UVA light for platelets. **1C** 

We recommend that labile blood components used for transfusion are leukodepleted. 1B

We recommend that blood services implement standard operating procedures for patient identification and that staff be trained in early recognition of, and prompt response to, transfusion reactions. **1C**  We recommend that multiparous women be excluded from donating blood for the preparation of FFP and for the suspension of platelets in order to reduce the incidence of transfusion-related acute lung injury. **1C** 

We recommend that all RBC, platelet and granulocyte donations from first-or second-degree relatives be irradiated even if the recipient is immunocompetent, and all RBC, platelet and that granulocyte products be irradiated before transfusing to at-risk patients. **1C** 

We recommend the transfusion of leukocyte-reduced RBC components for cardiac surgery patients. 1A

### Cell salvage

We recommend the routine use of red cell salvage which is helpful for blood conservation in cardiac operations using CPB. **1A** 

We recommend against the routine use of intraoperative platelet-rich plasmapheresis for blood conservation during cardiac operations using CPB. **1A** 

We recommend the use of red cell salvage in major orthopaedic surgery because it is useful in reducing exposure to allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. **1A** 

We recommend that intraoperative cell salvage is not contraindicated in bowel surgery, provided that initial evacuation of soiled abdominal contents and additional cell washing are performed, and that broad-spectrum antibiotics are used. **1C** 

### **Storage lesions**

We recommend that RBCs up to 42 days old should be transfused according to the first-in first-out method in, the blood services to minimise wastage of erythrocytes. **1C** 

### **Coagulation management**

We recommend treatment with fibrinogen concentrate if significant bleeding is accompanied by at least suspected low fibrinogen concentrations or function. **1C** 

We recommend that a plasma fibrinogen concentration  $<1.5-2.0 \text{ gl}^{-1}$  or ROTEM/TEG signs of functional fibrinogen deficit should be triggers for fibrinogen substitution. **1C** 

We suggest an initial fibrinogen concentrate dose of  $25-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ . **2C** 

We suggest that the indication for cryoprecipitate is lack of available fibrinogen concentrate for the treatment of bleeding and hypofibrinogenaemia. **2C** 

In cases of ongoing or diffuse bleeding and low clot strength despite adequate fibrinogen concentrations, it is likely that FXIII activity is critically reduced. In cases of significant FXIII deficiency (i.e. <60% activity), we suggest that FXIII concentrate (30 IU kg<sup>-1</sup>) can be administered. **2C** 

We recommend that patients on oral anticoagulant therapy should be given prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC) and vitamin K before any other coagulation management steps for severe perioperative bleeding. **1B** 

We suggest that PCC  $(20-30 \text{ IU kg}^{-1})$  can also be administered to patients not on oral anticoagulant therapy in the presence of an elevated bleeding tendency and prolonged clotting time. Prolonged INR/PT alone is not an indication for PCC, especially in critically ill patients. **2C** 

We suggest that off-label administration of recombinant activated factor VII (rFVIIa) can be considered for bleeding which cannot be stopped by conventional, surgical or interventional radiological means and/or when comprehensive coagulation therapy fails. **2C** 

### Antifibrinolytics and tranexamic acid

We recommend the consideration of tranexamic acid  $(20-25 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ . **1A** 

We suggest the use of DDAVP under specific conditions (acquired von Willebrand syndrome). There is no convincing evidence that DDAVP minimises perioperative bleeding or perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion in patients without a congenital bleeding disorder. **2B** 

### **Correction of confounding factors**

We recommend maintaining perioperative normothermia because it reduces blood loss and transfusion requirements. **1B** 

We suggest that rFVIIa may be used in treatment of patients with hypothermic coagulopathy. **2C** 

While pH correction alone cannot immediately correct acidosis-induced coagulopathy, we recommend that pH correction should be pursued during treatment of acidotic coagulopathy. **1C** 

We recommend that rFVIIa should only be considered alongside pH correction. **1C** 

We suggest that calcium should be administered during massive transfusion if  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration is low, in order to preserve normocalcaemia ( $\geq 0.9 \text{ mmol } l^{-1}$ ). **2B** 

### Emergency radiological/surgical interventions to reduce blood loss

We suggest that endovascular embolisation is a safe alternative to open surgical intervention after failed endoscopic treatment for upper gastrointestinal bleeding. **2C** 

We suggest super-selective embolisation as primary therapy for treatment of angiogram positive lower gastro-intestinal bleeding.  $\mathbf{2C}$ 

We suggest embolisation as first-line therapy for arterial complications in pancreatitis.  $\mathbf{2C}$ 

### Cost implications

Bleeding and transfusion of allogeneic blood products independently increase morbidity, mortality, length of stay in ICU and hospital, and costs.  $\bf B$ 

Lysine analogues (tranexamic acid and  $\varepsilon$ -aminocaproic acid; EACA) reduce perioperative blood loss and transfusion requirements; this can be highly cost-effective in several settings of major surgery and trauma. **A** 

We recommend restricting the use of rFVIIa to its licensed indication because, outside these indications, the effectiveness of rFVIIa to reduce transfusion requirements and mortality remains unproven and the risk of arterial thromboembolic events as well as costs are high. **1A** 

Cell salvage can be cost-effective. A

The cost-effectiveness of a formula-driven transfusion protocol has not been investigated.

Implementation of transfusion and coagulation management algorithms (based on ROTEM/TEG) can reduce transfusion-associated costs in trauma, cardiac surgery and liver transplantation. **B** 

Goal-directed therapy with coagulation factor concentrates (fibrinogen and/or PCC) may reduce transfusion-associated costs in trauma, cardiac surgery and liver transplantation.  ${\bf B}$ 

Thromboembolic events are associated with increased in-hospital and post-hospital costs.  ${\bf B}$ 

Targeted therapy with fibrinogen and/or PCC guided by ROTEM/TEG is not associated with an increased incidence of thromboembolic events. **C** 

### Algorithms in specific clinical fields Cardiovascular surgery

Withdrawal of aspirin therapy increases the risk of thrombosis; continuation of aspirin therapy increases the risk of bleeding. A

Withdrawal of clopidogrel therapy increases the risk of thrombosis; continuation of clopidogrel therapy increases the risk of bleeding. A

We recommend that a prophylactic dose of low molecular weight heparin should be administered subcutaneously 8-12 h before elective CABG surgery. This intervention does not increase the risk of perioperative bleeding. **1B** 

We recommend that tranexamic acid or EACA should be considered before CABG surgery. **1A** 

We suggest considering prophylactic preoperative infusion of 2 g fibrinogen concentrate in patients with fibrinogen concentration <3.8 g/L, because it may reduce bleeding following elective CABG surgery. **2C** 

Prothrombin complex concentrate is effective for rapid reversal of oral anticoagulation before cardiac surgery. A

We recommend that intraoperative tranexamic acid or EACA administration should be considered to reduce perioperative bleeding in high-, medium- and low-risk cardiovascular surgery. **1A** 

We recommend that tranexamic acid should be applied topically to the chest cavity to reduce postoperative blood loss following CABG surgery. **1C** 

We recommend that fibrinogen concentrate infusion guided by point-of-care viscoelastic coagulation monitoring should be used to reduce perioperative blood loss in complex cardiovascular surgery. **1B** 

We suggest that recombinant FVIIa may be considered for patients with intractable bleeding during cardiovascular surgery once conventional haemostatic options have been exhausted. 2B

We suggest that antiplatelet therapy with aspirin or clopidogrel may be administered in the early postoperative period without increasing the risk of postoperative bleeding. 2C

We suggest that rFVIIa may be considered for patients with intractable bleeding after cardiovascular surgery once conventional haemostatic options have been exhausted. **2B** 

We recommend the use of standardised haemostatic algorithms with predefined intervention triggers. 1A

### Gynaecological (non-pregnant) bleeding

We suggest against normovolaemic haemodilution because it does not reduce allogeneic transfusion. 2A

Cell salvage may reduce allogeneic transfusion in gynaecological (including oncological) surgery. **C** 

We suggest using preoperative intravenous iron to reduce allogeneic transfusion requirements in gynaecological cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. **2B** 

We suggest using intravenous iron to correct preoperative anaemia in women with menorrhagia. **2B** 

Preoperative fibrinogen and D-dimer evaluation in gynaecological cancer patients provide little useful information. C

Postoperative FFP transfusion is associated with an increased risk of venous thromboembolism in malignant gynaecological surgery. C

rFVIIa increases thromboembolic risk and has not been shown to reduce mortality.  ${\bf B}$ 

Tranexamic acid reduces the frequency of late bleeding after cone biopsy of the cervix.  $\mathbf{B}$ 

Tranexamic acid reduces perioperative bleeding in gynaecological cancer surgery. C

We suggest against the use of tranexamic acid in benign gynaecological operations such as myomectomy. **2B** 

### **Obstetric bleeding**

We recommend that peripartum haemorrhage should be managed by a multidisciplinary team. An escalating management protocol including uterotonic drugs, surgical and/or endovascular interventions, and procoagulant drugs should be available. **1C** 

Risk awareness and early recognition of severe haemorrhage are essential.  $\ensuremath{\mathbf{C}}$ 

We suggest that patients with known placenta accreta are treated by multidisciplinary care teams. **2C** 

Cell salvage is well tolerated in obstetric settings, provided that precautions are taken against rhesus isoimmunisation. C

We suggest that using perioperative cell salvage during caesarean section may decrease postoperative homologous transfusion and reduce hospital stay. **2B** 

We recommend that moderate  $(<9.5 \text{ g dl}^{-1})$  to severe  $(<8.5 \text{ g dl}^{-1})$  postpartum anaemia be treated with intravenous iron rather than oral therapy. **1B** 

Intravenous iron supplementation improves fatigue at 4, 8 and 12 weeks postpartum. **B** 

Insufficient evidence exists to support the transfusionsparing effect of intravenous iron supplementation.

We suggest that treatment with erythropoietin may correct anaemia more rapidly than treatment with folic acid and iron. 2C

We suggest assessing fibrinogen concentration in parturients with bleeding, as concentrations  $<2 g l^{-1}$  may identify those at risk of severe PPH. **2C** 

Platelet count  $<100 \times 10^9 l^{-1}$  at the onset of labour, particularly combined with plasma fibrinogen concentration  $<2.9 g l^{-1}$ , may indicate an increased risk of PPH. **C** 

aPTT and PT are of little predictive value for PPH. C

Thromboelastometry can identify obstetric coagulopathy and hyperfibrinolysis and guide haemostatic therapy. **C** 

In life-threatening PPH, we suggest a transfusion protocol with a fixed product ratio or individualised procoagulant intervention and factor substitution. **2C** 

Considering physiologically elevated fibrinogen concentrations in pregnancy, we suggest that a higher trigger value for treating hypofibrinogenaemia may be required. C

We recommend the administration of tranexamic acid in obstetric bleeding to reduce blood loss, bleeding duration and the number of units transfused. **1B** 

We suggest that tranexamic acid be considered before caesarean section. **2C** 

In antepartum bleeding, we suggest administration of tranexamic acid.  $\mathbf{2B}$ 

We recommend that rFVIIa should only be considered as last line therapy because of its thromboembolic risk. **1B** 

We suggest that fibrinogen concentration and number of platelets should be optimised before administration of rFVIIa. **2C** 

#### Orthopaedic surgery and neurosurgery

In elective orthopaedic surgery, we recommend the implementation of a blood transfusion protocol (algorithm), together with staff education. **1B** 

Allogeneic blood transfusion is associated with an increased incidence of nosocomial infections. **B** 

Infusion of colloids in patients with severe bleeding can aggravate dilutional coagulopathy by additional effects on fibrin polymerisation and platelet aggregation. **C** 

We recommend that, for orthopaedic surgery, monotherapy with aspirin does not need to be discontinued. **1B** 

We recommend discontinuing dual antiplatelet therapy before urgent intracranial neurosurgery. A risk-benefit analysis is required for the continuation of aspirin monotherapy during neurosurgery. **1B** 

We recommend against performing orthopaedic surgery during the first three months after bare metal stent implantation or during the first twelve months after drug eluting stent implantation. **1C** 

Preoperative medication with ADP-receptor antagonists or with new oral anticoagulants is associated with an increased risk of major bleeding and intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH), especially if used in combination. **B** 

Reduced platelet activity is associated with early haematoma growth, more intraventricular haemorrhage and worse three-month outcome following ICH. C

Low platelet count, low plasma fibrinogen concentration and FXIII deficiency are predictive of bleeding complications in ICH, intracranial surgery and major spine surgery, particularly when they occur in combination. **C** 

Preoperative measurement of plasma fibrinogen concentration provides more information on bleeding volume and transfusion requirements than standard screening tests. C

We suggest the use of viscoelastic tests (ROTEM/TEG) for monitoring perioperative haemostasis in major orthopaedic surgery and neurosurgery. **2C** 

The intensity of oral anticoagulation with warfarin measured by INR, shows a close correlation to the incidence and severity of bleeding complications, in particular with ICH. **C** 

We suggest administering tranexamic acid in total hip arthroplasty, total knee arthroplasty, and major spine surgery. **2A** 

Tranexamic acid may promote a hypercoagulable state for some patients (with pre-existing thromboembolic events, hip fracture surgery, cancer surgery, age over 60 years, women). Therefore, we suggest an individual risk-benefit analysis instead of its routine use in these clinical settings. **2A** 

We suggest the use of rFVIIa in patients with neutralising antibodies to FVIII undergoing major orthopaedic surgery. **2C** 

Prophylactic use of rFVIIa does not reduce perioperative blood loss or transfusion in non-haemophiliac and noncoagulopathic patients undergoing major orthopaedic surgery or neurosurgery, and it may increase the incidence of thromboembolic events. We, therefore, recommend against the prophylactic use of rFVIIa in these clinical settings. **1B** 

We recommend restricting off-label use of rFVIIa to patients with severe bleeding who are unresponsive to other haemostatic interventions. **1C** 

In patients with INR > 1.5, with life-threatening bleeding or ICH, we recommend that four-factor PCCs  $(20-40 \,\mathrm{IU}\,\mathrm{kg}^{-1})$ , supplemented with vitamin K (10 mg by slow intravenous infusion), should be used for rapid reversal of vitamin K-antagonists (VKA). **1C** 

In patients with neutralising antibodies to FVIII undergoing major orthopaedic surgery, we suggest using activated PCCs (e.g. FEIBA, FVIII inhibitor bypassing agents). **2C** 

New oral anticoagulants, such as rivaroxaban and dabigatran, may increase surgical bleeding and ICH growth. We suggest that PCC, FEIBA or rFVIIa may be used as non-specific antagonists in life threatening bleeding or ICH. **2C** 

### Visceral and transplant surgery

Despite PT, aPTT and INR indicating coagulopathy in chronic liver disease (CLD), global coagulation tests (thrombin generation and TEG/ROTEM) suggest that haemostasis is balanced in stable CLD. **C** 

Mild to moderate prolongation of the preoperative PT and INR do not predict bleeding in patients with CLD. **C** 

We recommend against the use of FFP for pre-procedural correction of mild to moderately elevated INR. **1C** 

We suggest a platelet count of  $\leq 50\,000\,\mu l^{-1}$  as a threshold for platelet transfusion before liver biopsy. **2C** 

PFA-100 is not predictive of bleeding risk in cirrhosis. C

Bleeding time is influenced by many variables and is not useful to stratify bleeding risk. C

We recommend that, in acute liver failure, moderately elevated INR should not be corrected before invasive procedures, with the exception of intracranial pressure monitor insertion. **1C** 

Fluid restriction, phlebotomy, vasopressors and transfusion protocols may be associated with low transfusion rates during orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT). **C** 

We recommend the use of perioperative coagulation monitoring using ROTEM/TEG for targeted management of coagulopathy. **1C** 

Antifibrinolytic therapy reduces blood loss and transfusion requirements in liver transplantation. **B** 

We recommend antifibrinolytic drugs for treatment of fibrinolysis (evident from microvascular oozing or TEG/ ROTEM clot lysis measurement) and not for routine prophylaxis. Marginal grafts (e.g. donation after cardiac death) increase the risk of fibrinolysis post-reperfusion. **1C** 

We recommend against rFVIIa for prophylaxis; rFVIIa should be used only as rescue therapy for uncontrolled bleeding. **1A** 

Point of care platelet function tests may help to stratify risk and rationalise platelet transfusion in patients taking antiplatelet drugs. C

A low central venous pressure and restrictive fluid administration reduce bleeding during liver resection. **B** 

We suggest that antifibrinolytic drugs should be considered in cirrhotic patients undergoing liver resection. **2C** 

### Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding

We recommend that acute variceal bleeding should be managed by a multidisciplinary team. A specific multimodal protocol for upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage should be available. **1C** 

We recommend that early treatment involves immediate use of vasopressors (somatostatin or terlipressin) to reduce bleeding and early interventional endoscopy. Antibiotics must be started on admission. **1A** 

Tranexamic acid reduces mortality but not rebleeding. B

rFVIIa should be used only as rescue therapy; we recommend against its routine use. **1C** 

### Coagulopathy and renal disease

Point-of-care tests of platelet function and bleeding time provide no reliable platelet function assessment in uraemia and no prediction of bleeding in this setting.  $\ensuremath{\mathbf{C}}$ 

We suggest that conjugated oestrogen therapy should be used in uraemia. **2C** 

We suggest that desmopressin should be considered for reducing bleeding during surgery and for managing acute bleeding in uraemic patients. **2C** 

There is no evidence to support use of rFVIIa in this setting.

### Paediatric surgery

We suggest the use of perioperative coagulation analysis using viscoelastic point-of-care monitoring (ROTEM/ TEG) for timely detection of coagulation defects including dilutional coagulopathy and hyperfibrinolysis. **2C** 

No clear recommendation can be made regarding the choice of perioperative fluid replacement in children. C

We suggest that a critical haemoglobin threshold of  $8 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  for RBC transfusion may be safe in severe paediatric perioperative bleeding. **2C** 

We suggest that transfusion of platelet concentrates may be considered if platelet count is  $<50\ 000-100\ 000\ \mu l^{-1}$ . **2C** 

No clear recommendation can be made regarding the indication and dosing of FFP transfusion in bleeding children, but severe side-effects have been reported. C

We suggest that fibrinogen concentrate  $(30-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ or cryoprecipitate  $(5 \text{ ml kg}^{-1})$  may be used to increase plasma fibrinogen concentrations above trigger values of  $1.5-2.0 \text{ gl}^{-1}$  or FIBTEM MCF > 7 mm in bleeding children. **2C** 

We suggest that FFP may be used if no other fibrinogen source is available. **2C** 

Data for PCC in children are limited and no dose recommendation can be made. C

No recommendation on the use of FXIII concentrate in bleeding children can be made.

We recommend against the use of rFVIIa in children. 1C

We suggest against the routine use of desmospressin in the absence of haemophilia A or mild von Willebrand disease.  $\mathbf{2C}$ 

We suggest that perioperative antifibrinolytic therapy should be used to reduce blood loss and transfusion requirements in cardiac and non-cardiac paediatric surgery. 2A

### Antiplatelet agents

We recommend that aspirin therapy should continue perioperatively in most surgical settings, especially cardiac surgery. **1C** 

Where aspirin withdrawal is considered, we recommend a time interval of 5 days. **1C** 

For intra- or postoperative bleeding clearly related to aspirin, we suggest that platelet transfusion be considered (dose:  $0.7 \times 10^{11}$  [i.e. two standard concentrates] per 7 kg body weight in adults). **2C** 

Clopidogrel increases perioperative bleeding. In cases of increased bleeding risk, we recommend that it should be withdrawn for no more than 5 days. **1C** 

Prasugrel increases perioperative bleeding. In cases of increased bleeding risk, we recommend that it should be withdrawn for no more than 7 days. **1C** 

We recommend that antiplatelet agent therapy should resume as soon as possible postoperatively to prevent platelet activation. **1C** 

We suggest that the first postoperative dose of clopidogrel or prasugrel should be given no later than 24 h after skin closure. We also suggest that this first dose should not be a loading dose. **2C** 

We recommend postponement of elective surgery following coronary stenting (at least 6 to 12 weeks for bare metal stent and one year for drug-eluting stents). **1C** 

We recommend that a multidisciplinary team meeting should decide on the perioperative use of antiplatelet agents in urgent and semi-urgent surgery. **1C** 

We suggest that urgent or semi-urgent surgery should be performed under aspirin/clopidogrel or aspirin/prasugrel combination therapy if possible, or at least under aspirin alone. **2C** 

We suggest that platelet transfusion should be considered (dose:  $0.7 \times 10^{11}$  [i.e. two standard concentrates] per 7 kg body weight in adults) in cases of intra- or postoperative bleeding clearly related to clopidogrel or prasugrel. **2C** 

According to pharmacological characteristics, we suggest that the management of ticagrelor may be comparable to clopidogrel (i.e. withdrawal interval of 5 days). **2C** 

Platelet transfusion may be ineffective for treating bleeding clearly related to ticagrelor when given 12 h before. **2C** 

### Heparin

We recommend that severe bleeding associated with intravenous unfractionated heparin (UFH) should be treated with intravenous protamine at a dose of 1 mg per 100 IU UFH given in the preceding 2-3 h. **1A** 

We suggest that severe bleeding associated with subcutaneous UFH unresponsive to intravenous protamine at a dose of 1 mg per 100 IU UFH could be treated by continuous administration of intravenous protamine, with dose guided by aPTT. **2C**  We suggest that severe bleeding related to subcutaneous low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) should be treated with intravenous protamine at a dose of 1 mg per 100 anti-FXa units of LMWH administered. **2C** 

We suggest that severe bleeding associated with subcutaneous LMWH and unresponsive to initial administration of protamine could be treated with a second dose of protamine (0.5 mg per 100 anti-FXa units of LMWH administered). **2C** 

#### Fondaparinux

We suggest that the administration of rFVIIa could be considered to treat severe bleeding associated with subcutaneous administration of fondaparinux (off-label treatment). **2C** 

### Vitamin K antagonists

We recommend that vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) should not be interrupted for skin surgery, dental and other oral procedures, gastric and colonic endoscopies (even if biopsy is scheduled, but not polypectomy), nor for most ophthalmic surgery (mainly anterior chamber, e.g. cataract), although vitreoretinal surgery is sometimes performed in VKA treated patients. **1C** 

We recommend that for low-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with CHADS2 score  $\leq 2$ , patients treated for > 3 months for a non-recurrent VTE) undergoing procedures requiring INR <1.5, VKA should be stopped 5 days before surgery. No bridging therapy is needed. Measure INR on the day before surgery and give 5 mg oral vitamin K if INR exceeds 1.5. **1C** 

We recommend bridging therapy for high-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with a CHADS2 score > 2, patients with recurrent VTE treated for <3 months, patients with a mechanical valve). Day 5: last VKA dose; Day 4: no heparin; Days 3 and 2: therapeutic subcutaneous LMWH twice daily or subcutaneous UFH twice or thrice daily; Day 1: hospitalisation and INR measurement; Day 0: surgery. **1C** 

We recommend that for groups 1 and 2 above, VKAs should be restarted during the evening after the procedure. Subcutaneous LMWH should be given post-operatively until the target INR is observed in two measurements. **1C** 

We recommend that for group 3 above, heparin (UFH or LMWH) should be resumed 6–48 h after the procedure. VKA can restart when surgical haemostasis is achieved. **1C** 

We recommend that, in VKA treated patients undergoing an emergency procedure or developing a bleeding complication, PCC (25 IU FIX  $kg^{-1}$ ) should be given. **1B** 

We recommend to assess creatinine clearance in patients receiving NOAs and being scheduled for surgery. **1B** 

### New oral anticoagulants

We suggest that new oral anticoagulant agents (NOAs) should not be interrupted for skin surgery, dental and other oral procedures, gastric and colonic endoscopies (even if biopsy is scheduled, but not polypectomy), nor for most ophthalmic surgery, (mainly anterior chamber, e.g. cataract), although vitreoretinal surgery is sometimes performed in NOA treated patients. **2C** 

We recommend that for low-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with CHADS2 score 2, patients treated for >3 months for a non-recurrent VTE) undergoing procedures requiring normal coagulation (normal diluted thrombin time or normal specific anti-FXa level), NOAs can be stopped 5 days before surgery. No bridging is needed. **1C** 

In patients treated with rivaroxaban, apixaban, edoxaban and in patients treated with dabigatran in which creatinine clearance is higher than 50 ml min<sup>1</sup>, we suggest bridging therapy for high-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with a CHADS2 score >2, patients with recurrent VTE treated for <3 months). Day 5: last NOA dose; Day 4: no heparin; Day 3: therapeutic dose of LMWH or UFH; Day 2: subcutaneous LMWH or UFH; Day 1: last injection of subcutaneous LMWH (in the morning, i.e. 24 h before the procedure) or subcutaneous UFH twice daily (i.e. last dose 12 h before the procedure), hospitalisation and measurement of diluted thrombin time or specific anti-FXa; Day 0: surgery. **2C** 

In patients treated with dabigatran with a creatinine clearance between 30 and 50 ml min<sup>-1</sup>, we suggest to stop NOAs 5 days before surgery with no bridging. **2C** 

We suggest that for groups 2 and 3, heparin (UFH or LMWH) should be restarted 6-72 h after the procedure, taking the bleeding risk into account. NOAs may be resumed when surgical bleeding risk is under control. **2C** 

#### Comorbidities involving haemostatic derangement

We suggest that patients with haemostatic derangements associated with systemic, metabolic and endocrine diseases should be managed perioperatively in collaboration with a haematologist. 2C

We suggest that selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) treatment should not be routinely discontinued perioperatively. **2B** 

We suggest individualised perioperative discontinuation of antiepileptic agents, such as valproic acid, which may increase bleeding. **2C** 

We do not recommend discontinuation of Gingko biloba extracts. **1B** 

### Patients with congenital bleeding disorders Von Willebrand disease

We suggest that if VWD is suspected preoperatively, the patient be referred to a haematologist for assessment and planning of the intervention. **2C** 

We recommend the use of bleeding assessment tools for predicting the perioperative risk of bleeding. **1C** 

We recommend that patients with VWD be managed perioperatively in collaboration with a haematologist. **1C** 

We recommend desmopressin as a first-line treatment for minor bleeding/surgery in patients with VWD, after a trial testing. The regimen is specified by published guidelines. **1C** 

We recommend replacement of VWF with plasmaderived products for major bleeding/surgery. Treatment regimens are specified by published guidelines. **1C** 

We suggest that antifibrinolytic drugs be used as haemostatic adjuncts. Treatment regimens are specified by published guidelines. **2C** 

We suggest that platelet transfusion may be used only in case of failure of other treatments. **2C** 

#### **Platelet defects**

We suggest referring the patient to a haematologist for assessment and planning of the intervention if inherited platelet defects are suspected preoperatively. **2C** 

We recommend the use of a bleeding assessment tool for predicting the perioperative risk of bleeding. **1C** 

We recommend that patients with severe inherited platelet disorders should be managed perioperatively in collaboration with a haematologist. **1C** 

We suggest preoperative haemostatic correction in patients with inherited platelet disorders. **2C** 

We suggest desmopressin be used to prevent/control perioperative bleeding in patients with inherited platelet defects. **2C** 

We suggest antifibrinolytic drugs be used as haemostatic adjuncts in procedures involving patients with inherited platelet defects. **2C** 

We recommend that rFVIIa treatment should be considered in patients with Glanzmann thrombasthenia undergoing surgery. **1C** 

We recommend against routine platelet transfusion in patients with inherited platelet disorders. **1C** 

There is insufficient evidence to recommend a threshold for perioperative prophylactic platelet transfusion in thrombocytopenic patients. **C** 

### Haemophilia A and B

We recommend that haemophilia patients should be referred preoperatively to a haematologist for assessment/intervention. **1C** 

We recommend that surgery in haemophilia patients should be performed in specialised centres with expertise in coagulation disorders. **1C** 

We recommend adequate perioperative replacement therapy to ensure safe surgery in haemophilia patients. **1C** 

We suggest that perioperative replacement therapy (target factor level and duration) in haemophilia patients follows published guidelines. **2C** 

We recommend either recombinant products or plasmaderived concentrates for perioperative replacement therapy in haemophilia patients **1C** 

We suggest that coagulation factors be given perioperatively by continuous infusion. **2C** 

We suggest either rFVIIa or activated PCCs for haemophilia patients with inhibitors. **2C** 

We suggest antifibrinolytic drugs as perioperative adjunct therapy in haemophilia patients. **2C** 

We suggest individualised perioperative thromboprophylaxis in haemophilia patients. **2C** 

#### **Rare bleeding disorders**

We recommend that patients with rare bleeding disorders should be referred preoperatively to a haematologist for assessment/intervention. **1C** 

We recommend that surgery in patients with rare bleeding disorders should be carried out in consultation with a haematologist with experience in factor deficiencies. **1C** 

There is insufficient data to recommend routine perioperative supplementation of deficient factors in patients with rare bleeding disorders. C

We suggest that rFVIIa be used in perioperative bleeding due to inherited FVII deficiency. **2C** 

If rFVIIa is given to control perioperative bleeding in inherited FVII deficiency, we suggest lower doses than in haemophilia patients. **2C** 

There is insufficient data to recommend rFVIIa in perioperative bleeding for patients with other rare bleeding disorders. C

There is insufficient data to recommend peri-procedural desmopressin or antifibrinolytic drugs in patients with mild rare bleeding disorders. C

### **3 INTRODUCTION**

Healthcare professionals face an increasingly difficult task in keeping up to date with the evidence on perioperative transfusion strategies, as the number of studies published in this area has increased dramatically during the last 20 years. Within the last 10 years alone, more than 100 different medical journals have published relevant systematic reviews.<sup>1</sup> This not only reflects the complexities of transfusion medicine but also the development of alternatives to transfusion and the move towards evidence-based perioperative practice. Thus, it is imperative to update evidence-based transfusion guidelines for healthcare professionals and researchers.

Particularly urgent is the need to assess the mounting evidence in support of restrictive transfusion strategies as being not only safe but also potentially beneficial in terms of mortality, morbidity, postoperative outcomes and longterm survival in both cardiac and non-cardiac surgery patients.<sup>2–9</sup> This evidence is challenged by the widespread practice of perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion, especially in cardiac surgery, where 40–90% of patients receive blood transfusions, using approximately 10-15% of the national supply of blood.<sup>10-14</sup> There is also an urgent need to consider potential resource utilisation issues associated with aggressive use of blood products, as their preparation and storage are expensive.<sup>15,16</sup>

Growing evidence indicates that measures to support and monitor coagulation, such as antifibrinolytic drugs, pointof-care technologies (e.g. thrombelastography, thromboelastometry) and fluid therapy, are important for quality improvement and may offer alternative effective approaches for limiting blood transfusion and decreasing perioperative bleeding.<sup>17–20</sup> However, as many of the current indications for, and alternatives to, transfusion are not based on high quality evidence, there is a need for well designed and performed clinical trials, and high quality systematic reviews.<sup>21</sup> Many of the existing data are from retrospective studies (with their inherent shortcomings) and more randomised clinical trials are urgently needed.

This guideline by the European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESA) aims to provide an up-to-date review and synthesis of the evidence, with recommendations which may guide practitioners towards safe and costeffective strategies for minimising severe non-traumatic perioperative bleeding and maximising blood conservation. Additionally, this guideline will identify knowledge gaps and new clinical questions which will guide the design of future clinical trials. Acknowledging the variation in transfusion practices across countries, hospitals, specialties and surgical procedures, concerted efforts will be needed for rapid implementation of this guideline, promotion of safe and appropriate transfusion, avoidance of unnecessary transfusion, discontinuation of potentially harmful practices and assessment of novel strategies.<sup>22–27</sup>

### 4 METHODS

### 4.1 Selection of task force

In June 2010, the ESA Guideline Committee, chaired by Andrew Smith, nominated the chairperson of the Subcommittee on Transfusion and Haemostasis, Sibylle Kozek-Langenecker, to coordinate the core group of the task force, consisting of the Subcommittee chairpersons Patrick Wouters (circulation), Cesar Santullano (intensive care medicine) and Eduardo de Robertis (resuscitation and emergency medicine), and Subcommittee members Arash Afshari (evidence based practice) and Klaus Görlinger (transfusion and haemostasis). The ESA Guideline Committee defined the broad scope of the guideline project, which prompted the core group to invite 15 anaesthetist experts into the task force as affiliate co-authors. Georgina Imberger (Copenhagen Trial Unit and Cochrane Anaesthesia Review Group) was invited into the task force for the evidence search.

### 4.2 The search for evidence

To develop the scope of the guidelines, the task force defined a series of key clinical questions about the management of severe perioperative bleeding, a process completed in October 2010. These questions formed the basis for reviewing the evidence and developing the recommendations.

We used three approaches to search for relevant published evidence. First, we conducted a broad search on MEDLINE and Embase using exploded terms for 'anaesthesia' and 'surgery', combined with 'bleeding' or 'blood loss' in the title. This search was conducted in December 2010 and included all publications from the previous 10 years. The exact search strategy is detailed in the Appendix (Supplemental Digital Content, http:// links.lww.com/EJA/A31). A total of 9376 citations were retrieved and reviewed for possible inclusion.

Second, we conducted more specific MEDLINE and Embase searches when necessary in some areas. Search terms were developed with the help of the task force members responsible for the given section. The exact searches are detailed in the Appendix (Supplemental Digital Content, http://links.lww.com/EJA/A31). The searches were conducted between January and May 2011, and included all publications from the previous 10 years. A total of 20 664 citations were retrieved and reviewed for possible inclusion. The search was repeated for the last sections to be included (6.3, 5.1) between May 2011 and May 2012. Third, we conducted a broad search for systematic reviews of anaesthesiological interventions. The exact search strategy is detailed in the Appendix (Supplemental Digital Content, http:// links.lww.com/EJA/A31). We searched MEDLINE and Embase, with no time restrictions. A total of 11 869

citations were retrieved and reviewed for possible inclusion.

From these three approaches, a total of 2686 publications were selected for possible inclusion. We included systematic reviews, randomised controlled trials, cohort studies, case control studies and cross-sectional surveys. We did not include existing guidelines, narrative reviews, editorials, case series or case reports. We did not use language restrictions.

Task force members reviewed the selected articles relevant to their sections. Our goal was to include all relevant and robust evidence in these guidelines. Therefore, we included evidence that was sourced separately from the approaches described above and considered references cited in published trials, sometimes leading to the inclusion of trials published more than 10 years ago. Other evidence was sourced from the personal clinical and academic experience of the task force members.

The expertise of the task force guided the selection of trials for inclusion, thereby involving a subjective assessment of a study's relevance. Once selected, we reviewed trials for their quality and applicability. According to the suggestion of the ESA Guideline Committee, we used the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) grading system<sup>28</sup> to assess the level of evidence of a study and to grade our recommendations based on the body of supporting evidence. During the process of guideline development, the official position of the ESA changed, matching many other scientific organisations in favouring the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) system. Therefore, all of our recommendations and suggestions are assigned a number (relating to the strength of the recommendation) and a letter (relating to the quality of the supporting evidence) according to the GRADE system (Table 1). Statements are accompanied only by a letter. According to the broad scope of the guideline project, the initial manuscript was approximately 98 000 words in length. In order to increase readability and future implementation, by May 2012 the contents of all sections had been condensed by approximately 46% and a list of recommendations was prepared (Section 2. Summary).

### 4.3 Review of the guideline

These guidelines have undergone the following review process. The final draft was reviewed by members of the relevant Subcommittees of the ESA's Scientific Committee who were not involved in the initial preparation of the guideline, as well as by external reviewers. The draft was posted on the ESA website from 13 July 2012 to 19 August 2012 and all ESA members, individual and national, were contacted by electronic mail to invite them to comment. Comments were collated by the chair of the guideline task force and the guideline was amended as appropriate. The final manuscript was approved by the Guidelines Committee and Board of the ESA before submission for publication in the European Journal of Anaesthesiology. Because of the increasing evidence in this field, an update of the guidelines is planned every two years.

### **5 COAGULATION MONITORING**

### 5.1 Perioperative coagulation testing 5.1.1 Introduction

Traditionally, perioperative coagulation monitoring has relied on clinical judgement and standard laboratory tests (SLTs). However, many SLTs were designed to test for coagulation factor deficiencies, not for predicting risk of bleeding or guiding haemostatic management. Moreover, utility of SLTs in emergency situations is limited by slow turnaround times due to sample transport and plasma preparation requirements.<sup>29–32</sup> In contrast, viscoelastic point-of-care monitoring enables rapid intraoperative diagnosis of the cause of bleeding. This section examines assays used to diagnose coagulation status perioperatively.

### 5.1.2 Standard laboratory tests for coagulation monitoring

SLTs can be performed using automated analysis, with instrumentation, reagents and detection methods varying between institutions. However, the principles underlying individual SLTs are consistent across platforms.

### 5.1.2.1 Activated partial thromboplastin time

Activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) measures overall integrity of the intrinsic and common coagulation pathways. Recalcified, citrated plasma is incubated at 37°C with partial thromboplastin and an activator.<sup>33,34</sup> Clotting time (time to fibrin strand formation) is recorded. aPTT is affected by levels of fibrinogen and coagulation factors II, V, VIII, IX, XI, and XII, and is influenced by temperature, pH, heparin and oral anticoagulants.<sup>35</sup> aPTT indicates multiple coagulation factor deficiencies more clearly than it does single factor deficiencies.

### 5.1.2.2 Prothrombin time

Prothrombin time (PT) measures integrity of the extrinsic and common pathways; it is affected by levels of fibrinogen and coagulation factors II, V, VII and X.<sup>35</sup> Recalcified, citrated plasma and tissue thromboplastin are incubated at 37°C. Clotting time is recorded as for aPTT. PT measurements can be standardised by conversion to an international normalised ratio (INR) to allow monitoring of anticoagulant therapy with coumarins.

### 5.1.2.3 Fibrinogen concentration

Fibrinogen is essential for effective coagulation and is the first factor to be depleted during massive bleeding and haemodilution.<sup>36</sup> Its concentration is often determined

indirectly using the Clauss method.<sup>37</sup> Diluted, citrated plasma is activated with thrombin, and clotting time is recorded as for PT and aPTT. Fibrinogen concentration is inversely proportional to clotting time, and is calculated using calibration standards. Clauss assays are sensitive to heparin, fibrinogen degradation products<sup>35</sup> and colloids such as hydroxyethyl starch.<sup>38–40</sup> Fibrinogen levels can also be determined using a PT-based assay, although this may be too variable for clinical use.<sup>41</sup> Alternatively, immunological detection is possible using antifibrinogen antibodies, providing a measure of fibrinogen quantity but not functionality.

### 5.1.2.4 Platelet count

In the perioperative setting, platelet count (concentration) is commonly measured. This, however, does not assess the functional activity of platelets.

### 5.1.2.5 Assaying specific coagulation factors

Tests for individual coagulation factors, including factors II, V, VII, VIII, IX, X and XIII, can be used to confirm specific deficiencies (e.g. congenital). Other biomarkers of coagulation and fibrinolysis can also be measured, such as D-dimers for exclusion of pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis.

### 5.1.3 Point-of-care coagulation monitoring

Point-of-care (POC) coagulation monitoring uses whole blood and is performed in the emergency room, operating theatre, or the central laboratory. Turnaround times for POC tests are shorter than for SLTs. As with SLTs, POC coagulation monitoring can be performed using various analytical platforms and reagents, so this section will focus on assay principles. For global coagulation analysis, the principal POC tests use thrombelastography (TEG; Haemoscope Inc., Niles, IL) or thromboelastometry (ROTEM; Tem International GmbH, Munich, Germany), which each operate on similar principles. Unless stated otherwise, the term 'POC coagulation monitoring' within this section refers to TEG/ROTEM assays.

### 5.1.3.1 Parameters recorded using point-of-care coagulation monitoring

Blood samples for POC coagulation analysis are placed in a reaction chamber and a pin is immersed. Oscillation is introduced and viscoelasticity of the sample is measured via movement of the pin. As the blood clots, fibrin polymerisation progressively changes the viscoelasticity. Overall, POC coagulation assays are more representative of *in vivo* coagulation than conventional laboratory tests.

Unlike SLTs, POC coagulation monitoring extends beyond initial fibrin polymerisation. The clot formation and degradation profile can be assessed for up to 60 min, with coagulation dynamics represented graphically. Numerical values indicate the speed and quality of clot formation. **Coagulation initiation.** Recorded as reaction (r) time or clotting time (CT), both parameters represent the time to reach an amplitude of 2 mm (i.e. initiation of clot formation, partially dependent on thrombin generation).<sup>42</sup>

**Clot formation.** Time for amplitude to increase from 2 to 20 mm, expressed as k time or clot formation time (CFT). The alpha ( $\alpha$ ) angle (tangent of the slope between 2 and 20 mm) provides another measure of clot formation rate.

**Clot strength.** Maximum amplitude (MA) or maximum clot firmness (MCF), both measured in mm, represent the combined effects of platelet aggregation and fibrin polymerisation. Clot rigidity (G) and maximum clot elasticity (MCE) may also be used to assess clot strength. G and MCE have a curvilinear relationship with MA and MCF, respectively, making them conceptually and statistically important.<sup>43,44</sup> Amplitude at early timepoints (A5, A10, etc.) may be used to predict maximum clot firmness.

**Clot stability.** This is measured by reduction of clot strength after MA or MCF has been reached, and typically expressed as lysis index (LY30 or LI30; % of clot strength remaining 30 min after MA or CT, respectively). Maximum lysis (ML; greatest % decrease in amplitude [from MCF] observed during the assay period) is also used. Low lysis index or high ML can indicate hyperfibrinolysis.

### 5.1.3.2 Commonly used blood modification agents for POC coagulation assays

POC coagulation monitoring can be performed using recalcified, citrated blood alone (NATEM assay; clotting initiated intrinsically by the surface of the cup and pin). More usually, activators are added to accelerate coagulation, and modifying agents can suggest the cause of observed coagulopathy. The following are the most commonly used assays.

**Intrinsic activation (e.g. kaoTEG or INTEM assay).** Addition of a contact activator (e.g. kaolin or ellagic acid) stimulates intrinsic activation, providing an assay analogous to aPTT.

**Extrinsic activation (e.g. rapidTEG or EXTEM assay).** Addition of (recombinant) tissue factor (TF) activates coagulation via the extrinsic pathway, providing an assay analogous to PT.

Heparin anticoagulation (e.g. hepTEG or HEPTEM assay). Addition of heparinase to an intrinsically activated assay degrades heparin in the blood, enabling identification of coagulopathy caused by heparin.

Fibrin clot quality (e.g. functional fibrinogen [FF] or FIBTEM assay). This involves addition of a platelet inhibitor (e.g. abciximab or cytochalasin D) to an extrinsically activated assay. This test measures strength of the fibrin-based clot. Low FF/FIBTEM clot strength usually indicates fibrinogen deficiency. Adequate FF/FIBTEM

clot strength in the presence of decreased overall clot strength in bleeding patients may indicate platelet deficiency.

Hyperfibrinolysis (e.g. APTEM assay). This involves addition of the antifibrinolytic agent aprotinin to an extrinsic activation assay. Improved coagulation with aprotinin indicates hyperfibrinolysis.

POC devices with multiple channels allow several assays (e.g. extrinsic, intrinsic, fibrinogen and hyperfibrinolysis) to be performed simultaneously.

### 5.1.4 Which approaches can be used for preoperative evaluation of coagulation status?

Preoperative coagulation monitoring may influence subsequent decisions concerning the management of perioperative bleeding. Bleeding risk may be elevated by congenital coagulation disorders such as von Willebrand disease (VWD) or by routine medication for underlying conditions. Coagulation tests may suggest increased bleeding risk, but they cannot predict intraoperative or postoperative bleeding caused by exogenous factors. Thoracic or abdominal procedures lasting >2 h and with blood loss >500 ml carry particular risks, and may require laboratory analysis for bleeding risk stratification.<sup>45</sup>

### 5.1.4.1 Standardised bleeding history and clinical evaluation

#### Recommendation

We recommend the use of a structured patient interview or questionnaire before surgery or invasive procedures, which considers clinical and family bleeding history and detailed information on the patient's medication. **1C** 

Structured patient interviews are a primary tool for preoperative assessment of bleeding risk. Clinical and family history and current drug therapy are considered. Recent guidelines from the UK, Austria and Italy recommend structured questionnaires.<sup>34,45–47</sup> Investigations have shown that such questionnaires identify patients at risk of bleeding.<sup>48–57</sup> In a study by Eberl *et al.*,<sup>49</sup> a positive predictive value of 9.2% was reported for the use of standardised bleeding history. In addition, three groups have strongly recommended a questionnaire instead of SLTs.<sup>48,51,57</sup> Data suggest that these questionnaires also have the potential to quantify the risk of bleeding for inherited coagulopathies.<sup>58</sup>

Physical examination should be performed as a second step, focusing on signs of bleeding and diseases which may cause haemostatic failure (e.g. liver disease, inherited coagulation abnormalities).<sup>59</sup> Physical examination can detect bleeding disorders not identified by conventional tests (e.g. scurvy presenting with soft tissue bleeding).<sup>33</sup> Gender, body mass index and comorbidities including arterial hypertension, diabetes mellitus and renal dysfunction are independent risk factors for bleeding and transfusion.<sup>60–68</sup>

#### Recommendation

We recommend the use of standardised questionnaires on bleeding and drug history as preferable to the routine use of conventional coagulation screening tests such as aPTT, PT and platelet count in elective surgery. **1**C

A standardised questionnaire on bleeding and drug history is superior to the routine use of conventional coagulation screening tests such as aPTT, PT and platelet count in elective surgery.<sup>52</sup> In patients with a positive bleeding history, a physician experienced in haemostaseology or haematology should be consulted. If indicated, additional tests to assess haemostatic disorders are advisable, in particular with regard to primary haemostasis, for example, von Willebrand diagnostics, platelet function tests (PFA-100) or whole blood impedance aggregometry (Multiplate).<sup>69,70</sup> This concept enables goal-directed therapy of hereditary and acquired disorders of primary haemostasis.<sup>52,70-72</sup> However, the value of PFA-100 in detecting preoperative disorders of primary haemostasis is still under discussion.<sup>73,74</sup> Although, an increasing number of patients are treated with dual antiplatelet therapy guided by PFA-100, the primary ADP-cartridge is not able to detect the effect of ADP-receptor antagonists, such as thienopyridines, reliably.74-77 In addition, the new Innovance<sup>®</sup> PFA P2Y cartridge is yet to be evaluated for this purpose.<sup>78,79</sup>

#### 5.1.4.2 Preoperative use of standard laboratory tests

Application of preoperative SLTs is well covered by existing guidelines.<sup>34,46,80</sup> However, current ESA guidelines do not recommend their use.<sup>81</sup> SLTs were originally designed to indicate coagulation factor deficiencies, not to assess clinical risk of haemorrhage.<sup>82,83</sup> Normal ranges for PT and aPTT are based on the general population and may not apply to surgical patients with massive bleeding.<sup>82</sup> Accordingly, aPTT and PT fail to identify occult bleeding disorders among paediatric patients at high risk of bleeding.<sup>84</sup>

Low preoperative fibrinogen concentrations potentially indicate increased risk of intraoperative bleeding during cardiac surgery.<sup>85,86</sup> In the obstetric setting, fibrinogen measurement is reported as the parameter best correlated with postpartum bleeding volume and haemostatic impairment.<sup>87</sup> Preoperative measurement of fibrin monomer or fibrin degradation product may also allow risk stratification for intraoperative blood loss.<sup>88,89</sup>

SLTs are typically performed using plasma, with platelets and other blood cells removed, and thus do not reflect the true physiological clotting process.<sup>90</sup> Nor can SLTs provide rapid assessment of fibrinolysis, platelet dysfunction, or haemostatic response to injury or surgery. A systematic review found that abnormal SLT results do not predict intra- or postoperative bleeding.<sup>91</sup> False positive and false negative results are likely,<sup>92</sup> necessitating further tests and incurring additional costs. Italian

guidelines recommend routine preoperative PT, aPTT and platelet count assessment.<sup>46</sup> However, in patients without a previous history of bleeding or bleeding disorders, SLTs are not generally recom-mended.<sup>33,34,47,59,80,82,93–95</sup> Selective laboratory testing is advised because it is more cost-effective and more evidence based.<sup>92,95</sup> Preoperative assessment of aPTT, PT, INR, fibrinogen and platelet count is warranted in patients with bleeding disorders, a history of bleeding or a clear clinical indication (e.g. HELLP syndrome [haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelets], liver disease, leukaemia or haemophilia).<sup>34,46</sup> There is currently little evidence to support additional, routine application of point-of-care INR testing in the preoperative setting to predict bleeding tendency, despite the fact that many recent devices provide results which are comparable with laboratory testing.

### 5.1.4.3 Preoperative use of POC coagulation monitoring

Preoperative POC measurement of coagulation does not predict bleeding during or after surgery.<sup>96-100</sup> POC monitoring assays are instead designed for rapid diagnosis of bleeding causes, which is of most value intraoperatively. Indiscriminate preoperative coagulation monitoring using POC assays is unlikely to be cost-effective, but it may be warranted in combination with SLTs in patients with bleeding disorders such as VWD, factor XII deficiency, and haemophilia A with dysfibrinogenaemia.<sup>101</sup>

### 5.1.4.4 What is the role of genetic predictors?

In neurosurgery patients, tumour necrosis factor-alpha polymorphism is associated with increased bleeding risk.<sup>102,103</sup> Low levels of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) correlate with increased bleeding risk in transurethral resection of the prostate;<sup>104</sup> PAI-1 polymorphism may also influence bleeding risk in cardiac surgery.<sup>105</sup> Polymorphism of GPIIIa can exacerbate bleeding in cardiac surgery following aspirin pretreatment.<sup>106</sup> Angiotensin converting enzyme II genotype may be associated with reduced blood loss in geriatric patients undergoing hip arthroplasty.<sup>107</sup> In addition, polymorphisms have been identified in seven distinct factors which may contribute to the wide variation in bleeding tendency.<sup>108</sup> E-selectin polymorphism has also been identified as a risk factor for increased bleeding during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB).<sup>109</sup>

Currently, no recommendation can be made on the value of genetic testing for evaluating bleeding risk.

### 5.1.4.5 What is the best approach for preoperative evaluation of coagulation status?

Assessment of bleeding history, including physical examination, remains the best tool for identifying patients with increased risk of perioperative bleeding complications. If bleeding history is positive, clinical signs of bleeding tendency are present, or if the planned operation requires special consideration, comprehensive assessment is indicated. Otherwise, the only crucial blood analysis is ABO blood grouping.<sup>110</sup>

### 5.1.5 Which coagulation monitoring tests can be used to guide intraoperative haemostatic therapy?

Correct diagnosis of the cause of bleeding is essential for effective haemostatic intervention. In emergency situations and high-risk surgical procedures, this diagnosis must be made as quickly as possible. Intervention can be guided by clinical judgement, SLTs or POC monitoring. We discuss the evidence for each below.

### 5.1.5.1 Intraoperative use of standard laboratory tests

Several guidelines have explored intraoperative use of SLTs.<sup>46,110-112</sup> There is little evidence to support their utility in this setting. Measurement of fibrinogen (Clauss method), D-dimer and antithrombin (AT) may, in conjunction with clinical assessment and SLTs, facilitate diagnosis or exclusion of disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC).<sup>112</sup> This approach, however, is incompatible with emergency situations because SLTs have typical turnaround times of 30–60 min.<sup>35,113</sup> Accordingly, the applicability of SLTs in trauma has never been proven.<sup>113</sup> In cardiovascular surgery, hypofibrinogenaemia has been identified as a major factor contributing to haemorrhage after CPB;<sup>114</sup> however, for laboratory measurement of fibrinogen to be useful, analysis would need to begin before the patient is removed from CPB, which is prevented by sensitivity of the Clauss assay to heparin. In liver transplantation, attempts to establish transfusion triggers for haemostasis management, based either on SLTs or POC monitoring assays, have been inconclusive.115

There is insufficient data to recommend routine intraoperative coagulation monitoring using SLTs.<sup>95</sup> Conversely, recent Italian guidelines recommend prolonged PT and aPTT (>1.5 times normal) as a trigger for administration of fresh frozen plasma (FFP);<sup>112</sup> the same guidelines also suggest 'blind' FFP administration if the tests cannot be performed within a reasonable time. A recent review of haemostatic test results during postpartum haemorrhage found that FFP was routinely over administered with respect to guidelines for PT- and aPTT-guided transfusion.<sup>87</sup> Moreover, fibrinogen concentrations declined in many patients despite excessive FFP transfusion, suggesting that alternative interventions may have been more suitable.

### 5.1.5.2 Intraoperative use of point-of-care coagulation monitoring

A recent Cochrane review showed a lack of evidence that POC monitoring improves mortality compared with 'usual care'.<sup>17</sup> This is unsurprising given that POC monitoring assays only establish the presence and cause

of haemostatic impairment; it is the subsequent interventions that influence patient outcome. Bleeding may be reduced by improving consistency of therapeutic decisions, using different transfusion triggers or using alternative interventions. For example, POC monitoring is used to guide administration of coagulation factor concentrates, which has been shown to decrease allogeneic blood product transfusion requirements and was associated with improved outcomes.<sup>116-120</sup> The techniques (e.g. thrombelastography) and devices (e.g. TEG) are routinely given prominence over the individual assays. Some studies have used a single assay (e.g. kaolin activation)121,122 but simultaneous performance of several assays may be critical for accurate diagnosis of bleeding causes. Selection of appropriate assays for POC diagnosis should be considered carefully.<sup>123</sup>

Intraoperative point-of-care monitoring in trauma. POC coagulation monitoring has been used in case studies and patient cohorts to diagnose and treat bleeding in trauma patients.<sup>118,124–126</sup> CT and MCF from extrinsic activation (TF) and fibrin clot quality (TF + cytochalasin D)assays,<sup>118,124,125</sup> as well as CT, CFT and MCF from intrinsic activation (ellagic acid) assays,<sup>126</sup> have been used successfully to monitor haemostasis and guide treatment with fibrinogen concentrate and prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC). Such treatment has been shown to reduce exposure to allogeneic blood products compared with non-standardised strategies which do not utilise POC coagulation monitoring.<sup>118</sup> The evidence suggests that POC assays measuring extrinsic activation and fibrin clot quality may be useful to guide administration of fibrinogen concentrate and PCC in trauma. Prospective, randomised trials are now required.

Additional case studies describe POC coagulation monitoring in trauma patients. Nylund *et al.*<sup>127</sup> reported rFVIIa administration in a paediatric trauma patient in response to poor k and  $\alpha$ -angle values obtained by intrinsic (kaolin) activation assay. Walker *et al.*<sup>128</sup> reported the assessment of MCF in extrinsic (TF) and fibrin clot quality (TF + cytochalasin D) assays before epidural insertion after massive transfusion.

Intraoperative point-of-care monitoring in cardiovascular surgery. The value of POC monitoring to guide haemostatic therapy following CPB has been demonstrated in several randomised, controlled trials.<sup>119,121,129</sup> In one of them, four parallel assays (intrinsic [ellagic acid], intrinsic + heparinase, extrinsic [TF] + aprotinin, and extrinsic + cytochalasin D) were used to guide haemostatic intervention in patients undergoing aortic surgery with circulatory arrest.<sup>129</sup> Furthermore, first-line therapy with fibrinogen concentrate and PCC based on POC testing was associated with decreased transfusion requirements and a decreased incidence of thromboembolic events in a cohort study including 3865 patients<sup>120</sup> as well as in a prospective randomised controlled trial including 100 patients.<sup>119</sup> In this latter study, the use of an algorithm based on POC testing was associated with improved outcomes including significantly reduced mortality. Routine use of such algorithms could reduce transfusion requirements, improve outcomes and lower costs.

Prospective studies have also demonstrated the utility of MCF from fibrin clot quality assessment (TF + cytochalasin D) to guide administration of fibrinogen concentrate in cardiovascular surgery patients (target MCF: 22 mm).<sup>116,117</sup> These studies suggest that individualised fibrinogen concentrate dosing, based on target MCF values, may decrease blood loss and transfusion requirements following CPB.

Similar individualised dosing of cryoprecipitate, based on A10 values from fibrin clot quality assays (TF + cytochalasin D), has been reported following elective CPB.<sup>131</sup> Prediction of cryoprecipitate requirements using this approach has high sensitivity and specificity.

Intraoperative point-of-care monitoring in liver surgery. Individualised ('theragnostic') dosing of cryoprecipitate using thrombelastography has been described in a liver transplant patient with afibrinogenaemia.<sup>132</sup> More recently, a transfusion algorithm based on POC intrinsic (kaolin) activation test results was compared with an SLT based protocol in orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) patients.<sup>133</sup> Mortality was unaffected and the authors reported reduced exposure to FFP using the POC guided algorithm. Overall, the results indicate that POC intrinsic activation assays can be used to guide transfusion during OLT surgery.

A retrospective study investigated routine POC monitoring of fibrinolysis in OLT, using extrinsic (TF) activation and hyperfibrinolysis (TF + aprotinin) tests to determine whether tranexamic acid should be administered.<sup>134</sup> This targeted approach to antifibrinolytic therapy may improve patient responses and reduce exposure to FFP.

**Intraoperative point-of-care monitoring in obstetrics.** POC assays with intrinsic (ellagic acid) and extrinsic (TF) activation, as well as fibrin clot quality (TF + cytochalasin D), have been compared in pregnant women and non-pregnant controls.<sup>135</sup> Clotting time and clot formation time were reduced and clot strength was increased in the pregnant group, demonstrating hyper-coagulability. Studies are needed to ascertain the potential use of POC monitoring for treating postpartum bleeding, and to determine an appropriate range of reference values for these patients.

Additional POC techniques have been described, for example, POC assessment of PT and INR, which appears to be rapid and accurate.<sup>136</sup> However, the usefulness of PT/INR may be limited outside the setting of vitamin K antagonist anticoagulation.

### 5.1.6 Postoperative evaluation of coagulation status

Potential complications following surgery include thromboembolic events and, conversely, recurrent or excessive bleeding. Postoperative coagulation monitoring in the intensive care unit (ICU) can provide information regarding appropriate haemostatic interventions or further procedures which may be required.

Kashuk et al.<sup>137</sup> assessed the use of POC extrinsic (TF) activation tests to identify critically ill patients at risk of thromboembolic events. Hypercoagulability, defined as G >12400 dyn cm<sup>-2</sup>, was confirmed in 86/152 patients. Clot strength (MA from POC assays) has been used to measure the effects of clopidogrel after coronary artery bypass surgery.<sup>138</sup> In splenectomised thalassaemic patients, whole blood intrinsic (ellagic acid) and extrinsic (TF) activation assays consistently indicated hypercoagulability, while thrombin generation tests performed using platelet-poor plasma did not.<sup>139</sup> Other evidence from POC assays, aPTT, platelet counts and fibrinogen measurement has confirmed a tendency towards hypercoagulability following splenectomy.<sup>140</sup> Current evidence suggests that POC measurements of the speed of clot initiation, formation and strength/elasticity/rigidity, can identify patients at risk of thromboembolic events.

There is minimal evidence to support using either SLTs or POC coagulation monitoring to guide haemostatic intervention in the postoperative period. Trials comparing POC guided transfusion with conventional coagulation management have included analysis of samples drawn up to 24 h after CPB, but have not reached specific conclusions on the importance of postoperative monitoring.<sup>121,129</sup>

# 5.1.7 Are patient outcomes improved by algorithms that incorporate coagulation monitoring for perioperative haemostatic management?

Recommendations

We recommend the application of transfusion algorithms incorporating predefined intervention triggers to guide haemostatic intervention during intraoperative bleeding. **1B** 

We recommend the application of transfusion algorithms incorporating predefined intervention triggers based on POC coagulation monitoring assays to guide haemostatic intervention during cardiovascular surgery. **1**C

Haemostatic intervention in bleeding patients is generally determined empirically. Consequently, transfusion practices differ substantially among institutions.<sup>141–143</sup> To reduce this variability, guidelines typically recommend administration of blood products according to predefined transfusion triggers which can be measured using coagulation tests. In a review of trigger guided transfusion during cardiovascular surgery, use of an algorithm significantly reduced patient exposure to allogeneic blood products in seven out of eight studies.<sup>144</sup>

Long turnaround times may preclude the use of some tests in emergency situations. Even in the absence of definitive evidence, implementation of POC assays appears rational if the alternative is haemostatic management guided by clinical judgement alone.<sup>119,120</sup> A prospective study recently demonstrated superior turnaround times, and quality of assessment, with POC monitoring compared with PT and aPTT.<sup>31</sup> Transfusion algorithms incorporating POC coagulation monitoring are effective in reducing blood loss, reducing exposure to allogeneic blood products and improving the safety and cost-effectiveness of haemostatic therapy in cardiac surgery.<sup>121,129,144</sup>

Perioperative coagulation monitoring is beneficial only if the results contribute to clinically effective decisions. Patients with similar conditions may receive different treatments if protocols and triggers for coagulation management are not in place.<sup>145</sup> In a study of transfusion triggers used for bleeding management in OLT patients, substantial variability was observed in transfused quantities of FFP, platelets and cryoprecipitate when different monitoring assays were used.<sup>115</sup> The authors concluded that further studies would be required to determine optimal monitoring procedures for guiding haemostatic intervention.

### 5.2 Evaluation of platelet function

Identification of platelet function is important for informing perioperative haemostatic management. There are several methods for assessing platelet function, each with its own limitations. The number of existing devices and their clinical validation is constantly evolving as is their utility in various settings. In this section, we will briefly address some of the existing commercial tests with sufficient clinical validation. However, separation of these devices into different subsets of sections does not exclude their application in other clinical settings.

### Recommendations

We suggest preoperative platelet function testing only in addition to a positive bleeding anamnesis. **2C** 

We suggest that preoperative platelet function testing be used to identify decreased platelet function caused by medical conditions and antiplatelet medication. 2C

## 5.2.1 Which platelet function tests can be used preoperatively for identifying disturbances of primary haemostasis?

The Platelet Function Analyser (PFA-100<sup>®</sup>, Siemens, Tarrytown, NY) test can be performed at the point-ofcare to rapidly identify platelet defects before surgery.<sup>52,146</sup> It has shown high sensitivity and specificity

for platelet function screening performed preoperatively in patients with a positive bleeding history.<sup>52</sup>

The PFA-100 test measures platelet response to agonists in citrated whole blood and can be used preoperatively at the point-of-care. However, the PFA-100 has demonstrated a relatively low predictive value for bleeding risk.<sup>146</sup> In cardiac surgery patients, preoperative PFA-100 data have been shown to correlate with postoperative blood loss in some studies<sup>147</sup> but not others.<sup>148</sup>

The Cone and Plate(let) Analyser (CPA, Impact-R) test has been used successfully for screening of primary haemostasis abnormalities such as von Willebrand disease.<sup>149–151</sup> The test can detect disturbances in primary haemostasis by measuring deposition of platelets from whole blood on to an artificial surface.

## 5.2.2 Preoperative platelet function testing in different clinical settings

#### 5.2.2.1 Trauma

In a study of trauma patients, platelet function measured using the PFA-100 analyser showed a significant difference between survivors and non-survivors.<sup>152</sup> To be useful in an emergency, a platelet function test needs to be applicable at the point-of-care and be capable of generating results quickly. A recent study used multiple electrode aggregometry (MEA, Multiplate) to assess platelet function of trauma patients on admission to the emergency room.<sup>153</sup> ADPtest and TRAPtest values below the normal range were associated with increased mortality.<sup>153</sup>

### 5.2.2.2 Cardiac surgery

The MEA ADPtest has provided results comparable with light transmittance aggregometry (LTA; considered as the 'gold standard' in platelet function testing) in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) patients not taking antiplatelet therapies.<sup>154</sup> Platelet dysfunction is a major cause of bleeding following cardiac surgery.<sup>155,156</sup> Platelet activation (dysfunction) has been shown using Hemo-STATUS<sup>®</sup> (Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN) testing during CPB.<sup>157</sup>

MEA measurements taken preoperatively correlate closely with subsequent platelet transfusion requirements, more so than Impact-R tests.<sup>158</sup> When selecting a platelet test for use during cardiac surgery, awareness of antiplatelet therapy is crucial because this may exacerbate surgical bleeding.<sup>47</sup> As well as correlating with platelet transfusion requirements,<sup>158</sup> the MEA ADPtest (performed 0.5–1 days before surgery) can predict postoperative bleeding in patients taking thienopyridines and undergoing CPB.<sup>159</sup>

Three recently published studies (one retrospective and two prospective randomised clinical trials) have shown that perioperative platelet function testing using MEA or TEG Platelet Mapping in combination with ROTEM or TEG analysis is associated with reduced bleeding, reduced transfusion requirements, reduced costs and improved outcomes in cardiac surgery.<sup>119,120,160</sup>

### 5.2.2.3 Liver surgery

Flow cytometry has been used to quantify platelet activation during liver transplantation, from the preoperative through to the postoperative period.<sup>161</sup> Whole blood impedance platelet aggregometry has been used to correlate platelet activation with ischaemia/reperfusion injury in paediatric liver transplantation.<sup>162</sup>

Patients with liver disease may display altered platelet count<sup>163,164</sup> and platelet function.<sup>165–167</sup> In this setting, there is little evidence to indicate whether current diagnostic tests are useful for the preoperative identification of patients with increased perioperative bleeding risk.<sup>168</sup> Flow cytometry provides no evidence of systemic platelet activation during liver transplantation.<sup>161</sup>

#### 5.2.2.4 Obstetrics

Among pregnant women with type 1 Gaucher disease, abnormal CPA results have been associated with increased risk of peripartum haemorrhage.<sup>169</sup> Furthermore, a study using a modified LTA assay found that patients with unexplained recurrent miscarriage have significantly increased platelet aggregation in response to arachidonic acid, providing a rationale for using aspirin in this setting.<sup>170</sup>

## 5.2.3 Which platelet function tests can be used preoperatively for identifying the effects of antiplatelet therapy?

Before surgery the medical history should be taken and the patient's exposure to antiplatelet medication should be determined.<sup>47,171</sup> In patients with a positive bleeding anamnesis, full blood count, including examination of platelet count and size,<sup>172</sup> and PFA-100 collagen-epinephrine and collagen-ADP<sup>52</sup> are first level tests in preoperative evaluation. Antiplatelet therapy is associated with increased risk of perioperative bleeding but there is no consensus on the optimal timing of preoperative discontinuation. Reduced platelet function caused by antiplatelet medication can be quantified by evaluating the response to platelet agonists preoperatively.

Depending on the test reagent used, MEA is sensitive to aspirin, thienopyridines and glycoprotein (GP) IIb/IIIa inhibitors (e.g. abciximab), and has been used successfully for differential diagnosis.<sup>173–175</sup> MEA provides differential diagnostic information by using platelet agonists as test reagents (e.g. collagen, arachidonic acid, ADP, thrombin receptor activator peptide [TRAP], von Willebrand factor [VWF]).<sup>173–175</sup> However, clinical trials are needed to assess the value of MEA in perioperative monitoring of aspirin and clopidogrel.

PlateletWorks (Helena Laboratories, Beaumont, TX) is an electronic impedance based cell counting method, allowing point-of-care measurement of platelet count and aggregation. PlateletWorks has the potential for monitoring clopidogrel reversal<sup>176</sup> and is sensitive to the effects of aspirin and GPIIb/IIIa inhibitors (e.g. abciximab).<sup>177,178</sup>

VerifyNow is a point-of-care turbidimetric test which detects agonist-induced platelet aggregation in whole blood samples. It can monitor the effects of aspirin, thienopyridines and GPIIb/IIIa inhibitors. The VerifyNow P2Y<sub>12</sub> assay performed before heparinisation (prior to coronary stenting) has successfully identified patients on clopidogrel and at risk of atherothrombotic complications but did not identify those at risk of bleeding.<sup>179</sup>

The PFA-100 test can be used to monitor the effects of desmopressin or antiplatelet therapy with aspirin but not with thienopyridines.<sup>180</sup>

## 5.2.4 Which platelet function tests can be used intraoperatively for monitoring the effects of surgery?

Platelet function decreases intraoperatively, irrespective of surgery type. Static tests which capture only a single time point do not reflect the dynamic nature of coagulopathic bleeding. For example, LTA is not suitable for intraoperative platelet function testing because of the long turnaround time. Point-of-care tests which can be performed rapidly are required, e.g. the HemoSTATUS platelet function test, MEA and PlateletWorks (clinical data are lacking for PlateletWorks). In general, a platelet count of  $\geq 100 \ 000 \ \mu l^{-1}$  is needed for quantitative analysis.

### 5.2.4.1 Blood loss and synthetic colloid or crystalloid replacement

Platelet count decreases intraoperatively through major blood loss and dilution from volume resuscitation. Synthetic colloids or crystalloids may affect platelet function,<sup>181</sup> although it has also been reported that these agents have no effect.<sup>182</sup> Further studies are required to ascertain the effects of synthetic colloids and the most appropriate point-of-care tests to evaluate these effects.

### 5.2.4.2 Monitoring therapeutic interventions

Both PFA-100 and MEA have been used successfully to assess improvement in platelet function intraoperatively following administration of desmopressin.<sup>71,93,183</sup> Platelet transfusion therapy can be guided and monitored using point-of-care testing, for example with the PFA-100 collagen and epinephrine (CEPI), and collagen and ADP (CADP) assays.<sup>184</sup> Following platelet transfusion, PFA-100 results provided a better indication of transfusion outcome than the previous 'gold standard', the corrected count increment (CCI).<sup>184</sup>

### 5.2.4.3 Point-of-care testing immediately after surgery and on arrival at the intensive care unit

Following discontinuation of CPB, patients with severe aortic stenosis<sup>183</sup> or drug- or CPB-induced platelet dysfunction<sup>119</sup> may benefit from desmopressin. These patients can be identified using HemoSTATUS, a point-of-care test which measures platelet function independently of platelet count.<sup>185</sup> Upon arrival at the ICU, patients at risk of requiring platelet transfusion have been identified using MEA.<sup>186</sup>

### 5.2.4.4 Which platelet function tests can be used postoperatively for monitoring haemostasis?

MEA has been used successfully to detect changes in platelet function after cardiac surgery.<sup>154,187</sup> Platelet function testing (e.g. PFA-100) can be used to detect changes in platelet reactivity after surgery and to monitor the effectiveness of antiplatelet medication. However, evidence for the postoperative use of platelet function tests is limited.

## 5.2.4.5 Are patient outcomes improved by algorithms which incorporate platelet function testing for intraoperative haemostatic monitoring?

Both laboratory and point-of-care platelet function tests are included in some algorithms for managing perioperative bleeding<sup>188,189</sup> but there is currently insufficient evidence to answer this question definitively.

### **6 ANAEMIA MANAGEMENT**

### 6.1 Preoperative correction of anaemia 6.1.1 Introduction

Perioperative anaemia increases the risk of numerous complications such as cardiac events, pneumonia and postoperative delirium.<sup>190,191</sup> Associations between anaemia and higher rates of both morbidity and mortality are well established for patients undergoing cardiac surgery.<sup>192,193</sup> A recent, large cohort study demonstrated that these associations also apply to non-cardiac surgery; the odds ratio for mortality among patients with anaemia versus those without was 1.42.<sup>194</sup> Preoperative anaemia has been shown to be predictive for perioperative transfusion of allogeneic blood products such as red blood cells, which itself carries a significant risk of adverse events and mortality.<sup>192,195,196</sup> There is some tolerance to postoperative anaemia among patients without cardiovascular disease, but for each 1 g dl<sup>-1</sup> decrease in postoperative haemoglobin concentration below 7 g dl<sup>-1</sup>, mortality has been shown to increase by a factor of 1.5.<sup>191</sup> Estimates of the prevalence of anaemia in surgical patients range widely, from 5% to 76%.<sup>197</sup> High rates have been reported in cancer patients (e.g. breast cancer, colon cancer), while lower rates have been observed in orthopaedic patients.197,198

Allogeneic blood transfusion has long been used for correcting perioperative anaemia. However, there is a

general move to minimise this approach due to shortcomings associated with allogeneic blood products, such as limited blood supply and safety concerns.<sup>190</sup> Among patients undergoing transurethral resection of the prostate, a low preoperative haemoglobin concentration has been reported as the only reversible factor with the potential to reduce transfusion.<sup>199</sup> Preoperative autologous blood donation has been suggested as one means of treating perioperative anaemia while avoiding transfusion of allogeneic blood products. However, the process of donation increases the risk of preoperative anaemia and it is contraindicated in patients with pre-existing anaemia.<sup>198,200</sup> Alternative means of managing perioperative anaemia include iron supplementation and administration of erythropoietin-stimulating agents, as well as cell salvage and restriction of postoperative blood withdrawal.190

### 6.1.2 Preoperative assessment

### Recommendation

We recommend that patients at risk of bleeding are assessed for anaemia 4–8 weeks before surgery. **1C** 

This recommendation is essentially empirical. There are no trials proving whether assessment of patients has an impact on their outcomes, or proving the optimum time before surgery when patients should be assessed. However, as interventions have been shown to be effective among patients with anaemia, it is valuable to assess patients before elective surgery to allow the possibility of treating anaemia before the procedure, and the period of 4-8 weeks provides enough time for treatment to take effect.

#### Recommendation

If anaemia is present, we recommend identifying the cause (e.g. iron deficiency, renal deficiency or inflammation). **1C** 

This is another empirical recommendation. There are numerous possible causes of anaemia, and accurate diagnosis enables appropriate treatment to be administered before surgery. There are no clinical trials comparing outcomes among patients with or without accurate diagnosis of their anaemia.

Accurate diagnosis requires a work-up after determination of a low haemoglobin concentration.<sup>191,201,202</sup> Serum ferritin concentration below  $30 \,\mu g \, l^{-1}$  signifies nutritional iron deficiency for which iron therapy is administered, although referral to a gastroenterologist may be considered to rule out malignancy.<sup>191</sup> A serum ferritin concentration of  $30-100 \,\mu g \, l^{-1}$  signifies possible iron deficiency, while a concentration above  $100 \,\mu g \, l^{-1}$ indicates that anaemia is related to causes such as chronic disease (renal or otherwise) or inflammation. In this case, further tests are needed (e.g. assessment of renal function and vitamin  $B_{12}$ /folic acid concentrations) to ascertain the diagnosis.<sup>191,201,202</sup>

### 6.1.3 **Preoperative treatment** Recommendation

### We recommend treating iron deficiency with iron supplementation (oral or intravenous). **1B**

Most (though not all) studies report that preoperative oral iron supplementation is effective in raising haemoglobin concentration and decreasing perioperative transfusion. Two controlled studies have investigated the effects of at least 2 weeks of preoperative oral iron supplementation. The first was a retrospective comparison of colorectal surgery patients with anaemia who either received or did not receive iron supplementation.<sup>203</sup> The second was a randomised, placebo-controlled trial of oral ferrous sulphate, also performed in the colorectal surgery setting, with patients recruited whether or not they had anaemia.<sup>204</sup> In both of these studies, iron supplementation produced a significant increase in haemoglobin concentration, as well as significantly decreased blood transfusion rates during surgery.

The efficacy of oral iron has also been demonstrated in patients with anaemia. In a study by Cuenca et al.,<sup>205</sup> oral iron supplementation was taken for 30-45 days preoperatively by knee replacement surgery patients. Reduced transfusion of allogeneic blood products was observed, compared with a retrospective control group not receiving iron. This was the case for patients with anaemia (haemoglobin [Hb]  $< 13.0 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{dl}^{-1}$ ) as well as those with higher haemoglobin concentrations. In another study, a significant 1.1 g dl<sup>-1</sup> increase in haemoglobin concentration was observed in response to 4 weeks preoperative treatment with oral iron supplementation among hip or knee replacement patients with anaemia (Hb  $< 12.0 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  before iron supplementation).<sup>206</sup> Furthermore, Quinn et al.<sup>207</sup> showed in a prospective observational study that oral iron sulphate (200 mg, three times daily for a median of 39 days) increased haemoglobin concentration by  $1.73 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  (P < 0.001) among colorectal cancer surgery patients presenting with preoperative anaemia.

In contrast to the results described above, one prospective, observational study reported that oral iron supplementation is not effective for increasing haemoglobin concentration.<sup>208</sup> Eighty seven patients with haemoglobin concentrations between 10.0 and 15.0 g dl<sup>-1</sup> received iron sulphate (300 mg three times daily) for at least 3 weeks before hip or knee arthroplasty, and a 0.14 g dl<sup>-1</sup> decrease in haemoglobin concentration (P = 0.015) was observed.

Although oral iron supplementation may be suitable for a high proportion of patients, there are some in whom intravenous iron should be considered, e.g. for patients unable to tolerate oral iron (usually due to gastrointestinal side effects).<sup>190</sup>

Among women with complicated pregnancy or complicated childbirth, intravenous iron sucrose has been shown

to increase haemoglobin concentration by  $2.1 \,\mathrm{g\,dl^{-1}}$  within 7 days of administration.<sup>209</sup> A comparator group of patients received oral iron supplementation, and these women showed no increase in haemoglobin concentration (possibly because of the short time period). In another study of intravenous iron sucrose, administered preoperatively to patients scheduled for orthopaedic surgery, a significant increase in haemoglobin concentration was observed.<sup>210</sup> Munoz *et al.*<sup>211</sup> reported in a prospective, observational study that intravenous iron sucrose (mean dose 1000 mg), administered over 3-5 weeks to patients with preoperative anaemia, increased haemoglobin concentration by  $2.0 \,\mathrm{g\,dl^{-1}}$  (P < 0.001), resolving anaemia in 58% of patients.

In contrast to these results, a randomised controlled trial performed in 60 patients undergoing colorectal cancer resection reported that intravenous iron administered 14 days before surgery had no impact on haemoglobin concentration, in comparison with placebo.<sup>212</sup>

Intravenous iron may provide a greater increase in haemoglobin concentration than oral iron. In a randomised, prospective study, women with anaemia caused by menorrhagia (Hb < 9.0 g dl<sup>-1</sup>) were treated with intravenous iron sucrose (total calculated iron deficit divided into two ampoules, three times per week) or oral iron protein succinylate daily.<sup>213</sup> Treatment was administered during the 3 weeks before elective surgery, and a significantly greater increase in haemoglobin concentration was observed in the intravenous group (3.0 vs.  $0.8 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ , P < 0.0001).

One study has shown that preoperative intravenous iron can reduce transfusion among patients undergoing surgery for trochanteric hip fracture.<sup>214</sup> The transfusion rate was 39.1% among patients receiving intravenous iron, compared with 56.7% in a retrospective control group. In contrast, a randomised controlled trial performed in patients undergoing colorectal cancer resection showed that transfusion rates were no different between patients receiving preoperative intravenous iron or placebo.<sup>212</sup>

Intravenous iron appears to be well tolerated. Older preparations of iron for intravenous administration were associated with a risk of anaphylactic reactions.<sup>190</sup> However, a number of studies performed in recent years have reported a lack of adverse events associated with intravenous iron,<sup>209,210,214,215</sup> while others have reported favourable tolerability.<sup>213</sup> Today's intravenous iron preparations may therefore be considered as being much safer than those available in previous decades, although the possibility of adverse events such as hypotension, arthralgia, abdominal discomfort and back pain remains.<sup>190</sup> Other safety concerns with intravenous iron include infection and cancer progression,<sup>190</sup> but prospective data confirm lack of association with bacteraemia<sup>216</sup> and there are no data to confirm increased risk of cancer progression.

### Recommendation

If iron deficiency has been ruled out, we suggest treating anaemic patients with erythropoietin-stimulating agents. 2A

Erythropoietin reduces transfusion of allogeneic blood products, although not in patients with near normal haemoglobin concentrations and not in patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery. In a meta-analysis of cardiac surgery and orthopaedic surgery studies, reduced perioperative transfusion of allogeneic blood products was observed among patients receiving erythropoietin.<sup>217</sup> The odds ratio for the proportion of patients transfused with allogeneic blood with erythropoietin was 0.36 (P=0.0001) in orthopaedic surgery and 0.25 (not significant) in cardiac surgery. The dose of erythropoietin had no statistically significant effect on the odds ratio. Another meta-analysis examined the effect of erythropoietin on allogeneic blood transfusion among patients undergoing cardiac surgery.<sup>218</sup> For patients not undergoing autologous blood transfusion, the relative risk of allogeneic blood transfusion with erythropoietin was 0.53 (P < 0.01), and for those undergoing autologous blood transfusion, the relative risk was 0.28 (P < 0.001). In contrast to these meta-analyses, a Cochrane review of pre- and perioperative erythropoietin among colorectal cancer surgery patients reported no significant effect on the proportion of patients receiving allogeneic blood transfusion.<sup>219</sup> A meta-analysis of studies of erythropoietin-stimulating agents in a broader population of cancer patients showed that these agents can reduce the need for red blood cell transfusions with no impairment of survival.<sup>220</sup> However, in this context, erythropoietinstimulating agents are recommended only according to the label (i.e. start treatment only if haemoglobin concentration is  $<11.0\,\mathrm{g\,dl}^{-1}$ , and discontinue treatment when the haemoglobin concentration increases to  $12.0-13.0 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ ), because when used off-label (i.e. to achieve higher concentrations of haemoglobin), they are associated with reduced survival among cancer patients.220

Individual randomised controlled trials have reported significant reductions in allogeneic blood product transfusions among patients undergoing orthopaedic surgery,<sup>221–225</sup> cardiac surgery<sup>226</sup> and surgery for color-ectal cancer<sup>227–229</sup> or other gastrointestinal tract malignancies.<sup>230</sup> However, the effect of erythropoietin on transfusion rates has been shown to be non-significant in hip replacement patients with near normal preoperative haemoglobin concentrations,<sup>231</sup> radical prostatect-omy patients with near normal haematocrit<sup>232</sup> and colorectal cancer patients with anaemia.<sup>233</sup>

Based on the available data, erythropoietin-stimulating agents have been recommended for orthopaedic surgery patients with anaemia, in whom nutritional deficiencies are absent or have been corrected.<sup>191</sup>

Two large, randomised controlled trials have shown the potential for erythropoietin to increase haemoglobin concentration. The first, involving 695 orthopaedic surgery patients with preoperative haemoglobin concentrations between 10.0 and 13.0 g dl<sup>-1</sup>, showed that preoperative epoietin alpha produced higher haemoglobin concentrations from the day of surgery until discharge from hospital (P < 0.001).<sup>224</sup> In the second study, involving 204 colorectal cancer surgery patients, those receiving preoperative epoietin alpha 300 IU kg<sup>-1</sup> per day showed significantly higher haemoglobin concentrations than controls on the day before and the day after surgery.<sup>227</sup> Significant increases in haemoglobin concentrations have been reported in several other randomised controlled trials of preoperative erythropoietin performed in patients undergoing orthopaedic surgery,<sup>234</sup> gynaecolo-gical cancer surgery<sup>235</sup> and hysterectomy.<sup>236,237</sup>

Treatment with epoietin alpha (40,000 IU on preoperative days 21, 14, 7 and 1) was shown in a prospective, observational study to increase haemoglobin concentrations in orthopaedic surgery patients by  $2.0 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{dl}^{-1}$ and  $1.8 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  in patients aged  $\geq 65$  years and < 65 years, respectively.<sup>238</sup> In a second study of orthopaedic surgery patients performed by the same group, a similar increase in haemoglobin concentration was observed in response to similar preoperative treatment with epoietin alpha.<sup>239</sup> Another prospective, nonrandomised study of preoperative recombinant human erythropoietin reported dose-dependent increases in haemoglobin concentrations among gynaecological surgery patients both before surgery and on discharge.<sup>240</sup> In an earlier study, epoietin alpha at a dose of 600 IU kg<sup>-1</sup> weekly provided a larger increase from baseline in haemoglobin concentration compared with a daily dose of  $300 \,\mathrm{IU \, kg^{-1}}$ .<sup>241</sup>

There may be a risk of thrombotic complications with erythropoietin-stimulating agents, and prophylaxis for deep vein thrombosis (DVT) should be considered. Early studies did not show an increased risk of DVT among patients receiving erythropoietin.<sup>190,242</sup> A meta-analysis published in 1998 reported a lack of 'convincing evidence' that erythropoietin causes thrombotic complications,<sup>217</sup> although an increased occurrence of such events was noted in some studies with limited patient numbers. More recent studies of erythropoietin (or epoietin alpha), designed primarily to assess efficacy, have suggested a lack of significant safety concerns.<sup>224,240,243</sup> In addition, a Cochrane review of erythropoietin in colorectal cancer surgery reported no significant difference in thrombotic events between patients receiving erythropoietin and controls.219

However, data from an open-label study involving 681 spinal surgery patients showed a clear increase in the incidence of DVT among recipients of erythropoietin.<sup>190</sup> Similarly, in a randomised, open-label study of epoietin

alpha versus standard care involving 680 spinal surgery patients, DVT, diagnosed either by Doppler imaging or by adverse event reporting, occurred in a higher proportion of patients in the epoietin alpha group.<sup>242</sup> Such data prompted the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to require a warning to be added to the package inserts for erythropoietin and darbepoietin alpha, stating that DVT prophylaxis should be considered.

### Recommendation

If autologous blood donation is performed, we suggest treatment with erythropoietin-stimulating agents in order to avoid preoperative anaemia and increased overall transfusion rates. 2B

A meta-analysis has shown that autologous blood donation reduces transfusion of allogeneic blood products, but that it increases overall transfusion rates. Other studies suggest that autologous blood donation does not necessarily reduce allogeneic blood transfusion. In a large retrospective study involving 541 spinal surgery patients, those undertaking autologous blood donation had 1/25 of the chance of requiring allogeneic blood products compared with control patients who did not donate.<sup>244</sup> However, the overall transfusion rate was higher in the autologous donation group. These results reflect those of a Cochrane meta-analysis which concluded that, although autologous blood transfusion reduces allogeneic blood transfusion, overall transfusion (including autologous blood) is increased.<sup>245</sup> A randomised controlled trial performed in 32 cardiac surgery patients reported that autologous blood donation was associated with decreased allogeneic blood transfusion (0.59 vs. 5.01 U per patient).<sup>246</sup> However, this result may have been influenced by the fact that blood donation patients also received 3 weeks of treatment with recombinant human erythropoietin.

Evidence from other studies suggests that autologous blood donation may not reduce patients' exposure to allogeneic blood products. In a prospective study conducted in patients undergoing hip replacement surgery, there was no significant difference in exposure to allogeneic blood products between autologous donors and non-donors.<sup>247</sup> In a retrospective study by Jawan et al.,<sup>248</sup> performed to compare liver resection patients donating their own blood preoperatively with those not doing so, none of the patients required perioperative transfusion of blood products. Consequently, all predonated blood was discarded. In another retrospective study, performed in knee/hip arthroplasty patients, autologous blood donation was associated with increased perioperative transfusion and the authors suggested that autologous donation may create a 'self-defeating cycle of blood donation followed by blood transfusion'.<sup>249</sup> Autologous blood transfusion may be considered for patients with multiple antibodies (for whom donor blood may be difficult to obtain).

Autologous blood donation increases preoperative anaemia. In a retrospective study of patients scheduled for knee replacement surgery, haemoglobin concentrations before autologous blood donation were compared with those immediately before surgery.<sup>200</sup> The percentage of patients with a haemoglobin concentration in the range of  $10-13 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  (at high risk for perioperative transfusion) increased from 26.2% to 55.7%. In the liver resection study by Jawan et al.,<sup>248</sup> significantly lower perioperative haemoglobin concentrations were observed in autologous blood donation patients than in non-donors. Another comparative retrospective study reported that patients undertaking autologous blood donation had significantly lower haemoglobin concentrations before surgery than patients not making autologous donations; the authors concluded that 'autologous blood donation induced preoperative anaemia'.244

Randomised controlled trials indicate that erythropoietin may be used to increase the proportion of patients able to make autologous blood donations (assuming a minimum haematocrit threshold for making a donation)<sup>228</sup> and to reduce the extent to which autologous blood donation lowers haemoglobin concentration.<sup>250</sup>

One randomised controlled trial assessed prophylactic administration of autologous fresh frozen plasma (FFP) after CPB in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery.<sup>251</sup> This intervention failed to produce significant reductions in transfusion or blood loss compared with administration of hydroxyethyl starch.

Autologous platelet-rich plasma may be superior to autologous whole blood in decreasing transfusion of allogeneic blood products. Farouk *et al.*<sup>252</sup> performed a randomised trial comparing administration of platelet-rich plasma with acute normovolaemic haemodilution in patients undergoing open heart surgery. Platelet-rich plasma produced a significant decrease in transfusion of blood products compared with acute normovolaemic haemodilution.

### 6.1.3.1 Other possible treatment approaches

Combined use of intravenous iron, erythropoietin, vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, folic acid, and restrictive transfusion may reduce transfusion requirements. Limited evidence suggests that patients with anaemia might benefit from combination therapy. In a prospective study, patients undergoing total knee replacement received intravenous iron sucrose and, if haemoglobin concentration remained  $< 13.0 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ , additional erythropoietin. These measures, together with restrictive transfusion, 'seem to reduce allogeneic blood transfusion', although there was no control group.<sup>215</sup> Retrospective assessment of a similar approach to managing anaemia in hip fracture patients showed a reduction in transfusion compared with oral iron or intravenous iron only.<sup>253</sup> Haemoglobin concentrations 48 h after surgery were higher in the oral iron group, but this difference was not apparent 7 days after surgery.

In a retrospective study, intraoperative cell salvage (ICS) was used together with autologous blood donation in hip surgery patients, and homologous blood transfusion was avoided in all 154 patients.<sup>254</sup> Donation volumes were 800 ml for patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty and 1200 ml for patients undergoing rotational acetabular osteotomy.

## 6.2 Intra- and postoperative optimisation of macro- and microcirculation 6.2.1 Introduction

Massive bleeding affects delivery of blood to organs and tissues (due to hypovolaemia), as well as the oxygencarrying capacity of blood (due to anaemia). Because normal haemoglobin concentrations provide a large oxygen carrying capacity, priority goes to intravascular volume replacement with plasma substitutes devoid of red blood cells (RBCs). Transfusion of RBCs is required only when the haemoglobin concentration decreases to levels at which overall nutrient demands cannot be met. This section focuses on rational fluid substitution techniques and anaemia management in patients suffering severe haemorrhage.

### 6.2.2 Evidence-based medicine and perioperative fluid therapy

Creating reliable and generally acceptable outcome based evidence on perioperative fluid management is currently not feasible due to a lack of controlled studies, the limited representation of clinical scenarios and the absence of a consistent terminology. Several studies have evaluated the impact of perioperative fluid therapy on patient outcomes.<sup>255–268</sup> However, few qualify to serve as a basis for recommendations. The better studies have been performed in abdominal surgery, 256, 263-265, 268 where perioperative fluid needs may differ considerably from other surgical procedures.<sup>269</sup> Patients at high-risk are often excluded, even if they represent the typical collective.<sup>270</sup> The impact of perioperative fluid management on outcome cannot be isolated from other interventions<sup>271</sup> and only two prospective trials included details of therapeutic strategy beyond fluid therapy.<sup>261,262</sup> Perioperative fluid management must be embedded in a larger perioperative therapeutic concept in order to impact on patient outcome.

#### 6.2.3 Optimising macrocirculation 6.2.3.1 Preload optimisation Recommendation

We recommend aggressive and timely stabilisation of cardiac preload throughout the surgical procedure, as this appears beneficial to the patient. **1B** 

Hypovolaemia decreases cardiac output and tissue oxygen supply. Both the extent and duration of tissue hypoperfusion determine the severity of cellular damage and should be kept to a minimum with timely

volume substitution. Two recent meta-analyses concluded that a goal-directed approach to maintaining tissue perfusion reduces mortality, postoperative organ failure and surgical complications in high-risk surgical patients.<sup>272,273</sup>

#### Recommendation

We recommend the avoidance of hypervolaemia with crystalloids or colloids to a level exceeding the interstitial space in steady state, and beyond an optimal cardiac preload. 1B

The relationship between risk and total volume transfused appears to follow a U-shaped curve (infusing too much can be as deleterious as infusing too little).<sup>274</sup> Fluid excess can have a negative impact on cardiac, pulmonary and bowel function, wound healing and water and sodium regulation.<sup>275</sup> Surgery causes inflammation<sup>276</sup> and the corresponding release of mediators causes local tissue oedema.<sup>277</sup> Artificial hypervolaemia predisposes patients to interstitial oedema, which appears to be associated with perioperative mortality.<sup>278</sup>

### Recommendation

We recommend against the use of central venous pressure and pulmonary artery occlusion pressure as the only variables to guide fluid therapy and optimise preload during severe bleeding; dynamic assessment of fluid responsiveness and non-invasive measurement of cardiac output should be considered instead. **1B** 

To determine the amount of fluid required, high fidelity monitoring is necessary. The monitored variable should predict whether or not a fluid bolus will increase cardiac output.

Central venous pressure (CVP) remains the most widely used clinical marker of volume status, despite numerous studies showing no association between CVP and circulating blood volume.<sup>279</sup> Several studies have demonstrated that dynamic parameters such as stroke volume variation (SVV) or pulse pressure variation (PPV) provide better prediction of fluid responsiveness in mechanically ventilated patients with a normal heart rhythm. Fluid challenges and the leg-raising test represent simple and valid alternatives;<sup>280</sup> no data prove the superiority of substitution regimens guided by SVV or PPV.

The most extensively studied and successfully used method to maximise cardiac preload is the oesophageal Doppler device.<sup>259,281–286</sup>

### 6.2.3.2 Delayed and low-volume resuscitation techniques

The general implementation of a delayed or low-volume resuscitation protocol for the severely bleeding patient cannot be recommended at this time. However, such a protocol may be applied for specific lesions, provided that surgical control of bleeding is imminent.

### 6.2.4 Considerations for microcirculation

### 6.2.4.1 Compartmental fluid dynamics

Basic physiological principles during steady state assume the presence of a cell membrane, quantitatively impermeable to electrolytes, proteins and colloids, and a vascular barrier which retains proteins and colloids, but is freely permeable to electrolytes and other small solutes. Water flows passively across all compartments and distributes according to the amount of osmotically and oncotically active substances. This leads to the following primary distribution pattern: free water evenly across all the compartments (intravascular volume effect negligible); isotonic crystalloids within the extracellular fluid space (intravascular volume effect around 20%); and iso-oncotic colloids and proteins within the intravascular space (intravascular volume effect around 100%).<sup>276,277,287–289</sup> Thus. the infusion of crystalloids has been associated with substantial interstitial oedema (unpublished observations).

### 6.2.4.2 Crystalloids versus colloids Recommendation

We suggest the replacement of extracellular fluid losses with isotonic crystalloids in a timely and protocol based manner.  $2C\,$ 

Compared with crystalloids, haemodynamic stabilisation with iso-oncotic colloids, such as human albumin and hydroxyethyl starch, causes less tissue oedema. C

Losses from the extracellular space occur continuously via perspiration and urinary output. During fasting, these losses are not replaced and substitution is required. Healthy adults perspire around  $0.5 \text{ ml kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$ , and the corresponding value during major abdominal surgery is  $\leq 1 \text{ ml kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$ .<sup>290</sup> This loss, together with urinary output, should be replaced. There is no evidence that additional administration of crystalloid preserves organ function.

In healthy patients, stabilisation of cardiac preload with iso-oncotic colloids such as human albumin and hydroxyethyl starch causes less tissue oedema than do crystalloids. It is unclear whether this translates into any clinical outcome benefit. The safety profile of artificial colloids is unconfirmed.

The most important colloid solutions are human albumin, hydroxyethyl starch, gelatin and dextran. The volume effect of gelatin preparations appears inferior to that of starch or albumin preparations.<sup>291–293</sup> However, a recent review concluded that such effects are temporary and do not translate into different clinical outcomes.<sup>292</sup> While side effects of colloids remain a concern, a recent systematic review failed to show any significant safety differences between the available colloids.<sup>294</sup>

### 6.2.4.3 Chlorine balanced solution Recommendation

We suggest the use of balanced solutions for crystalloids and as a basic solute for iso-oncotic preparations. **2**C

In balanced crystalloids, metabolic anions (mainly acetate or lactate) are used instead of chloride to establish electroneutrality and isotonicity *in vitro*. Although no outcome benefit has been shown, there is little reason to question the rationale for using balanced solutions.<sup>295</sup>

### 6.2.4.4 Transfusion triggers

### Recommendation

We recommend a target haemoglobin concentration of  $7-9 g dl^{-1}$  during active bleeding. **1C** 

It has been demonstrated that acute anaemia  $(Hb < 5 \text{ g dl}^{-1})$  can be tolerated in healthy individuals, because compensatory mechanisms (predominantly an increase of cardiac output) can ensure sufficient tissue oxygenation.<sup>296</sup>

During bleeding, patients may be less able to tolerate anaemia because the compensatory mechanisms may be impaired. However, it is not known whether the lowest tolerable haemoglobin concentration is determined by volume status. Recent data from patients undergoing surgery and under intensive care indicate that a restrictive transfusion regimen (Hb  $7-8 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ ) is as effective and as safe as a liberal transfusion regimen (Hb  $9-11 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ ).<sup>9,297-300</sup> Considering the lack of benefits from higher haemoglobin concentrations, and the potential side effects of transfusing allogeneic blood, haemoglobin concentrations above  $9 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  cannot be supported.<sup>4</sup>

It has been speculated that haemoglobin concentration might influence coagulation. At high haemoglobin concentrations, erythrocytes congregate in the inner lumen of blood vessels, resulting in localisation of thrombocytes at the vessel wall, and this may improve clot formation. Furthermore, erythrocytes stimulate thrombin generation, thereby providing material for clot formation.<sup>301</sup> However, no randomised controlled trials have proved that increasing haemoglobin concentration above  $9 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  reduces bleeding or the number of blood transfusions.

### 6.2.4.5 Oxygen fraction Recommendation

We recommend that inspiratory oxygen fraction should be high enough to prevent arterial hypoxaemia in bleeding patients, while avoiding extensive hyperoxia  $(PaO_2 > 26.7 \text{ kPa } [200 \text{ mmHg}])$ . **1**C

The use of high inspiratory oxygen fractions during artificial ventilation (hyperoxic ventilation, HV) is traditionally advised for emergencies on the basis that severe arterial hypoxaemia potentially endangers oxygen delivery. However, it has been demonstrated that the side effects of HV (e.g. vasoconstriction) may worsen patient outcomes.<sup>302,303</sup> Overall, current evidence supports the use of HV to achieve physiological arterial oxygen partial pressures during haemorrhagic shock.

### 6.2.4.6 Monitoring tissue perfusion Recommendation

We recommend repeated measurements of a combination of haematocrit/haemoglobin, serum lactate, and base deficit in order to monitor tissue perfusion, tissue oxygenation and the dynamics of blood loss during acute bleeding. These parameters can be extended by measurement of cardiac output, dynamic parameters of volume status (e.g. stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation) and central venous oxygen saturation. **1**C

There is no easily applicable tool for monitoring blood volume in a clinical setting. Consequently, surrogate parameters (e.g. haematocrit/haemoglobin, central venous pressure, pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation, serum lactate concentration, base deficit) are used. Some of these parameters have been demonstrated to be inappropriate, such as central venous pressure and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, while others require specific monitoring tools which are not widely available, including stroke volume variation and pulse pressure variation with special monitors.

Due to low sensitivity and specificity, haematocrit and haemoglobin concentration should not be used as exclusive measures to monitor the extent of acute blood loss.<sup>304,305</sup> However, since haemoglobin concentration is one important determinant of systemic oxygen delivery, it should be monitored regularly.

Serum lactate concentration and base deficit reflect global tissue perfusion and oxygenation in haemorrhagic shock. Although both can be influenced by many different factors, their concentrations can be used to determine severity of haemorrhagic shock, guide substitution and transfusion protocols<sup>306,307</sup> and potentially predict survival.<sup>308</sup> However, it has not yet been shown whether the outcome of severe bleeding can be improved if volume resuscitation is guided by serum lactate concentration and base deficit.<sup>309</sup>

Central venous oxygen saturation (ScvO<sub>2</sub>) is used in sepsis to guide volume therapy and other measures to optimise oxygen delivery.<sup>310</sup> Although it has been demonstrated that ScvO<sub>2</sub> reflects blood loss in the early stages of haemorrhagic shock,<sup>311</sup> circulation is centralised during severe haemorrhage, which raises ScvO<sub>2</sub>. Therefore, ScvO<sub>2</sub> values during severe haemorrhage must be interpreted cautiously.<sup>312</sup>

### **6.3 Transfusion of labile blood products 6.3.1 Infectious risk of allogeneic blood components** Recommendation

We recommend that all countries implement national haemovigilance quality systems. **1C** 

Although tremendous progress has been made regarding the safety of blood components, there remains a residual

risk of transfusion-related infection.<sup>313</sup> Most transfusion services in Europe and the USA require that all donations are screened for hepatitis B and C viruses (HBV; HCV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and syphilis.<sup>314–317</sup> Universal testing for other infectious agents such as West Nile Virus, malaria, Chagaz disease and human T-cell lymphotropic virus (HTLV) is not justified because of their restricted geographical distribution; instead, donor screening is employed. Potential donors are asked questions on travel history, drug abuse, sexual behaviour, etc; however, residual risks remain. There is also a risk that laboratory testing of donated blood is not effective. There is usually a period during which the donation is infectious but will screen negative because the infectious marker is not present at detectable levels. Shortening of this 'window period' is a major target of all screening programmes.

In addition to known infectious agents, there is also the threat of new or emerging pathogens.<sup>313</sup> Due to increased travel and spread of mosquitoes, the most important emerging threats are the mosquito borne Dengue, Chikungunya and Zika viruses.<sup>318</sup>

Bacterial contamination is another issue of transfusion practice. Since the introduction of disposable collection systems, the incidence of bacterial contamination has decreased dramatically. However, platelets, which are stored at room temperature and suspended in plasma, still present a significant risk. The greatest risk of contamination occurs during collection, because bacteria are present on the donor's skin.<sup>319</sup> Disinfection techniques have improved, and small sideways collectors used to collect the first 30 ml of donated blood reduce the contamination risk. Additional measures include the use of closed systems and improvements in processing area hygiene.

Most countries have developed a national haemovigilance system to identify adverse outcomes of transfusion. Introduced in 1996, the UK Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT) scheme involves compulsory reporting of all transfusion-related incidents. The latest SHOT report (2009) demonstrated a tremendous reduction in serious outcomes compared with the first report (1996).<sup>320</sup> However, links between infection and transfusion are not always made.

#### Recommendation

We recommend a restrictive transfusion strategy which is beneficial in reducing exposure to allogeneic blood products. **1**A

One of the most effective ways to reduce transfusion related infection is to introduce a restrictive transfusion protocol, i.e. transfuse only what is really necessary (RBCs, plasma or platelets) and only when it is really necessary.

The Transfusion Requirements in Critical Care (TRICC) multicentre randomised controlled trial compared

restrictive transfusion (Hb concentration maintained at  $7-9 \,\mathrm{g} \,\mathrm{dl}^{-1}$ ) with liberal transfusion (Hb concentration maintained at  $10-12 \,\mathrm{g} \,\mathrm{dl}^{-1}$ ); 30-day mortality was higher with liberal transfusion.<sup>321</sup> A recent Cochrane review of RBC transfusion triggers included 17 RCTs.<sup>8</sup> A lower RBC transfusion trigger reduced postoperative infection by 24%, with no adverse effects on mortality, cardiac morbidity or length of hospital stay. Transfusion in acute coronary syndrome has been associated with increased mortality,<sup>322</sup> except in the elderly where it reduces fatality if the haematocrit is below 30%.<sup>323</sup>

#### Recommendation

### We recommend photochemical pathogen inactivation with amotosalen and UVA light for platelets. **1C**

Pathogen inactivation kits have recently been licensed for plasma and platelets, but not for RBCs. Such technology is probably most important for new and emerging infectious threats or in situations in which testing is only partially effective (e.g. bacterial contamination of platelet products).

Solvent and detergent (SD) was the first pathogen inactivation technique, introduced for plasma in the early 1990 s.<sup>324</sup> The process is based on disruption of the viral envelope but is only effective against lipid-enveloped viruses and is not applicable for use with RBCs or platelets.

More recently, the combination of photosensitisers and white or ultraviolet light has been developed to act at the nucleic acid level.<sup>325</sup> The principle of this approach is that viral and bacterial pathogens (except prions) need genetic material to be viable, whereas therapeutic blood components do not. The Intercept Blood System (Cerus Corporation, Concord, CA) for platelets and plasma uses photoactive amotosalen to irreversibly block the replication of DNA and RNA. The Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial (SPRINT) examined the therapeutic efficacy and safety of platelets treated with amotosalen and ultraviolet light.<sup>326</sup> This RCT showed that the use of pathogen-inactivated platelets is not associated with increased bleeding and confirmed a lack of either toxicity or neoantigen formation associated with this photochemical process.326

Another photoinactivation method applied to plasma is methylene blue combined with visible light. Few RCTs have assessed this method, and there are concerns over reduced efficacy of methylene blue treated plasma in patients with thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura.<sup>327</sup>

Photoinactivation is less applicable to RBCs because of their high optical density, which impairs penetration of photoactive molecules. Nevertheless, research with riboflavin is ongoing.

#### Recommendation

We recommend that labile blood components used for transfusion are leukodepleted.  $1B\,$ 

The infectious risk of leukocyte-mediated viruses (cytomegalovirus [CMV], HTLV, HIV) may be reduced by prestorage removal of leukocytes from blood components. For RBCs, this can be achieved by using dedicated filters, while for platelet products, leukocytes are removed during the collection process via apheresis. Third-generation leukocyte depletion filters appear effective in preventing primary CMV infection in neonates, adult cancer patients and bone marrow transplant patients. Leukodepletion does not remove all leukocytes, but there is evidence that CMV seronegative and leukoreduced blood components are equivalent, provided that  $\leq 5 \times 10^6$  white cells remain in the product transfused.<sup>328</sup>

Universal leukodepletion of blood components was introduced in the UK in 1998 on the basis that it reduces the risk of variant Creutzfeldt-Jacob disease (vCJD) transmission.<sup>329</sup>

Another benefit of prestorage leukodepletion is prevention of febrile non-haemolytic transfusion reactions (FNHTRs). These are the most frequent adverse reactions following transfusion of blood components, with an incidence of 1% with non-leukodepleted RBCs and 5-10% with platelets.<sup>330</sup> The main cause of FNHTRs is antibodies in the recipient being directed against antigens on the donor's white cells and platelets.<sup>331</sup> Leukoreduction of transfused blood components to  $<5 \times 10^6$ leukocytes per unit has been shown to significantly reduce the occurrence of FNHTRs.<sup>329,332</sup>

### 6.3.2 Immunological complications of blood transfusion

The SHOT report is a haemovigilance data collection system involving all UK hospitals. Since it began, 6653 transfusion-related adverse events have been recorded. In the first SHOT report (1996–1997) there were 141 reports, 36 cases of major morbidity and 12 deaths, representing a serious outcome percentage of 34% (48/141). By 2009, the serious outcome percentage had decreased to 6.7% (86/1279). Two hundred and eighty two reports (22%) were attributable to incorrect blood component transfusion (e.g. wrong ABO and Rh group).<sup>320</sup> It is estimated that approximately 1 in 30 000 transfused RBC units are ABO incompatible and that around 1 in 500 000 deaths are due to ABO incompatibility. This is ten-fold higher than the risk of acquiring HIV infection by transfusion in the UK.<sup>317</sup> Other immune mediated causes of transfusion-related morbidity and mortality identified by SHOT include haemolytic transfusion reactions, FNHTRs, allergic and anaphylactic reactions, transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) and transfusion-associated graft-versushost disease (TA-GVHD).

### Recommendation

We recommend that blood services implement standard operating procedures for patient identification and that staff be trained in early recognition of, and prompt response to, transfusion reactions.  $1C\,$ 

Haemolytic transfusion reactions (HTRs) are typically caused by transfusion of RBCs carrying antigens to which the recipient has significant alloantibodies. The vast majority of cases are attributable to bedside clerical/ procedural errors, either when taking samples for pre-transfusion screening or before the administration of the blood component.<sup>333</sup>

The pathogenesis of HTRs may be related to complement activation after IgM antibodies have been fixed (severe acute HTRs), or to IgG antibodies (e.g. anti-D, anti-K) in patients who have been sensitised either by pregnancy or by previous transfusion (less severe acute HTRs; approximately 1 in 25 000 transfused units of RBCs).<sup>334</sup> Onset of HTRs can be delayed by approximately 1 week following transfusion, by anamnestic or secondary immune responses in previously primed patients.

The first signs of both acute and delayed HTRs are fever and chills.<sup>335</sup> Hypotension, tachycardia, nausea and vomiting, loin and chest pain, and renal failure may be associated with acute HTRs or, less commonly, with delayed HTRs. Anaesthesia may mask the typical symptoms of renal failure and red cell destruction may be noted by the presence of haemoglobinuria and excessive bleeding because of disseminated intravascular coagulation. Haemoglobinaemia, haemoglobinuria, jaundice and DIC may also occur with acute HTRs, in relation to intra- or extravascular haemolysis.

The most frequent cause of intravascular HTRs is ABO incompatibility attributable to procedural errors. Most deaths occur with transfusion of group A or group B to group O recipients.

Occasionally HTRs may be associated with transfusion of plasma or even platelets. Here, transfusion of group O plasma containing antibodies against A or B antigens on the recipient's RBCs leads to haemolysis.

Rarely, incompatibility between RBCs from one donor and the plasma from another donor causes haemolysis in the recipient (interdonor incompatibility).

The American Association of Blood Banks guidelines recommend that if an HTR is suspected, transfusion must be stopped immediately.<sup>330</sup> This is because the severity of haemolysis is related to the volume of incompatible blood transfused. Treatment should be guided by the clinical manifestations. For mild symptoms, careful observation may suffice, but severe reactions demand vigorous therapy. For example, exchange transfusion may be lifesaving in cases of ABO incompatibility and severe haemolysis. Renal failure may be prevented by maintaining urine output with fluids and diuretics. Pressure support may be needed in the presence of hypotension

and shock, while DIC should be managed according to local protocols.

Febrile non-haemolytic transfusion reactions (FNHTRs) are defined as an increase in body temperature of  $\geq 1^{\circ}$ C occurring in association with the transfusion of blood components and not explained by other aspects of the patient's medical condition. Chills, rigor and discomfort may be present and usually respond well to antipyretic agents. Because fever is present in other transfusion reactions, such as acute HTR, TRALI and bacterial contamination, diagnosis of FNHTR is made by exclusion. If in doubt, a direct antiglobulin test should be performed and concentrations of free haemoglobin should be assessed.

Allergic and anaphylactic reactions develop as a type 1 hypersensitivity response to plasma proteins present in transfused blood components, meaning that an immediate allergic reaction follows any subsequent contact with the antigen to which the recipient has been previously sensitised. Crosslinking of antigen with surface IgE stimulates degranulation of the mast cells.<sup>336</sup> These cells are usually distributed in the skin and in the mucosa of gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts, hence the symptoms of itching, flare reactions, bronchoconstriction, nausea and vomiting, diarrhoea and abdominal cramps. Benign skin allergic responses to transfusion of plasmacontaining blood components, including RBCs and platelets, manifest as local erythema, urticaria and pruritus in 1-3% of cases. Anaphylactic transfusion reactions are much less frequent (1 in 20 000-400 000 units transfused). In the event of anaphylaxis, the infusion should be stopped immediately and adrenaline administered. Circulatory and respiratory support may be indicated. Diagnosis of an anaphylactic transfusion reaction must be made by demonstrating deficiency of IgA and presence of IgG anti-IgA in the recipient. Patients should subsequently receive blood components from an IgAdeficient donor population or autologous transfusion.<sup>337</sup>

### Recommendation

We recommend that multiparous women be excluded from donating blood for the preparation of FFP and for the suspension of platelets in order to reduce the incidence of TRALI. **1**C

Transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) is potentially life-threatening and occurs within 6 h of transfusion of plasma containing blood products.<sup>338</sup> Patients with TRALI commonly present with fever, chills, hypotension, dyspnoea, non-productive cough and cyanosis. Severe hypoxaemia is common, so many patients need supplemental oxygen and mechanical ventilation. Because there is no pathognomonic feature or diagnostic test available for TRALI, diagnosis is by exclusion. Most cases improve within 2–3 days if adequate respiratory and circulatory support is provided. The fatality rate from TRALI is 5–8%. The 2009 SHOT report includes 21 cases of TRALI out of the total of 1279 reported adverse incidents.<sup>320</sup> However, mild forms of TRALI may go unnoticed and severe cases may be attributed to factors such as circulatory overload; therefore, the true incidence is probably underestimated.

In the UK and Belgium, donations from multiparous women are excluded for the preparation of FFP and platelets. This strategy appears to be beneficial in reducing the incidence of TRALI.<sup>338–340</sup>

In France, HLA antibody screening of previously pregnant female donors has been found acceptable in case of shortage.

#### Recommendation

We recommend that all RBC, platelet and granulocyte donations from first-or second-degree relatives be irradiated even if the recipient is immunocompetent, and all RBC, platelet and that granulocyte products be irradiated before transfusing to at-risk patients. **1C** 

Transfusion-associated graft-versus-host disease (TA-GVHD) is a potential complication if the transfused blood component contains viable T-lymphocytes and there is disparity in HLA-antigens between donor and recipient.<sup>341</sup> The main risk factors are: congenital immunodeficiency disorders; Hodgkin's disease; *Erythroblastosis fetalis* and premature birth (neonates); intrauterine transfusion; stem cell transplants; donations from first-or second-degree relatives; HLA-matched cellular products; and recipient-donor pairs from genetically homogeneous populations.

The immune cells of immunocompetent recipients far outnumber donor T-lymphocytes, so the latter are usually eliminated by a host-versus-graft response. However, if functional T-lymphocytes are transfused from a donor who is homozygous for one of the recipient's haplotypes, the recipient may fail to recognise them as foreign. The donor T-lymphocytes recognise the host as foreign, proliferate and cause TA-GVHD. Because the onset of clinical symptoms is delayed for 8-10 days after transfusion, careful monitoring is warranted. Typical features of TA-GVHD include fever, maculopapular skin rash affecting the palms, diarrhoea and hepatitis. Infection leads to deterioration in health, with death occurring within 1 month in over 90% of cases.<sup>337</sup> The quickest way to diagnose TA-GVHD is by skin biopsy; histological changes including basal cell layer degeneration with vacuolisation, dermal epithelial layer separation and bulla formation are evident. It is useful also to establish the persistence of donor T-lymphocytes in the recipient's circulation or tissues, using DNA analysis.<sup>342-344</sup> However, their presence alone does not necessarily indicate TA-GVHD because donor lymphocytes can persist after transfusion. Because concomitant medical conditions may conceal TA-GVHD symptoms, the incidence is underestimated.

There is no effective treatment of TA-GVHD. Prevention is by removing donor lymphocytes or by destroying their proliferative capacity. Leukodepletion to less than 10<sup>6</sup> white cells per unit does not eliminate the risk. However, since the introduction of universal leukodepletion in the UK, a significant decrease in TA-GVHD cases has been observed and the 2009 SHOT report (UK) does not record any cases.<sup>320</sup> The mainstay of prevention remains gamma irradiation of cellular blood components to prevent donor leukocyte proliferation.<sup>345</sup> However, because of the low incidence of TA-GVHD in immunocompetent recipients receiving blood components from unrelated donors, gamma irradiation is not warranted on a routine basis.

### Recommendation

### We recommend the transfusion of leukocyte reduced RBC components for cardiac surgery patients. 1A

The concept of transfusion-related immunomodulation (TRIM) explains laboratory immune aberrations perceived after blood transfusion. Initially, TRIM only encompassed the effects of allogeneic transfusion attributable to immunomodulation (e.g. cancer recurrence, postoperative nosocomial infection, virus activation), but recently the potential effects of proinflammatory mechanisms (e.g. multiple organ failure, mortality) were added.<sup>346</sup>

Increased cancer recurrence after blood transfusion has been shown in *in vitro* studies, animal models and observational studies.<sup>347</sup> However, a randomised controlled study did not find any difference in colorectal cancer recurrence after 2 and 5 years.<sup>348</sup> The true effect of TRIM on cancer recurrence remains to be demonstrated in a sufficiently powered RCT.

The influence of allogeneic blood transfusion on postoperative nosocomial infections has been investigated in several meta-analyses.<sup>349–352</sup> However, because of differences in surgical patients, definitions for postoperative infection and type of transfused blood components, the evidence is inconclusive.

Higher mortality rates among transfused versus non-transfused patients can generally be explained by patient selection, because anaemia is an independent risk factor. However, in cardiac surgery, increased postoperative infection attributable to TRIM has been demonstrated among patients receiving leukocyte containing RBCs compared with those receiving leukocyte reduced RBCs.<sup>353</sup> In the same RCT, inhospital mortality and length of hospital stay were also increased in patients receiving leukocyte containing RBCs. A subsequent RCT conducted by the same authors confirmed the results of their first trial.<sup>354</sup>

### 6.3.3 Preparation of labile blood components

Because very few indications remain for whole blood transfusion, it is now common for plasma, platelets, RBCs, granulocytes and stem cells to be collected by apheresis. For this technique, one (or more) component(s) are collected from the donor by centrifugation and the unwanted components are returned to the donor's circulation. The main advantage of apheresis is the collection of more than one dose of a selected component per donation, reducing the number of donors to whom recipients are exposed.

For preparation of FFP at the Belgian Military Hospital, the plasma units are weighed and then subjected to inline leukodepletion by gravity filtration. Pathogen inactivation is performed using the Intercept Blood System (amotosalen and ultraviolet light). Each unit (approximately 200 ml) is frozen at  $-75^{\circ}$ C, before storage at  $-85^{\circ}$ C for up to 1 year. All FFP units undergo quality control, including determination of factor VIII (FVIII) and protein concentrations, as well as leukocyte, RBC and platelet counts.

Leukodepletion of platelet components takes place during the last step of separation. After a 2 h collection period, aliquots of plasma and suspension liquid are added to produce two platelet units, each containing approximately  $4 \times 10^{11}$  platelets. Each platelet unit undergoes pathogen inactivation by amotosalen and ultraviolet light.<sup>325</sup> Amotosalen is removed by filtration before storage at  $20-22^{\circ}$ C (shelf life: 5–7 days). Quality control involves measuring volume and pH, as well as platelet, RBC and leukocyte counts. Other techniques used for platelet production are the 'buffy coat' method favoured in Europe and the platelet-rich plasma (PRP) technique used in North America.<sup>355</sup>

After their separation from whole blood, RBCs are suspended in Nutricel additive solution (Bayer AG, Leverkusen, Germany). Nutricel provides a shelf life of 49 days, 7 days longer than the more commonly used SAGM solution. Promptly after collection, the units are leukodepleted by gravity filtration. Quality control, performed on 1 in 20 units, includes determination of blood group, haemoglobin concentration and haematocrit, leukocyte count, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), 2,3-diphosphoglycerate (2,3-DPG), adenosine triphosphate (ATP), potassium and lactate concentrations, and pH. European guidelines suggest RBC units produced by apheresis should have a haematocrit of 50–70% when suspended in SAGM solution and 55–70% when Nutricel is used.

### **6.3.4 Cell salvage** Recommendation

## We recommend the routine use of red cell saving which is helpful for blood conservation in cardiac operations using CPB. $1\rm{A}$

In light of the potential adverse effects of transfusing allogeneic blood components, the ever increasing cost and the shrinking donor pool, strategies to reduce perioperative blood transfusion are being developed. Intraoperative cell salvage (ICS) has been proposed as a

key method for reducing perioperative blood transfusion.<sup>356</sup>

In order to be cost-effective, an initial 'stand-by' setup using only a sterile reservoir, a double lumen suction catheter and a solution for anticoagulation is required. Once sufficient wound blood has accumulated, the main washing device is installed. Several devices are available and all use the principle of centrifugation to separate RBCs from plasma and the wash solution. After priming the system with 100-200 ml of heparin solution ( $30 \text{ IU ml}^{-1}$ ), 1), the flow is adjusted to an anticoagulant:blood ratio of 1:5 to 1:7.<sup>357</sup> Shed blood is aspirated, anticoagulated at the suction catheter tip and stored in a sterile reservoir equipped with a microaggregate filter. Anticoagulated and filtered wound blood is pumped into the centrifuge for RBC separation. The RBCs are then washed and suspended in saline to obtain a haematocrit of 50-70%. Leukocytes are removed with the buffy coat to varying degrees.<sup>358-361</sup>

ICS should be considered for all operations with significant likely blood loss, i.e. >20% of the patient's estimated blood volume.<sup>362</sup> Cardiac surgery using CPB is a major indication.<sup>363</sup> In this setting, significantly reduced blood loss and transfusion requirements have been demonstrated, with decreased complication rates and reduced systemic inflammation related to removal of most but not all cytokines from suctioned blood. Routine use of red cell saving is recommended by the American Society of Thoracic Surgeons and the Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists for blood conservation in cardiac operations using CPB.<sup>364</sup> However, ICS is contraindicated in patients with infection or malignancy and in situations in which the blood is exposed to topical clotting agents (e.g. fibrin glue or any other thrombin containing compound).

### Recommendation

We recommend against the routine use of intraoperative platelet-rich plasmapheresis for blood conservation during cardiac operations using CPB. 1A

Platelet dysfunction is a major factor in CPB-induced coagulopathic bleeding. It would therefore seem reasonable to remove platelet-rich plasma from circulating whole blood before starting CPB, for infusion at the end of surgery. However, a meta-analysis found that intraoperative platelet-rich plasmapheresis was not beneficial.<sup>365</sup> The process is labour intensive and technical mistakes might be harmful.<sup>366</sup>

### 6.3.4.1 Other surgical settings Recommendation

We recommend the use of red cell salvage in major orthopaedic surgery because it is useful in reducing exposure to allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. 1A

In off-pump cardiac surgery, red cell salvage is recommended. Another area in which ICS has proved to be beneficial is in major orthopaedic surgery, such as hip replacement, spinal operations and repair of pelvic fractures.<sup>357,367,368</sup> Other indications for ICS include abdominal aortic aneurysm repair,<sup>369</sup> hepatectomy, radical prostatectomy, nephrectomy, cystectomy and emergency medicine (e.g. major abdominal and/or thoracic trauma).<sup>370</sup>

Definite contraindications to ICS include the intraoperative use of sterile water, hydrogen peroxide or alcohol, as these substances would induce severe RBC haemolysis.<sup>371</sup> When shed blood is potentially contaminated with bacteria, amniotic fluid or malignant cells, the decision to use ICS should be made on a case-by-case basis.<sup>356</sup>

In cancer surgery, there is concern about the risk of reinfusing malignant cells, which could cause metastases. Certainly, aspiration of blood from close to the tumour site should be avoided. Leukodepletion may reduce the risk, but residual cancer cells after filtration are unacceptable because it has been demonstrated that one single tumour cell is capable of causing metastasis.<sup>372</sup> Despite these considerations, studies in urological cancer surgery have shown ICS not to affect biochemical recurrence or long term survival.<sup>373,374</sup> In 2008, the UK National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) approved the use of ICS in urological malignancy surgery.<sup>375</sup> It is well known that DNA proliferation of radiosensitive tumour cells can be eradicated by gamma irradiation.<sup>376,377</sup> Irradiation has also been shown not to impair RBC quality.<sup>376</sup> Therefore, irradiation of intraoperatively salvaged wound blood could potentially increase the acceptance of ICS in cancer surgery.

### Recommendation

We recommend that intraoperative cell salvage is not contraindicated in bowel surgery, provided that initial evacuation of soiled abdominal contents and additional cell washing are performed, and that broad-spectrum antibiotics are used. **1C** 

Contamination of the surgical field (e.g. bowel surgery, penetrating abdominal trauma or infected wounds) has typically been considered as a contraindication to ICS. However, the literature indicates no difference in infection rate after laparotomy for abdominal trauma in patients receiving allogeneic blood components or cell salvaged blood. There also seems to be no correlation between microbial organisms grown from cell salvaged blood and those involved in postoperative pneumonia, bacteraemias or urinary tract infections. An RCT in patients undergoing laparotomy for abdominal injuries demonstrated that ICS significantly reduced allogeneic blood usage without increasing postoperative infection or mortality rate.378 Consequently, the Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland (AAGBI) guidelines state that, in the setting of bowel surgery, red cell salvage is indicated, provided that initial evacuation of the soiled abdominal contents and additional cell

washing are performed, and that broad-spectrum antibiotics are used.

During the peripartum period, shed blood can be contaminated with amniotic fluid and fetal blood, so reinfusion carries a theoretical risk of amniotic fluid embolism. However, with no proven case of this, NICE has approved the use of cell salvage in obstetrics.<sup>379</sup> Leukodepletion filters are advocated because their use reduces amniotic fluid contamination,<sup>380</sup> but the resulting reduction in reinfusion speed must be considered.

### 6.3.5 Storage lesions

#### Recommendation

We recommend that RBCs up to 42 days old should be transfused according to the first-in, first-out method in the blood services to minimise wastage of erythrocytes. **1**C

The legal maximum period for storing RBCs is 42 days. Biochemical and biomechanical modifications occurring during prolonged storage are described as storage lesions.<sup>381</sup> During storage of RBCs, lactic acid accumulates in the blood bag and degrades 2,3-DPG.<sup>382</sup> This increases the oxygen affinity of haemoglobin, meaning that less oxygen is delivered to tissues. After storage of RBCs for 42 days, the majority of 2,3-DPG is degraded. Although half of it recovers in vivo within 24h after transfusion,<sup>383</sup> this might not be fast enough for critical patients needing immediate restoration of oxygen delivery.<sup>384</sup> In addition, ATP content is reduced in stored RBCs, resulting in morphological changes<sup>385</sup> which cause changes in blood viscosity. Membrane remodelling may lead to IgG binding and accelerated erythrocyte destruction.<sup>386</sup> A recent review by Kim-Shapiro<sup>387</sup> hypothesises that storage-associated RBC fragility causes the release of free haemoglobin, which consumes nitric oxide, a key player in blood flow regulation and inflammation.

Several prospective and retrospective studies have attempted to link prolonged storage duration of RBCs with adverse clinical outcome,<sup>388–391</sup> but the results are inconclusive. A recent meta-analysis found a lack of support for the suspicion that transfusion of 'old' RBCs increases morbidity and mortality.<sup>392</sup>

Alfano and Tarasev<sup>393</sup> reported that erythrocyte membrane fragility correlated well with transfusion efficacy and that mechanical fragility differed between RBCs of the same age. These findings suggest that the traditional blood service inventory management founded on the first-in, first-out method could be replaced by an approach taking into account the quality of the RBCs. It would also become possible to prioritise the best performing RBC units for the sickest patients. Recently, Raval *et al.*<sup>394</sup> demonstrated that mechanical fragility is independent of age but correlates with storage solution and donor gender. Vincent *et al.*<sup>395</sup> suggest that RBC units which may be ineffective for some patients could nonetheless be beneficial for others.

### **7 COAGULATION MANAGEMENT**

### 7.1 Indications, contraindications, complications and doses

#### 7.1.1 Introduction

Many treatment protocols for perioperative bleeding use fixed ratios of allogeneic blood products. However, transfusion of allogeneic blood products increases morbidity and mortality, and fixed ratios might not improve outcomes.<sup>141,396–408</sup> We searched for evidence on the use of fibrinogen concentrate, cryoprecipitate, factor XIII (FXIII) concentrate, recombinant activated factor VII (rFVIIa), PCC, vitamin K, desmopressin (DDAVP), aprotinin and tranexamic acid in severe perioperative bleeding.

### 7.1.2 Fibrinogen concentrate

### Recommendation

We recommend treatment with fibrinogen concentrate if significant bleeding is accompanied by at least suspected low fibrinogen concentrations or function. **1C** 

We recommend that a plasma fibrinogen concentration  $<1.5-2.0 \text{ gl}^{-1}$  or ROTEM/TEG signs of functional fibrinogen deficit should be triggers for fibrinogen substitution. **1C** 

We suggest an initial fibrinogen concentrate dose of  $25-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ . **2C** 

In severe bleeding, fibrinogen reaches critical concentrations early,<sup>36,409</sup> and haemorrhagic tendency is increased when fibrinogen concentration is  $<1.5-2.0 \text{ gl}^{-1}$ .<sup>36,85,114,182,409–414</sup>

Studies have consistently shown that fibrinogen can increase clot firmness,<sup>124,125,415–429</sup> and data on the efficacy of fibrinogen concentrate in acquired fibrinogen deficiency are increasing. In three randomised trials and two prospective cohort studies, fibrinogen concentrate optimised coagulation, reduced perioperative bleeding and significantly reduced transfusion.<sup>116,117,430,431</sup> Furthermore, in cardiac surgery, first-line therapy with fibrinogen concentrate and PCC based on POC testing has been associated with decreased transfusion requirements, decreased incidence of thromboembolic events and reduced mortality.<sup>119,120</sup>

### 7.1.3 Cryoprecipitate Recommendation

We suggest that the indication for cryoprecipitate is lack of available fibrinogen concentrate for the treatment of bleeding and hypofibrinogenaemia. 2C

In contrast to cryoprecipitate, freeze dried fibrinogen concentrate offers standardised fibrinogen content, faster reconstitution and improved efficacy.<sup>432,433</sup> In addition,

the risks of pathogen transmission and immune-mediated complications are reduced with fibrinogen concentrate.<sup>434,435</sup>

### 7.1.4 Factor XIII

#### Recommendation

In cases of ongoing or diffuse bleeding and low clot strength despite adequate fibrinogen concentrations, it is likely that FXIII activity is critically reduced. In cases of significant FXIII deficiency (i.e. <60% activity), we suggest that FXIII concentrate (30 IU kg<sup>-1</sup>) can be administered. **2C** 

Clinical studies have shown an increased bleeding tendency in surgical patients with FXIII activity <60%.<sup>410,413,436–442</sup> However, more data are needed on the effect of FXIII concentrate on bleeding and transfusion requirements.<sup>418,443–448</sup>

### **7.1.5 Prothrombin complex concentrate** Recommendation

We recommend that patients on oral anticoagulant therapy should be given PCC and vitamin K before any other coagulation management steps for severe perioperative bleeding. **1B** 

We suggest that PCC  $(20-30 IU kg^{-1})$  can also be administered to patients not on oral anticoagulant therapy in the presence of an elevated bleeding tendency and prolonged clotting time. Prolonged INR/PT alone is not an indication for PCC, especially in critically ill patients. 2C

PCC is recommended for acute reversal of oral anticoagulation.<sup>449,450</sup> Some centres also administer PCC in cases of massive bleeding and prolonged clotting times,<sup>125,398</sup> although it must be acknowledged that for perioperative bleeding, the data are very limited. Animal trials have shown that PCC can reduce blood loss,<sup>451–456</sup> and two retrospective analyses have shown benefit in patients with bleeding complications.<sup>457,458</sup> Other animal studies have shown conflicting results.<sup>459</sup> A mean dose of 30 IU kg<sup>-1</sup> increased normalised PT in patients with reduced coagulation activity.<sup>460</sup>

Animal studies suggest that PCC administration might be associated with an increased risk of thromboembolic complications or DIC.<sup>423,461</sup> Vitamin K is required for the synthesis of factors II, VII, IX, and X, and proteins C, S and Z. These factors might be decreased in patients on oral anticoagulant therapy, those with severe malnutrition or severe liver disease, or in newborns. PCC should be administered in these cases of acute severe surgical bleeding.<sup>119,120,449,450</sup>

### 7.1.6 Recombinant activated factor VII Recommendation

We suggest that off-label administration of rFVIIa can be considered for bleeding which cannot be stopped by conventional, surgical or interventional radiological means and/or when comprehensive coagulation therapy fails. **2C** 

Recombinant FVIIa is licensed for the treatment of patients with haemophilia and inhibitory antibodies, or Glanzmann thrombasthenia.<sup>462</sup> There is conflicting evidence about the use of rFVIIa in surgical bleeding; reduced blood loss and transfusion requirements have been reported,<sup>463–466</sup> while some randomised clinical trials have failed to show a benefit. A recent meta-analysis of patients undergoing liver surgery did not find any benefit from prophylactic rFVIIa.<sup>467</sup> A Cochrane analysis concluded that prophylactic rFVIIa reduced blood loss and transfusion requirements in non-haemophilic patients, while mortality did not change. However, there was also a trend towards increased thromboembolic complications with rFVIIa.<sup>469</sup>

Recombinant FVIIa should be administered before haemostasis is severely compromised.<sup>470</sup> The optimum dose is  $90-120 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$ , and this can be repeated. Hypofibrinogenaemia,<sup>471</sup> thrombocytopaenia, hypothermia, acidosis and hyperfibrinolysis<sup>45,472</sup> should all be treated before rFVIIa is used.

### 7.1.7 Antifibrinolytics and tranexamic acid Recommendation

We recommend the consideration of tranexamic acid  $(20-25 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ . 1A

The efficacy of antifibrinolytics has been well studied in patients undergoing elective surgical procedures.<sup>473–477</sup> A large meta-analysis found that tranexamic acid provides a similar reduction in perioperative transfusion to that seen with aprotinin, but with improved safety.<sup>478–480</sup> Tranexamic acid doses of up to  $25 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  are usually recommended; these can be repeated or followed by continuous infusion  $(1-2 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1})$ .

An analysis of tranexamic acid use in 20 211 trauma patients showed that it improves survival rates by approximately 10%.<sup>481</sup>

### 7.1.8 Aprotinin

Aprotinin is no longer available. Aprotinin was withdrawn from the market because of safety concerns.

### 7.1.9 **Desmopressin (DDAVP)** Recommendation

We suggest the use of DDAVP under specific conditions (acquired von Willebrand syndrome). There is no convincing evidence that DDAVP minimises perioperative bleeding or perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion in patients without a congenital bleeding disorder. **2B** 

A Cochrane analysis showed that desmopressin does not significantly reduce the risk of exposure to allogeneic RBC transfusion. In patients undergoing liver resection,

desmopressin has no effect on transfusion requirement<sup>482,483</sup>

In cardiovascular surgery, desmopressin has been shown to reduce postoperative blood loss in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis undergoing aortic valve replacement.<sup>183</sup> In contrast, desmopressin was not effective in patients undergoing CABG who were previously treated with aspirin.<sup>484,485</sup>

#### **7.2 Correction of confounding factors 7.2.1 Correction of temperature, pH, Ca<sup>2+</sup>** *7.2.1.1 Introduction*

Hypothermia and acidosis each induce coagulopathy. A core temperature of  $\leq$ 34°C inhibits thrombin generation, fibrinogen synthesis and platelet function, and increases fibrinolysis. Acidosis (pH  $\leq$  7.1) inhibits thrombin generation and platelet function, while accelerating fibrinogen degradation. Reversal of acidosis does not correct acidosis-induced coagulopathy. The positively charged Ca<sup>2+</sup> enhances fibrin polymerisation, coagulation factor activity and platelet activity.

### Recommendation

We recommend maintaining perioperative normothermia because it reduces blood loss and transfusion requirements.  $1B\,$ 

A meta-analysis found that even mild hypothermia (<1°C below normal) increases blood loss by approximately 16% and relative risk of transfusion by approximately 22% in surgical patients.<sup>486</sup> Intraoperative maintenance of normothermia has been shown in plastic surgery to support normal coagulation.<sup>487</sup> In hip arthroplasty, aggressive intraoperative warming (tympanic membrane maintained at 36.5°C) reduces perioperative blood loss compared with conventional warming (36°C).<sup>488</sup> However, in healthy, anaesthetised adults, reduction of body temperature to 32°C induced only minor effects on coagulation.<sup>489</sup> Hypothermic effects may go undetected, because coagulation tests are typically performed at 37°C.

A pig model has shown that hypothermia  $(32^{\circ}C)$  delays onset of thrombin generation (FVIIa/TF pathway) without affecting late thrombin generation (propagation phase). In this study, acidosis (pH 7.1) slightly inhibited early thrombin generation and significantly impaired late thrombin generation.<sup>490</sup>

### Recommendation

We suggest that rFVIIa may be used in treatment of patients with hypothermic coagulopathy. **2C** 

While pH correction alone cannot immediately correct acidosis-induced coagulopathy, we recommend that pH correction should be pursued during treatment of acidotic coagulopathy. **1C** 

We recommend that rFVIIa should only be considered alongside pH correction.  $1\ensuremath{C}$ 

A pH decrease from 7.4 to 7.0 can reduce FVII activity *in* vitro by >90% and FVII/TF activity by >60%.<sup>491</sup> Other *in vitro* data show rFVIIa sensitivity to temperature as well as pH.<sup>492</sup> Addition of rFVIIa *in vitro* improves clot reaction times and clot formation rates in mild–moderate, but not severe, hypothermia.<sup>493</sup> In adult surgical patients, rFVIIa may be less effective in acidotic coagulopathy.<sup>494</sup> Conversely, rFVIIa efficacy was reported in another study to be affected by volume expansion but not acidosis or hypothermia.<sup>495</sup>

In thromboelastometric studies of healthy volunteers, hypothermia-induced coagulopathy was exacerbated by acidosis, whereas acidosis without hypothermia had no significant effects on coagulation. Thromboelastometry performed at 37°C may therefore overestimate the integrity of coagulation for patients experiencing hypothermia and acidosis.<sup>496</sup>

A study in pigs showed that acidosis-induced depletion of plasma fibrinogen concentration and platelet count is not reversed by neutralisation of pH with bicarbonate.<sup>497</sup>

#### Recommendation

We suggest that calcium should be administered during massive transfusion if  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration is low, in order to preserve normocalcaemia ( $\geq 0.9 \text{ mmol } l^{-1}$ ). **2B** 

In a cohort study, the nadir of  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration was more important than the lowest recorded fibrinogen concentration, acidosis and platelet count in predicting hospital mortality. Major risk factors for severe hypocalcaemia included acidosis and amount of FFP transfused.<sup>498</sup> Whole blood clotting time is prolonged in rats with severe ionised hypocalcaemia.<sup>499</sup>

FVIIa activity is calcium dependent. Thus,  $Ca^{2+}$  may stimulate intrinsic FVIIa activity by a combination of charge neutralisation and loop stabilisation.<sup>500</sup>

## 7.2.2 Emergency radiological/surgical interventions to reduce blood loss 7.2.2.1 Introduction

### 7.2.2.1 Introduction

Angiotherapy can be diagnostically and therapeutically effective in patients with gastrointestinal bleeding. It provides a surgical alternative for patients with high surgical risk. Candidate patients have typically failed to respond to medical and/or endoscopic therapy.

### Recommendations

We suggest that endovascular embolisation is a safe alternative to open surgical intervention after failed endoscopic treatment for upper gastrointestinal bleeding. **2C** 

We suggest superselective embolisation as primary therapy for treatment of angiogram positive lower gastrointestinal bleeding.  $2{\rm C}$ 

We suggest embolisation as first-line therapy for arterial complications in pancreatitis.  $\mathbf{2C}$ 

Transcatheter arterial embolisation (TAE) is well tolerated and effective for upper gastrointestinal bleeding after failed endoscopic treatment.<sup>501,502</sup> It has a lower mortality rate than surgery,<sup>503,504</sup> and low incidences of technique-related complications and recurrent bleeding.<sup>505,506</sup> When a microcatheter cannot be advanced to the bleeding site, TAE with N-butyl cyanoacrylate may be used to treat upper gastrointestinal bleeding, even in coagulopathic patients.<sup>507</sup>

TAE can also be used for lower gastrointestinal bleeding,  $^{508}$  with a success rate of 76–97% and low frequencies of acute ischaemia or recurrent bleeding.  $^{509-511}$ 

TAE is less invasive than surgery and equally successful in controlling arterial bleeding in pancreatitis.<sup>512</sup> In patients with head and neck cancer and massive tumour bleeding, TAE has a low incidence of adverse events and is associated with longer survival than that in patients who are not candidates for the procedure.<sup>513</sup>

### 7.3 Cost implications

### 7.3.1 Introduction

Hospital care providers have limited resources and funds allocated for transfusion divert funding from competing clinical and therapeutic strategies. The total cost of supplying patients with haemostatic therapies involves a complex array of activities surrounding the supply process, together with the cost of the consequences following administration. For example, unnecessary transfusions are likely to be associated with unnecessary morbidity and additional indirect hospitalisation costs. In this section, we assess the direct and indirect cost implications of haemostatic therapies.

# 7.3.2 Do bleeding, massive haemorrhage and transfusion of allogeneic blood products increase costs?

#### Recommendation

Bleeding and transfusion of allogeneic blood products independently increase morbidity, mortality, length of stay in ICU and hospital, and costs. **B** 

Bleeding and transfusion of allogeneic blood products (e.g. packed RBCs, FFP, platelets) are independently associated with increased morbidity and mortality.<sup>3,4,321,388,396,399,400,514–519</sup> Thus, allogeneic blood transfusion is associated with increased costs.<sup>515,520</sup> These costs can be differentiated into primary or acquisition costs for allogeneic blood products (paid by the hospital or the government), activity based costs of blood transfusion (including all process costs from the indication to blood transfusion until monitoring of effects and adverse events) and secondary costs of transfusion-associated adverse events.<sup>521</sup> Acquisition costs for allogeneic blood products differ widely among countries in Europe and are difficult to determine in countries where hospitals do not have to pay for allogeneic blood products because these are supplied 'free of charge' by the government. However, activity based costs are usually 3.2-4.8 times higher than acquisition costs.<sup>522</sup> Some hospitals use virtual internal transfer prices, which have to be 'paid' by the transfusing department to the blood bank in order to compensate for activity based costs of the blood bank (e.g. storage and crossmatching). Furthermore, transfusion-associated adverse events such as acute lung injury (ALI), transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI), transfusion-associated circulatory overload (TACO), nosocomial infections and sepsis, as well as ischaemic events (myocardial infarction, stroke, acute renal failure, multiple organ failure) are associated with secondary costs for hospitals, governments and health insurance companies. It has been shown that each additional day with mechanical ventilation at a US ICU increases the hospital cost by \$3800-4000.523,524 In the UK, the 'return-to-theatre cost' resulting from a bleeding complication in cardiac surgery has been calculated as £2617.525 Furthermore, a study in cardiac surgery in Augsburg, Germany, demonstrated that excessive postoperative haemorrhage, defined as drainage volume >200 ml in any one of the first 6 h after surgery, was associated with significant increases in adverse events (e.g. four-fold increase in the incidence of stroke; incidence of renal failure doubled), length of ICU stay (doubled), mortality (four-fold increase) and hospital costs (increased from €8027 to €15 404).<sup>526</sup> Murphy *et al.*<sup>515</sup> reported that overall hospitalisation costs increased by >40% in transfused compared with non-transfused patients in cardiac surgery in the UK. Therefore, clinical interventions which prevent or address severe perioperative bleeding, reduce transfusion requirements and reduce transfusionassociated adverse events are likely to be cost-effective.

#### 7.3.3 Does prophylactic use of antifibrinolytic drugs or recombinant factor VIIa reduce costs? Recommendations

Lysine analogues (tranexamic acid and  $\varepsilon$ -aminocaproic acid; EACA) reduce perioperative blood loss and transfusion requirements; this can be highly cost-effective in several settings of major surgery and trauma. A

We recommend restricting the use of rFVIIa to its licensed indication because, outside these indications, the effectiveness of rFVIIa to reduce transfusion requirements and mortality remains unproven and the risk of arterial thromboembolic events as well as costs are high. 1A

Literature regarding the use of aprotinin to reduce bleeding and transfusion requirements has not been analysed because aprotinin was withdrawn from the market in 2007.<sup>475,527,528</sup>

Lysine analogues (tranexamic acid and EACA) have been shown to reduce the requirement for allogeneic blood transfusion in orthopaedic surgery,<sup>477,529–538</sup> trauma,<sup>18,481</sup>

*Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

cardiac surgery,<sup>475,528,539–544</sup> postpartum haemorrhage,<sup>19,545,546</sup> and liver resection and transplantation.<sup>476,480,483,540,547,548</sup>

Head-to-head comparisons show a lower risk of death with lysine analogues compared with aprotinin. The lysine analogues appear to be free of serious adverse effects, but safety data are sparse.<sup>480</sup> Tranexamic acid has been shown to be cost-effective, reducing transfusion requirements without increasing the incidence of deep vein thrombosis.<sup>535</sup> Lysine analogues appear to be particularly cost- and lifesaving in countries with limited financial resources.<sup>549</sup> Cost-effectiveness analysis based on the CRASH-2 trial data indicated that early administration of tranexamic acid to bleeding trauma patients is highly cost-effective in all income settings.<sup>550</sup>

No prospective randomised trials dealing with the prophylactic administration of rFVIIa have shown any effect on mortality.<sup>467,540,551–554</sup> The costs for  $400 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$ rFVIIa are very high compared to a reduction in transfusion requirement of 2.6 U RBCs. Prospective randomised trials in patients with intracerebral haemorrhage showed a significantly increased incidence of arterial thromboembolic complications, including myocardial and cerebral infarction (7 vs. 2% [P=0.12] and 10 vs. 1% [P=0.01], respectively).<sup>555-557</sup> A distinct trend towards serious thromboembolic adverse events, including stroke, was observed in prospective randomised studies in liver transplantation (placebo 10%;  $60 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa 19%;  $120 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa 12%; P > 0.05) and cardiac surgery (placebo 7%; 40  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> rFVIIa 14% [P=0.25];  $80 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa 12% [P=0.43]).<sup>558,559</sup> Most recent guidelines recommend not to use rFVIIa in nonapproved indications. Its emergency use should be restricted to situations in which all other options failed to control severe bleeding.<sup>540,560–563</sup>

## **7.3.4 Does cell salvage reduce costs?** Recommendation

Cell salvage can be cost-effective. A

Cell salvage has been shown to be cost-effective in minimising perioperative transfusion of allogeneic blood products.<sup>363,564,565</sup>

# 7.3.5 Do formula driven transfusion protocols (1:1:1 concept for RBC:FFP:platelet transfusion) reduce costs?

### Recommendation

The cost-effectiveness of a formula driven transfusion protocol has not been investigated.

Several retrospective and some prospective cohort studies – mostly performed in military trauma patients – suggest that early fresh frozen plasma transfusion with an FFP to PRBC ratio between 1:2 and 1:1 reduces 30-day mortality.<sup>566–570</sup> However, the evidence for this is of low quality, with a lack of prospective randomised trials.<sup>15,16,571–573</sup> There are no data on the impact of formula driven transfusion protocols on costs.

#### 7.3.6 Does implementation of point-of-care diagnostics (thromboelastography, thromboelastometry, platelet function tests such as whole-blood impedance aggregometry) and subsequent goal-directed therapy reduce costs? Recommendation

Implementation of transfusion and coagulation management algorithms (based on ROTEM/TEG) can reduce transfusion-associated costs in trauma, cardiac surgery and liver transplantation. **B** 

O'Keeffe et al.<sup>574</sup> and Cotton et al.<sup>575</sup> demonstrated in two retrospective studies in trauma patients that the implementation of a massive transfusion or exsanguination protocol significantly reduced overall blood product consumption and produced cost savings. Furthermore, Görlinger et al. showed in two retrospective studies in visceral surgery, liver transplantation and cardiovascular surgery that the implementation of a thromboelastometry-based transfusion and coagulation management algorithm significantly reduced transfusion requirements and costs.<sup>120,576</sup> These results were confirmed by a recent prospective randomised clinical trial in coagulopathic cardiac surgery patients.<sup>119</sup> A significant reduction in transfusion requirements, transfusion-associated adverse events and costs, as well as improved outcomes (including 6-month mortality), was demonstrated in the POC compared to the control group.

In principle, point-of-care tests of haemostatic function can facilitate the optimal management of excessive bleeding and reduce transfusion by enabling tailored haemostatic therapy and differentiation between microvascular and surgical bleeding. The potential reductions in allogeneic blood product transfusion and re-exploration rates have important implications for overall patient safety and healthcare costs. For example, re-exploration for bleeding in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery is associated with a 4.5-fold increase in overall perioperative mortality.<sup>185,526,577</sup> Spalding *et al.*<sup>578</sup> (1422 cardiac surgery patients) and Görlinger et al.<sup>120</sup> (3865 cardiac surgery patients) demonstrated significant reductions in allogeneic blood product transfusion and cumulative costs for allogeneic blood products and coagulation factor concentrates after implementation of thromboelastometry-guided coagulation management algorithms. Similar results, including significant reductions in transfusion and coagulation management costs, were reported by Görlinger *et al.*,<sup>120,576</sup> Weber *et al.*<sup>119</sup> and Hanke et al.<sup>579</sup> after implementation of thromboelastometry-guided algorithms in visceral surgery, liver transplantation, and aortic arch replacement in acute type A aortic dissection in a German university hospital. Further multicentre prospective randomised clinical trials evaluating ROTEM/TEG-guided goal-directed

### Eur J Anaesthesiol 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

therapy ('theragnostic' approach) versus fixed ratio concepts (1:1:1 approach) in trauma patients and other clinical settings are urgently needed.

# 7.3.7 Does goal-directed therapy with coagulation factor concentrates (fibrinogen and/or prothrombin complex concentrate) reduce costs?

Recommendation

Goal-directed therapy with coagulation factor concentrates (fibrinogen and/or PCC) may reduce transfusionassociated costs in trauma, cardiac surgery and liver transplantation. **B** 

Fibrinogen deficiency plays a major role in traumainduced coagulopathy and other clinical settings associated with severe bleeding.<sup>414,425,436,562,580–582</sup> Administration of fibrinogen concentrate has been demonstrated to be consistently effective in animal models and in patients with acquired fibrinogen deficiency.<sup>420,422,426,581,583–585</sup>

The efficacy, safety and cost-effectiveness of modern four-factor PCCs for rapid reversal of oral anticoagulation has been proven in several cohort and prospective, randomised studies.<sup>449,563,586–598</sup>

There is growing evidence that targeted therapy using coagulation factor concentrates guided by viscoelastic measurements enables effective correction of severe coagulopathy.<sup>599-602</sup> Görlinger *et al.*<sup>120</sup> demonstrated in a retrospective study (3865 cardiac surgery patients) that first-line therapy with coagulation factor concentrates (fibrinogen and PCC) based on point-of-care coagulation testing (ROTEM and Multiplate) decreased allogeneic blood transfusion, thrombotic/thromboembolic events and costs, and a more recent study confirmed these results.<sup>119</sup> Similar results, including significant reduction of transfusion and coagulation management related costs, were reported by Görlinger et al. 576 in visceral surgery and liver transplantation. Furthermore, in a study modelling the cost-effectiveness of PCC in emergency warfarin reversal in the United Kingdom, PCC appeared to be more cost-effective than FFP.597

# 7.3.8 Is the use of coagulation factor concentrates (fibrinogen and/or prothrombin complex concentrate) associated with an increased incidence of thromboembolic events and costs?

### Recommendation

Thromboembolic events are associated with increased inhospital and post-hospital costs. **B** 

Targeted therapy with fibrinogen and/or PCC guided by ROTEM/TEG is not associated with an increased incidence of thromboembolic events. C

Both bleeding and blood transfusion increase the incidence of ischaemic and thromboembolic adverse events and costs.<sup>514</sup> Here, both bleeding complications and thromboembolic events result in significantly increased costs both inhospital and after discharge.<sup>603-605</sup> Furthermore, off-label use of rFVIIa, either prophylactically or therapeutically, has been shown to be associated with an increased risk of arterial thromboembolic events.554 However, Görlinger et al.<sup>120</sup> demonstrated in a large retrospective cohort study (3865 cardiac surgery patients) that first-line therapy with fibrinogen concentrate and PCC based on ROTEM analysis was associated not only with decreased allogeneic blood transfusion but also with a significantly reduced incidence of thrombotic/thromboembolic events (1.77 vs. 3.19%; P = 0.0115) and costs. These results were confirmed by a recent study in which the incidence of thromboembolic events was 0% in the POC versus 4% in the control group.<sup>119</sup> This suggests that secondary costs may be reduced by preventing thromboembolic events due to a targeted haemostatic therapy in bleeding patients. However, this effect has to be confirmed by larger safety studies. Furthermore, a recently published cohort study on the safety and efficacy of PCC and fibrinogen concentrates in 266 patients undergoing liver transplantation did not show a significantly increased incidence of thromboembolic events in patients receiving coagulation factor concentrates compared to patients who did not need any haemostatic intervention (7.1% vs. 4.5%; P = 0.31).<sup>606</sup> Details about the risk of thromboembolic events associated with PCC in the setting of VKA reversal are presented in section 7.3 and section 8.3.

#### 8 MULTIMODAL APPROACH (ALGORITHMS) IN SPECIFIC CLINICAL FIELDS 8.1 Cardiovascular surgery 8.1.1 Introduction

Complex cardiovascular surgery may be accompanied by major blood loss, which can lead to loss and consumption of coagulation factors and haemodilution. Coagulopathy in cardiac surgery patients may be exacerbated by concurrent antithrombotic therapy, extracorporeal circulation, hypothermia and volume replacement using crystalloids/colloids.<sup>607–610</sup> Failure to restore haemostasis and restrict perioperative bleeding increases the risk of re-exploration, transfusion requirements, time spent in the ICU, morbidity and mortality.<sup>611–613</sup> In this section, we assess the best evidence on the use of different haemostatic therapies to control perioperative bleeding in cardiovascular surgery.

# 8.1.2 Which therapies influence perioperative bleeding when administered in the preoperative period?

### Recommendations

Withdrawal of aspirin therapy increases the risk of thrombosis; continuation of aspirin therapy increases the risk of bleeding. A

Withdrawal of clopidogrel therapy increases the risk of thrombosis; continuation of clopidogrel therapy increases the risk of bleeding. A

We recommend that a prophylactic dose of low molecular weight heparin should be administered subcutaneously 8–12 h before elective CABG surgery. This intervention does not increase the risk of perioperative bleeding. **1B** 

We recommend that tranexamic acid or EACA should be considered before CABG surgery.  ${\bf 1A}$ 

We suggest considering prophylactic preoperative infusion of 2 g fibrinogen concentrate, because it may reduce bleeding following elective CABG surgery. **2**C

Prothrombin complex concentrate is effective for rapid reversal of oral anticoagulation before cardiac surgery. A

### 8.1.2.1 Antiplatelet therapies

**Aspirin.** Aspirin is widely used to treat coronary artery disease. Because aspirin impairs platelet aggregation, discontinuation of aspirin therapy may be considered before elective CABG surgery to minimise perioperative bleeding risk. Management of patients receiving aspirin has been discussed in several guidelines which recommend that aspirin is withdrawn between 2 and 10 days before elective CABG surgery.<sup>364,614–616</sup>

Urgent or emergency CABG is often performed on patients receiving aspirin up to the day of surgery. A recent meta-analysis of eight RCTs concluded that treatment with  $\geq$  325 mg per day of aspirin within 7 days of onpump CABG surgery increased postoperative mediastinal drainage volume (doses <325 mg did not increase bleeding).<sup>617</sup> The authors concluded that a large RCT is needed to assess the effects of preoperative aspirin in the contemporary cardiovascular setting. These data corroborated findings from another meta-analysis (ten studies; five RCTs)<sup>618</sup> and a single-blind RCT (n = 200),<sup>619</sup> each showing that aspirin intake <7 days before CABG increased postoperative chest-tube drainage volume and RBC and FFP transfusion requirements. Among the studies included in the meta-analysis by Alghamdi et al. was a double-blind RCT demonstrating that the increased blood loss associated with preoperative aspirin was most apparent for patients carrying the GPIIIa allele PI<sup>A2,106</sup> For these patients, additional haemostatic measures such as antifibrinolytic drugs, FFP or platelet transfusions may be considered.<sup>106</sup>

**Clopidogrel.** Preoperative clopidogrel therapy may increase postoperative bleeding after CABG. Existing guidelines recommend discontinuing clopidogrel 5–7 days before elective surgery.<sup>614–616,620</sup> A meta-analysis of 11 comparative studies (4002 patients) concluded that clopidogrel administration within 5–7 days before urgent CABG surgery increases blood loss and transfusion requirements for RBC, FFP and platelets.<sup>621</sup> These findings were supported by a later systematic

review (23 studies) reporting that clopidogrel exposure within 7 days before CABG could increase major bleeding, haemorrhagic complications and transfusion requirements.<sup>622</sup> In elective CABG, a three-arm RCT (n = 130) subsequently compared clopidogrel therapy continued up to surgery with clopidogrel discontinuation at 3 or 5 days preoperatively.<sup>623</sup> Continued clopidogrel therapy resulted in increased blood loss at 12 h and at drain removal, plus increased postoperative homologous blood and FFP transfusion. Outcomes did not differ significantly between clopidogrel discontinuation at 3 vs. 5 days.

#### 8.1.2.2 Heparin

Heparins may be administered before CABG to reduce the risk of deep vein thrombosis, particularly following discontinuation of antiplatelet therapy. In a prospective study (n = 75) comparing preoperative aspirin, subcutaneous unfractionated heparin (UFH) and a no-treatment control, preoperative UFH therapy caused the greatest reduction of postoperative chest-tube drainage volume following CABG surgery.<sup>624</sup> Recent guidelines from the American College of Cardiology Foundation and the American Heart Association<sup>625</sup> recommend that the use of UFH can be continued until a few hours before CABG and that low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) can be administered  $\leq 12$  h before surgery, each without increased perioperative blood loss. Prospective comparison (n = 64) of subcutaneous LMWH (enoxaparin), intravenous heparin and no-treatment control has shown that enoxaparin does not increase bleeding or transfusion requirements when given >8h before coronary artery bypass.<sup>626</sup> Additionally, a randomised comparison (n=43) of UFH and enoxaparin showed that subcutaneous administration of each, up to 12 h before surgery, has similar effects on coagulation parameters, whole blood count, and RBC and FFP transfusion requirements following elective CABG surgery.<sup>627</sup>

### 8.1.2.3 Warfarin

No studies addressing the effects of preoperative warfarin therapy on perioperative bleeding in cardiovascular surgery were retrieved. Recommendations concerning cessation of warfarin therapy before cardiac surgery have been presented elsewhere.<sup>614</sup>

### 8.1.2.4 Antifibrinolytic therapy (tranexamic acid and $\epsilon$ -aminocaproic acid)

Numerous studies have reported the use of the antifibrinolytic drugs aprotinin, tranexamic acid and EACA to reduce blood loss in cardiovascular surgery. However, aprotinin was withdrawn worldwide following a multicentre RCT (n = 2331) which demonstrated an increased risk of mortality associated with its use, compared with tranexamic acid and EACA, in high-risk cardiac surgery.<sup>475</sup> Recent Italian recommendations for preoperative management of perioperative transfusion report that

tranexamic acid is favoured over EACA in cardiovascular surgery due to the increased potency of tranexamic acid and the increased availability of supporting evidence.<sup>47</sup>

Tranexamic acid is typically administered continuously during surgery, although use of a single preoperative bolus has been reported. A best evidence topic presented 12 studies reporting prophylactic use of tranexamic acid in cardiac surgery and concluded that tranexamic acid reduces blood loss, transfusion requirements and reoperation due to bleeding.<sup>628</sup> Among the doses reported were single boluses in the ranges of 2-10g and 20- $150 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  before sternotomy. One double-blind placebo-controlled randomised trial (n = 80) also showed that  $30 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  tranexamic acid given immediately before CPB reduced blood loss up to 16 h after elective CABG in patients receiving aspirin up until surgery.<sup>539</sup> Consistent with these data, a double-blind placebocontrolled randomised trial (n = 100) showed that 2 g tranexamic acid administered before incision reduced 4 h postoperative blood loss after off-pump CABG with cell salvage.<sup>629</sup> This confirmed results from two previous placebo-controlled randomised trials assessing the efficacy of  $100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  tranexamic acid administered before incision. One double-blind trial (n = 312) reported tranexamic acid to reduce perioperative blood loss and transfusion rates during CABG with cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB);<sup>630</sup> the other (n = 22) demonstrated that tranexamic acid reduced intra- and postoperative blood loss during elective surgery with CPB.<sup>631</sup>

No prospective studies were identified which compared a single preoperative bolus of tranexamic acid with tranexamic acid administration throughout surgery. However, a four-arm prospective randomised trial (n = 150) compared a preoperative bolus of EACA with two intraoperative EACA dosing regimens and a no-treatment control in elective CABG.<sup>632</sup> Although EACA administration reduced postoperative chest-tube drainage volume when administered preoperatively, the effect was significantly enhanced by administering EACA intraoperatively.

### 8.1.2.5 Desmopressin (DDAVP)

No evidence was identified describing preoperative use of desmopressin in cardiovascular surgery. Existing guidelines on perioperative blood transfusion and blood conservation in cardiac surgery suggest preoperative utility of desmopressin may be limited to a small number of patients diagnosed as having defects in primary haemostasis.<sup>364</sup>

### 8.1.2.6 Allogeneic blood products (fresh frozen plasma, platelets and cryoprecipitate)

A prospective randomised trial (n = 40) was identified in which FFP was compared with prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC) for reversal of oral anticoagulation prior to CPB in semi-urgent cardiac surgery.<sup>633</sup> Patients receiving FFP did not reach target INR values within 15 min and even multiple FFP dosing failed to achieve the target INR in 80% of cases, necessitating administration of PCC. No further studies were identified which evaluated preoperative transfusion with FFP, platelets or cryoprecipitate.

### 8.1.2.7 Coagulation factor replacement therapy

Antithrombin (AT) concentrate. It has been proposed that AT (previously AT III) may limit consumptive coagulopathy by suppressing thrombin generation during cardiac surgery. This was investigated in a double-blind RCT (n = 20) in which placebo or AT was infused before incision in elective CABG patients.<sup>634</sup> No difference in postoperative blood loss at 6 or 12 h was evident between the AT and placebo groups. Recommendations on the use of AT concentrates suggest that further studies are needed in patients undergoing extracorporeal circulation.<sup>635</sup>

**Fibrinogen concentrate**. A prospective randomised pilot study (n = 20) demonstrated that prophylactic fibrinogen infusion is potentially useful for reducing bleeding after elective CABG.<sup>430</sup> Compared with untreated controls, patients receiving 2 g fibrinogen concentrate immediately before surgery experienced reduced 12 h chest-tube drainage volume, with no apparent hyper-coagulability.

**Prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC).** A four-factor PCC has been shown to be more effective than FFP for reversal of oral anticoagulation in semi-urgent cardiac surgery.<sup>633</sup> Compared with FFP, administration of a half-dose of PCC (based on body weight and initial INR, according to the manufacturer's instructions) prior to CPB resulted in faster correction of INR, with less associated bleeding.

**Recombinant activated factor VII (rFVIIa).** rFVIIa has been administered preoperatively ahead of successful palliative open heart surgery in a cyanotic infant with FVII deficiency.<sup>636</sup> A dose of  $30 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa was administered 2 h before surgery and then another immediately before surgery, with further doses postoperatively. No further reports of preoperative rFVIIa therapy were identified.

## 8.1.3 Which therapies can be used to control bleeding intraoperatively?

### Recommendations

We recommend that intraoperative tranexamic acid or EACA administration should be considered to reduce perioperative bleeding in high-, medium- and low-risk cardiovascular surgery. 1A

We recommend that tranexamic acid should be applied topically to the chest cavity to reduce postoperative blood loss following CABG surgery. **1**C

We recommend that fibrinogen concentrate infusion guided by point-of-care viscoelastic coagulation monitoring should be used to reduce perioperative blood loss in complex cardiovascular surgery. **1B** 

We suggest that recombinant FVIIa may be considered for patients with intractable bleeding during cardiovascular surgery once conventional haemostatic options have been exhausted. **2B** 

### 8.1.3.1 Heparin

Heparin anticoagulation is used during cardiovascular surgery to limit coagulation factor activation, thus preventing overt thrombosis of the CPB circuit. Heparin dosing may be partially influenced by the length of time spent on CPB and patient responses to heparin may be variable. Dosing and monitoring of heparin anticoagulation is addressed in guidelines on perioperative blood conservation management in cardiac surgery<sup>364</sup> and also on antiplatelet and anticoagulation management in cardiac surgery.<sup>614</sup> We retrieved four prospective studies (n=26, n=39, n=44 and n=53) investigating heparin monitoring using heparin concentration-based approaches, as opposed to a standard activated clotting time-based approach, during cardiac surgery.<sup>637-640</sup> Use of heparin concentration-based systems was consistently associated with reduced postoperative blood loss and increased avoidance of transfusion. Although useful in principle, heparin concentration-based monitoring is not widely used in clinical practice. In addition, a number of monitoring devices are available, so large randomised trials comparing different systems may be warranted.

### 8.1.3.2 Protamine

Administration of protamine is commonly used to reverse the effects of heparin anticoagulation. Correct dosing of protamine is important because insufficient protamine results in residual heparin. Conversely, excess protamine also impairs coagulation,<sup>641</sup> possibly due to antiplatelet activity.<sup>642</sup> Protamine dosing in cardiac surgery is addressed in guidelines on the management of perioperative blood conservation<sup>364</sup> and also on the management of antiplatelet and anticoagulation therapy.<sup>614</sup> The prospective studies that we identified which investigated heparin monitoring using heparin concentration-based approaches all found that heparin concentration-based measurements led to administration of smaller doses of protamine.  $^{637-640}$  If these results are confirmed in larger studies, and if such approaches become part of normal practice, heparin concentration-based monitoring could improve the accuracy of protamine dosing. Another important issue concerning protamine administration in cardiac surgery is uncertainty over acceptable ratios of protamine to heparin. Typical ratios of protamine to heparin are around 1.3:1, although a best evidence topic on the risk of bleeding associated with high-dose protamine reported that increased bleeding and impaired platelet function had not been reported below a protamine to heparin ratio of  $2.6:1.^{643}$  This contrasts with reports suggesting that lower ratios (1.5:1 in *vitro*<sup>642</sup> and 1.3:1 *in vivo*<sup>644</sup>) can prolong coagulation and impair platelet function. Further studies are required to clarify the most appropriate ratios of protamine to heparin for use in cardiac surgery.

### 8.1.3.3 Antifibrinolytic therapy (tranexamic acid and $\epsilon\text{-aminocaproic acid})$

Intraoperative antifibrinolytic therapy is covered in guidelines for blood conservation<sup>364</sup> and anticoagulation management<sup>614</sup> in cardiac surgery. Each recommends using aprotinin, tranexamic acid or EACA to limit blood loss and transfusion requirements. Safety and efficacy outcomes for each drug have been compared in a metaanalysis of 138 RCTs in cardiac surgery.<sup>528</sup> Aprotinin, tranexamic acid and EACA all reduced perioperative blood loss and RBC transfusion compared with placebo. High-dose aprotinin showed the greatest efficacy, although aprotinin also increased the risk of renal dysfunction. This finding was consolidated by the BART (blood conservation using antifibrinolytics in a randomised trial) study (n = 2331), <sup>475</sup> which compared aprotinin, tranexamic acid and EACA in high-risk cardiac surgery (all administered as a preoperative bolus, followed by continuous intraoperative infusion), and was terminated early due to an elevated mortality rate associated with aprotinin. Aprotinin was subsequently withdrawn from the market and further meta-analyses using RCT data have confirmed the increased mortality risk associated with aprotinin in cardiac patients.<sup>645,646</sup>

Since aprotinin was withdrawn, it has not been established whether tranexamic acid or EACA is the better therapeutic option. Further analysis of the BART study data found no differences in safety or clinical effectiveness of tranexamic acid and EACA, although lower costs were reported for EACA.<sup>647</sup> Data supporting EACA administration was identified from a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomised trial (n = 78) in which EACA was found to be as effective as aprotinin for reducing blood loss during CABG surgery.<sup>648</sup> Conversely, a recent three-arm RCT (n = 90) comparing antifibrinolytic drugs in open heart surgery found that both aprotinin and tranexamic acid significantly reduced blood volumes in suction bottles and drainage tubes compared with EACA;<sup>649</sup> tranexamic acid also exhibited the least evidence of renal dysfunction. Although neither tranexamic acid nor EACA has been conclusively demonstrated as being superior in the cardiovascular setting, we identified more high quality evidence published since 2007 which supports use of tranexamic acid than was identified for EACA. This includes a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomised trial (n = 222) showing that tranexamic acid (preoperative bolus followed by infusion throughout CPB) decreased chest-tube drainage volume and

transfusion requirements following elective CABG.<sup>650</sup> Also identified was a double-blind RCT (n = 220) evaluating tranexamic acid versus aprotinin infusion throughout primary CABG or valve replacement surgery,<sup>651</sup> which showed no overall difference in blood loss or RBC transfusion between treatment groups. Similarly, a three-arm RCT (n = 298) comparing aprotinin, tranexamic acid and placebo in low- to medium-risk CPB patients<sup>652</sup> found that tranexamic acid significantly reduced blood loss and transfusion requirements compared with placebo, without increasing the incidence of serious adverse events. Additionally, a meta-analysis of 25 RCTs (n = 5411) and four matched observational studies  $(n = 5977)^{653}$  was retrieved, which concluded that tranexamic acid has clear benefits in reducing blood loss, reoperation for bleeding and transfusion with allogeneic blood components compared with placebo.

Tranexamic acid administration regimens vary widely.<sup>645</sup> Our evidence base typically reported an initial bolus after induction of anaesthesia, followed by continuous infusion during CPB. Tranexamic acid may also be added to the bypass circuit, or another bolus administered before chest closure. One RCT was identified which directly assessed the benefits of tranexamic acid given intraoperatively; a double-blind trial examined 67 children with cyanotic congenital heart defects undergoing surgery with CPB.654 All patients received  $15 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  tranexamic acid before incision, then either placebo or an identical dose of tranexamic acid at the end of CPB. Blood loss and transfusion requirements did not differ between the groups. Tranexamic acid may also be used topically. A double-blind RCT (n = 38) compared topical application of tranexamic acid (1 g in 100 ml saline) or placebo to the pericardial and mediastinal cavities before chest closure following CABG.<sup>655</sup> Tranexamic acid reduced postoperative chest-tube drainage volume and platelet transfusion requirements compared with placebo.

Variation in EACA administration regimens has also been reported. <sup>645</sup> Two RCTs were identified which compared EACA dosing regimens. In the first study, patients (n = 150) were randomised to receive no EACA, one  $150 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  preoperative bolus, one  $150 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  preoperative bolus plus  $1 \text{ gh}^{-1}$  infusion for 6 h, or three separate 150 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> boluses before, during and after CPB.<sup>632</sup> The greatest reduction in blood loss and transfusion requirements was seen in the groups receiving EACA intraoperatively. Neither intraoperative regimen proved superior to the other. In a subsequent study, patients (n = 90) received either placebo, a 150 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> EACA bolus followed by a 15 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> infusion of EACA commencing before incision, or a 150 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> bolus of EACA followed by a  $15 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$  infusion of EACA commencing after heparinisation.<sup>656</sup> Both EACA regimens reduced chest-tube drainage volumes but the timing did not affect outcomes, suggesting that EACA administration is unnecessary before heparinisation.

Most of the evidence which we retrieved involved use of CPB (on-pump surgery). Off-pump CABG surgery is associated with less blood loss and transfusion than onpump CABG. A systematic review of eight RCTs was performed to determine the utility of tranexamic acid in off-pump CABG.<sup>657</sup> Tranexamic acid reduced the risk of allogeneic blood component transfusion, but larger trials were deemed necessary to draw conclusions about blood loss and adverse events. We also identified a metaanalysis (17 trials) supporting the use of antifibrinolytic drugs in CABG patients receiving aspirin throughout the perioperative period.<sup>543</sup> Tranexamic acid and EACA all reduced chest-tube drainage volume and perioperative transfusion requirements without increasing the rate of adverse events.

### 8.1.3.4 Allogeneic blood products (fresh frozen plasma, platelets and cryoprecipitate)

Patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery are regularly transfused with FFP and/or platelet concentrate. Some patients may also receive cryoprecipitate, although this has been withdrawn in many countries due to safety concerns.<sup>434</sup> Intraoperative use of FFP, platelets and cryoprecipitate is addressed in a guideline on perioperative blood transfusion and blood conservation in cardiac surgery<sup>364</sup> and also in recent Italian recommendations for intraoperative management of perioperative bleeding.<sup>112</sup>

We retrieved no studies examining the haemostatic efficacy of platelet or cryoprecipitate transfusion on perioperative bleeding in cardiac patients, although three systematic reviews were identified which questioned the efficacy of FFP. One review assessed the effects of prophylactic FFP transfusion at the end of CPB in six RCTs; four were conducted in patients undergoing CABG surgery and two reported cardiac surgery with CPB.<sup>408</sup> It was concluded that routine FFP transfusion following CPB did not reduce subsequent blood loss. These findings are consistent with a recent systematic review of RCTs since 2004 which evaluates the clinical effectiveness of FFP.<sup>658</sup> Twenty-one studies were included and a meta-analysis of the largest subgroup (cardiac surgery) showed no significant reduction in 24-h blood loss following FFP transfusion. In addition, a review of seventy studies (including 21 set in cardiovascular surgery) concluded that FFP transfusion was not clinically effective and may even be detrimental.<sup>585</sup> In each systematic review, the evidence was reported to be of low quality due to small patient numbers and/or poor methodology.

### 8.1.3.5 Desmopressin (DDAVP)

Much of the evidence concerning intraoperative use of desmopressin has been considered in an existing guideline on perioperative transfusion and blood conservation in cardiac surgery.<sup>364</sup> Potential use of desmopressin is suggested to be limited to excessively bleeding patients

with primary haemostasis disorders, such as CPB-induced platelet dysfunction and type 1 VWD. Consistent with this, we retrieved two RCTs reporting that administration of  $0.3 \,\mu\text{g}\,\text{kg}^{-1}$  desmopressin at the end of CPB did not reduce perioperative blood loss or transfusion requirements in elective CABG (n = 66)<sup>659</sup> or complex congenital heart surgery (n = 60).<sup>660</sup> Similar findings were reported following desmopressin treatment of 100 CABG patients receiving aspirin until the day before surgery.<sup>485</sup>

### 8.1.3.6 Coagulation factor replacement therapy

**Factor XIII concentrate**. A three-arm, double-blind RCT (n = 75) was identified which investigated FXIII concentrate as haemostatic therapy in coronary surgery with extracorporeal circulation.<sup>443</sup> Following protamine administration, patients received placebo or 1250 or 2500 U of FXIII. No significant differences in postoperative blood loss or transfusions were observed. Subgroup analysis indicated that FXIII therapy may be most effective in patients displaying subnormal FXIII levels following CPB.

**Fibrinogen concentrate**. Two systematic reviews have suggested fibrinogen concentrate to be potentially useful for treating surgical bleeding.<sup>585,661</sup> One review included 21 trials investigating efficacy of fibrinogen concentrate; three were prospective studies reporting intraoperative use in cardiovascular surgery.<sup>585</sup> The second review included four reports; two were prospective studies in cardiovascular surgery.<sup>661</sup> Each review concluded that fibrinogen concentrate therapy could improve clot firmness and decrease transfusion requirements, blood loss and postoperative drainage volumes. The evidence was acknowledged to be of insufficient quality, indicating a need for large RCTs.

Since then, data has become available from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial  $(n=61)^{662}$  which supports intraoperative infusion of fibrinogen concentrate during complex cardiovascular surgery. Patients with diffuse bleeding following CPB were treated with thromboelastometry-guided fibrinogen concentrate as first-line haemostatic therapy, which reduced the need for transfusion with RBC, FFP and platelets.<sup>662</sup> These data corroborated findings from two smaller prospective cohort studies, one in repair of thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm (n = 18),<sup>117</sup> the other involving aortic valve operation with ascending aorta replacement (n = 15).<sup>116</sup> Similarly, thrombelastography guided fibrinogen concentrate therapy following CPB has been reported to reduce postoperative chest tube drainage volume and FFP transfusion in cyanotic children undergoing cardiac surgery.<sup>663</sup>

**Prothrombin complex concentrate.** Recommendations on the use of PCC suggest that it may help to control intractable bleeding in major surgery,<sup>635</sup> although there is little evidence so far to support this indication in cardiovascular surgery. Two retrospective reports were

identified describing intraoperative PCC administration in cardiac patients. Analysis of five patients undergoing CABG and two patients undergoing valve replacement suggested that PCC could be valuable for controlling bleeding in patients responding poorly to standard blood products.<sup>457</sup> An earlier chart review of cardiothoracic surgical patients (n = 60) indicated that PCC could safely reduce blood product consumption.<sup>664</sup> Larger, prospective evaluations are required.

**Recombinant activated factor VII.** Although indicated for patients with congenital coagulation factor deficiencies, use of rFVIIa has been frequently reported for unlicensed indications in patients with major bleeding.<sup>665</sup> Guidelines for the use of rFVIIa in massive bleeding<sup>562</sup> and for perioperative blood conservation in cardiac surgery<sup>364</sup> recommend that rFVIIa may promote haemostasis during severe intractable bleeding following CPB. However, due to concerns over potential thromboembolic risks, use of rFVIIa is recommended only if all conventional haemostatic options have been exhausted. Additionally, the patient's next of kin should be informed that rFVIIa is being used outside of the currently approved indications.<sup>562</sup>

We retrieved reports published subsequent to these guidelines which support existing recommendations for rFVIIa in cardiac surgery. Systematic reviews of rFVIIa in cardiac surgery (one including 35 studies and one including 46 studies),<sup>666,667</sup> paediatric cardiac surgery (29 studies)<sup>668</sup> and vascular surgery (15 studies)<sup>669</sup> concluded that rFVIIa may reduce severe haemorrhage but that large prospective randomised trials are required to define efficacy, dose and side-effects. Similarly, a systematic analysis of rFVIIa in on-pump cardiac surgery (19 studies) recommended against routine prophylaxis and emphasised that although rFVIIa may be considered as rescue therapy, high quality data supporting this indication is lacking.<sup>670</sup>

### 8.1.3.7 Fibrin sealant (fibrin glue)

Fibrin sealant consists of fibrinogen, thrombin and other additives and can be applied to wounds to create a fibrinbased clot and promote haemostasis. We retrieved a recent prospective RCT in which 82 senior patients received either fibrin sealant or bone wax injected into the sternal marrow cavity after CABG surgery involving CPB.<sup>671</sup> The fibrin sealant group displayed reduced postoperative chest-tube drainage volume, less RBC transfusion requirements and a shorter hospital stay. No differences in adverse outcomes were reported. Blinding was not reported so further trials may be required to confirm these findings.

## 8.1.4 Which therapies influence bleeding in the postoperative period?

### Recommendations

We suggest that antiplatelet therapy with aspirin or clopidogrel may be administered in the early

postoperative period without increasing the risk of postoperative bleeding. **2**C

We suggest that rFVIIa may be considered for patients with intractable bleeding after cardiovascular surgery once conventional haemostatic options have been exhausted. **2B** 

#### 8.1.4.1 Antiplatelet therapies (aspirin and clopidogrel)

Guidelines on the use of aspirin and other antiplatelet agents during CABG surgery<sup>616</sup> and on antiplatelet and anticoagulation management in cardiac surgery<sup>614</sup> make several recommendations on the postoperative administration of antiplatelet therapies. We retrieved no further high quality evidence evaluating the effects of postoperative antiplatelet therapy on postoperative bleeding. However, a prospective, multicentre, observational trial was identified in which patients (n = 5065)undergoing CABG received aspirin therapy in the early postoperative period.<sup>672</sup> Aspirin was associated with numerous clinical benefits and was reported to have no association with increased postoperative bleeding. Another prospective observational trial investigated patients (n = 117) undergoing elective CABG (on- and off-pump) who were administered aspirin or aspirin plus clopidogrel in the early postoperative period, according to a predefined protocol.<sup>673</sup> Chest-tube drainage, transfusion frequency, transfusion quantity and risk of reoperation for bleeding were all comparable between the groups, indicating that early postoperative clopidogrel does not increase bleeding risks compared with aspirin alone.

### 8.1.4.2 Antifibrinolytic therapy (tranexamic acid and $\epsilon$ -aminocaproic acid)

A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study was identified which investigated the effects of continued tranexamic acid dosing in the postoperative period following elective cardiac surgery involving CPB.<sup>674</sup> All patients (n = 510) received 1 g tranexamic acid before incision, a continuous infusion of 400 mg h<sup>-1</sup> until the completion of operation, and 500 mg in the CPB prime. Thereafter, patients received an infusion for 12 h with placebo, 1 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> tranexamic acid or 2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> tranexamic acid had no effect on blood loss or transfusion requirements.

### 8.1.4.3 Allogeneic blood products (fresh frozen plasma, platelets and cryoprecipitate)

No high quality evidence was identified supporting the efficacy of FFP, platelets or cryoprecipitate administered postoperatively following cardiovascular surgery. Administration of allogeneic blood components has been addressed recently by Italian recommendations for postoperative management of perioperative transfusion.<sup>675</sup>

#### 8.1.4.4 Desmopressin (DDAVP)

No high quality evidence was identified supporting the efficacy of postoperative administration of desmopressin in cardiovascular surgery.

#### 8.1.4.5 Coagulation factor replacement therapy

**Recombinant activated factor VII.** As described for intraoperative therapy, use of rFVIIa to control intractable bleeding constitutes an unlicensed indication. Due to the potential thromboembolic risks, rFVIIa should therefore be considered only if conventional haemostatic approaches have failed. In this situation, guidelines for the use of rFVIIa in massive bleeding<sup>562</sup> and for perioperative blood conservation in cardiac surgery<sup>364</sup> suggest that rFVIIa may be used for refractory bleeding following CPB. The patient's next of kin should be informed that rFVIIa is being used off-label.<sup>562</sup>

A best evidence topic was identified addressing the question: is rFVIIa useful for intractable bleeding after cardiac surgery?<sup>676</sup> Of 129 reports identified, 13 were presented as the best evidence. The study concluded that a dose of  $60-90 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa could be used for patients with intractable bleeding post-cardiac surgery, with a repeated dose after 2-4h. A double-blind RCT (n = 172) was also identified in which rFVIIa was used to treat patients experiencing intractable bleeding after cardiac surgery.<sup>559</sup> Patients received placebo,  $40 \,\mu g \,kg^{-1}$ 1 rFVIIa or 80 µg kg<sup>-1</sup> rFVIIa, on average 2.8 h after admission to the postoperative care unit. Treatment with rFVIIa significantly reduced the incidence of reoperation for bleeding and subsequent transfusion requirements, although both rFVIIa groups exhibited a non-significant trend towards increased serious adverse events. This suggests the need for large RCTs to assess safety of rFVIIa in this setting.

# 8.1.5 What is the evidence for the use of haemostatic management algorithms in cardiovascular surgery? Recommendations

We recommend the use of standardised haemostatic algorithms with predefined intervention triggers. **1**A

Several studies have demonstrated that standardised transfusion algorithms for administration of haemostatic therapy can result in reduced perioperative blood loss and transfusion requirements. A recent review evaluated eight studies (five prospective) using preset therapeutic transfusion triggers, measured using laboratory-based haemostasis tests and/or point-of-care coagulation monitoring devices, to guide haemostatic intervention during cardiovascular surgery. In seven of the eight studies, the use of an algorithm significantly reduced patient exposure to allogeneic blood products.<sup>144</sup>

We retrieved additional prospective studies which evaluated the effectiveness of standardised treatment algorithms in cardiovascular surgery. One RCT compared

cardiac surgery patients (n = 69) in whom perioperative transfusion management was conducted in accordance with either a strict TEG-guided protocol (using kaolinactivated TEG and PlateletMapping assays), or physician-directed administration with reference to aPTT, INR, fibrinogen concentration and platelet count.<sup>677</sup> TEG-based management reduced total blood product usage by almost 60% compared with the laboratory test-based approach, although this was not statistically significant. A larger RCT confirmed the potential value of TEG in guiding haemostatic management.<sup>121</sup> In this study, patients (n = 224) undergoing elective CABG with CPB again received transfusions based on either kaolin-activated TEG or clinicians' judgement combined with laboratory test results. Patients in the TEG group received significantly lower amounts of FFP, platelets and tranexamic acid, while the total number of units transfused was also lower compared with patients managed using laboratory tests and clinical judgement. Another RCT was identified which supports the use of viscoelastic point-of-care tests to guide coagulation management.<sup>129</sup> Patients (n = 56) requiring aortic surgery with hypothermic circulatory arrest were administered haemostatic interventions according to a ROTEMguided transfusion algorithm (INTEM, HEPTEM, FIBTEM and APTEM tests) or based on 'standard practice' (transfusion guided by clinical judgement and laboratory test results). Postoperative blood loss and rate of reoperation for bleeding were comparable between groups, although ROTEM-guided therapy substantially reduced allogeneic transfusion requirements, particularly for FFP. Furthermore, recent studies have demonstrated that first-line therapy with coagulation factor concentrates (fibrinogen and PCC) based on point-of-care coagulation testing (ROTEM and Multiplate) decreases allogeneic blood transfusion, thrombotic/thromboembolic events and costs.119,120

### 8.2 Gynaecology and obstetrics 8.2.1 Gynaecological (non-pregnant) bleeding

### 8.2.1.1 Treatment of perioperative anaemia

Gynaecological operations such as cancer surgery and hysterectomy may be complicated by anaemia and perioperative blood loss.<sup>678</sup> Among gynaecological operations, excision of a malignant ovarian tumour is the most common cause of severe bleeding,<sup>679</sup> and transfusion and reoperation due to bleeding are prevalent in hysterectomy.<sup>680,681</sup>

#### Minimising gynaecological RBC transfusion Recommendation

### We suggest against normovolaemic haemodilution because it does not reduce allogeneic transfusion. 2A

Gynaecological oncologists report a mean prechemotherapy transfusion threshold of  $7.9 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  haemoglobin (higher for ovarian debulking; lower for endometriosis).<sup>682</sup> No evidence was identified comparing gynaecological RBC transfusion triggers with those in other settings.

Autologous transfusion<sup>683-692</sup> and intraoperative haemodilution<sup>693-695</sup> exemplify strategies to minimise allogeneic transfusion.<sup>696</sup> However, autotransfusion is associated with high costs, together with risks of laboratory and clerical errors.<sup>696-698</sup> In addition, transfusion of colloids can result in haemodilution, which may compromise coagulation<sup>413,431</sup> and therefore may not reduce allogeneic transfusions <sup>699,700</sup>.</sup>

### Should cell salvage be used in gynaecological surgery? Recommendation

### Cell salvage may reduce allogeneic transfusion in gynaecological (including oncological) surgery. C

Increasing evidence supports the use of filters to clear shed blood of cancer cells, avoiding reinfusion and dissemination.<sup>701</sup> Retrospective studies suggest that cell salvage reduces allogeneic transfusion requirements.<sup>702–706</sup>

### Should intravenous iron or erythropoietin be used to correct perioperative anaemia?

### Recommendations

We suggest using preoperative intravenous iron to reduce allogeneic transfusion requirements in gynaecological cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. **2B** 

We suggest using intravenous iron to correct preoperative anaemia in women with menorrhagia. **2B** 

Intravenous iron increases haemoglobin concentration and reduces RBC transfusion in anaemic gynaecological cancer patients receiving chemotherapy,<sup>707,708</sup> without compromising quality of life.<sup>708</sup> Intravenous iron corrects preoperative anaemia in patients with menorrhagia.<sup>213</sup> Preoperative erythropoietin increases haemoglobin concentration, particularly if co-administered with iron,<sup>235,250,707,709,710</sup> but concerns exist regarding safety in cancer patients.<sup>678</sup>

### 8.2.1.2 Coagulation monitoring and treatment

Gynaecological cancer patients are prone to increased blood viscosity and fibrinogen concentrations,  $^{711-713}$  and perioperative transfusion >2 l increases the risk of post-operative venous thromboembolism. <sup>713</sup> Perioperative haemostatic monitoring and intervention is critical.

#### Use of standard laboratory tests and point-of-care devices for gynaecological coagulation monitoring Recommendation

Preoperative fibrinogen and D-dimer evaluation in gynaecological cancer patients provide little useful information.  ${\bf C}$ 

Elevated preoperative plasma fibrinogen concentrations and positive D-dimer tests provide little clinically useful information.<sup>714</sup> PT, aPTT and INR may be elevated for several days postoperatively.<sup>715</sup>

#### What are the indications for fresh frozen plasma, platelets and fibrinogen replacement therapy? Recommendation

Postoperative FFP transfusion is associated with an increased risk of venous thromboembolism in malignant gynaecological surgery. **C** 

FFP transfusion after surgical exploration for resection of adnexal/peritoneal cancer appears to increase risk of venous thromboembolism without affecting survival,<sup>715</sup> although the study was prone to confounding-by indication bias. No relevant studies were identified for fibrinogen concentrate or cryoprecipitate in gynaecological surgery.

#### What are the indications for recombinant activated factor VIIa?

#### Recommendation

rFVIIa increases thromboembolic risk and has not been shown to reduce mortality.  ${f B}$ 

rFVIIa has been successfully administered for perioperative bleeding in malignant and non-malignant gynaecological surgery.<sup>716</sup> However, rFVIIa increases the risk of venous thromboembolism, without improving mortality.<sup>717</sup> No studies examining the use of PCC or FXIII were identified.

### What are the indications for antifibrinolytics (tranexamic acid)?

### Recommendations

Tranexamic acid reduces the frequency of late bleeding after cone biopsy of the cervix. **B** 

Tranexamic acid reduces perioperative bleeding in gynaecological cancer surgery. C

We suggest against the use of tranexamic acid in benign gynaecological operations such as myomectomy. **2B** 

Tranexamic acid reduces menstrual bleeding in menorrhagia without increased thrombotic risk.<sup>718</sup> Tranexamic acid also protects against late bleeding after cone biopsy of the cervix<sup>719</sup> and reduces blood loss in gynaecological cancer surgery<sup>720</sup>, but not during myomectomy.<sup>721</sup>

### 8.2.2 Obstetric bleeding

### 8.2.2.1 Treatment of postpartum anaemia

Anaemia develops in up to 29% of third trimester pregnancies,<sup>722</sup> while postpartum bleeding is the major risk factor for severe postpartum anaemia.<sup>723</sup> Transfusion in this setting may complicate delivery.<sup>414,724–728</sup> Here, we assess whether treating obstetric haemorrhage requires correction of anaemia, and the therapeutic options available. Related topics of PPH such as diagnosis of PPH, treatment of atony and retained placental tissue, arterial embolisation, etc. is beyond the scope of this guideline. We recommend other evidence-based clinical guidelines such as the WHO guidelines for the management of postpartum haemorrhage and retained placenta.<sup>729</sup>

### Obstetric triggers for red blood cell transfusion Recommendations

We recommend that peripartum haemorrhage should be managed by a multidisciplinary team. An escalating management protocol including uterotonic drugs, surgical and/or endovascular interventions, and procoagulant drugs should be available. **1**C

Risk awareness and early recognition of severe haemorrhage are essential. C

We suggest that patients with known placenta accreta are treated by multidisciplinary care teams. 2C

Postpartum haemorrhage (PPH) should be treated promptly. Delayed recognition of and response to acute bleeding is a leading cause of maternal mortality and 'near misses'.<sup>730</sup> Suboptimal haematocrit during the acute phase of PPH is associated with end organ dysfunction.<sup>731</sup> In postpartum haemorrhagic shock, myocardial ischaemia is typically associated with impaired contractility at systolic blood pressure <88 mmHg, diastolic blood pressure <50 mmHg and heart rate >115 beats per min.<sup>732,733</sup>

No clinical studies of transfusion triggers in life-threatening obstetric haemorrhage were retrieved; however, general adherence to a haemoglobin threshold of  $8.1 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ has been reported.<sup>734</sup>

There is currently debate over RBC transfusion triggers for postoperative anaemia.<sup>735</sup> Up to 68% of postpartum transfusions may not adhere to guideline recommendations,<sup>734,736–738</sup> and RBC units are often transfused in duplicate without an obvious rationale.<sup>735</sup> Transfusion of 1-2 U of RBCs during postpartum recovery may not impact on length of hospital stay.<sup>739</sup>

Anaemia peaks at around 48h after delivery but may initially go undetected.<sup>736</sup> Haemoglobin concentration and health related quality of life physical fatigue scores correlate in the first week postpartum.<sup>740</sup>

Early diagnosis and treatment of coagulopathic amniotic fluid embolism is associated with increased survival.<sup>741</sup> Treatment by a multidisciplinary team may reduce early maternal morbidity in women with placenta accreta, compared with standard obstetric care.<sup>742</sup>

#### Should cell salvage be used in obstetrics? Recommendations

Cell salvage is well tolerated in obstetric settings, provided that precautions are taken against rhesus isoimmunisation.  ${\bf C}$ 

# We suggest that using perioperative cell salvage during caesarean section may decrease postoperative homologous transfusion and reduce hospital stay. **2B**

Perioperative cell salvage has been used in obstetric surgery but is not widely established due to staff training and technology issues.<sup>743</sup> Concerns exist regarding potential amniotic fluid embolism and rhesus isoimmunisation.<sup>744</sup> Filters reduce contamination with amniotic fluid,<sup>745–748</sup> although fetal RBC may remain after leukocyte filtration;<sup>747</sup> therefore, Kleihauer testing and Anti-D treatment may be recommended.<sup>749</sup> Severe hypertension is rare following infusion of salvaged blood.<sup>750</sup>

Cell salvage may be useful for caesarean section, especially for Jehovah's Witnesses and when complicated by placenta praevia, placenta accreta or reoperation due to bleeding <sup>744,750–755</sup>. Jehovah's Witnesses who are prepared to accept perioperative cell salvage often require that the system be set up to allow for continuous connectivity, including during transport to the postoperative ward. A comparison with standard treatment has shown cell salvage to reduce postoperative homologous transfusion and hospitalisation.<sup>756</sup>

# Intravenous iron or erythropoetin in the treatment of postpartum anaemia Recommendations

We recommend that moderate  $(<9.5 g dl^{-1})$  to severe  $(<8.5 g dl^{-1})$  postpartum anaemia be treated with intravenous iron rather than oral therapy. **1B** 

Intravenous iron supplementation improves fatigue at 4, 8 and 12 weeks postpartum. **B** 

Insufficient evidence exists to support the transfusionsparing effect of intravenous iron supplementation.

We suggest that treatment with erythropoietin may correct anaemia more rapidly than treatment with folic acid and iron. 2C

Alternatives to RBC transfusion for maintaining haemoglobin concentrations are required. Patients with moderate (Hb < 9.5 g dl<sup>-1</sup>) to severe (Hb < 8.5 g dl<sup>-1</sup>) anaemia may benefit from intravenous iron therapy,<sup>757-763</sup> which elicits more rapid recovery from shorter treatment compared with oral therapy.<sup>758-763</sup> Intravenous iron may also improve fatigue score, but not overall quality life assessment, up to 12 weeks postpartum.<sup>763</sup> No evidence was identified comparing different intravenous iron therapies, and the safety of iron carboxymaltose requires further investigation.<sup>764</sup> In addition, the transfusion-sparing potential of intravenous iron remains unclear.<sup>209</sup>

Co-administration of erythropoietin and iron has been advocated for treating postpartum anaemia.<sup>765,766</sup> Treatment should begin within 96 h and appears to be safe.<sup>767</sup> Increased haemoglobin concentration has been reported following treatment of anaemic (Hb  $< 10 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ ) parturients with erythropoietin and oral or intravenous iron,<sup>767</sup> although this evidence is from a small patient population.

Erythropoietin and iron may be used to treat patients with severe anaemia  $(Hb < 8 \text{ g dl}^{-1})$  and pronounced clinical symptoms or rejection of donor blood.<sup>757</sup>

## 8.2.2.2 Postpartum haemorrhage: coagulation monitoring and management

Acquired obstetric coagulopathy affects approximately 21% of deliveries, with complications including PPH requiring transfusion,<sup>725</sup> increased risk of placental abruption,<sup>768</sup> placenta praevia and accreta,<sup>769</sup> amniotic fluid embolism,<sup>741,770</sup> retained dead fetus<sup>771</sup> and post-haemorrhagic shock.<sup>772,773</sup> Obstetric conditions also account for 1–5% of clinical cases of DIC.<sup>774</sup> In this section, we evaluate the evidence for coagulation monitoring in severe obstetric bleeding.

### Fibrinogen measurement

#### Recommendations

We suggest assessing fibrinogen concentration in parturients with bleeding, as concentrations  $<2g l^{-1}$  may identify those at risk of severe PPH. 2C

Plasma fibrinogen concentrations increase during pregnancy to a normal third-trimester range of  $4.5-5.8 \text{ g l}^{-1}$ . <sup>775</sup> Fibrinogen concentrations decrease with increasing blood loss and may serve as a marker of haemostatic impairment.<sup>87,776,777</sup> Plasma fibrinogen concentration below  $2 \text{ g l}^{-1}$  is associated with the development of severe PPH, comprising a decrease in haemoglobin by  $\geq 4 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ , transfusion of  $\geq 4 \text{ U}$  RBCs, requirement for haemostatic intervention (angiographic embolisation, surgical arterial ligation or hysterectomy) and death.<sup>414</sup> Evaluation of fibrinogen concentration at the onset of labour is of less predictive value.<sup>778</sup>

### Platelet count

### Recommendation

Platelet count  $<100 \times 10^9 l^{-1}$  at the onset of labour, particularly combined with plasma fibrinogen concentration  $<2.9 g l^{-1}$ , may indicate an increased risk of PPH. C

Platelet count  $<100 \times 10^{9} l^{-1}$  at the onset of labour is associated with increased risk of PPH and is exacerbated by plasma fibrinogen concentration  $<2.9 g l^{-1}$ .<sup>778</sup> Platelet count during the ninth month of pregnancy does not correlate with platelet count at the onset of labour.<sup>778</sup>

A single platelet count does not predict development of severe PPH. However, severe PPH typically involves a time-dependent decrease in platelet count, whereas non-severe PPH usually involves a stabilisation of platelet count during the first 24 h of bleeding.<sup>414</sup> Low platelet count is associated with increased RBC and FFP transfusion.<sup>87</sup>

### Activated partial thromboplastin time and prothrombin time Recommendation

### aPTT and PT are of little predictive value for PPH. $\ensuremath{\mathbf{C}}$

aPTT and PT are poor predictors of severe PPH.<sup>414</sup> aPTT, but not PT, shows a small but significant correlation with estimated blood loss in PPH, while increased PT and aPTT are associated with greater RBC and FFP transfusion requirements.<sup>87</sup>

### Thrombelastography or thromboelastometry Recommendation

Thromboelastometry can identify obstetric coagulopathy and hyperfibrinolysis and guide haemostatic therapy. C

FIBTEM, a bedside thromboelastometric fibrin clot quality test, provides results in 5-15 min and can indicate a reduced contribution of fibrinogen to clot strength.<sup>779</sup> FIBTEM maximum clot firmness is significantly decreased during PPH.

Thromboelastometric measurements can identify the hypercoagulability seen in normal pregnancy<sup>775</sup> and also in caesarean section,<sup>780,781</sup> pre-eclampsia and HELLP syndrome.<sup>782</sup> They can potentially allow rapid recognition of hyperfibrinolysis and guide therapy with tranexamic acid, fibrinogen concentrate, PCC, FFP and platelets.<sup>770</sup>

#### Hyperfibrinolysis

Overall fibrinolytic capacity decreases during pregnancy,<sup>783,784</sup> although there is little evidence of hyperfibrinolysis in severe PPH versus non-severe PPH.<sup>414</sup> Hyperfibrinolysis is associated with obstetric coagulopathic complications including shock, DIC and amniotic fluid embolism.<sup>770</sup>

### 8.2.2.3 Haemostatic treatment of obstetric haemorrhage

During normal pregnancy, maternal haematological adaptation includes anaemia, neutrophilia, mild thrombocytopaenia, increased levels of procoagulant factors and diminished fibrinolysis.<sup>722</sup> Here, we assess the specific perioperative transfusion requirements of obstetric patients due to pregnancy related haematological changes.

## What are the indications for transfusion with fresh frozen plasma and platelets?

### Recommendation

*In life-threatening PPH, we suggest a transfusion protocol with a fixed product ratio or individualised procoagulant intervention and factor substitution.* **2**C

A single centre US study reported that 0.87% of US deliveries involve transfusion with haemostatic blood products.<sup>727</sup> Approximately 1.25 in 1000 deliveries are complicated by major obstetric haemorrhage (requirement of >5 U RBCs).<sup>731</sup> RBC transfusion is accompanied

by FFP and platelet transfusions in 20% and 16% of cases, respectively. <sup>736</sup> Transfusion of FFP, platelets and cryoprecipitate may be a marker for bleeding severity and volume of RBCs required. <sup>731</sup> An algorithm for managing obstetric haemorrhage<sup>785</sup> suggests transfusion with FFP if INR is >1.5, with platelets if the platelet count is <25 000  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>, and with cryoprecipitate if fibrinogen concentration is <100 mg dl<sup>-1</sup>. For uncontrolled, life-threatening haemorrhage, a multitransfusion protocol is recommended: 6 U RBCs, 4 U FFP and 1 U platelets.<sup>785</sup> Others advocate ROTEM-based assessment<sup>770</sup> or damage control resuscitation (RBC:FFP:platelet ratio of 1:1:1) for management of placenta accreta requiring multiple transfusions.<sup>786</sup>

Rapid haemostatic surgery avoiding hypothermia and using intravenous saline may enhance survival in a low-resource setting, based on data showing that 88% of Jehovah's Witnesses survived haemorrhagic shock following uterine rupture.<sup>787</sup>

## What are the indications for fibrinogen substitution with fibrinogen concentrate or cryoprecipitate?

#### Recommendation

Considering physiologically elevated fibrinogen concentrations in pregnancy, we suggest that a higher trigger value for treating hypofibrinogenaemia may be required. C

Fibrinogen concentrations are typically elevated (approximately  $5 \text{ g l}^{-1}$ ) in pregnancy<sup>775</sup>, so the potential for FFP (which has an average fibrinogen concentration of  $2.5 \text{ g l}^{-1}$ )<sup>581</sup> to supplement fibrinogen concentration is limited. Fibrinogen concentrate represents an alternative therapy, and empirical use in bleeding patients (8–33% obstetric) has indicated potential reductions in blood loss and transfusion requirements.<sup>426,583,584</sup> Trigger levels for fibrinogen substitution vary between 1 and  $2 \text{ g l}^{-1}$ , with a mean administered dose of 2-4 g.<sup>426,583,584,726,788</sup> Studies investigating cryoprecipitate in obstetric patients were not identified.

No serious adverse events were reported with fibrinogen concentrate in the obstetric setting, although one study associated haemostatic treatment (including fibrinogen substitution) with an increased risk of venous thrombosis.<sup>726</sup>

#### What are the indications for the use of antifibrinolytic therapies (tranexamic acid) in obstetrics? Recommendations

We recommend the administration of tranexamic acid in obstetric bleeding to reduce blood loss, bleeding duration and the number of units transfused. 1B

We suggest that transxamic acid be considered before caesarean section.  $2C\,$ 

In antepartum bleeding, we suggest administration of tranexamic acid.  $2B\,$ 

To balance the procoagulant effects which occur naturally during delivery, fibrinolysis is also increased.<sup>783</sup> However, abnormal fibrinolysis is associated with complications including placental abruption with antepartum bleeding,<sup>722,789</sup> intrauterine death<sup>771</sup> and amniotic fluid embolism.<sup>722,741,790</sup>

Antifibrinolytic therapy, used prophylactically for vaginal or caesarean delivery, or when postpartum bleeding evolves,<sup>791</sup> may prevent such complications. Several studies suggest that tranexamic acid administered 10–20 min before caesarean section may reduce perioperative blood loss.<sup>546,791–794</sup> Tranexamic acid may reduce antepartum bleeding in placental abruption and placenta praevia, and appears safe during pregnancy and postpartum.<sup>791</sup>

In a recent study, tranexamic acid reduced blood loss and 42-day transfusion requirements in PPH.<sup>19</sup> No severe side-effects (e.g. thromboembolic complications) were observed, although the study was not powered to assess safety. Mild transient adverse manifestations such as nausea, vomiting, dizziness and 'seeing stars' occurred more frequently in the tranexamic acid group than in the control group, possibly due to the relatively high dose used in this trial (4 g).

# What are the indications for other coagulation factor concentrates (prothrombin complex concentrate and factor XIII)?

In a case of amniotic fluid embolism following vaginal delivery, stable clotting was achieved by thromboelastometry-guided coagulation therapy comprising tranexamic acid, fibrinogen concentrate, platelets and PCC, as well as RBC and FFP in a 1:1 ratio.<sup>770</sup> No further reports were retrieved describing PCC or FXIII therapy in obstetric patients with non-inherited coagulation deficiency.

### What are the indications for the use of recombinant factor VIIa?

### Recommendations

We recommend that rFVIIa should only be considered as last-line therapy because of its thromboembolic risk. **1B** 

We suggest that fibrinogen concentration and number of platelets should be optimised before administration of *rFVIIa*. **2C** 

rFVIIa can be considered as second-line haemostatic therapy alongside intrauterine tamponade, uterine compression sutures, pelvic vessel ligation and interventional radiology.<sup>795</sup> Case reports<sup>796–821</sup> and retrospective studies<sup>795,822–824</sup> support off-label use of rFVIIa for severe obstetric coagulopathic bleeding. Subjective evaluation has shown rFVIIa administration to arrest bleeding in 75–97% of cases.<sup>466,824–827</sup> rFVIIa may also prevent postpartum hysterectomy,<sup>827</sup> although other studies do not support this finding.<sup>810,828</sup> Administration

of rFVIIa may not decrease transfusion requirements, although this may reflect its frequent use in complex coagulopathic bleeding.<sup>828</sup> Plasma fibrinogen concentration and platelet count should be optimised before administration of rFVIIa.<sup>829</sup>

Administration of rFVIIa was potentially linked to three thromboembolic events in a study including 110 otherwise healthy obstetric patients,<sup>466</sup> and its use in PPH has been associated with lower limb ischaemia and pulmonary embolism, albeit with favourable clinical outcomes.<sup>830</sup> Although rFVIIa potentially carries a thromboembolic risk, no difference in mortality has been identified in other patient categories.<sup>717</sup>

#### 8.3 Orthopaedic surgery and neurosurgery 8.3.1 Bleeding risk of different orthopaedic and neurosurgical procedures Recommendation

In elective orthopaedic surgery, we recommend the implementation of a blood transfusion protocol (algorithm), together with staff education. 1B

There is a lack of standardised definitions for the reporting of bleeding events.<sup>536,831</sup> Therefore, the incidence of bleeding and severe bleeding differs remarkably between studies. Orthopaedic surgery is often associated with clinically relevant bleeding and the need for allogeneic blood transfusion.<sup>480,534,832–839</sup> The implementation of a blood transfusion protocol (algorithm) together with staff education, based on early preoperative detection and treatment of anaemia, perioperative blood salvage and retransfusion, and a restrictive transfusion trigger, has been shown to reduce allogeneic blood transfusion and the need for preoperative autologous blood donation.<sup>191,243,565,832–836,838–849</sup>

Severe bleeding with the need for allogeneic blood transfusion is relatively uncommon in neurosurgery (affecting 6.7% of patients undergoing neurosurgery in 2010 at University Hospital Essen, Germany; unpublished observations). However, haematoma growth has a major impact on neurological outcomes and mortality in patients with intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH).<sup>850,851</sup> Therefore, ICH has to be treated early.

### Recommendation

Allogeneic blood transfusion is associated with an increased incidence of nosocomial infections. **B** 

Allogeneic blood transfusion is associated with an increased incidence of nosocomial infections such as wound infection and pneumonia,<sup>4,399,852–856</sup> increased length of hospital stay, and increased hospital costs.<sup>837,852,856,857</sup>

### Recommendation

Infusion of colloids in patients with severe bleeding can aggravate dilutional coagulopathy by additional effects on fibrin polymerisation and platelet aggregation. C

Coagulopathy in patients undergoing orthopaedic surgery is usually caused by pre-existing coagulation disorders, medication with oral anticoagulants or antiplatelet drugs, or dilutional coagulopathy due to severe blood loss and volume resuscitation with crystalloids and colloids. Colloids, and especially high molecular weight hydroxyethyl starch (HES) solutions, have dose-dependent effects on fibrin polymerisation and platelet aggregation, aggravating coagulopathy.<sup>30,411,858–864</sup>

### 8.3.2 Bleeding risk due to pre-existing coagulation disorders and medications

### Recommendations

We recommend that, for orthopaedic surgery, monotherapy with aspirin does not need to be discontinued. **1B** 

We recommend discontinuing dual antiplatelet therapy before urgent intracranial neurosurgery. A risk-benefit analysis is required for the continuation of aspirin monotherapy during neurosurgery. **1B** 

COX-2 selective NSAIDs do not increase perioperative blood loss in patients undergoing total knee arthroplasty.<sup>835,865–867</sup> Therefore, it is not necessary to discontinue these drugs before surgery. In contrast, ibuprofen, diclofenac and indomethacin significantly increase perioperative blood loss in total hip arthroplasty.<sup>835,866–868</sup> Therefore, discontinuation of non-selective NSAIDs is advised.

Pretreatment with daily low-dose aspirin was associated with a small increase in postoperative transfusion but no major bleeding in patients undergoing proximal femoral fracture surgery.<sup>869–872</sup> Neither aspirin nor clopidogrel monotherapy needs to be discontinued before urgent orthopaedic surgery, and surgery should not be delayed in patients receiving such treatment.<sup>872–879</sup>

Recent studies examining the effect of prior antiplatelet therapy on outcome in patients with spontaneous ICH have shown conflicting results.<sup>880</sup> A large, prospective trial demonstrated that antiplatelet medication at ICH onset was not associated with increased haemorrhage volumes, haemorrhage growth, or clinical outcome at 90 days.<sup>881</sup> However, the combination of aspirin and clopidogrel compared to clopidogrel alone after recent ischaemic stroke or transient ischaemic attack has been associated with an increased risk of bleeding events.<sup>882</sup> Antiplatelet therapy, and especially dual antiplatelet therapy, has also been associated with an increased risk of ICH after fibrinolytic therapy in patients with ischaemic stroke.<sup>883</sup> A third study suggested that antiplatelet medication may potentially increase ICH volume.<sup>884</sup> A meta-analysis and systematic literature review reported that antiplatelet therapy at the time of ICH increased mortality but had no effect on functional outcome.885 Prasugrel is associated with an increased risk of major/ fatal bleeding, compared to clopidogrel.<sup>886</sup> Compared to clopidogrel, ticagrelor has been shown to significantly reduce the rate of death from vascular causes, myocardial infarction or stroke, without increasing major bleeding.<sup>887</sup> In another study, there was no significant difference between ticagrelor and clopidogrel in the risk of stroke; however, intracranial bleeding was more common with ticagrelor.<sup>888</sup>

In summary, monotherapy with aspirin or clopidogrel seems not to be associated with a significantly increased risk of ICH or haematoma growth, but dual antiplatelet therapy, therapy with prasugrel, or a combination with other risk factors such as fibrinolytic therapy or VWD increase the risk of ICH and subsequent haematoma growth.<sup>882,883,889</sup> Therefore, dual antiplatelet therapy should be discontinued before urgent intracranial neuro-surgery.<sup>876,890</sup> There is need for a risk-benefit analysis of the continuation of aspirin monotherapy during neuro-surgery.

#### Recommendation

We recommend against performing orthopaedic surgery during the first three months after bare metal stent implantation or during the first twelve months after drug-eluting stent implantation. **1**C

Following bare metal stent implantation or drug-eluting stent implantation, elective orthopaedic surgery should not be performed during the first three months or twelve months respectively, because surgery results in a prohaemostatic condition and increases the risk of stent thrombosis.

# 8.3.3 Screening tests to predict bleeding in orthopaedics and neurosurgery Recommendation

Preoperative medication with ADP receptor antagonists or with new oral anticoagulants is associated with an increased risk of major bleeding and ICH, especially if used in combination. **B** 

Preoperative administration of ADP receptor antagonists such as clopidogrel, prasugrel and ticagrelor, or new oral anticoagulants such as dabigatran, rivaroxaban and apixaban is associated with an increased risk of major bleeding and ICH, especially if used in combination.<sup>882,886,888,891–894</sup> Of note, these drugs cannot be monitored with conventional coagulation screening tests such as aPTT, PT and platelet count.<sup>895–899</sup>

#### Recommendation

Reduced platelet activity is associated with early haematoma growth, more intraventricular haemorrhage and worse 3-month outcome following ICH. C

Conflicting evidence exists as to whether the direct thrombin inhibitor dabigatran enlarges haematoma volume in experimental ICH.<sup>900,901</sup> However, a recent case report has reported the development of an epidural haematoma and severe intraoperative haemorrhage in a spine trauma patient on dabigatran.<sup>902</sup> Furthermore,

neuraxial blockade is contraindicated in patients on dabigatran, even 34 h after withdrawal of the drug.<sup>903</sup>

Conflicting data also exist regarding whether or not prior antiplatelet therapy has an impact on haemorrhage growth or outcome after ICH and traumatic brain injury.<sup>880,881,884,901,904,905</sup> A recently published metaanalysis including a 25 cohort multivariate analysis showed that antiplatelet therapy at the time of ICH, compared to no antiplatelet therapy, was independently associated with increased mortality but not with poor functional outcome.<sup>885</sup> Furthermore, cerebral microbleeds are a potential risk factor for ICH in patients treated with antiplatelet drugs or warfarin.<sup>906–908</sup>

The efficacy of platelet transfusion in patients on antiplatelet therapy suffering from ICH or traumatic brain injury is also currently under discussion.<sup>880,909-911</sup> Conflicting data exist concerning the impact of antiplatelet drugs on ICH growth on one hand, and the efficacy of platelet transfusion to stop bleeding on the other, and can in part be explained by the variable response to antiplatelet drugs. Several authors reported a close correlation between platelet function testing using ADP as an activator in whole blood impedance aggregometry (Multiplate) or whole blood turbidimetric aggregometry (VerifyNow) and bleeding complications, transfusion requirements for platelet concentrates and outcome after ICH.912-916 In addition, reduced platelet activity has been associated with early haematoma growth, more intraventricular haemorrhage and worse 3-month outcome after ICH.<sup>917,918</sup> Therefore, point-of-care testing of platelet function may be helpful to detect platelet dysfunction in patients with ICH or prior to neuraxial surgery or blockade, and to guide corresponding therapy.<sup>914,919–922</sup> Also, thrombin time and ecarin clotting time may be helpful to identify emergency patients treated with oral direct thrombin inhibitors such as dabigatran.<sup>896,898,923</sup>

### Recommendation

Low platelet count, low plasma fibrinogen concentration and FXIII deficiency are predictive of bleeding complications in ICH, intracranial surgery and major spine surgery, particularly when they occur in combination. C

In a multivariate analysis of predictors of haematoma enlargement in spontaneous ICH, a low concentration of fibrinogen  $(2.41 \pm 0.08 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1} \text{ vs. } 2.86 \pm 0.04 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1} \text{ in}$ patients with and without haematoma growth, respectively) was the only haematological parameter shown to be an independent predictor of haematoma growth, with an odds ratio of 0.74 for one standard deviation change  $(0.09 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}; P = 0.042)$ .<sup>924</sup>

Most guidelines recommend a transfusion threshold of 100 000  $\mu l^{-1}$  platelets in patients undergoing neuro-surgery, based on expert opinion.  $^{925-929}$  However, in a

prospective observational study in patients undergoing intracranial surgery, a postoperative platelet count below 150 000  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup> was associated with a 2.5-fold increase in relative risk of postoperative haematoma requiring revision surgery, and in combination with FXIII activity <60%, the relative risk for haematoma increased to 9.7.<sup>410</sup> In the same study, preoperative FXIII activity <80% was associated with a 3.9-fold increase in relative risk of postoperative haematoma requiring revision surgery, which increased to 6.4-fold for postoperative FXIII activity <60%.<sup>410</sup> The third risk factor was fibrinogen concentration of  $<3.0 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$  preoperatively or <1.5 gl<sup>-1</sup> postoperatively, with a 2.9- and 2.5-fold increased relative risk of postoperative haematoma respectively. The highest relative risk of postoperative haematoma (12.2-fold) was achieved with the combination of a postoperative FXIII activity <60% and fibrinogen concentration  $< 1.5 \text{ g l}^{-1}$ . A postoperative prolongation of PT (<60% activity compared to normal; relative risk, 6.2) or aPTT (>35 s; relative risk, 4.8) had less impact on the relative risk for postoperative haematoma, even in combination with low FXIII activity (<60%).410

FXIII activity cannot be measured by conventional coagulation screening tests. Of note, in a study determining the effect of colloid infusion (HES 200/0.5 or modified gelatin 4%) on haemostasis in patients undergoing knee replacement surgery, the activity of FXIII decreased from 89.0 to 58.5%.<sup>860</sup> Acute diffuse postoperative bleeding due to acquired FXIII deficiency has also been reported after free flap operations in plastic surgery.<sup>930</sup> Furthermore, there are several case reports dealing with spontaneous subdural haematomas or recurrent spontaneous ICH in children and young adults related to FXIII deficiency.<sup>931–933</sup> Prophylactic therapy with a FXIII concentrate in young patients with congenital FXIII deficiency was associated with a marked decrease of bleeding episodes.<sup>934–936</sup> Furthermore, some FXIII polymorphisms are associated with an increased risk of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage.<sup>937,938</sup> In summary, FXIII seems to play an important role in postoperative bleeding complications in neurosurgery.

### Recommendation

Preoperative measurement of plasma fibrinogen concentration provides more information on bleeding volume and transfusion requirements than standard screening tests. C

Preoperative plasma fibrinogen concentration has been shown to be strongly associated with increased perioperative bleeding and transfusion requirements (>2 U RBC) in scoliosis surgery.<sup>939</sup> In this prospective observational study, total blood loss correlated significantly with preoperative fibrinogen concentration but with neither platelet count, aPTT nor PT. Patients with blood loss in the upper quartile had significantly lower preoperative

plasma fibrinogen concentrations  $(2.6 \pm 0.6 \text{ vs. } 3.1 \pm 0.6 \text{ gl}^{-1}; P = 0.002)$ . Patients undergoing extensive transfusion (>2 U RBC) had significantly lower preoperative fibrinogen plasma concentrations  $(2.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ vs. } 3.1 \pm 0.6 \text{ gl}^{-1}; P = 0.002)$ , while preoperative platelet count, aPTT, and PT did not differ. These results indicate that preoperative fibrinogen concentration is a limiting factor for postoperative measurement of fibrinogen concentration provides more information on blood loss and transfusion requirement than standard screening tests.<sup>939</sup>

#### Recommendation

We suggest the use of viscoelastic tests (ROTEM/TEG) for monitoring perioperative haemostasis in major orthopaedic surgery and neurosurgery. **2C** 

Hypocoagulability in thrombelastography (prolonged r and k time, reduced  $\alpha$ -angle and maximum amplitude) has been shown to be associated with an increased incidence of bleeding complications in paediatric neurosurgical patients, whereas standard coagulation tests (platelet count, PT, aPTT, and plasma fibrinogen) were not.<sup>940</sup> However, pre-, intra- and postoperative fibrinogen concentrations were >3 g l<sup>-1</sup> in both groups in this study. In several studies, thromboelastometry (FIBTEM test) has been shown to successfully diagnose fibrinogen deficiency, as well as fibrin polymerisation disorders, such as those induced by colloid infusion or dysfibrinogenaemia.<sup>30,40,123,411,427,862,864,941-943</sup>

#### Recommendation

The intensity of oral anticoagulation with warfarin, measured by INR, shows a close correlation to the incidence and severity of bleeding complications, in particular with ICH. C

The incidence of ICH in patients on oral anticoagulation with warfarin has been reported at 0.1%-3.7% per patient-year, and the incidence of major bleeding at 1.2-13.1% per patient-year. Independent risk factors for major bleeding and ICH have been identified as the indication for oral anticoagulation (e.g. atrial fibrillation or cerebral ischaemia), the patient's age ( $\leq 65, 66-85$ or >85 years) and the intensity (INR) and duration of anticoagulation.<sup>944-950</sup> Patients anticoagulated with warfarin because of cerebral ischaemia had 19 times the risk of ICH compared to patients with atrial fibrillation.945 The incidence of ICH was twice as high for patients >65 years of age, and around two times higher again in patients >85 years of age.<sup>945,947</sup> An INR of 1.6-2.0 was associated with insufficient anticoagulation,946,948 whereas an INR of 2.0-3.0 is considered as effective and safe.946,949 However, the incidence of ICH increased significantly with INR values >3.0;<sup>946-949,951</sup> here, the incidence of ICH increased by a factor of 1.37 for each increase of INR by 0.5, and the risk for death increased 2.3 times for each increase of INR by  $1.^{945,949}$  Furthermore, patients with INR >3.0 had a significantly greater haematoma volume and a higher mortality.<sup>952</sup> In summary, the intensity of oral anticoagulation with warfarin, measured by INR, shows a close correlation to the incidence and severity of bleeding complications, in particular to ICH.

### 8.3.4 Antifibrinolytics

### Recommendations

We suggest administering tranexamic acid in total hip arthroplasty, total knee arthroplasty, and major spine surgery. 2A

Tranexamic acid may promote a hypercoagulable state for some patients (with pre-existing thromboembolic events, hip fracture surgery, cancer surgery, age over 60 years, women). Therefore, we suggest an individual risk-benefit analysis instead of its routine use in these clinical settings. 2A

Antifibrinolytic medication has been shown to reduce perioperative blood loss, allogeneic blood transfusions and associated costs in major orthopaedic surgery such as total hip or knee arthroplasty.<sup>477,953–955</sup> Although concerns exist about increased thrombotic events with the use of these agents, large meta-analyses suggest that tranexamic acid can be employed safely and efficaciously to decrease perioperative blood loss and transfusion requirements without increased risk of thromboembolic complications in major orthopaedic surgery.<sup>480,534,645,953,954,956–958</sup>

However, further studies are needed to clarify the neurological risk, appropriate indications and dosing of tranexamic acid.<sup>653</sup> In addition, the use of antifibrinolytics in patients with cancer cannot be recommended, because no beneficial effect has been shown and the risk of thromboembolic complications may be increased.<sup>959,960</sup> Tranexamic acid may also promote hypercoagulability following pre-existing thromboembolic events and hip fracture surgery, in patients over 60 years, and in women.<sup>961</sup>

Data showing favourable efficacy and safety are best for tranexamic acid,  ${}^{480,954,962}$  whereas in comparison, the data for EACA are sparse.  ${}^{477,529,531,963-967}$  In several RCTs, hip/knee replacement patients received tranexamic acid as a single preoperative intravenous bolus dose of  $10-15 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ .  ${}^{535,538,968-972}$  In some RCTs, a second dose was given 3h later or at the time of tourniquet deflation,  ${}^{531,973-975}$  while in others a continuous infusion of  $1 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} h^{-1}$  was started after the initial bolus.  ${}^{530,976-979}$  Oral administration of tranexamic acid (1 g preoperatively and then every 6 h for 18 h postoperatively) has also been shown to be effective in patients with total knee replacement.  ${}^{980}$  In hip fracture surgery, tranexamic acid (15 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> as a single or double bolus dose at surgical incision and 3 h later) reduces allogeneic

blood transfusion but may promote hypercoagulability.<sup>532,961,981</sup> Thus, further safety evaluation is required before recommending routine use of tranexamic acid in this setting. In several RCTs performed in children and adults undergoing scoliosis/spine surgery, a loading dose of  $10-30 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  tranexamic acid followed by a continuous infusion of  $1 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$  has been shown to be effective and well tolerated.<sup>904,982,983</sup> EACA has been administered to scoliosis surgery patients (loading dose  $100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  followed by  $10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$  until the end of surgery).<sup>966</sup>

In neurosurgery, 1 g tranexamic acid immediately after the diagnosis of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage, followed by 1 g every 6 h until the aneurysm was occluded, reduced mortality from early rebleeding by 80%.<sup>984</sup> However, data on the efficacy and safety of antifibrinolytics in intracranial surgery are sparse and relate mainly to aprotinin, which was withdrawn in 2007.<sup>985</sup>

### 8.3.5 Recombinant activated factor VIIa Recommendations

We suggest the use of rFVIIa in patients with neutralising antibodies to FVIII undergoing major orthopaedic surgery. **2C** 

Prophylactic use of rFVIIa does not reduce perioperative blood loss or transfusion in non-haemophiliac and noncoagulopathic patients undergoing major orthopaedic surgery or neurosurgery, and it may increase the incidence of thromboembolic events. Therefore, we recommend against the prophylactic use of rFVIIa in these clinical settings. **1B** 

We recommend restricting off-label use of rFVIIa to patients with severe bleeding who are unresponsive to other haemostatic interventions. **1C** 

Continuous infusion of rFVIIa (initial preoperative bolus of  $90 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$  followed by a continuous infusion of  $50 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1} \ h^{-1}$  for a median of 20 days) was effective and well tolerated in a prospective study of patients with neutralising antibodies to FVIII undergoing elective major orthopaedic surgery. Postoperative bleeding was controlled by an additional single bolus of  $60 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$ rFVIIa.<sup>986</sup> A recently published consensus protocol for the use of rFVIIa in elective orthopaedic surgery in haemophiliac patients with inhibitors recommended an initial bolus dose of rFVIIa in the range of 120– 180 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1} to cover surgery and concomitant use of antifibrinolytic agents and fibrin sealants.<sup>987</sup> Conversely, there is a lack of evidence to suggest that rFVIIa might be effective and well tolerated in severe intractable bleeding during spinal surgery.

rFVIIa reduced intraoperative transfusion requirement for RBCs in 26 adolescent patients with scoliosis, who received rFVIIa perioperatively.<sup>988</sup> Other studies have shown that a small dose of rFVIIa ( $20 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$ ) reduced PT and aPTT but did not significantly reduce blood loss.<sup>989,990</sup> Moreover, the drug failed to produce a significant reduction in blood loss or transfusion volume in an RCT in 49 spinal surgery patients.<sup>991</sup> One patient with advanced cerebrovascular disease who received  $30 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa died six days after surgery due to an ischaemic stroke. In addition, there was also no significant reduction in perioperative blood loss or transfusion of blood components in a randomised, placebo-controlled trial including 48 patients undergoing major pelvic-acetabular surgery.<sup>992</sup> Therefore, there is little evidence to suggest that prophylactic rFVIIa reduces perioperative blood loss or transfusion requirements in major orthopaedic surgery.

In studies of non-haemophiliac, coagulopathic neurosurgical patients,  $40-120 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  rFVIIa rapidly normalised PT (baseline INR > 2) and aPTT within 20 min;<sup>993–995</sup> this allows a shorter transit time to intervention/craniotomy.<sup>996,997</sup> Although rFVIIa can reduce the change in ICH volume, no significant effect on mortality, modified Rankin Scale score or extended Glasgow Outcome Scale score has been demonstrated.<sup>555,557,998-1000</sup> However, a significant increase in thromboembolic adverse events has been observed with rFVIIa (e.g. myocardial infarction, stroke), especially in elderly patients and those with pre-existing vascular diseases.<sup>554–557,717,981,998,999,1001–1003</sup> Furthermore, there is no reliable evidence that haemostatic drugs are effective in reducing mortality or disability in patients with traumatic brain injury.<sup>981,1004–1007</sup> Therefore, the use of rFVIIa in paediatric patients with brain tumours should be restricted to patients with life-threatening bleeding who are unresponsive to conventional treatment.<sup>1008,1009</sup>

## 8.3.6 Prothrombin complex concentrate and new oral anticoagulants

### Recommendations

In patients with INR > 1.5, with life-threatening bleeding or ICH, we recommend that four-factor PCCs (20–  $40IUkg^{-1}$ ), supplemented with vitamin K (10mg by slow intravenous infusion), should be used for rapid reversal of VKAs. **1**C

In patients with neutralising antibodies to FVIII undergoing major orthopaedic surgery, we suggest using activated PCCs (e.g. FEIBA, FVIII inhibitor bypassing agents). **2**C

New oral anticoagulants, such as rivaroxaban and dabigatran, may increase surgical bleeding and ICH growth. We suggest that PCC, FEIBA or rFVIIa may be used as non-specific antagonists in life-threatening bleeding or ICH. **2**C

For life-threatening bleeding or ICH among oral anticoagulation patients receiving VKAs, for INR > 1.5,

guidelines recommend PCCs or rFVIIa for immediate reversal of INR, with co-administration of vitamin K (10 mg by slow intravenous infusion).<sup>45,562,592,598,</sup> <sup>1010–1015</sup> Despite consistency between recommendations, adherence to them is poor in several countries where FFP is used instead of PCC.<sup>593,595,1016-1020</sup> These data indicate a requirement for education in this field,<sup>1019</sup> potentially including information on the three different types of PCC available with different compositions and different indications.<sup>594,595,1021,1022</sup> Fourfactor PCCs are most effective for rapid reversal of VKA-induced anticoagulation because they replace all four vitamin K-dependent coagulation factors (II, VII, IX, and X), and some of them also contain inhibitors such as protein C, S, and Z.<sup>941,1021</sup> Three-factor PCCs are used to treat haemophilia B (in the US) and are used for warfarin reversal where four-factor PCCs are not available (e.g. in Australia).<sup>592,1010,1011,1018,1023–1027</sup> Three-factor PCCs contain little FVII and are less effective in correcting INR.<sup>592,1028-1030</sup> Activated PCCs such as FEIBA® (Baxter Healthcare Corp, USA; FVIII inhibitor bypassing agent) are indicated in patients with haemophilia and antibodies (inhibitors) against FVIII or FIX.<sup>1031–1033</sup> At a median initial dose of  $100 \,\mathrm{W \, kg^{-1}}$ , FEIBA has been shown to be effective, well tolerated (low incidence of thromboembolic events) and cost-effective in patients with FVIII/FIX inhibitors undergoing major orthopaedic and other surgery.<sup>1031,1032,1034–1038</sup> However, activated PCCs are not used for rapid reversal of VKA-induced anticoagulation.

Compared with FFP, which takes 14-50 h to correct INR, four-factor PCCs provide quicker and more controlled correction of INR (a target INR of 1.2–1.4 can be achieved within 3–30 min) and improved bleeding control. 402,449,586–588,590,591,594,595,906,1014,1015,1017,1021,1030, 1039-1045 Recommended doses for emergency VKA reversal in the presence of ICH are  $20-40 \,\mathrm{IU \, kg^{-1}}$ PCC  $(0.8-1.6 \text{ ml kg}^{-1}; \text{ fixed or calculated from body})$ weight, baseline and target INR),  $15-120 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1} \, rFVIIa$  or  $15-30 \, ml \, kg^{-1} \, FFP$ .<sup>403,591,1012,1014</sup> Transfusion-associated circulatory overload and subsequent acute lung injury complications, which occur in 1-8% of hip/knee arthroplasty patients receiving FFP, can be avoided by using PCC.<sup>141,400,401,906,1045-1049</sup> The incidence and extent of haematoma growth are significantly lower in patients receiving PCCs compared with FFP and vitamin K,<sup>850</sup> which is attributable to more rapid reversal of INR. Haematoma growth is associated with poor neurological outcome, and aggressive management of VKA-associated ICH with rapid INR correction appears to translate into improved outcomes following ICH;<sup>1050</sup> however, this is yet to be proved by well-designed RCTs.<sup>1051,1052</sup>

For rapid reversal of VKAs, studies have shown that PCCs have a favourable safety profile, with a low incidence

of thromboembolic events. 449,587,588,590,591,596,633,1023,1024,

<sup>1040,1042,1053,1054</sup> In a recent meta-analysis, only 12 patients (1.4%) treated with PCCs for VKA reversal had a thromboembolic event, of which two were fatal.<sup>1055</sup> The incidence of thromboembolic events was 1.8% in patients treated with 4-factor PCCs and 0.7% in patients treated with 3-factor PCCs, and these data are consistent with other reviews and pharmacovigilance data.<sup>1022,1056</sup> The occurrence of thromboembolic events is not surprising because VKAs are prescribed to patients with a high risk of thrombotic events.<sup>596,1022,1054,1055,1057</sup> Excessive substitution with PCCs should be avoided, and accurate monitoring of coagulation status may allow thrombotic risk to be reduced.<sup>1022,1058,1059</sup> Four patients (1.9%) treated with a solvent/detergent-treated and nanofiltrated four-factor PCC have shown seroconversion for parvovirus B19.588,590,1055 No other cases of viral transmission or infectious complications after administration of PCCs have been published during the last 15 years.<sup>1043,1055–1057</sup>

In contrast to rFVIIa  $(100 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1})$ , 4-factor PCCs  $(20-40 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1})$  not only correct PT, INR and lag time in endogenous thrombin potential, but they also normalise thrombin generation and activity of coagulation factors II, VII, IX and X, while additionally shortening bleeding time and reducing blood loss.<sup>454,1060-1062</sup> A higher dose of PCC  $(50 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1})$  may induce hypercoagulable thrombin generation, potentially increasing the risk of thromboembolic events.<sup>1059,1061</sup> This underlines the need to avoid excessive substitution with PCCs, and may be particularly important in bleeding patients with coagulation factor deficiency due to liver dysfunction.<sup>120,420,457,458,1063-1068</sup> Based on point-of-care thromboelastometric results, four-factor PCCs have been used in combination with fibrinogen concentrate in several cohort studies in trauma, neurosurgery, cardiac surgery, visceral surgery and liver transplan-tation.<sup>118,120,125,398,576,1058</sup> These studies show significant reductions in transfusion requirements, transfusionassociated adverse events, and thromboembolic events with PCC; however, prospective RCTs are needed for confirmation.

The recent approval of new oral anticoagulants, such as rivaroxaban and dabigatran, is changing the therapeutic landscape.<sup>1057,1069–1072</sup> These drugs may hamper haemostatic management because they cannot be monitored by simple conventional laboratory assays, their pharmacokinetics vary significantly between patients (in particular dependent on age and renal function), they may increase surgical bleeding and ICH growth, and they have no validated antagonists.<sup>893,1073–1080</sup> In some animal models, rFVIIa, FEIBA and PCC partially improved laboratory parameters in animals treated with fondaparinux, rivaroxaban or dabigatran, but it is unclear whether these drugs would be effective in treating bleeding patients.<sup>898,900,1081–1084</sup>

### 8.4 Visceral and transplant surgery

# 8.4.1 Should coagulopathy associated with chronic liver disease be corrected before invasive procedures?

Haemostatic changes coinciding with liver disease were traditionally thought to confer bleeding diathesis. Recent data challenge this theory, leading to a concept of 're-balanced haemostasis' in patients with chronic liver disease (CLD).<sup>1085,1086</sup>

## 8.4.1.1 What is the evidence that haemostasis is 're-balanced' in CLD?

**Recommendation** Despite PT, aPTT and INR indicating coagulopathy in CLD, global coagulation tests (thrombin generation and TEG/ROTEM) suggest that haemostasis is balanced in stable CLD. C

In CLD, procoagulant concentrations are typically decreased (except FVIII, which is elevated). However, most endogenous anticoagulants (antithrombin, proteins C and S) are also depleted,<sup>1087</sup> maintaining haemostatic balance. Thrombin generation in stable liver disease is similar, or elevated, compared with healthy individuals.<sup>1087,1088</sup>

CLD patients often exhibit thrombocytopaenia and platelet adhesion/aggregation abnormalities. These changes may be counterbalanced by increased VWF levels and reduced VWF-cleaving activity of ADAMTS 13.<sup>1089</sup> Platelet hyperactivity has been reported in cholestatic liver disease.<sup>1090,1091</sup>

Elevated fibrinolysis and clot instability are balanced by increased plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1) levels. PAI-1 levels are high in acute liver failure and cholestatic liver disease; clinically significant fibrinolysis is rare in both conditions.<sup>1092,1093</sup>

'Re-balanced' haemostasis in CLD is reflected in the increasing number of CLD patients undergoing major abdominal surgery without requiring transfusion.<sup>1094</sup> However, as venous thromboembolic events are common in cirrhotic patients, they cannot be considered 'auto-anticoagulated'.<sup>1095</sup>

# 8.4.1.2 What is the evidence that INR reflects bleeding risk in patients with chronic liver disease? Recommendation

Mild to moderate prolongation of the preoperative PT and INR do not predict bleeding in patients with CLD.  ${\bf C}$ 

PT, aPTT and INR are widely used to assess CLD patients preoperatively, although evidence that these parameters predict bleeding risk is poor.<sup>91</sup> Massicotte *et al.*<sup>1094</sup> reported that INR does not predict OLT transfusion requirements and that preoperative INR correction is unnecessary. Observational studies suggest that

OLT can be performed without FFP transfusion;<sup>1096</sup> this may be advantageous in avoiding volume overload.<sup>1097</sup>

PT and INR do not reflect bleeding risk in CLD, as the concurrent anticoagulant reduction is not assessed.<sup>1098</sup> Thrombin generation is similar in healthy and cirrhotic individuals, and there is no definite association between INR and bleeding risk among liver disease patients.<sup>1099</sup> In addition, INR values may vary between laboratories, so defining cut-off values is problematic.<sup>1100</sup>

### 8.4.1.3 Should FFP be used to correct prolonged INR before invasive procedures? Recommendation

## We recommend against the use of FFP for preprocedural correction of mild-to-moderately elevated INR. 1C

Implementation of practice guidelines is recommended to prevent inappropriate transfusion.<sup>1101</sup> Evidence suggests that FFP should not be administered to nonbleeding patients when INR is  $\leq 2$ . Although PT and INR are often used to guide FFP transfusion, no correlation has been established between degree of coagulopathy and transfusion outcome,<sup>16</sup> nor has optimal FFP dosing been determined.

No randomised studies with clinical endpoints have investigated the effectiveness of FFP transfusion in CLD. Current evidence suggests no benefit in correcting mild-to-moderate INR elevations before invasive procedures in CLD patients.

## 8.4.1.4 What level of thrombocytopaenia should be tolerated in CLD?

### Recommendation

We suggest a platelet count of  $\leq 50~000 \,\mu l^{-1}$  as a threshold for platelet transfusion before liver biopsy. **2C** 

The evidence supporting platelet count cutoff values is limited. Moreover, platelet count does not represent platelet function. Current consensus, <sup>1099</sup> with supporting evidence, <sup>1102</sup> suggests that a preoperative platelet count >50 000  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup> may be acceptable. Severe thrombocytopaenia ( $\leq$ 50 000 platelets  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>) occurs in 1% of patients. <sup>1103</sup> Due to an assumed increased bleeding risk, this value is a common trigger for prophylactic preoperative platelet transfusion.

A platelet count  $\leq 50\ 000\ \mu l^{-1}$  may trigger platelet transfusion in cirrhotic patients during active bleeding<sup>929</sup> and is recommended as a threshold for platelet transfusion before liver biopsy, despite limited supporting evidence.<sup>1099</sup>

Thrombocytopaenia (<150 000 platelets  $\mu l^{-1}$ ) occurs in  $\geq$ 75% of liver disease patients,<sup>1104</sup> limiting thrombin generation and potentially increasing bleeding risk.<sup>1102</sup> Among liver disease patients undergoing invasive procedures, bleeding occurred in 31% of cases with severe thrombocytopaenia, and none of those with moderate

thrombocytopaenia.<sup>1104</sup> However, among patients with severe thrombocytopaenia, the prevalence of significant coagulopathy did not differ between those who bled and those who did not.

### 8.4.1.5 Platelet function in cirrhosis Recommendations

PFA-100 is not predictive of bleeding risk in cirrhosis. C

### Bleeding time is influenced by many variables and is not useful to stratify bleeding risk. C

Primary haemostasis may function effectively in cirrhosis, and low platelet count alone might not increase bleeding risk.<sup>1089</sup> Primary haemostasis in cirrhosis has been assessed using bleeding time,<sup>1105</sup> where bleeding time increased progressively from Child-Pugh class A to class C. However, the validity of prolonged bleeding time as a risk factor for bleeding in cirrhosis remains uncertain.<sup>1106,1107</sup> Assessment of bleeding risk using the platelet count has been recommended instead.<sup>1108</sup>

Chronic inflammation coupled with increased vWF concentrations may enhance platelet activity in cirrhosis, potentially explaining normal bleeding time measurements in patients with low platelet counts. Alternatively, altered vasoreactivity and/or arterial dysfunction, both well documented in cirrhosis, may explain prolonged bleeding time. PFA-100 closure time is prolonged in cirrhosis, although the prognostic value of this is unknown.<sup>1109</sup>

Anaemia may potentially increase bleeding tendency by impairing platelet function; its impact warrants further investigation.<sup>1110</sup>

### 8.4.2 Acute liver failure and invasive procedures Recommendation

We recommend that, in acute liver failure, moderately elevated INR should not be corrected before invasive procedures, with the exception of intracranial pressure monitor insertion. **1C** 

Acute liver failure (ALF) is defined by encephalopathy and coagulopathy (INR > 1.5) within 26 weeks of onset of acute liver disease. Severity of coagulopathy is a useful prognostic marker for monitoring hepatic function. A review of >1000 patients with ALF reported a mean INR of 3.8.<sup>1111</sup> Patients are therefore assumed to have a bleeding diathesis, although clinically significant bleeding is rare (around 5%) and TEG results are typically normal.<sup>1093,1112</sup> Haemostatic alterations in ALF differ from those in CLD. Thrombocytopaenia is less common in ALF, pro- and anticoagulant depletion is more severe and fibrinolysis is inhibited due to high PAI-1 concentrations.<sup>1113</sup> TEG clot strength is most influenced by platelet count, followed by fibrinogen concentration, then procoagulant factor levels.<sup>1112</sup> Prophylactic FFP transfusion to correct INR is not justified in ALF and compromises INR as an indicator of liver function.

Coagulopathy is almost always treated in ALF patients before invasive procedures;<sup>1114</sup> however, such practice is not supported by data and there are no evidence-based guidelines recommending an appropriate target INR. Historical consensus suggests a target INR <1.5,<sup>1115</sup> although available data<sup>1112</sup> challenge this. Transfusionfree OLT has been described in patients with ALF, with INR up to 8, and INR does not predict intraoperative blood loss.

PT and INR can be corrected using rFVIIa, which has been used before intracranial pressure monitor insertion. However, the evidence for rFVIIa efficacy in reducing bleeding complications is limited.<sup>1116,1117</sup> Optimal dosing remains uncertain, as does the thrombogenic potential of rFVIIa.<sup>1118</sup> Before invasive procedures, fibrinogen concentrations <1 gl<sup>-1</sup> should be corrected with cryoprecipitate or fibrinogen concentrate. Platelet count  $\geq$ 50 000 µl<sup>-1</sup> is acceptable<sup>1115,1119</sup> and there are no clear guidelines concerning clotting factors. With the exception of intracranial pressure monitor insertion, INR should not be corrected preoperatively.

INR correction with FFP introduces volume overload and haemodilution. Correction of coagulation factor concentrations above 30% requires up to 30 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> FFP.<sup>403</sup> Plasma exchange plasmapheresis with FFP may correct INR and improve haemostasis.<sup>1120</sup> PCC with vitamin K can rapidly correct markedly elevated PT/INR before urgent invasive procedures.<sup>1065</sup> Further, prospective RCTs are required in this area.

### 8.4.3 Orthotopic liver transplantation

Median transfusion during orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) has decreased from 20 to 2 U since the 1980 s. The procedure is now often performed without transfusion, although massive transfusion is still required occasionally. Coagulopathic bleeding may be related to dilutional coagulopathy or hyperfibrinolysis.

The actiology of liver failure is an independent parameter for predicting massive blood loss.<sup>1121</sup> Fewer bleeding complications are observed in cholestatic liver disease compared with viral or toxic liver disease.<sup>1092</sup> Preoperative PT/INR does not predict the need for transfusion,<sup>1122</sup> whereas preoperative haemoglobin concentration does.<sup>1123</sup>

Practice varies between centres with regard to transfusion thresholds and coagulation monitoring.<sup>1124,1125</sup> The number of RBC units transfused intraoperatively shares an inverse relationship with patient survival,<sup>1126</sup> and guidelines are intended to limit unnecessary transfusion.<sup>1127</sup>

### 8.4.3.1 Methods to reduce blood loss in liver transplantation

Both RBC and platelet transfusion independently predict poor outcome in OLT.<sup>517</sup> Approaches to minimising

transfusion include normothermia, because hypothermia reduces platelet function and impairs coagulation enzyme activity. Even mild hypothermia ( $<35.5^{\circ}$ C) increases blood loss by 16% and the relative risk of transfusion by 22%.<sup>486</sup>

### 8.4.3.2 Intraoperative fluid management Recommendation

Fluid restriction, phlebotomy, vasopressors and transfusion protocols may be associated with low transfusion rates during OLT.  ${\rm C}$ 

In cirrhotic patients, volume loading only marginally increases cardiac output while portal hyperaemia and bleeding are increased. Low transfusion rates (<80%) during OLT have been reported using fluid restriction, phlebotomy, vasopressors and transfusion protocols.<sup>1128,1129</sup> However, aggressive volume restriction may increase renal dysfunction, limiting its use in some patients.<sup>1130</sup>

When using colloids, third-generation starch solutions are recommended because they have less effect on coagulation and reduce blood loss and transfusion compared with second-generation starches.<sup>863</sup> Patients with endstage liver disease may exhibit delayed clot formation and reduced clot firmness following even moderate fluid dilution.<sup>1131</sup>

Thrombin generation in OLT patients is usually normal or supranormal,<sup>1086</sup> supporting restrictive FFP transfusion during OLT. If massive bleeding is not evident, FFP transfusion may increase bleeding due to portal hyperaemia.<sup>1097</sup>

### 8.4.3.3 Intraoperative cell salvage

Intraoperative cell salvage (ICS) has been used to reduce autologous transfusion requirements and provide cost savings for over two decades.<sup>1132</sup> As OLT often involves minimal RBC transfusion, a full ICS setup is not always justifiable. Thus, it is recommended that a 'stand by' setup is available. Washed erythrocytes lack clotting factors and platelets, so transfusion therapy must be tailored accordingly. Heparin anticoagulation of salvaged blood appears safe because washed cells contain minimal heparin. Alternatively, citrate may be used.

UK guidelines<sup>1133</sup> state that ICS may be considered for hepatocellular tumour surgery if there is a significant risk of major bleeding. Risk of malignant cell reinfusion should be balanced against risk of allogeneic transfusion-related complications. Leukodepletion filters reduce reinfusion risks<sup>1134</sup> but also reduce reinfusion speed. OLT studies have not shown any risk of bacterial contamination. During ICS, blood should be collected only after ascitic fluid has been removed and should cease once biliary anastomosis begins.

### 8.4.4 Coagulation monitoring

Differences between centres in coagulation monitoring contribute to variations in OLT transfusion practice.<sup>115</sup> Laboratory-based coagulation tests are unsuitable because of slow turnaround times and inability to diagnose hyperfibrinolysis.<sup>1135</sup>

### 8.4.4.1 Global coagulation tests: thrombelastography (TEG)/thromboelastometry (ROTEM)

### Recommendation

We recommend the use of perioperative coagulation monitoring using ROTEM/TEG for targeted management of coagulopathy. **1C** 

TEG monitoring can reduce transfusion requirements by 30%.<sup>1136,1137</sup>. However, high quality data supporting the effectiveness of such practice is lacking.<sup>1138</sup> In a Cochrane review of TEG/ROTEM haemostatic monitoring,<sup>17</sup> only one RCT related to liver transplantation<sup>133</sup> and this was not blinded. Other evidence suggests TEG/ROTEM monitoring may help reduce bleeding and transfusion of FFP and platelets in liver transplantation.<sup>1139</sup> As RBC and platelet transfusions are associated with increased mortality, TEG/ ROTEM could help to improve patient outcomes; however, larger trials are required to investigate this.<sup>519,1127</sup>

TEG/ROTEM can facilitate targeted management of specific coagulopathies, potentially reducing transfusion requirements.<sup>134,1137</sup> Diagnostic capability is maximised using different activators and modifiers (described elsewhere in this guideline – see section 4.2.3.2). TEG/ROTEM can identify hyperfibrinolysis, indicating anti-fibrinolytic therapy.<sup>1140</sup> In addition, the FIBTEM test can guide administration of fibrinogen concentrate or cryoprecipitate,<sup>1058</sup> in turn reducing platelet and RBC transfusions.<sup>1141</sup>

A heparin effect is commonly evident during reperfusion, due to heparin administered to the donor and endogenous vascular endothelial heparinoids.<sup>1140</sup> Reversal with protamine is rarely indicated because the effects of the heparin are temporary and do not usually increase bleeding risk.<sup>1142</sup>

#### 8.4.5 Pharmacological therapy 8.4.5.1 Antifibrinolytic drugs Recommendation

Antifibrinolytic therapy reduces blood loss and transfusion requirements in liver transplantation. **B** 

We recommend antifibrinolytic drugs for treatment of fibrinolysis (evident from microvascular oozing or TEG/ROTEM clot lysis measurement) and not for routine prophylaxis. Marginal grafts (e.g. donation after cardiac death) increase the risk of fibrinolysis following reperfusion. **1C** 

Lack of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) clearance increases fibrinolysis during OLT.<sup>1143</sup> Dramatically elevated levels of tPA follow reperfusion, causing explosive primary hyperfibrinolysis<sup>1144</sup> and, potentially, diffuse bleeding. Hyperfibrinolysis typically subsides within an hour but may persist with poorly functional or marginal grafts.<sup>1145</sup> This scenario rarely occurs in ALF due to elevated PAI-1. Antifibrinolytic drugs have been used prophylactically and therapeutically for TEG-determined fibrinolysis.<sup>1137,1146</sup>

A Cochrane review demonstrated that antifibrinolytic therapy helps to reduce blood loss and perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion.<sup>480</sup> Tranexamic acid and EACA were generally as effective as aprotinin. Aprotinin was not associated with increased risk of vascular occlusion and death,<sup>1147</sup> but an increased risk of renal failure could not be excluded.<sup>480</sup> An observational study involving OLT patients found a significant risk of transient renal dysfunction with aprotinin, but no increase in renal failure or mortality.<sup>1148</sup>

A meta-analysis of antifibrinolytic drugs concluded that both aprotinin and tranexamic acid reduce RBC transfusion in OLT.<sup>476</sup> Aprotinin, but not tranexamic acid, also reduces intraoperative FFP transfusion. There was no evidence of antifibrinolytic therapy increasing risks of hepatic artery thrombosis, venous thromboembolism or mortality. Similarly, a review of over 1400 OLT patients found no difference in arterial or venous thromboembolism between patients receiving aprotinin and no treatment.<sup>1149</sup> However, this does not preclude risks in specific patient subgroups or with specific doses. EACA is widely used in the USA despite the existence of only one RCT, and this study demonstrated no benefit versus placebo.<sup>547</sup>

As massive bleeding has become less frequent during OLT, there have been moves from routine to selective antifibrinolytic prophylaxis (high-risk patients), and onto treatment only. Predicting hyperfibrinolysis is problematic because bleeding is greatly influenced by the donor liver, which is not reflected in preoperative assessment.<sup>1150</sup> Treatment using tranexamic acid/EACA is recommended if microvascular oozing or fibrinolysis is evident. Timing and degree of fibrinolysis is important; non-severe fibrinolysis occurring after reperfusion may resolve spontaneously.<sup>1066</sup> Lowest effective doses are uncertain; tranexamic acid is currently given in 1–2 g increments.

#### Recombinant activated factor VII Recommendation

We recommend against rFVIIa for prophylaxis; rFVIIa should be used only as rescue therapy for uncontrolled bleeding.  ${\bf 1A}$ 

Two RCTs have investigated prophylactic rFVIIa in OLT:<sup>1151,1152</sup> both demonstrated correction of INR but

no reduction in transfusion. Off-label 'rescue' therapy with rFVIIa may help to control haemorrhage. However, systematic reviews show no reduction in mortality and increased risk of arterial thromboembolism.<sup>554,717</sup>

### 8.4.6 Pulmonary emboli and intracardiac thrombi in orthotopic liver transplantation

Perioperative intracardiac and pulmonary emboli are rare but potentially lethal complications of OLT. A systematic review reported an incidence of 1% and mortality of 68%.<sup>1153</sup> The aetiology is uncertain but unlikely to be causally related to venovenous bypass or antifibrinolytics. One study described a 1.9% incidence of intracardiac thrombi (ICT), mostly in association with reperfusion.<sup>1154</sup> Portal hypertension and intraoperative haemodialysis were independent risk factors. Routine intraoperative transoesophageal monitoring is recommended to identify ICT. ICT has been linked with hypercoagulability according to TEG, even when conventional tests suggest hypocoagulability.<sup>1155</sup> In addition, the value of thromboelastometry was demonstrated in a fatal cardiopulmonary embolism following aprotinin therapy.<sup>1156</sup>

Postoperative LMWH prophylaxis for thromboembolic complications is not administered universally. However, accumulating evidence supports LMWH prophylaxis and extended postoperative coagulation monitoring.<sup>1157</sup>

## 8.4.7 Antiplatelet therapy and platelet function testing

#### Recommendation

POC platelet function tests may help to stratify risk and rationalise platelet transfusion in patients taking antiplatelet drugs. C

A small number of OLT patients receive antiplatelet therapy for prevention of coronary/cerebral vascular disease or for coronary stent insertion. An observational study involving coronary stented patients undergoing cardiac surgery reported that although the risks of major bleeding decreased, the risk of major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events increased if antiplatelet therapy was interrupted for more than 5 days preoperatively.<sup>1158</sup> In emergency surgery or OLT, prior therapeutic interruption is not feasible.

The degree of platelet inhibition is variable; 'hyporesponders' may be at increased risk of ischaemic events, while 'hyper-responders' may have increased risk of bleeding.<sup>1159</sup> Bleeding risk may be stratified using point-of-care platelet function analysers: minimal risk is associated with platelet inhibition <30%, but >60% inhibition with 2- to 6-fold increased risk.<sup>1160</sup> Cardiac surgery patients with high platelet inhibition appear to have increased bleeding risk and increased transfusion requirements. Patients in the lower tertile of platelet aggregation (measured using multiple electrode aggregometry) receive more platelet concentrate than upper

tertile patients.<sup>159,186</sup> Similarly, the m-TEG platelet mapping assay (Haemonetics, Braintree, MA) has shown that >70% inhibition increases bleeding risk.<sup>1161</sup> Platelet mapping has been used to guide antiplatelet therapy in a Budd-Chiari patient with an occluded transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt.<sup>1162</sup> Tranexamic acid may partially reverse the effect of antiplatelet therapy.<sup>72</sup>

Platelet function tests may potentially predict platelet transfusion requirements although no 'gold standard' test or cut-off value has yet been established. Studies are ongoing.<sup>1163</sup>

### 8.4.8 Liver resection

Blood loss during liver resection is a major determinant of perioperative outcome. Selective vascular occlusion techniques help to control blood loss, with complete vascular occlusion employed in excessive bleeding. Intermittent clamping or ischaemic preconditioning may reduce ischaemic liver injury.<sup>1164</sup>

### 8.4.8.1 Haemodynamic interventions to reduce blood loss

### Recommendation

A low central venous pressure and restrictive fluid administration reduce bleeding. **B** 

Fluid restriction and maintenance of low central venous pressure (CVP) during hepatic resection reduce blood loss.<sup>1165</sup> However, low CVP may increase complications including air embolism and renal failure.<sup>1166</sup> It is uncertain whether fluid restriction during hepatic resection increases the risk of renal dysfunction, although this risk is generally considered minimal.

### 8.4.8.2 Pharmacological interventions to reduce blood loss

### Recommendation

We suggest that antifibrinolytic drugs should be considered in cirrhotic patients undergoing liver resection. **2C** 

A Cochrane review reported reduced allogeneic transfusion in patients receiving aprotinin or tranexamic acid.<sup>1165</sup> Desmopressin, rFVIIa and AT did not decrease transfusion. However, because all of the studies had a high risk of bias (likely type I and type II errors), no general recommendations can be made without further large trials. A separate systematic review showed no difference between rFVIIa and placebo.<sup>467</sup>

### 8.4.9 Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding

In decompensated CLD, bleeding is often triggered by haemodynamic alterations arising from portal hypertension, endothelial dysfunction, renal failure, bacterial infection, endogenous heparinoids<sup>1167,1168</sup> and DIC. Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB) is a common medical emergency, with a mortality in excess of 7%.<sup>1169</sup>

### 8.4.9.1 Acute variceal bleeding Recommendations

We recommend that acute variceal bleeding should be managed by a multidisciplinary team. A specific multimodal protocol for upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage should be available. **1C** 

We recommend that early treatment involves immediate use of vasopressors (somatostatin or terlipressin) to reduce bleeding and early interventional endoscopy. Antibiotics must be started on admission. 1A

Variceal bleeding is a major complication of portal hypertension and a leading cause of death in cirrhosis. Although management and prognosis have improved,<sup>1170</sup> early mortality following acute variceal bleeding (AVB) remains high (15–24%).

AVB outcomes can be improved by experienced multidisciplinary management and immediate interventional endoscopy.<sup>1170</sup> Early risk assessment (Rockall scoring system or Blatchford score) is important. Combined pharmacological and endoscopic intervention is recommended for initial treatment of acute bleeding. Vasoactive drugs (preferably somatostatin or terlipressin) may improve control of haemorrhage and should be given immediately if variceal bleeding is suspected, with maintenance for 2–5 days.<sup>1171</sup>

Following stabilisation with fluid and blood support, emergency diagnostic endoscopy and endoscopic variceal treatment should be performed by a skilled endoscopist. Antibiotic prophylaxis forms an integral component of AVB treatment, commencing at admission and maintained for  $\geq$ 7 days.<sup>1172</sup> For acute refractory bleeding, rescue therapy should begin immediately. Balloon tamponade may be necessary and shunt therapies are often effective if initial treatment fails.

## 8.4.9.2 Fluid Resuscitation and pharmacological interventions

### Recommendations

Tranexamic acid reduces mortality but not rebleeding. B

rFVIIa should be used only as rescue therapy; we recommend against its routine use.  $1C\,$ 

Blood volume resuscitation should be undertaken as soon as possible with the aim of maintaining systolic blood pressure at around 100 mmHg. Optimal volume replacement remains controversial. No high-quality RCTs have compared crystalloids with colloids in patients with UGIB; however, in critical care, a meta-analysis and a large RCT suggest no differences between them.<sup>1173,1174</sup> Conservative volume replacement and transfusion is recommended. Because colloids remain intravascular for longer and reduce the total administration volume, they may be preferable. Vasoactive drugs have been shown to counteract portal pressure increases induced by volume expansion.

Blood transfusion should generally aim to maintain haemoglobin at 7–8 g dl<sup>-1</sup>. Abnormal PT/INR and platelet count correlate poorly with bleeding and TEG may provide more useful information.<sup>1175,1176</sup> In active bleeding, FFP should be given to maintain INR < 2 and platelets given to maintain platelet count >60 000  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>1102</sup> The value of antifibrinolytic drugs in treating UGIB is unclear. Metaanalyses suggest that tranexamic acid does not lower rates of rebleeding or surgery, but that it reduces mortality (relative risk 0.61);<sup>1177,1178</sup> large RCTs are needed to confirm these findings.

PT can be corrected using rFVIIa in CLD patients with UBIG. Benefits over standard therapy are not evident,<sup>1179</sup> although a possible indication exists in uncontrolled bleeding.<sup>1180</sup> European guidelines on rFVIIa recommend against its use in elective liver surgery or bleeding episodes in patients with Child-Pugh A cirrhosis. Efficacy in Child-Pugh B and C is uncertain and thromboembolic events remain a concern.<sup>1181</sup>

#### 8.4.10 Coagulopathy and renal disease

Patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) have haemostatic derangement with variable clinical manifestations.<sup>1182</sup> As CKD advances, procoagulant abnormalities (impaired tPA release, increased PAI-1, elevated fibrinogen and increased TF/FVIII) persist.<sup>1183</sup> Patients also develop platelet dysfunction, comprising impaired GPIIb/IIIa receptor function, altered release of ADP and serotonin from platelet granules, and faulty arachidonic acid and prostacyclin metabolism.<sup>1184</sup> Uraemic toxins may stimulate nitric oxide release, exacerbating platelet dysfunction. Correction of anaemia in CKD patients may improve platelet function.<sup>1185</sup>

## 8.4.10.1 Assessment of platelet function in chronic kidney disease

### Recommendation

Point-of-care tests of platelet function and bleeding time provide no reliable platelet function assessment in uraemia and no prediction of bleeding in this setting. C

CKD patients typically have normal/slightly reduced platelet counts. Skin bleeding time (SBT) has been used to assess platelet function, but this has poor reproducibility. The PFA-100 has better sensitivity and specificity than SBT.<sup>1186</sup> However, correlation has not been shown between PFA-100 closure times and bleeding complications after percutaneous renal biopsy.<sup>1187</sup> A review of point-of-care platelet function tests found inconsistent results, so the authors could not recommend any single test for bleeding risk assessment.<sup>1188</sup>

## 8.4.10.2 Correction of bleeding diathesis and treatment of bleeding in patients with renal failure

#### Recommendations

We suggest that conjugated oestrogen therapy should be used in uraemia.  $2C\,$ 

We suggest that desmopressin should be considered for reducing bleeding during surgery and for managing acute bleeding in uraemic patients. 2C

### There is no evidence to support use of rFVIIa in this setting.

Bleeding complications are common in acute and chronic renal failure.<sup>1189</sup> Modern dialysis techniques, combined with correction of anaemia using erythropoietin, have reduced spontaneous haemorrhage, although bleeding diathesis remains a problem in uraemic patients undergoing invasive/surgical procedures. Several measures are available to reduce bleeding risk in advanced CKD patients:

- 1. Renal replacement therapy (peritoneal dialysis or haemodialysis) improves platelet function by removing uraemic toxins.<sup>1185</sup>
- 2. Correction of anaemia in CKD with erythropoietin helps to prevent uraemic bleeding. Increased erythrocyte numbers improve platelet function,<sup>1190</sup> and decreased haemoglobin concentration may intensify platelet dysfunction.<sup>1191</sup>
- 3. Desmopressin can treat platelet dysfunction in uraemic patients. Desmopressin induces VWF release, improving platelet adhesion/aggregation. Desmopressin shortens bleeding time within 1 h, with effects lasting 4-8 h,<sup>1192</sup> and a single dose of  $0.3 \,\mu g \, \mathrm{kg}^{-1}$ , intravenously or subcutaneously, is effective. Doses of  $3 \,\mu g \, \mathrm{kg}^{-1}$  can also be administered nasally. Desmopressin is effective as both prophylaxis and treatment of perioperative bleeding.<sup>1193,1194</sup>
- 4. Cryoprecipitate has been used to treat uraemic bleeding. It is effective 1h after infusion, with maximum effect after 4–12 h. Up to 50% of uraemic patients fail to respond to cryoprecipitate. Cryoprecipitate carries a risk of pathogen transmission and is rarely used in CKD.<sup>1182</sup>
- 5. Conjugated oestrogens may reduce bleeding in uraemic patients,<sup>1195</sup> particularly those with gastrointestinal or intracranial bleeding or undergoing major surgery. An oral dose of 25 mg normalises SBT for 3–10 days.<sup>1196</sup> Low dose transdermal oestrogen (oestradiol 50–100 μg per day) reduces gastrointestinal bleeding and improves bleeding time.<sup>1197</sup>
- 6. Tranexamic acid shortens bleeding time in uraemic patients. However, it may accumulate in patients with renal insufficiency and there is no evidence of superiority over other therapies. Therefore, tranexamic acid should be considered only in the acute setting when other treatments have proved unsatisfactory.<sup>1185</sup>
- 7. Anecdotal reports suggest that rFVIIa may control bleeding in uraemic patients.<sup>1198</sup> However, there are no data supporting its safety, efficacy or dosing in this setting.

Eur J Anaesthesiol 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

#### 8.5 Paediatric surgery 8.5.1 Introduction

Severe perioperative bleeding in paediatric patients has typically been treated as it is in adults. Despite developmental changes in the coagulation system, haemostatic capacity is excellent in newborns and children.<sup>1199–1201</sup> Nonetheless, recognition of these developmental changes may improve the management of acquired paediatric coagulopathy.

### 8.5.2 Coagulation monitoring Recommendation

We suggest the use of perioperative coagulation analysis using viscoelastic point-of-care monitoring (ROTEM/TEG) for timely detection of coagulation defects including dilutional coagulopathy and hyperfibrinolysis. 2C

Diagnosing paediatric perioperative coagulopathy requires rapid, robust coagulation monitoring, alongside age specific reference ranges.<sup>1202–1205</sup> ROTEM and TEG can complement standard coagulation tests, especially in the perioperative setting.<sup>35,114,1136,1206,1207</sup> In a meta-analysis, TEG- or ROTEM-guided transfusion was shown not to affect overall mortality in patients with severe bleeding, but it was associated with significantly reduced bleeding.<sup>17</sup> Data supporting the effectiveness of ROTEM/TEG-guided paediatric coagulation therapy are limited.<sup>427,940,1208–1210</sup>

### 8.5.3 Fluid resuscitation

#### Recommendation

No clear recommendation can be made regarding the choice of perioperative fluid replacement in children. C

Despite age-dependent variations in coagulation factor levels, the pathophysiology underlying paediatric perioperative bleeding is comparable to adults. Dilutional coagulopathy is encountered in adults and children alike.<sup>427,943,1211–1213</sup> However, a negative impact of colloids on haemostasis should be considered and closely monitored. Cardiopulmonary bypass may cause additional haemostatic disturbances, including platelet dysfunction and excessive fibri-nolysis.<sup>1213</sup>

Fluid resuscitation can cause dilutional coagulopathy.<sup>1214–1216</sup> Pronounced coagulation disturbance following HES infusion<sup>1214,1216</sup> and minor disturbances following gelatin solution or albumin<sup>1214</sup> have been reported. A meta-analysis suggests that colloids are no more effective than crystalloids for reducing mortality in critically ill adults.<sup>1217</sup> Together, no clear recommendation can be made regarding choice of fluid for paediatric perioperative resuscitation.

### 8.5.4 Red blood cell transfusion Recommendation

We suggest that a critical haemoglobin threshold of  $8 g dl^{-1}$  for RBC transfusion may be safe in severe paediatric perioperative bleeding. **2**C

Haemoglobin concentrations vary with age and gender, and RBC transfusion should be tailored accordingly. The required transfusion volume can be calculated as: body weight (kg) x desired increment in haemoglobin concentration (g dl<sup>-1</sup>) x 5.<sup>1218</sup> In massive bleeding, haemoglobin concentrations should be maintained at  $\geq 8 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$ ,<sup>1219</sup> while in stable, critically ill children,  $7 \text{ g dl}^{-1}$  may suffice.<sup>1220</sup>

### 8.5.5 Platelet transfusion Recommendation

We suggest that transfusion of platelet concentrates may be considered if platelet count is  $<50\,000-100\,000\,\mu l^{-1}$ . **2C** 

In children and adults, transfusion thresholds for platelets vary according to the type of surgery and platelet functionality. Current data suggest maintaining platelet count at  $\geq$ 50 000-100 000 µl<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>1221</sup> Transfusion of one unit of platelet concentrate per 10 kg body weight, or 5 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> of apheresis platelet concentrate, should raise platelet count by 20 000-50 000 µl<sup>-1</sup>.

### 8.5.6 Fresh frozen plasma

### Recommendation

No clear recommendation can be made regarding the indication and dosing of FFP transfusion in bleeding children, but severe risks have been reported. C

Transfusion of FFP for treatment of severe bleeding is recommended by several guidelines but is not supported by high quality evidence.

No randomised, controlled trials have demonstrated that FFP controls paediatric perioperative bleeding. Prophylactic FFP in preterm babies appears not to reduce mortality or disability associated with haemorrhagic/ischaemic brain injury.<sup>1222</sup> Intraoperative FFP transfusion during paediatric craniofacial surgery may not reduce RBC transfusion or blood loss compared with albumin,<sup>1223,1224</sup> although other results do suggest improved postoperative coagulation.<sup>1225</sup> UK guidelines recommend avoiding FFP for simple volume replacement<sup>1226</sup> and one UK study questioned the overall clinical benefits of FFP.<sup>405</sup>

Guidelines typically recommend  $10-15 \text{ ml kg}^{-1}$  FFP for adults and children with acquired bleeding and prolonged aPTT or PT (>1.5 times normal).<sup>45,57,1219,1226,1227</sup> However, this may be insufficient to achieve haemostasis,<sup>402,403,1228</sup> and the potential for volume overload may preclude increased dosing. Side-effects of FFP include TRALI<sup>340,1229</sup> an increased mortality in children

with ALI, <sup>1230</sup> transfusion-associated cardiac overload, <sup>1231</sup> sepsis in severely burned paediatric patients, <sup>1232</sup> transfusion-related immunomodulation<sup>346</sup> and multiple organ failure.<sup>396</sup>

#### 8.5.7 Coagulation factor concentrates

Coagulation factor concentrate therapy for congenital disorders<sup>1221,1233</sup> has established the potential for paediatric coagulation factor concentrate therapy in acquired perioperative coagulopathies. However, there is a lack of randomised, controlled trial data in children.

#### 8.5.7.1 Fibrinogen concentrate Recommendations

We suggest that fibrinogen concentrate  $(30-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ or cryoprecipitate  $(5 \text{ ml kg}^{-1})$  may be used to increase plasma fibrinogen concentrations above trigger values of 1.5-2.0 g  $\Gamma^{-1}$  or FIBTEM MCF > 7 mm in bleeding children. **2C** 

We suggest that FFP may be used if no other fibrinogen source is available. 2C

Fibrinogen is the first clotting factor to reach critically low concentrations during life-threatening haemorrhage in adults and children. European guidelines <sup>45,562</sup> recommend higher thresholds  $(1.5-2 \text{ g l}^{-1})$  than international guidelines.<sup>1227</sup> Fibrinogen substitution can be performed using cryoprecipitate  $(5 \text{ ml kg}^{-1})$ , but this is not available in all countries due to safety concerns. FFP may not provide an adequate increase in plasma fibrinogen concentrations.<sup>1211</sup>. In contrast, fibrinogen concentrate  $(30 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$  has been used effectively to treat fibrinogen deficiency (ROTEM FIBTEM maximum clot firmness  $\leq 7 \text{ mm}$ ) during paediatric craniofacial surgery.<sup>427</sup> This is supported by evidence from prospective adult studies demonstrating the effectiveness of fibrinogen concentrate in aortic surgery, <sup>116</sup> radical cystectomy<sup>431</sup> and major orthopaedic surgery.<sup>411</sup>

Fibrinogen concentrate has a favourable safety profile.<sup>424,1234</sup>

### 8.5.7.2 Prothrombin complex concentrate Recommendation

Data for PCC in children are limited and no dose recommendation can be made. C

PCC can help to correct dilutional coagulopathy by increasing thrombin generation.<sup>457,460,664</sup> In adults,  $20-30 \text{ IU kg}^{-1}$  PCC should be sufficient to increase thrombin potential, but there is no evidence on the safety, effectiveness or optimal dosing of PCC for paediatric perioperative bleeding.

#### 8.5.7.3 Coagulation factor XIII Recommendation

No recommendation on the use of FXIII concentrate in bleeding children can be made.

Acquired FXIII deficiency appears prevalent in surgical and acute care settings.<sup>437</sup> A randomised trial in adults,<sup>448</sup> together with other investigations,<sup>410,439,443</sup> suggest maintaining FXIII levels above 50–60% of normal during perioperative bleeding. FXIII may be supplemented using FXIII concentrate  $(20 \text{ IU kg}^{-1})^{1235}$  or FFP transfusion. No data exist on paediatric FXIII supplementation.

### 8.5.7.4 Recombinant activated factor VII Recommendation

We recommend against the use of rFVIIa in children. 1C

rFVIIa has been described as useful for controlling severe bleeding in cardiac<sup>1236–1238</sup> and neurosurgical procedures in children,<sup>1008,1239</sup> although a prospective, randomised trial in paediatric cardiac surgery showed no difference in blood loss with rFVIIa versus placebo.<sup>1240</sup> Failure of rFVIIa to reduce RBC transfusion requirements has been reported in adult trauma patients.<sup>1241</sup> rFVIIa may be efficacious only if fibrinogen concentration and platelet count are sufficient.<sup>1242</sup> Undirected rFVIIa administration may potentially increase thromboembolic complications.<sup>554,667,717,1243,1244</sup>

#### 8.5.7.5 Desmopressin

#### Recommendation

We suggest against the routine use of desmospressin in the absence of mild haemophilia A or von Willebrand disease.  $2{\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 

Desmopressin has been shown to provide modest reductions in postoperative blood loss and transfusion requirements, without influencing mortality.<sup>1245</sup> Maximum effects are observed at a dose of  $0.3 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$ .<sup>1246</sup> However, paediatric studies in cardiac surgery<sup>1247,1248</sup> and other surgical settings<sup>1249–1251</sup> have shown no reduction in allogeneic blood transfusion after desmopressin administration.

### 8.5.7.6 Antifibrinolytics Recommendation

We suggest that perioperative antifibrinolytic therapy should be used to reduce blood loss and transfusion requirements in cardiac and non-cardiac paediatric surgery. 2A

In paediatric patients undergoing cardiac and scoliosis surgery with high bleeding risk, tranexamic acid markedly reduced perioperative blood loss and RBC transfusion.<sup>534,1252</sup> Similar effects have been reported for tranexamic acid in paediatric craniosynostosis surgery.<sup>537</sup> Optimal dosage remains uncertain, with wide variations in reported loading doses (10–100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and infusion rates (1–10 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). In paediatric cardiac surgery, repeated doses are suggested to be more efficacious than a single bolus.<sup>1253</sup>

### 9 ANTICOAGULATION AND ANTIPLATELET THERAPY

### 9.1 Introduction

Antithrombotic therapies have a range of indications and in this section we describe how they are used in anaesthesia and intensive care.

### 9.2 Antiplatelet agents

Perioperative interruption and maintenance of antiplatelet agents (APAs) are associated with increased cardiovascular or haemorrhagic complications, respectively. Guidelines for perioperative APA therapy are based on small observational studies, case reports and expert opinion, so recommendations are weak. In patients with coronary stents, the main risk factor for stent thrombosis is interruption of APA. If these patients require surgery, the optimum delay between stent implantation and surgery is unclear, as is the need for (or optimal duration of) interruption of APA therapy.

### 9.2.1 Aspirin

Aspirin and other NSAIDs inhibit platelets by inactivating platelet cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1). Although the effect is irreversible, NSAIDs are weak antiplatelet drugs because they affect only one of the many platelet activation pathways. Randomised trials have shown that aspirin is effective at doses of 50-100 mg per day. There is no convincing evidence that doses >325 mg per day are more effective in reducing the risk of serious vascular events, and higher doses may increase the risk of adverse events (e.g. thrombotic or gastrointestinal).<sup>1254</sup>

Peak plasma aspirin concentrations occur 30-40 min after ingestion (or 3-4h for enteric coated aspirin). Platelet function is inhibited within 1 h. The half-life of aspirin is 15-20 min, although platelet inhibition lasts for the lifespan of affected platelets.<sup>1254</sup>

Aspirin is indicated and effective for secondary prevention of vascular events. Long-term aspirin therapy reduces the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke or vascular death among high-risk patients (e.g. those with chronic stable angina, prior myocardial infarction, unstable angina, transient ischaemic attack or minor stroke). In such patients, a major vascular event is avoided in 3-5% of individuals over 30 months.

### Recommendations

We recommend that aspirin therapy should continue perioperatively in most surgical settings, especially cardiac surgery. **1C** 

### Where aspirin withdrawal is considered, we recommend a time interval of 5 days. **1C**

Treatment discontinuation increases thrombotic risk; this risk should always be discussed. Following aspirin withdrawal, aspirin treatment should resume as soon as possible postoperatively to prevent platelet activation. The first postoperative aspirin should be a loading dose, given no later than 24 h after skin closure.

Platelet aggregation is restored approximately 4 days after aspirin discontinuation. Point-of-care testing has demonstrated significant recovery of platelet aggregation within 48 h after aspirin cessation, with baseline values re-established within 5 days.<sup>1255</sup> Experimental studies have reported enhanced platelet aggregation after interruption of aspirin.<sup>1256,1257</sup> Platelet thrombi produced after aspirin withdrawal appear more resistant to physiological fibrinolysis. Aspirin or anticoagulant withdrawal has been linked to myocardial infarction or stroke.

In a cohort of acute coronary syndrome (ACS) patients, Collet *et al.*<sup>1258</sup> reported ACS to be associated with aspirin interruption in 5.4% of patients. Ischaemic events were typically observed 12 days after aspirin withdrawal. Other reports associate aspirin interruption with thrombotic events in patients with a history of coronary heart disease, stroke<sup>1259</sup> and peripheral artery disease.<sup>1260</sup>

Surgical bleeding risk associated with APA therapy has been poorly evaluated. In patients undergoing total hip replacement, preoperative aspirin was associated with only a minor increase in bleeding compared with placebo (Pulmonary Embolism Prevention [PEP] trial).<sup>1261</sup>

Systematic reviews have analysed aspirin-associated bleeding risks in non-cardiac surgery. Burger *et al.*<sup>1262</sup> pooled data from 49 590 patients (14 981 on aspirin). Aspirin increased the rate of bleeding complications 1.5-fold but did not increase their severity (except in intracranial surgery and possibly transurethral prostatect-omy). Giannarini *et al.*<sup>1263</sup> showed that continued low-dose aspirin (100 mg per day) in men undergoing transrectal prostate biopsy did not increase the incidence of mild bleeding, although the durations of self-limiting haematuria and rectal bleeding were prolonged.

In patients referred for transurethral prostatectomy, open prostatectomy and transurethral resection of bladder tumour, postoperative bleeding did not differ significantly between patients in whom aspirin was initiated early (24 h) or late (3 weeks) after surgery.<sup>1264</sup> Several other articles report similar findings. In general, aspirin should not be withdrawn perioperatively unless the risk of bleeding exceeds the thrombotic risk from withholding the drug. Aspirin is administered preoperatively for most vascular procedures. The Eighth ACCP Guidelines strongly recommend aspirin for carotid endarterectomy; aspirin, 75-325 mg per day should be given preoperatively and continued indefinitely (grade of recommendation: 1A).<sup>1265</sup> Two studies have since been published. Oscarsson *et al.*<sup>1266</sup> conducted a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial to compare the effect of low-dose aspirin with that of placebo on myocardial damage, cardiovascular and bleeding complications in high-risk patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery.

Aspirin (75 mg) or placebo was given 7 days before surgery and continued until the third postoperative day. One hundred and nine of the patients received aspirin and 111 received placebo. Treatment with aspirin resulted in a 7.2% absolute risk reduction (95% CI, 1.3-13%) for postoperative major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE). The relative risk reduction was 80% (95% CI, 9.2–95%). No significant differences in bleeding complications were seen between the two groups. The STRATAGEM study was a randomised, multicentre, blinded study in which 145 patients in the aspirin group were treated for 10 days preoperatively, and 146 patients were in the placebo group.<sup>1267</sup> No significant difference was observed in either the primary outcome score, or at day 30, in the number of major complications between groups. In addition, no difference in major bleeding was observed. In summary, these studies showed that there was no risk in continuing aspirin perioperatively.

#### Recommendation

For intra- or postoperative bleeding clearly related to aspirin, we suggest that platelet transfusion be considered (dose:  $0.7 \times 10^{11}$  [i.e. two standard concentrates] per 7 kg body weight in adults). **2C** 

Severe bleeding in patients on aspirin may require immediate platelet transfusion.<sup>1075</sup>

### 9.2.2 Thienopyridines: clopidogrel and prasugrel

The thienopyridine derivatives ticlopidine and clopidogrel inhibit ADP-induced platelet activation by binding covalently to the P2Y12 receptor. These agents are more potent than aspirin, although platelet activation remains possible with high concentrations of agonists acting through phospholipase C.

Clopidogrel is absorbed rapidly and metabolised extensively. The main systemic metabolite is the carboxylic acid derivative SR 26334. The plasma elimination halflife of SR 26334 is approximately 8 h.<sup>1254</sup>

Prasugrel is a new thienopyridine agent and a highly potent APA. It requires conversion to an active metabolite before binding to the platelet P2Y12 receptor, and its antiplatelet activity is more rapid, consistent and pronounced than that of clopidogrel.<sup>1254</sup> It is rapidly absorbed and the hepatic CYP system converts it into the active form. The active metabolite concentration peaks 30 min after administration and has an elimination half-life of approximately 3.7 h. Differences in metabolic processing result in higher concentrations of active metabolite and therefore improved inhibition of platelet aggregation with prasugrel compared with clopidogrel.<sup>1254</sup> No data are available regarding perioperative use of prasugrel. Its antiplatelet effect lasts for the platelet's lifespan ( $\geq 7$  days). Recommendations for clopidogrel should be applicable to prasugrel, except for the duration of withdrawal (no more than 7 days for prasugrel).

#### Recommendations

Clopidogrel increases perioperative bleeding. In cases of increased bleeding risk, we recommend that it should be withdrawn for no more than 5 days. **1**C

Prasugrel increases perioperative bleeding. In cases of increased bleeding risk, we recommend that it should be withdrawn for no more than 7 days. **1C** 

We recommend that antiplatelet agent therapy should resume as soon as possible postoperatively to prevent platelet activation. **1C** 

We suggest that the first postoperative dose of clopidogrel or prasugrel should be given no later than 24 h after skin closure. We also suggest that this first dose should not be a loading dose. 2C

Several publications have described perioperative haemorrhagic complications associated with clopidogrel, and the risk may increase when clopidogrel is combined with aspirin. However, such risks may be acceptable if withdrawal is also associated with a high risk of thrombotic complications.

A study of clopidogrel in healthy volunteers showed high interindividual variability in platelet inhibition during treatment and recovery of platelet function after discontinuation. This may be explained in part by genetic polymorphism of CYP450 involved in the metabolism of clopidogrel. A low level of inhibition of platelet aggregation may be associated with an increased incidence of cardiac events, but no evidence was identified establishing a relationship between clopidogrel platelet inhibition and bleeding.

In a porcine study, clopidogrel prolonged ear-immersion bleeding time more than did aspirin.<sup>1268</sup> However, no clinical comparison of aspirin and clopidogrel has been performed in surgical patients.

### Recommendation

We recommend postponement of elective surgery following coronary stenting (at least 6 to 12 weeks for bare metal stent and one year for drug-eluting stents). **1C** 

Kaluza *et al.*<sup>1269</sup> reported that surgery performed within 4 weeks after insertion of a bare metal stent (BMS) is associated with 20% mortality, caused either by ischaemic events following APA interruption or haemorrhagic events while APA therapy was maintained. Other studies confirm that the first month following BMS placement is a high-risk period for non-cardiac surgery. Nuttall *et al.*<sup>1270</sup> reported a postoperative cardiac event rate of 10.5% for surgery within 1 month after stent insertion, versus 3.8% between 1 and 3 months, and 2.8% after 90 days. A global consensus statement recommends

avoidance of non-emergency non-cardiac surgery during the first 4–6 weeks following BMS placement.

### Recommendations

We recommend that a multidisciplinary team meeting should decide on the perioperative use of antiplatelet agents in urgent and semi-urgent surgery. **1C** 

We suggest that urgent or semi-urgent surgery should be performed under aspirin/clopidogrel or aspirin/prasugrel combination therapy if possible, or at least under aspirin alone. 2C

Clopidogrel is approved for reduction of atherosclerotic events following recent stroke, recent myocardial infarction or established peripheral arterial disease. The clinical benefit of clopidogrel and aspirin, versus aspirin alone, has been confirmed in patients experiencing percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) or acute myocardial infarction. The benefit of dual antiplatelet therapy versus aspirin alone in patients with ACS is around one-third of the benefit of aspirin versus no antiplatelet therapy. In the future, prasugrel may be used similarly to clopidogrel, but currently, prasugrel is 'co-administered with acetylsalicylic acid for the prevention of atherothrombotic events in patients with ACS undergoing primary or delayed PCI'. A large phase III study (TRITON) compared prasugrel with clopidogrel in 13 608 patients with ACS scheduled to undergo PCI. Prasugrel reduced rates of ischaemic events including stent thrombosis, but increased the risk of major/fatal bleeding.886

Drug-eluting stents (DESs) have been associated with stent thromboses at a rate of 1% per year.<sup>1271</sup> Mortality for this complication is 40-50% and the major risk factor for stent thrombosis may be APA withdrawal.<sup>1272</sup> Eisenberg et al.<sup>1273</sup> identified 161 cases of late or very late stent thrombosis; 19 cases occurred in patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy at the time of the event. The median time to event was 7 days if both APAs were stopped simultaneously, 7 days if a thienopyridine was withdrawn first with no ill effect and aspirin subsequently stopped, and 122 days if the thienopyridine was removed but acetylsalicylic acid was maintained. Maintaining APAs throughout the procedure appears to be the safest approach. Among DES patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery, the period of risk for major cardiac events seems to be 1 year.<sup>1274</sup> The incidence of perioperative stent thrombosis remains controversial. Godet et al.<sup>1275</sup> reported two stent thromboses in 96 DES patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery, while Schouten et al.1276 observed three late stent thromboses in 99 DES patients undergoing invasive procedures. The risk of stent thrombosis seems to increase over 50-fold during the perioperative period, compared with the annual cumulative risk (0.5-1.5%). Finally, Albaladejo et al.<sup>1158</sup> observed major postoperative cardiovascular complications in 10.9% of coronary stent patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery. Preoperative risk factors were anaemia, severe renal failure, urgent surgery, high-risk surgery and interruption of antiplatelet treatment for more than 5 days preoperatively.

The Triton TIMI 38 study showed increased haemorrhagic complications in CABG patients treated with dual antiplatelet therapy including prasugrel, compared with patients treated with clopidogrel.<sup>886</sup>

#### Recommendation

We suggest that platelet transfusion should be considered (dose:  $0.7 \times 10^{11}$  [i.e. two standard concentrates] per 7 kg body weight in adults) in cases of intra- or postoperative bleeding clearly related to clopidogrel or prasugrel. **2C** 

No studies of platelet transfusion for reversal of clopidogrel or prasugrel treatment were retrieved.

### 9.2.3 Ticagrelor

In contrast to the thienopyridines, ticagrelor acts directly on the P2Y12 receptor rather than requiring cytochrome P450 biotransformation. Metabolites of ticagrelor are also active.<sup>1277</sup> Like prasugrel, ticagrelor provides faster (<2 h), greater (approximately 70%) and more consistent P2Y12 inhibition than does clopidogrel (30–40%). Ticagrelor has a rapid onset of action, reversible binding and relatively short duration of action (48–72 h), necessitating twice-daily oral administration. The half-life of the active compound is 12 h. Following cessation, inhibition of platelet aggregation declines to <10% within 4.5 days.<sup>1277</sup>

### Recommendations

According to pharmacological characteristics, we suggest that the management of ticagrelor may be comparable to clopidogrel (i.e. withdrawal interval of 5 days). **2C** 

Platelet transfusion may be ineffective for treating bleeding clearly related to ticagrelor when given 12 h before. 2C

The PLATO trial conducted in 18 000 ACS patients showed reduced mortality from vascular causes, myocardial infarction and stroke with ticagrelor compared with clopidogrel.<sup>887</sup> Ticagrelor increased the rate of bleeding unrelated to surgical procedures but did not increase the overall rate of major bleeding.

No studies on efficacy of platelet transfusion in patients treated with ticagrelor were retrieved. When ticagrelor has been administered within the preceding 12 h, its presence in plasma may render platelet transfusion ineffective.

#### 9.3 Anticoagulant agents 9.3.1 Heparin

Heparin is used in clinical practice as unfractionated heparin (UFH) and low-molecular weight heparins (LMWHs) and it is necessary to distinguish between the two when making recommendations.

### 9.3.1.1 Unfractionated heparin

UFH is a heterogeneous mixture of branched glycosaminoglycans; its mean molecular weight is approximately 15000 Da (range 3000–30000 Da).<sup>1278</sup> UFH binds antithrombin, forming a complex which inactivates thrombin and coagulation factors Xa, IXa, XIa and XIIa.<sup>1278</sup>

UFH may be administered intravenously or subcutaneously. With intravenous administration, the half-life is >1 h (70–100 min). With subcutaneous administration, the onset of anticoagulation is delayed by approximately 1 h and peak plasma concentrations are reached at 3 h. Clearance occurs via binding to endothelial cells and macrophages, followed by renal metabolism. The process is non-linear and dose-dependent with a half-life after the intravenous administration of a therapeutic dose ranging from 70–100 min.<sup>1278</sup>

Indications for UFH include perioperative thromboprophylaxis (US more than Europe), deep vein thrombosis (DVT) or pulmonary embolism, anticoagulation in CPB (extracorporeal pump) or haemodialysis, coronary pathology (unstable angina, myocardial infarction) and disseminated intravascular coagulation.

#### Recommendations

We recommend that severe bleeding associated with intravenous UFH should be treated with intravenous protamine at a dose of 1 mg per 100 IU UFH given in the preceding 2-3h. 1A

We suggest that severe bleeding associated with subcutaneous UFH unresponsive to intravenous protamine at a dose of 1 mg per 100 IU UFH could be treated by continuous administration of intravenous protamine, with dose guided by aPTT. 2C

Rapid, effective reversal of UFH can be achieved using intravenous protamine (1 mg protamine neutralises 100 IU of UFH). When UFH has been infused continuously, the dose of protamine should be calculated from the UFH dose administered during the preceding 2-3 h. Protamine can cause hypotension and bradycardia, but slow administration (over 1-3 min) reduces the risks. Protamine is less effective with subcutaneously administered UFH, necessitating continuous and prolonged infusion of protamine.

Activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) and/or the plasma concentration of anti-FXa are typically used to monitor the effect of usual therapeutic doses of UFH;<sup>1279</sup> for higher doses (e.g. in cardiac surgery), activated clotting time is the preferred measurement.

### 9.3.1.2 Low molecular weight heparins

LMWHs are obtained from UFH by chemical or enzymatic depolymerisation. They are widely employed in clinical practice due to their favourable risk/benefit profile, once-daily dosing and reduced requirement for monitoring. LMWHs include bemiparin, certoparin, dalteparin, enoxaparin, nadroparin, reviparin and tinzaparin. These products differ in molecular weight, pharmacokinetics, anti-FIIa/anti-FXa activity and approved indications, but recommendations apply equally to all LMWHs.<sup>1280</sup>

LMWHs bind to and activate antithrombin. Unlike UFH, not all LMWH molecules can inhibit thrombin (only those with  $\geq$ 18 saccharides).<sup>1281</sup> The anticoagulant action of LMWH is therefore based mainly on FX inhibition. Unlike UFH, LMWHs have low platelet interaction.

LMWHs have almost 100% bioavailability after subcutaneous administration. Peak plasma concentration is reached approximately 3–4 h after administration and the elimination half-life is around 4–6 h (assuming normal renal function).<sup>1281</sup>

Monitoring the anticoagulant effects of LMWH is usually unnecessary and can be achieved by measuring plasma anti-FXa activity (only necessary in some special cases such as severe renal insufficiency, morbid obese patients or pregnancy).

#### Recommendations

We suggest that severe bleeding related to subcutaneous LMWH should be treated with intravenous protamine at a dose of 1 mg per 100 anti-FXa units of LMWH administered. **2C** 

We suggest that severe bleeding associated with subcutaneous LMWH and unresponsive to initial administration of protamine could be treated with a second dose of protamine (0.5 mg per 100 anti-FXa units of LMWH administered). **2C** 

Protamine administration does not completely reverse LMWH anticoagulation; although it neutralises anti-FIIa activity, it has limited effects on anti-FXa activity. This is because protamine binds poorly to small LMWH fragments with 8–14 saccharides.<sup>1282</sup> The clinical significance of this is unclear and there are few data describing protamine in LMWH-related human haemorrhage. In clinical practice, protamine (1 mg per 100 anti-FXa units of LMWH administered; conversion of enoxaparin: 40 mg = 4000 international anti-FXa units) is suggested if haemorrhage occurs within 8h of LMWH administration. A second dose of protamine (0.5 mg per 100 anti-FXa units administered) may be administered if bleeding continues.

### 9.3.2 Fondaparinux

Fondaparinux is a synthetic analogue of the pentasaccharide sequence found in UFH or LMWH, with selective action against FXa.<sup>1283</sup> It binds to antithrombin and enhances antithrombin inhibition of FXa. Thrombocytopaenia is unlikely to occur in patients receiving fondaparinux.<sup>1284</sup>

Fondaparinux is indicated for preventing venous thromboembolism (VTE), for initial treatment of VTE and for myocardial infarction.

The anti-FXa activity of fondaparinux is higher than that of LMWH. Administered subcutaneously, fondaparinux has an elimination half-life of 17 h in patients without renal impairment (21 h in elderly patients),<sup>1285</sup> allowing once-daily administration. Peak plasma concentration occurs 1.7 h after subcutaneous administration.

Routine coagulation monitoring is not recommended but, as with LMWH, it may occasionally be useful to determine anti-FXa activity (e.g. patients with renal insufficiency).

### Recommendation

We suggest that the administration of rFVIIa could be considered to treat severe bleeding associated with subcutaneous administration of fondaparinux (off-label treatment). **2C** 

No drug acts as an antidote to fondaparinux. rFVIIa has been proposed to control severe bleeding, but no evidence exists to support this.<sup>1286</sup>

### 9.3.3 Vitamin K antagonists (VKAs)

VKAs are used in patients with mechanical heart valves, atrial fibrillation or venous thromboembolic disease. Long-acting VKAs are used more commonly than acenocoumarol (Table 2).

### Recommendations

We recommend that vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) should not be interrupted for skin surgery, dental and other oral procedures, gastric and colonic endoscopies (even if biopsy is scheduled, but not polypectomy), nor for most ophthalmic surgery (mainly anterior chamber, e.g. cataract), although vitreoretinal surgery is sometimes performed in VKA-treated patients. **1C** 

We recommend that for low-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with CHADS2 score  $\leq$ 2 and patients treated for >3 months for a non-recurrent VTE) undergoing procedures requiring INR < 1.5, VKA should be stopped 5 days before surgery. No bridging is needed. Measure INR on the day before surgery and give 5 mg oral vitamin K if INR exceeds 1.5. 1C

We recommend bridging therapy for high-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with a CHADS2 score >2, patients with recurrent VTE treated for <3 months, patients with a mechanical valve). Day 5: last VKA dose; Day 4: no heparin; Days 3 and 2: therapeutic subcutaneous LMWH twice daily or subcutaneous UFH twice or thrice daily; Day 1: hospitalisation and INR measurement; Day 0: surgery. **1**C

We recommend that for groups 1 and 2 above, VKAs should be restarted during the evening after the procedure. Subcutaneous LMWH should be given postoperatively until the target INR is observed in two measurements. **1C** 

We recommend that for group 3 above, heparin (UFH or LMWH) should be resumed 6–48 h after the procedure. VKA can restart when surgical haemostasis is achieved. **1**C

We recommend that in VKA-treated patients undergoing an emergency procedure or developing a bleeding complication, PCC (25 IU FIX  $kg^{-1}$ ) should be given. **1B** 

VKA treatment is monitored by measuring INR.<sup>592,1024</sup> Before surgical intervention, INR should be brought below 1.5. VKA treatment may be interrupted before elective surgery and resumed after surgery (with the first meal). Postoperative heparin is given if the INR is <2. For urgent surgery, PCC (25 IU FIX kg<sup>-1</sup>) should be given, and additional administration of 5 mg vitamin K1 (intravenous, subcutaneous or oral) is recommended.

### 9.3.4 Oral inhibitor of activated thrombin

Dabigatran etexilate (Pradaxa, Boehringer Ingelheim, Ingelheim am Rhein, Germany) is the only available oral antithrombin drug, and is licensed throughout Europe for use in orthopaedic surgery. The bioavailability of dabigatran etexilate is 6–8%, its T<sub>max</sub> is 2 h and its terminal half-life is 14–17 h. Dabigitran is renally eliminated and exhibits no interaction with food.<sup>1284</sup>

Two pivotal orthopaedic surgical studies have shown the efficacy of once-daily oral dabigatran (150 mg or 220 mg) to be as effective as subcutaneous enoxaparin.<sup>1287,1288</sup> Both drugs had similar safety profiles, with no signs of hepatotoxicity. A third study, comparing identical doses of dabigatran and enoxaparin (30 mg twice daily), failed to demonstrate equivalence, because more distal thromboses were observed with dabigatran.<sup>1289</sup> However, rates of proximal thrombosis, major bleeding and symptomatic events did not differ between dabigatran and enoxaparin.

The efficacy of dabigatran has been demonstrated in atrial fibrillation patients; in a large study with a 2-year follow-up, the frequency of primary outcomes (stroke or systemic embolism) was 1.53% per year with 110 mg dabigatran twice-daily and 1.11% per year with 150 mg

Table 2	Vitamin	к	antagonists
	VILGIIIIII	••	antagomists

VKA	Molecule	Half-life	Steady state	Initial dose	Duration
Short half-life	Acenocoumarol (Sintrom <sup>®</sup> )	10 h	2–3 days	4 mg	48-96 h
Long half-life	Fluindione (Previscan®)	30-40 h	3-4 days	20 mg	48-72 h
	Warfarin (Coumadin®)	35–80 h	3-6 days	5 mg	96-120h
	Phenprocoumone (Marcoumar <sup>®</sup> )	3-4 days	6 days	6 mg	120-150h

*Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

dabigatran twice-daily compared with 1.69% per year for warfarin.<sup>1290</sup> Relative risk with 110/150 mg dabigatran was 0.91 and 0.66, respectively (P < 0.001 for non-inferiority and superiority). Rates of major bleeding were 2.71% per year, 3.11% per year and 3.36% per year with 110 mg dabigatran, 150 mg dabigatran and warfarin, respectively.

Elsewhere, recurrent VTE was observed in 2.4% of patients receiving dabigatran (150 mg twice-daily), compared with 2.1% of patients receiving warfarin.<sup>1291</sup> Similar rates of major bleeding episodes were observed (1.6% vs. 1.9%). Overall, fixed-dose dabigatran was as effective as warfarin, had a similar safety profile and did not require laboratory monitoring.

The lack of biological monitoring with dabigatran could be considered as progress but may also bring insecurity to physicians. A thrombin inhibitor assay (Hemoclot; Aniara, West Chester, OH) is now available to monitor dabigatran therapy.<sup>1292</sup>

No antidote is available for dabigatran etexilate. Dialysis has been shown to be effective to remove dabigatran. Treatments proposed for bleeding include PCC and rFVIIa, but neither has been tested clinically. Van Ryn *et al.*<sup>1292</sup> investigated dabigatran neutralisation using a selective antibody; clinical data are awaited. In emergencies, it may be advisable to wait for two half-lives (34 h) for dabigatran concentrations to reach acceptable concentrations. However, given widely varying interindividual elimination rates, this is merely a fallback solution.

#### 9.3.5 Oral direct factor Xa inhibitors

Several activated factor X (FXa) inhibitors are now marketed or in advanced stages of development.

### 9.3.5.1 Rivaroxaban

Rivaroxaban (Xarelto; Bayer Schering Pharma, Berlin-Wedding, Germany) is an orally active oxazolidone derivative and the first available oral anti-FXa agent. It is a potent anticoagulant with a wide therapeutic window. Rivaroxaban has a bioavailability of 80% and a  $T_{max}$  of 2-4h.<sup>1293</sup> Rivaroxaban inhibits FXa ( $K_i$  0.4 nM) and binds to both free and clot-bound FXa. Two-thirds of rivaroxaban is renally eliminated; its half-life is 9–13 h.

The incidence of thromboembolic events was 49% lower (9.6% vs. 18.9%) in knee arthroplasty patients who received rivaroxaban (10 mg once-daily) compared with 40 mg enoxaparin (RECORD3 study).<sup>1294</sup> An increased bleeding incidence was not observed with rivaroxaban. In the RECORD1 study (35 days of prophylaxis after hip surgery), the primary efficacy outcome occurred in 1.1% of patients who received rivaroxaban compared with 3.7% in the enoxaparin group (P < 0.001).<sup>1295</sup> Major VTE occurred in 0.2% of patients receiving rivaroxaban and 2.0% of patients receiving enoxaparin (P < 0.001). Major bleeding affected 0.3% of patients receiving rivaroxaban compared with 0.1% receiving enoxaparin (P = 0.18),

although bleeding at the surgical site was not classified as major bleeding. By integrating the surgical site, it was found that haemorrhage occurred more frequently with rivaroxaban than with enoxaparin.<sup>1296</sup>

A study of high-risk patients with atrial fibrillation (ROCKET-AF trial) used a composite endpoint of allcause stroke and non-central nervous system systemic embolism.<sup>894</sup> Rivaroxaban 20 mg once-daily, showed comparable benefits to warfarin (2.12% vs. 2.42%; P < 0.001 for non-inferiority). Rates of major bleeding were comparable between rivaroxaban and warfarin (3.60% vs. 3.45%; P = 0.576). Compared with warfarin, patients receiving rivaroxaban suffered fewer intracranial haemorrhages (0.49% vs. 0.74%; P = 0.019), fewer critical organ bleeds (0.82% vs. 1.18%; P = 0.007) and fewer bleeding-related deaths (0.24% vs. 0.48%; P = 0.003).

Oral rivaroxaban alone (15 mg twice-daily for 3 weeks, then 20 mg once-daily) has been compared with subcutaneous enoxaparin followed by oral VKA (warfarin or acenocoumarol) for 3, 6 or 12 months for the treatment of DVT (EINSTEIN DVT study).<sup>1297</sup> Rivaroxaban displayed non-inferiority in the primary efficacy outcome (36 events [2.1%] vs. 51 events [3.0%] with enoxaparin/ VKA; P < 0.001). The principal safety outcome occurred in 8.1% of patients in each group.

Safety will remain a concern until high quality data are available. A specific anti-FXa activity test will become available for monitoring rivaroxaban therapy.<sup>897</sup> At the present time, the European Medicines Agency approval limitations should be adhered to.

No antidote to rivaroxaban is available. Proposed therapy for major bleeding includes PCC and rFVIIa. No patient data exists which support this proposal, although PCC effectiveness has been demonstrated in healthy volunteers.<sup>1081</sup> FXa analogues, which could potentially reverse anti-FXa agents, are currently being developed. In emergencies, it may be necessary to wait for two halflives (14–26 h) to allow rivaroxaban to fall to acceptable concentrations. However, this is merely a fallback solution, given interindividual variability in rivaroxaban elimination rates.

#### 9.3.5.2 Apixaban

Apixaban (Eliquis; Bristol-Myers Squibb, New York, NY) is an oral, reversible, direct FXa inhibitor related to rivaroxaban. Its bioavailability is 51-85%,  $K_i$  is 0.08 nM and half-life is 10-15 h.<sup>1293</sup> Elimination of apixaban is both hepatic/biliary (75%) and renal (25%).

In phase III studies, apixaban (2.5 mg twice-daily) was administered following rheumatological surgery. In total knee arthroplasty (ADVANCE-1 study),<sup>1298</sup> the rate of the primary efficacy outcome was 9.0% with apixaban and 8.8% with enoxaparin (30 mg twice-daily). Bleeding incidence was 2.9% with apixaban and 4.3% with enoxaparin

(P=0.03). However, apixaban did not meet the noninferiority criteria because the overall rate of primary events was lower than anticipated.

The ADVANCE-2 study, also in knee replacement surgery, compared apixaban with 40 mg enoxaparin, administered once-daily.<sup>1299</sup> The primary efficacy outcome occurred in 15.1% of patients receiving apixaban and 24.4% receiving enoxaparin (P < 0.001). Major VTE occurred in 1.1% of patients treated with apixaban and 2.2% of patients treated with enoxaparin (relative risk 0.50; P = 0.019). Clinically relevant bleeding occurred in 3.5% of patients receiving apixaban and 4.8% of patients given enoxaparin (P = 0.09). In hip replacement patients (ADVANCE-3 study), the relative risk reduction with apixaban was 64% (1.4% vs. 3.9%, P < 0.0001).<sup>1300</sup> Apixaban was also statistically superior to a 40 mg dose of enoxaparin for preventing major VTE (0.45% vs. 1.14%; P = 0.0054). Bleeding event rates were similar for both treatment groups.

A large development programme for apixaban is now almost completed. In patients with atrial fibrillation, the AVERROES study<sup>892</sup> was stopped prematurely because apixaban reduced the risk of stroke or systemic embolism by 57% compared with aspirin, with no significant increase in major haemorrhage risk. The ARISTOTLE study<sup>1301</sup> compared apixaban and warfarin in 18 201 patients with atrial fibrillation. The rate of the primary outcome (ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke, or systemic embolism) was 1.27% per year in the apixaban group, compared with 1.60% per year in the warfarin group (hazard ratio with apixaban, 0.79; 95% CI, 0.66-0.95; P = 0.01 for superiority). The rate of major bleeding was 2.13% per year in the apixaban group, compared with 3.09% per year in the warfarin group (hazard ratio, 0.69; 95% CI, 0.60–0.80; *P* < 0.001), and the rates of death from any cause were 3.52% and 3.94%, respectively (hazard ratio, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.80–0.99; P=0.047).

For biological monitoring, assessment of anti-FXa may be useful (Table 3).

No antidote to apixaban is available. FXa analogues, which could potentially reverse anti-FXa agents, are currently under development. In emergencies, it may be necessary to wait for two half-lives (20–30 h), to allow apixaban to reach acceptable concentrations. Given wide

interindividual variability in the elimination rate of apixaban, this is merely a fallback solution.

### 9.3.5.3 Edoxaban

Edoxaban (Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) is the third oral anti-FXa agent to be marketed. After oral administration, peak plasma concentrations of edoxaban are achieved within 1-2 h. Terminal elimination half-life for doses of 30-150 mg is typically 8-10 h, with 36-45%eliminated renally.<sup>1293</sup>

Oral edoxaban (15–90 mg once-daily) was compared with subcutaneous dalteparin (5000 IU once-daily) following hip replacement surgery. Both drugs were given for 7–10 days.<sup>1302</sup> Frequencies of VTE were 28.2%, 21.2%, 5.2%, and 10.6% for 15, 30, 60 and 90 mg edoxaban oncedaily, respectively (statistically significant dose response, P < 0.001), and 43.8% in patients receiving dalteparin (P < 0.005). Bleeding incidence was low and comparable between groups.

No antidote to edoxaban is available. FXa analogues, which could potentially reverse the effects of anti Xa agents, are being developed. In emergencies, it may be necessary to wait for two half-lives (10-22 h) to allow edoxaban to reach acceptable concentrations. However, given wide variability in interindividual elimination rates, this is merely a fallback solution.

# 9.3.6 Management of patients scheduled for a procedure and treated with new oral anticoagulant agents (emergency procedures excluded)

Physicians from outside the field may be unaware of the pharmacological characteristics of many new oral anticoagulant agents (NOAs). A multidisciplinary, international group of physicians (Groupe d'Intérêt en Hémostase Périopératoire) has issued proposals for managing patients treated with NOAs.<sup>1078</sup> As for VKA therapy, three patient groups are considered.

### Recommendations

We recommend to assess creatinine clearance in patients receiving NOAs and being scheduled for surgery. **1B** 

We suggest that NOAs should not be interrupted for skin surgery, dental and other oral procedures, gastric and colonic endoscopies (even if biopsy is scheduled, but not polypectomy), nor for most ophthalmic surgery, (mainly

Table 3 Comparison of new oral antithrombotic agents	omparison of new oral antithrombol	tic agents	
--	------------------------------------	------------	--

	Rivaroxaban	Apixaban	Edoxaban	Dabigatran Etexilate
Target	Factor Xa	Factor Xa	Factor Xa	Thrombin
Brand name	Xarelto	Eliquis	Lixiana	Pradaxa
Route of administration	Oral	Oral	Oral	Oral
Bioavailability	80%	51-85%	60%	6-8%
T <sub>max</sub>	2-4h	Зh	1–3h	2 h
Half-life	9-13h	9-14h	5-11h	14-17h
Frequency of administration	Once-daily	Twice-daily	Once-daily	Once- or twice-daily
Renal excretion	66% (half inactive)	25%	36-45%	80%
Antidote	No	No	No	No

Eur J Anaesthesiol 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

anterior chamber, e.g. cataract), although vitreoretinal surgery is sometimes performed in NOA-treated patients. 2C

We recommend that for low-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with CHADS2 score  $\leq 2$ , patients treated for >3 months for a non-recurrent VTE) undergoing procedures requiring normal coagulation (normal diluted thrombin time or normal specific anti-FXa level), NOAs can be stopped 5 days before surgery. No bridging therapy is needed. **1**C

In patients treated with rivaroxaban, apixaban, edoxaban and in patients treated with dabigatran in which creatinine clearance is higher than 50 ml min<sup>-1</sup>, we suggest bridging therapy for high-risk patients (e.g. atrial fibrillation patients with a CHADS2 score >2, patients with recurrent VTE treated for <3 months). Day -5: last NOA dose; Day -4: no heparin; Day -3: therapeutic dose of LMWH or UFH; Day -2: subcutaneous LMWH or UFH; Day -1: last injection of subcutaneous LMWH (in the morning, i.e. 24 h before the procedure) or subcutaneous UFH twice daily (i.e. last dose 12 h before the procedure), hospitalisation and measurement of diluted thrombin time or specific anti-FXa; Day 0: surgery. **2**C

In patients treated with dabigatran with a creatinine clearance between 30 and 50 ml min<sup>-1</sup>, we suggest to stop NOAs 5 days before surgery with no bridging therapy. **2C** 

We suggest that for groups 2 and 3, heparin (UFH or LMWH) should be restarted 6-72 h after the procedure, taking the bleeding risk into account. NOAs may be resumed when surgical bleeding risk is under control. **2C** 

### 10 PERIOPERATIVE BLEEDING MANAGEMENT IN PATIENTS WITH COMORBIDITIES WITH HAEMOSTATIC DERANGEMENTS AND CONGENITAL BLEEDING DISORDERS

## 10.1 Patients with comorbidities involving haemostatic derangement

#### **10.1.1 Systemic, metabolic and endocrine diseases** Recommendation

We suggest that patients with haemostatic derangements associated with systemic, metabolic and endocrine diseases should be managed perioperatively in collaboration with a haematologist. **2C** 

Systemic, metabolic and endocrine diseases (e.g. amyloidosis, hypothyroidism) are associated with haemostatic derangements. Optimal management strategies for these coagulopathies remain unclear.

Acquired FX deficiency causes the most frequent bleeding manifestations in amyloidosis<sup>1303</sup> and is treated similarly to inherited FX deficiency.

Bleeding diathesis in overt hypothyroidism is mainly due to acquired type 1 VWD.<sup>1304</sup> In a study of patients with

thyroid disease, all responded favourably to desmopressin.  $^{1305}$ 

### 10.1.2 Patients on chronic medication associated with haemostatic derangements

Medications other than antiplatelet and anticoagulant agents (discussed elsewhere in these guidelines – see section 9) may potentially affect haemostasis, including selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), valproic acid and Ginkgo biloba.

#### Recommendation

We suggest that SSRI treatment should not be routinely discontinued perioperatively. **2B** 

SSRIs have been associated with an increased bleeding tendency, due to serotonin depletion from platelets.<sup>1306</sup> Bleeding frequency appears proportionate to the degree of serotonin reuptake inhibition.

In patients undergoing orthopaedic surgery, intraoperative blood loss increased by 75% among patients using SSRIs, and the risk of blood transfusion almost quadrupled (adjusted odds ratio, 3.71). Patients taking non-serotoner-gic antidepressants had no increased risk (odds ratio, 0.74).<sup>1307</sup> However, comedications (NSAIDs, methotrex-ate or iron supplements) also increased transfusion risk.

A study of patients undergoing elective primary total hip arthroplasty reported increased (95 ml or 17%) intraoperative blood loss among SSRI users compared with users of non-serotoninergic antidepressants.<sup>1308</sup> However, transfusion requirements were not increased. Similarly, preoperative SSRI therapy has been shown not to increase allogeneic RBC transfusion during CABG surgery. Adjusted relative risks for transfusion among users of SSRIs, non-selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressants and other antidepressants were 1.1, 0.9, and 1.0, respectively, compared with patients not using anti-depressants.<sup>1309</sup> A retrospective Australian study performed on 4136 patients who underwent CABG surgery also showed that neither SSRI use, nor SSRI and concomitant antiplatelet medication, increased the risk of any bleeding events.<sup>1310</sup> However, in a large cohort study, it has been shown that patients taking an SSRI together with aspirin or dual antiplatelet therapy following acute myocardial infarction were at increased risk of bleeding.<sup>1311</sup>

Therefore, discontinuation of SSRIs before surgery is not recommended.<sup>1312</sup> When used alongside other antiplatelet agents, perioperative use of SSRIs should be individualised.

### Recommendation

We suggest individualised perioperative discontinuation of antiepileptic agents, such as valproic acid, which may increase bleeding. 2C

The antiepileptic drug valproic acid decreases levels of FVII, FVIII, FXIII, platelets, VWF, fibrinogen, protein C

and antithrombin.<sup>1313,1314</sup> However, clinically relevant detriment to haemostasis is uncommon.<sup>1315,1316</sup>

### Recommendation

We do not recommend discontinuation of Gingko biloba extracts.  $1B\,$ 

The effects on blood coagulation have been questioned due to some case reports of spontaneous bleeding after taking Ginkgo preparations. A meta-analysis of 18 randomised controlled trials did not indicate a higher bleeding risk associated with standardised Ginkgo biloba extracts provided as daily oral therapy.<sup>1317</sup>

Ginkgo biloba combined with aspirin also has no impact on coagulation indices.<sup>1318,1319</sup>

## 10.2 Patients with congenital bleeding disorders

#### 10.2.1 Von Willebrand disease

VWD is the most common hereditary bleeding disorder with an estimated prevalence of 0.6–1.3%.<sup>1320</sup> The disease is caused by deficiency or dysfunction of VWF and is classified into three major categories, which are specifically treated: partial quantitative deficiency (type 1); qualitative deficiency (type 2, with four variants: 2A; 2B; 2M; and 2N); and total deficiency (type 3).<sup>1320,1321</sup> Acquired von Willebrand syndrome comprises defects in VWF concentration, structure or function arising from medical disorders or treatments.<sup>1322</sup>

Bleeding in VWD is due to impaired platelet adhesion and/or reduced levels of FVIII<sup>1320</sup> and is usually mild.<sup>1321</sup>

### 10.2.1.1 Preoperative evaluation Recommendations

We suggest that if VWD is suspected preoperatively, the patient should be referred to a haematologist for assessment and planning of the intervention. 2C

We recommend the use of bleeding assessment tools for predicting the perioperative risk of bleeding. **1C** 

Diagnosis of VWD is complex, and no universal approach applies. Initial tests for diagnosing VWD include VWF ristocetin cofactor activity (VWF:RCo), VWF antigen (VWF:Ag) and FVIII coagulant activity (FVIII:C).<sup>1320</sup> Laboratory testing should be guided by history and physical examination.<sup>1323</sup>

Structured questionnaires and bleeding scores are useful for the diagnosis.<sup>1324</sup> A quantitative bleeding assessment tool (BAT) has been evaluated for diagnosing mild bleeding disorders (MBDs).<sup>1325</sup> The positive predictive values in patients referred for haemostatic or familial evaluation were 71.0% and 77.5%, respectively. Bleeding scores  $\leq$ 3 had a high negative predictive value which increased to 99.6% when aPTT measurement was added. Therefore, exclusion of MBDs may be feasible based on BAT and aPTT. In children, the bleeding scores have also limited predictive value for identifying patients with common MBDs but high negative predictive values.<sup>1326,1327</sup>

However, questionnaires can be used to assess bleeding severity of VWD. A mucocutaneous bleeding score (spontaneous, mucocutaneous symptoms) was at least as effective as laboratory testing (circulating levels of VWF and FVIII:C) for predicting bleeding after tooth extraction, and superior to laboratory testing following surgery.<sup>1328</sup> In children with VWD, the median bleeding score has been reported as 7, compared with 0 in controls.<sup>1329</sup> The most frequent clinically significant bleeding symptoms were surgical bleeding, bleeding after tooth extraction and menorrhagia.

### 10.2.1.2 Perioperative management Recommendations

We recommend that patients with VWD be managed perioperatively in collaboration with a haematologist. **1C** 

Reviews and guidelines covering the management of VWD have been published.<sup>1320,1321,1330,1331</sup> All agree that patients should be managed in specialised centres. However, recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of VWD are based on observational studies and case series, and are therefore of low grade.

There are three strategies to prevent or control bleeding in VWD: release stored endogenous VWF by stimulating endothelial cells with desmopressin; replace VWF using plasma-derived concentrates; or promote haemostasis with antifibrinolytic drugs or platelet transfusion.

The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute guidelines recommend the following:<sup>1320</sup>

- 1. Treat minor bleedings with desmopressin after a trial performed before clinical use.
- 2. Use VWF concentrate if the response to desmopressin is inadequate.
- 3. Administer desmopressin and VWF concentrate based on VWF:RCo and FVIII activity concentrations.
- 4. For severe bleeding or prophylaxis for major surgery, VWF:RCo and FVIII levels should be 100-200 IU dl<sup>-1</sup> and 100-250 IU dl<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.
- 5. Subsequent dosing should maintain VWF:RCo and FVIII levels above  $50 \text{ IU dl}^{-1}$  for 7–10 days.
- 6. For prophylaxis for minor surgery, VWF:RCo and FVIII levels should be  $>30 \text{ IU dl}^{-1}$  (preferably  $>50 \text{ IU dl}^{-1}$ ) with maintenance for 1–5 days.
- 7. For oral surgery in mild-moderate VWD, combined desmopressin and antifibrinolytic drugs should be given.
- 8. Restrict fluids to maintenance levels in young children and surgical patients receiving desmopressin.

Italian guidelines are similar, except for the lower target and peak concentrations of FVIII recommended for

prophylaxis before major surgery and to be avoided for preventing the risk of thrombosis, respectively.<sup>1330</sup>

Other European centres recommend that guidelines should be stratified for the severity of bleeding, the type of surgery and also for the bleeding score in either VWD type 1, 2 or 3.<sup>1332</sup>

#### Recommendation

We recommend desmopressin as a first-line treatment for minor bleeding/surgery in patients with VWD, after a trial testing. Treatment regimens are specified by published guidelines. **1C** 

Despite a lack of RCTs investigating desmopressin in VWD, desmopressin has been shown to increase plasma VWF and FVIII concentrations from two-fold to more than five-fold over baseline concentrations, with good and excellent results in most surgical adult patients<sup>1333–1336</sup> as well as children.<sup>1337–1339</sup>

The standard desmopressin dose is  $0.3 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  given intravenously, repeated every  $12-24 \, h.^{1320}$  Response rates are reduced in children <2 years old.<sup>1337</sup>

Desmopressin is usually effective in type 1 VWD; however, not all patients respond to this agent.<sup>1320</sup> In a type 1 VWD cohort (n = 77), 83% of patients displayed a complete response to desmopressin; 13% exhibited a partial response and 4% had no response.<sup>1333</sup> Similarly, a 17% risk of bleeding complications after adenotonsillar procedures was reported in children receiving prophylactic desmopressin.<sup>1340</sup> These studies reinforce the importance of a preoperative test infusion of desmopressin.

Desmopressin is variably effective in types 2A, 2N and 2 M VWD, ineffective in type 3 VWD<sup>1330</sup> and controversial in type 2B VWD.<sup>1321</sup>

Tachyphylaxis and hyponatraemia are frequent adverse effects of desmopressin.<sup>1321,1332</sup> Arterial thrombosis has also been reported anecdotally.<sup>1341</sup> Hyponatraemia and seizures have been reported in paediatric cases.<sup>1338</sup>

#### Recommendation

We recommend replacement of VWF with plasmaderived products for major bleeding/surgery. Treatment regimens are specified by published guidelines. **1C** 

VWF can be supplied by cryoprecipitate or human plasma-derived concentrates. Cryoprecipitate is not virus-inactivated and its use is strongly discouraged, except in life-threatening situations when concentrates are not available.<sup>1320</sup>

Plasma-derived VWF concentrates may prevent excessive bleeding in over 90% of VWD patients.<sup>1321</sup> The efficacy has been confirmed in surgical paediatric<sup>1342,1343</sup> and adult patients with VWD.<sup>1336,1343–1350</sup>

For bleeding treatment/prevention in major surgery, a loading dose of  $40-60 \text{ U kg}^{-1}$  is recommended, with

20–40 U kg<sup>-1</sup> every 8–24 h for maintenance.<sup>1320</sup> For minor surgery, the doses are slightly lower, given less frequently and for a shorter duration. Treatment of VWD-related bleeding with VWF concentrates should take account of individual product content and pharma-cokinetic data for the relevant disease severity.<sup>1351</sup>

Perioperative monitoring of FVIII:C and VWF:RCo may help determine appropriate dosing.<sup>1320</sup> Depending on VWD type and the concentrate used, PFA-100 might be useful for monitoring the response to FVIII/VWF substitution.<sup>1352</sup>

Adverse reactions to VWF concentrates include allergic and anaphylactic reactions.<sup>1343</sup>

VWF concentrates contain FVIII, and therefore carry a potential thromboembolic risk;<sup>1353</sup> antithrombotic prophylaxis should be considered.<sup>1341</sup>

#### Recommendation

We suggest that antifibrinolytic drugs should be used as haemostatic adjuncts. Treatment regimens are specified by published guidelines. **2C** 

Antifibrinolytic therapy may facilitate effective clotting. Evidence supporting local application of antifibrinolytics is limited, but this treatment has a pharmacodynamic rationale.<sup>1354</sup> Adjuvant local therapy with tranexamic acid added to desmopressin prevented bleeding complications during oral surgery in 84% of VWD patients and reduced the need for factor concentrates.<sup>1334</sup>

For adults, a dose of 4-5 g EACA (oral or intravenous) is recommended, followed by  $1 \text{ gh}^{-1}$  until bleeding is controlled, or for 5–7 days postoperatively.<sup>1321</sup> Tranexamic acid is given intravenously at a dose of at  $10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ every 8-12 h.<sup>1320,1321,1330</sup>

#### Recommendation

We suggest that platelet transfusion should be used only in case of failure of other treatments. **2C** 

When haemorrhage persists despite increased VWF/FVIII levels, administration of platelet concentrate can be helpful.<sup>1355</sup> Platelet concentrates are effective, particularly in patients with type 3 VWD, probably because of their role in transporting VWF to sites of vascular injury.<sup>1321</sup>

#### 10.2.2 Platelet defects

Many classification schemes have been proposed for inherited platelet disorders.<sup>1356,1357</sup> They are uncommon conditions which can alter circulating platelet numbers, function or both. Prominent inherited platelet defects include Glanzmann thrombasthenia (deficiency or functional defect of receptor GPIIb/IIIa) and Bernard-Soulier syndrome (dysfunction or absence of receptor GPIb/IX/V). Both conditions may cause severe bleeding.<sup>1356,1358,1359</sup>

Bleeding with other platelet abnormalities is usually mild/moderate, so they are described as MBDs;<sup>1359</sup>

VWD is included in this category. Typically, they manifest as mucocutaneous bleeding, or bleeding following trauma or invasive surgical or dental procedures.

#### 10.2.2.1 Preoperative evaluation Recommendations

We suggest referring the patient to a haematologist for assessment and planning of the intervention if inherited platelet defects are suspected preoperatively. **2**C

# We recommend the use of bleeding assessment tools for predicting the perioperative risk of bleeding. $1C\,$

Diagnosis of platelet defects is challenging. Bleeding history is a prerequisite for diagnosing bleeding disorders and should inform the selection of laboratory investigations.<sup>1360</sup> However, MBDs may be undetectable from the bleeding history.<sup>1359</sup> Bleeding scores and quantitative BATs have been proposed for diagnosing MBDs.<sup>1361</sup> Prospective studies found that structured bleeding questionnaires have a high negative predictive value but a low/moderate positive predictive value both in adults<sup>1325</sup> and in children referred for diagnosis.<sup>1327</sup> Measurement of aPTT in addition to a bleeding score significantly increased the diagnostic efficiency for exclusion of patients with suspected MBD in a low-prevalence setting.<sup>1325</sup>

In children, it was shown that questionnaire scores differ among diagnostic groups, giving the potential for stratification of bleeding severity and therefore prediction of bleeding risk during surgical or dental procedures.<sup>1362</sup>

However, no relationship is apparent between bleeding severity and VWF/platelet function variables and the diagnostic efficacy of laboratory testing for hereditary mucocutaneous bleeding was 40.4%.<sup>1363</sup> Therefore, platelet function defects constitute risk factors rather than the unequivocal causes of haemorrhage.

PFA-100 has a high rate of false positive and false negative results and does not predict bleeding risk.<sup>1356</sup> The C-EPI parameter is not sufficiently sensitive to be recommended as a haemostasis screening test,<sup>1364</sup> although it correlates with severity of bleeding history.<sup>1327</sup>

Furthermore, no consensus currently exists regarding the standardisation and interpretation of *in vitro* platelet aggregation/secretion studies for the definitive diagnosis of a platelet defect.

## 10.2.2.2 Perioperative management Recommendations

We recommend that patients with severe inherited platelet disorders should be managed perioperatively in collaboration with a haematologist. **1C** 

We suggest preoperative haemostatic correction in patients with inherited platelet disorders. **2C** 

Most MBDs respond to desmopressin and/or antifibrinolytic drugs, regardless of aetiology.<sup>1359</sup> However, platelet function disorders require specialist management.<sup>1356,1358</sup>

The benefits of prophylactic correction of congenital platelet dysfunction were shown in a prospective study including 72 patients with impaired primary haemostasis.<sup>93</sup> Patients with inherited primary haemostatic impairment (platelet dysfunction including VWD) were preoperatively treated with desmopressin. Most nonresponders, defined by persistently abnormal PFA-100 platelet function tests, additionally received tranexamic acid or aprotinin; those with VWD were treated with VWF concentrate, conjugated oestrogens and platelet transfusion. In almost all cases, prophylactic treatment successfully corrected PFA-100 parameters. The frequency of blood transfusion was lower (9.4% vs. 12.2%: P = 0.202) in preoperatively treated patients with impaired haemostasis than in patients without impaired haemostasis. In a retrospective group, the frequency of blood transfusion was significantly higher (89.3% vs. 11.3%: P < 0.001) in patients without preoperative correction of impaired haemostasis than in patients without impaired haemostasis. Thus, preoperative correction of impaired primary haemostasis appears possible in most patients, and reduces homologous blood transfusions.

## Recommendation

We suggest that desmopressin should be used to prevent/control perioperative bleeding in patients with inherited platelet defects. 2C

The more common, less severe platelet disorders typically respond well to desmopressin, either prophylactically before elective procedures or following trauma.<sup>1357,1365</sup> Desmopressin shortens bleeding time and is therefore assumed to provide clinical benefit.

Most evidence supporting the clinical efficacy of desmopressin in platelet disorders comes from case reports or small case series,<sup>1356</sup> and only one old placebo-controlled study.<sup>1366</sup> The latter study found that desmopressin shortened bleeding time and was sufficient for perioperative management, dependent on the underlying platelet defect. Desmopressin has also been reported as haemostatically effective during obstetric delivery in patients with mild platelet defects.<sup>1367</sup> However, efficacy appears variable, both in mild and in severe platelet defects,<sup>1357</sup> and has rarely been shown in Glanzmann thrombasthenia.<sup>1358</sup>

If desmopressin is contraindicated or is not effective, patients should receive platelet transfusion or possibly rFVIIa.<sup>1356</sup>

## Recommendation

We suggest that antifibrinolytic drugs should be used as haemostatic adjuncts in procedures involving patients with inherited platelet defects. 2C

Antifibrinolytic drugs are useful as adjunctive therapy;<sup>1356,1357</sup> minor bleeding (e.g. dental procedures) may respond to these agents alone.<sup>1358</sup> The use of antifibrinolytic drugs in inherited platelet disorders is not evidence-based. However, tranexamic acid can partially reverse effects of clopidogrel in cardiac surgery.<sup>72</sup>

## Recommendation

We recommend that rFVIIa treatment should be considered in patients with Glanzmann thrombasthenia undergoing surgery. **1C** 

rFVIIa is licensed for use in Glanzmann thrombasthenia, in which platelet transfusion may be ineffective. Appropriate dosing may be 90 µg kg<sup>-1</sup> immediately preoperatively, repeated every 2 h for 12 h, then every 3-4 h until the risk of rebleeding subsides.<sup>1356</sup> An international registry including 59 patients with Glanzmann thrombasthenia showed that rFVIIa was effective in 29/31 surgical procedures and in 77/103 bleeding episodes, eight of which recurred.<sup>1368</sup> Increased success was observed in severe bleeding episodes when a regimen including  $\geq 80 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$  by injection, a dosing interval <2.5 h and >3 doses before failure declaration, was used. Patients receiving maintenance doses experienced fewer bleeding recurrences within 48 h than those not receiving maintenance doses. One thromboembolic event and one ureteral blood clot occurred with high-dose rFVIIa. Further thrombotic complications related to rFVIIa therapy have been reported.<sup>1031</sup>

No reliable data exist concerning rFVIIa in bleeding due to platelet dysfunction and the drug is not licensed for other platelet disorders. In one study, rFVIIa was used in children with inherited platelet function disorders: Glanzmann thrombasthenia (n = 5); Bernard–Soulier syndrome (n = 1); and storage pool disease with severe phenotype (n = 1).<sup>1369</sup> Variable results were seen in Glanzmann thrombasthenia, although surgical procedures were successfully covered. Importantly, good/excellent responses were observed in 10/14 bleeding episodes (71%) treated within 12 h, but only 2/11 (18%) treated after 12 h.

In another study, patients with Glanzmann thrombasthenia with bleeding episodes or undergoing dental surgery were treated with antifibrinolytic drugs, with or without additional rFVIIa. In most cases of mild/moderate mucocutaneous bleeding, antifibrinolytic drugs and local measures were considered sufficiently effective, rendering rFVIIa unnecessary.<sup>1370</sup> However, prophylactic administration of rFVIIa was effective in avoiding bleeding during teeth extractions.

## Recommendations

We recommend against routine platelet transfusion in patients with inherited platelet disorders. **1**C

There is insufficient evidence to recommend a threshold for perioperative prophylactic platelet transfusion in thrombocytopaenic patients. C Platelet transfusions are appropriate in severe platelet defects and when other options have failed. Due to uncertainty concerning rFVIIa efficacy, platelets are recommended for major elective surgery in patients with Glanzmann thrombasthenia and Bernard–Soulier syndrome.<sup>1356,1365</sup> First doses should be given preoperatively with further doses depending on clinical need. For emergency procedures, random donor platelets may be given, albeit with a high risk of alloimmunisation which can limit future responses.<sup>1365</sup>

Inherited thrombocytopaenias are generally managed similarly to mild platelet disorders.<sup>1371</sup> Thrombocytopaenic patients without evidence of platelet dysfunction should be treated according to platelet count. Platelet transfusion guidelines recommend  $\geq 50\ 000\ \mu l^{-1}$  for liver biopsy, laparotomy, central line insertion and for major surgery, except ophthalmological and neurological surgery, when  $\geq 100\ 000\ \mu l^{-1}$  is recommended.<sup>929</sup> Transfusions are usually effective if platelet count is raised above 20 000–30 000  $\mu l^{-1}$ .

Although guidelines recommend a preoperative platelet transfusion threshold of  $<50\ 000\ \mu l^{-1}$ , supporting evidence is weak.<sup>927</sup> An old study of thrombocytopenic patients with acute leukaemia showed that surgery is safe even in patients with platelet counts  $<50\ 000\ \mu l^{-1}$ , provided that optimal supportive care is available.<sup>1372</sup> Central venous catheters can also be inserted safely in acute leukaemia patients with platelet counts  $\geq 20\ 000\ \mu l^{1}$  without platelet transfusion, provided that other coagulation abnormalities are absent.<sup>1373</sup>

Recent data suggest also administering fewer platelet transfusions, at lower doses. However, a meta-analysis showed that high-dose platelet transfusion  $(3.35-7.7 \times 10^{11} l^{-1})$  increased the transfusion interval compared with low-dose platelet transfusion  $(2.01-4.6 \times 10^{11} l^{-1})$ .<sup>1374</sup> The increase in post-transfusion platelet count was also higher in patients receiving the higher dose, with ABO-compatible transfusions. Although bleeding incidence appeared to be independent of platelet count, the above data coming from haemato-oncology should not be extrapolated to inherited thrombocytopaenia.

## 10.2.3 Haemophilia A and B

Haemophilia A is characterised by reduced plasma FVIII coagulant activity (FVIII:C), and Haemophilia B by FIX deficiency. The prevalence of haemophilia A is 1:10 000, compared with 1:60 000 for haemophilia B.<sup>1375</sup>

Haemophilia patients may develop spontaneous bleeding into joints and bleed excessively after injury or surgery. Clinical severity of the bleeding correlates with the degree of deficiency.<sup>1376</sup> Haemophilia A is classified as mild, moderate or severe, depending on FVIII:C concentration. Mildly affected patients bleed excessively only after trauma or surgery and may have normal routine coagulation test results.<sup>1377</sup>

Factor replacement therapy can induce anti-FVIII or anti-FIX antibodies, known as 'inhibitors'. These are more common in severe forms of haemophilia.<sup>1341</sup> Development of inhibitors in mild haemophilia can change bleeding phenotype from mild to severe.<sup>1377</sup>

Some carrier females have reduced coagulation factor concentrations<sup>1376</sup> and this is important when specific replacement therapy may be required.

Acquired haemophilia is a rare but potentially life-threatening haemorrhagic disorder caused by the development of autoantibodies against FVIII. It may be associated with malignancy, autoimmune disorders, drug reactions and pregnancy.<sup>1378</sup>

Haemophilia therapy involves infusion of coagulation factor concentrates, either prophylactically or during bleeding. Mild haemophilia may be treated with desmopressin and tranexamic acid rather than coagulation factors.<sup>1341</sup>

## Recommendations

We recommend that haemophilia patients should be referred preoperatively to a haematologist for assessment/intervention.  $1\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 

We recommend that surgery in haemophilia patients should be performed in specialised centres with expertise in coagulation disorders. **1C** 

With adequate therapy provided in specialised centres, haemophilia patients can safely undergo most surgical procedures.<sup>1379–1382</sup> Retrospective cohort studies found the same outcome after orthopaedic surgery<sup>1382</sup> or general surgery<sup>1381</sup> compared to non-haemophilia controls. General surgical and endoscopic procedures were performed with low morbidity (4% haemorrhagic complications) and mortality rates (1.4%) with appropriate factor replacement and good support from the haemophilia team.<sup>1380</sup> Surgical procedures are also safe in children with haemophilia provided that a standard protocol is followed.<sup>1383</sup>

## Recommendations

We recommend adequate perioperative replacement therapy to ensure safe surgery in haemophilia patients. **1C** 

We suggest that perioperative replacement therapy (target factor levels and duration) in haemophilia patients follows published guidelines. **2C** 

Few reviews of periprocedural replacement therapy have been published, and consensus recommendations are country-specific.<sup>1341,1384–1386</sup> The World Federation of Haemophilia (WFH) recommends that in patients undergoing major surgery, preoperative factor levels should be 80–100%. Postoperatively, factor concentrations should be maintained at 60–80% during days 1 to 3, 40–60% during days 4 to 6 and 30–50% during the second postoperative week. The recommended concentrations for haemophilia B are slightly lower: 60-80%, 40-60%, 30-50%, and 20-40%, respectively.<sup>1387</sup>

An appropriate factor concentration should be maintained for 5–7 days or until wound healing after minor surgery, and for 10–14 days after major surgery. For minor invasive procedures (lumbar puncture, arterial blood gas determination, bronchoscopy with brushings or biopsy, and gastrointestinal endoscopy with biopsy), replacement therapy should only be given before the procedure.<sup>1387</sup>

A literature review and a survey of European practice were published recently.<sup>1379</sup> Although high-quality studies are lacking, replacement therapy appeared efficacious in perioperative management of haemophilia A. The recommendations formulated by the authors are similar to those formulated by the WFH. For liver biopsy, preoperative factor concentrations should be >80% and replacement therapy should continue for  $\geq$ 3 days. For children undergoing surgery, preoperative factor concentrations should generally be >80% and therapy should be maintained for 7–10 days after tonsillectomy, 3–4 days after circumcision, and  $\geq$ 3 days after central venous access device insertion.<sup>1379</sup> For dental extractions, treatment with clotting factor concentrate is recommended to obtain a minimum factor concentration of 50%.

The European survey<sup>1379</sup> also demonstrated extensive heterogeneity in clinical practice. However, in most settings there was agreement between published data and clinical practice concerning the intensity and duration of replacement therapy.

Clinical effects of different coagulation factor concentrations have not been investigated, and minimum haemostatic concentrations of individual factors cannot be defined. Only one study showed that lower factor concentrations may be safe in surgical procedures.<sup>1388</sup> Conversely, a high–level clotting factor replacement regimen which maintains the preoperative high concentration for a longer period of time appeared to favour wound healing and to decrease the infection rate in total knee arthroplasty.<sup>1389</sup>

FFP and cryoprecipitate have relatively low clotting factor concentrations and potential viral transmission risks. These products are indicated only if concentrates are not available.<sup>1379,1387</sup>

## Recommendation

We recommend either recombinant products or plasmaderived concentrates for perioperative replacement therapy in haemophilia patients. **1C** 

Both plasma-derived and recombinant FVIII products proved efficacious for preventing/treating bleeding episodes in haemophilia patients.<sup>1390,1391</sup> Although all plasma-derived coagulation factor concentrates have

excellent safety, UK guidelines recommend recombinant, rather than plasma-derived, products.<sup>1341</sup>

The question of whether plasma-derived or recombinant products are preferable is still under discussion.<sup>1390,1391</sup> It has been suggested that plasma-derived products induce fewer inhibitors than recombinant FVIII.<sup>1391</sup> One study showed that recombinant FVIII carries a 2.5–3-fold higher risk of inhibitor development than plasma-derived FVIII/VFW.<sup>1392</sup> In a paediatric study, increased risk of inhibitor formation was associated with early exposure to recombinant products.<sup>1393</sup> Conversely, another study demonstrated no significant difference in risk of inhibitor development between plasma-derived FVIII and recombinant FVIII.<sup>1394</sup> In addition, the safety and efficacy of recombinant FVIII has been shown in a post-marketing observational study.<sup>1395</sup>

Two systematic reviews reported discordant results.<sup>1396,1397</sup> A prospective cohort study showed that the degree of FVIII purity but not the source of the product influences inhibitor development independently from other risk factors.<sup>1398</sup> In this study there was an increased inhibitor risk with recombinant FVIII and high-purity plasma-derived FVIII compared to low/intermediate-purity plasma-derived FVIII.

In haemophilia B, there is also evidence that both plasmaderived and recombinant products are effective in perioperative management,<sup>1399–1401</sup> providing similar outcomes to those observed among non-haemophiliacs. If recombinant FIX is unavailable, FIX concentrate is preferable to PCC, which carries thrombotic risks.<sup>1341</sup>

Two systematic reviews of thrombotic adverse events<sup>1402</sup> and non-thrombotic, non-inhibitor-associated adverse reactions<sup>1403</sup> to factor FVIII/FIX concentrates used for treatment of haemophilia and VWD confirm these products' high degree of safety. Over a 20 year period, only 20 thrombotic events (2 major and 18 superficial thrombophlebitis) and 12.3% allergic reactions were identified, respectively. No differences were reported between the plasma-derived and recombinant products in the incidence of these events.

## Recommendation

# We suggest that coagulation factors should be given perioperatively by continuous infusion. $2C\,$

Continuous infusion of replacement factors may reduce 'wasteful' peaks followed by subtherapeutic concentrations, compared with bolus infusion.<sup>1404</sup> For severe haemophilia A patients undergoing surgery, continuous infusion has been shown to reduce FVIII dosage by 36% compared with bolus infusion, while reducing major bleeding complications to zero (compared with a 17% incidence in patients receiving bolus infusion; P = 0.06). The efficacy of continuous infusion has been confirmed in other studies.<sup>1405-1407</sup> The first study designed to obtain regulatory approval for continuous infusion of a FVIII product showed similar surgical bleeding in severe haemophilia patients compared with non-haemophilia control patients.<sup>1408</sup> Increased risk of inhibitor development has been linked with continuous infusion,<sup>1409</sup> but other data do not confirm this risk.<sup>1410</sup>

Continuous infusion is used in nearly half of patients undergoing major orthopaedic surgery, a greater proportion than suggested by the literature<sup>1379</sup>. In a cross-sectional study performed in 22 European centres including 742 patients, continuous infusion was haemostatically very effective (median incidence of postoperative bleeding 1.8%) without increasing the risk of inhibitor development.<sup>1411</sup> Half of the centres aimed to maintain high FVIII levels of >0.8–1.0 IU ml<sup>-1</sup> during the early postoperative period, employing an initial infusion rate of 4.0–5.0 IU kg<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Despite the high target concentration, the impact of continuous infusion on overall cost was favourable.

Continuous infusion of FIX has also been associated with excellent haemostasis and safety.<sup>1412–1414</sup>

#### Recommendation

We suggest treatment with either rFVIIa or activated PCCs for haemophilia patients with inhibitors. **2**C

Bleeding in haemophilia patients with inhibitors is usually treated with bypassing agents such as PCC (either activated, which can produce thrombin without any requirement for FVIII, or non-activated) or rFVIIa.<sup>1415,1416</sup> Large quantities of human factor concentrates or porcine products and plasmapheresis are other options to overcome the inhibitors.<sup>1341</sup>

A systematic review found that high-dose FVIII was highly successful (100%) in patients with low-titre, low-responding inhibitors undergoing surgery, although not reliable for high-responding inhibitors.<sup>1417</sup> Porcine FVIII was effective for controlling bleeding in 60–90% of perioperative bleeding in patients with high-titre or high-responding inhibitors. No evidence supported PCC use in surgery, while APCCs controlled approximately 90% of surgical bleeding episodes. rFVIIa controlled 60–100% of surgical bleeding episodes in patients with high-responding inhibitors; results were better when rFVIIa was used early.

In a post-marketing surveillance study of patients with inhibitors, an APCC (FVIII inhibitor bypassing activity [FEIBA]) showed efficacy of 82% and 91% in acute and surgical treatments, respectively.<sup>1035</sup> Additionally, prophylactic treatment improved or stabilised clinical orthopaedic status in 11/13 patients (85%). With a small number of adverse events (<0.04%), FEIBA was judged to be safe. No thrombotic complications were reported. Further studies have since confirmed the efficacy of APCC.<sup>1036,1038,1418–1421</sup>

The dose varied between 50 and  $100 \,\mathrm{IU \, kg^{-1}}$  given before surgery and thereafter at 6–12-h intervals,

adjusted to an approximate maximum of  $200 \,\mathrm{IU \, kg^{-1}}$  day<sup>-1</sup> and tapered when postoperative haemostasis and wound healing permitted. In one study, the median perioperative dose was  $130 \,\mathrm{IU \, kg^{-1}}$  day<sup>-1</sup> over 12 days for major surgical procedures and 87.5  $\mathrm{IU \, kg^{-1} \, day^{-1}}$  over 2 days for minor procedures.<sup>1038</sup> Haemostatic outcome was excellent or good in 78% and 100% of cases, respectively.

In a recent review, good efficacy was reported for rFVIIa in haemophilia patients with inhibitors; rare instances of insufficient haemostasis were attributed to inadequate rFVIIa dosing.<sup>1422</sup> In RCT, a high-dose rFVIIa regimen (bolus dose of 90  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>, followed by a 90  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> dose every 2h for 48h and then at 4-6h intervals for 24h) resulted in fewer postoperative bleeds and fewer extra doses needed than a lower dose regimen  $(35 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1} \, at \, the$ same hourly intervals).<sup>1423</sup> Recently, a consensus protocol for the use of rFVIIa in orthopaedic surgery in haemophilia patients with inhibitors recommended an initial bolus of  $120-180 \,\mu\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{kg}^{-1}$ , followed by a 90  $\mu\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{kg}^{-1}$  dose every 2 h for 48 h. Thereafter, the intervals may be increased to 3 h for another 48 h; at day 5 after surgery, the intervals may be further increased to 4h for the next 3 days followed by further lengthening to 6 h until discharge.<sup>987</sup> Adjunctive tranexamic acid is highly recommended.

An updated evaluation of rFVIIa in perioperative bleeding in patients with inhibitors reported an overall effectiveness of 84% and an incidence of thrombotic events of 0.4%.<sup>1424</sup>

The efficacy of continuous infusion of rFVIIa is controversial. In an open-label randomised study,  $90 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$ rFVIIa bolus infusion (initially every 2 h) was compared with continuous infusion (initially  $50 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1} \ h^{-1}$ ) in inhibitor-expressing haemophilia A/B patients undergoing surgery.<sup>1425</sup> Haemostatic efficacy was comparable between the groups, with efficacy demonstrated in 8/11 (73%) and 9/12 (75%) subjects in the bolus infusion and continuous infusion groups, respectively. Cumulative 72-h doses were 237.5 and 292.2 mg, respectively. One patient in the bolus infusion group developed venous thrombosis on day 10 after surgery. Better efficacy has been reported by others using rFVIIa continuous infusion.<sup>986,1426,1427</sup> However, most of these patients also received tranexamic acid.

The relative effectiveness of rFVIIa and APCC for the treatment of acute bleeding in haemophilia patients with inhibitors was investigated by a Cochrane review.<sup>1415</sup> Similar haemostatic effects for rFVIIa and APCC were reported, without increasing thromboembolic risk. In the absence of comparative studies carried out in the surgical setting, personal experience, availability and cost may guide the choice of the bypassing agents.<sup>1033</sup>

The use of bypassing agents has a substantial economic impact. rFVIIa appears to be at least cost-neutral relative

to APCC for mild/moderate bleeding in this patient population.<sup>1428</sup> In addition, orthopaedic surgery with rFVIIa in haemophilia patients with inhibitors is generally cost-saving, relative to not having surgery.<sup>1429</sup> However, a cost-minimisation analysis for major orthopaedic procedures showed that APCC, alone or alongside rFVIIa, represents a cost-saving approach.<sup>1032</sup>

Some haemophilia patients with inhibitors may become refractory to rFVIIa or APCC therapy. Management of these patients is difficult. In a retrospective review, combined therapy with both agents was described.<sup>1430</sup> Continuous infusion of low-dose rFVIIa ( $30-70 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1}$ ) and low-dose FEIBA ( $20-30 \, U \, kg^{-1}$ ) appears safe, efficacious and economical in patients refractory to rFVIIa.<sup>1431</sup> However, a critical review of 17 reports regarding parallel use of bypassing agents in the same bleeding episode in 49 patients pointed to an increased risk of thrombosis in these patients.<sup>130</sup>

Potential thromboembolic risks associated with rFVIIa and APCC have been discussed.<sup>1031,1432</sup> However, the methodology of a pharmacovigilance programme suggesting a higher frequency of thrombotic events with rFVIIa over APCC has been criticised.<sup>1031</sup> A review article reported 3.67 thromboembolic events per 100 000 rFVIIa infusions in haemophilia patients,<sup>1433</sup> comparable to figures reported for FEIBA.<sup>1242</sup> Both rFVIIa<sup>1416</sup> and APCC<sup>1242</sup> administration in haemophilia patients with inhibitors is therefore considered safe.

## Recommendation

We suggest the use of antifibrinolytic drugs as perioperative adjunct therapy in haemophilia patients. **2**C

In Europe, tranexamic acid is frequently reported as perioperative adjunct therapy in haemophilia patients.<sup>1379</sup> Despite frequent use of tranexamic acid, limited evidence supports its coadministration with FVIII.<sup>1434</sup> A retrospective survey indicated that tranexamic acid used alongside coagulation factor replacement reduces blood loss after orthopaedic surgery compared with coagulation factor substitution alone.<sup>1407</sup> In addition, adjuvant EACA may help to control bleeding in haemophilia patients with inhibitors.<sup>1435</sup>

Antibrinolytic drugs are not recommended for treatment of patients with FIX deficiency already receiving large doses of PCCs.<sup>1387</sup>

The antifibrinolytics are particularly indicated in dental care, where the high fibrinolytic activity of saliva may more easily destabilise the relatively weak clot.<sup>1435</sup> WFH recommends that EACA or tranexamic acid should be started before replacement therapy. The dose of EACA, which should be started the night before or on the morning of the procedure, is  $50-100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  every 4-6 h for 5-10 days (maximum 24 g per 24 h). The dose for tranexamic acid is  $25-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  orally every 6-8 h

for 10 days. A liquid preparation of these drugs may be used as a mouthwash.<sup>1387</sup>

A small double-blind cross-over randomised controlled pilot trial including 16 patients with haemophilia showed that tranexamic acid mouthwash was as effective as factor replacement therapy prior to dental scaling.<sup>1436</sup> Another study including 113 dental extractions in 50 patients with inherited bleeding disorders performed without previous administration of clotting factor concentrates showed that no severe bleeding complications occurred during the follow-up period of 8 days.<sup>1437</sup>

#### Recommendation

#### We suggest individualised perioperative thromboprophylaxis in haemophilia patients. 2C

When perioperative factor substitution is adequate, the risk of venous thrombosis might be considered. A small prospective study including 24 haemophiliac patients undergoing 29 major orthopaedic surgical procedures and screened for VTE by compression ultrasonography showed that subclinical DVT occurred in up to 10% of cases.<sup>1438</sup> No case of clinical DVT or PE was reported. Grade 1 compression above-knee stockings were used in all patients. Based on these findings, routine pharmacological thromboprophylaxis may not be indicated in all haemophiliac patients undergoing major orthopaedic surgery. However, half of the comprehensive haemophilia centres in Europe reported using pharmacological antithrombotic prophylaxis after major orthopaedic surgery<sup>1379</sup> and one centre reported that 82% of haemophiliacs received VTE prophylaxis after the year 2000 with no evidence of increased bleeding complications.<sup>1381</sup> In a study of open heart surgery in haemophilia patients, individualised antithrombotic measures were reported.1439 Individualised antithrombotic therapy, based on local clinical experience, guidelines for non-haemophilia patients and the patient's clinical characteristics is recommended.<sup>1440</sup>

#### 10.2.4 Rare bleeding disorders

Rare bleeding disorders (RBDs; congenital coagulation factor deficiencies)<sup>1341</sup> have low prevalence: between 1:500 000 and 1:2 000 000.<sup>1365,1441</sup> They account for 3-5% of inherited coagulation disorders,<sup>1442</sup> and FVII deficiency is the most common.

#### Recommendations

We recommend that patients with rare bleeding disorders should be referred preoperatively to a haematologist for assessment/intervention. **1C** 

Bleeding risk in RBD patients is largely assessed using case reports and expert opinion.<sup>1365,1441,1442</sup> Minimum required coagulation factors concentrations are controversial<sup>1443</sup> and correlations between factor concentrations and bleeding risk are generally poor.<sup>1441,1442</sup>

A retrospective survey in patients with hypo- or afibrinogenaemia reported the mean incidence of bleeding episodes in patients receiving prophylaxis to be not much lower than for patients treated on-demand.<sup>1444</sup> Unfortunately, no data were reported describing plasma concentrations of fibrinogen at the time of intracranial bleeding.

Risk of bleeding after surgery in patients with FXI deficiency is particularly high if anatomical sites rich in fibrinolytic activity are involved.<sup>1445</sup> However, among FXI-deficient women giving birth, 69.4% experienced no postpartum haemorrhage, suggesting no relationship between FXI level and risk of postpartum haemorrhage.

#### Recommendations

We recommend that surgery in patients with rare bleeding disorders should be carried out in consultation with a haematologist with experience in factor deficiencies. **1C** 

There is insufficient data to recommend routine perioperative supplementation of deficient factors in patients with rare bleeding disorders. C

Perioperative bleeding in patients with RBDs is treated by supplementing the deficient factor.<sup>1446</sup> Coagulation factor supplementation is generally advisable for fibrinogen concentrations  $<1 \text{ g l}^{-1}$  and <20-30% of normal concentrations for other coagulation factors.<sup>1447,1359</sup> Thrombosis is a major concern with coagulation factor supplementation; thrombotic events have been reported following administration of fibrinogen and FXI concentrate.<sup>1365,1441,1442</sup>

The best treatment options, doses and management approaches for patients with RBDs were reviewed in 2004.<sup>1446</sup> Evidence levels were low (descriptive studies and expert opinion). Treatment is generally administered on-demand, so data on preoperative prophylactic therapy are scarce. UK guidelines recommend specific factor concentrates for fibrinogen and FXIII deficiencies.<sup>1341</sup>

An open, uncontrolled, retrospective study showed that fibrinogen concentrate was effective as preoperative prophylaxis.<sup>1448</sup> However, one high-risk patient developed DVT and non-fatal pulmonary embolism; fibrinogen substitution could not be excluded as a contributing factor.

Another open-label, uncontrolled, prospective study of patients with afibrinogenaemia showed that human fibrinogen concentrate can restore haemostasis with a good safety profile.<sup>1234</sup>

Supplementation is not always necessary in FVII deficiency. In a retrospective analysis of surgical procedures performed without replacement therapy in FVII-deficient patients, the median FVII level was 5% and the bleeding rate was 15%.<sup>1449</sup> A threshold level for FVII replacement of 10% was proposed.

FFP (preferably virally inactivated) is the only current option for FV deficiency, and other deficiencies if the

concentrates are not available;<sup>1442</sup> non-virally inactivated cryoprecipitate may be an option for minimising administration volume. PCCs are recommended for FII or FX deficiencies, because specific concentrates are not available. Evidence supporting prophylactic use of PCCs in prothrombin<sup>1450,1451</sup> or FX deficiency is scarce.<sup>1452,1453</sup> rFX and rFXIII are currently being developed. Phase I data suggest that rFXIII may be safe and effective in patients with FXIII deficiency.<sup>1454</sup>

For FXI deficiency, both FXI concentrate and virally inactivated FFP are reasonable, although tranexamic acid alone may suffice for minor procedures.<sup>1341</sup> However, there is evidence that prophylactic treatment is not mandatory in FXI deficiency.<sup>1455</sup>

Vitamin K is the mainstay treatment for vitamin Kdependent clotting factor deficiency.<sup>1456</sup> However, perioperative supplementation using plasma or PCC may also be needed.<sup>1441</sup>

## Recommendations

We suggest that rFVIIa should be used in perioperative bleeding due to inherited FVII deficiency. **2C** 

If rFVIIa is given to control perioperative bleeding in inherited FVII deficiency, we suggest lower doses than in haemophilia patients. 2C

There are insufficient data to recommend rFVIIa in perioperative bleeding for patients with other rare bleeding disorders. C

rFVIIa is the treatment of choice for FVII deficiency.<sup>1446</sup> If rFVIIa is not available, plasma-derived FVII is favoured over PCC because of PCC's potential thrombogenicity.<sup>1341</sup> A wide rFVIIa dose range (1.2– 223.8  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>) has been reported in FVII deficiency.<sup>1457</sup> Dosing intervals of 2–18h and treatment durations of 30 h to 2 weeks are described.<sup>1458</sup> Continuous infusion of rFVIIa has also been reported in FVII deficiency.<sup>1459</sup>

The recommended dose of rFVIIa for FVII deficiency is  $20-25 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$  every  $4-6 \ h$ ,<sup>1446</sup> individualised according to bleeding phenotype. In surgery, the specific procedure, tissue/organ involved and type of anaesthesia should be taken into account. Supplementation is recommended until wound healing is established (5–7 days).<sup>1446</sup>

In a prospective study of subjects with FVII deficiency undergoing surgery, rFVIIa ( $\geq$ 3 doses of  $\geq$ 13 µg kg<sup>-1</sup>) proved effective.<sup>1460</sup> Bleeding occurred in three patients to whom rFVIIa was given at low doses. FVII antibody was observed in one patient undergoing a multiple dental extraction. No thromboses were reported.

Low-dose rFVIIa  $(33-47 \,\mu g \, kg^{-1})$  also appears safe and effective for surgery in patients with severe FXI deficiency and inhibitors.<sup>1461</sup> Co-administration of tranexamic acid has also proved effective,<sup>1462,1463</sup> although it may increase thrombotic risks. Elsewhere, effective haemostasis was reported in 100% of FXI-deficient patients receiving prophylactic rFVIIa before dental procedures or minor and major operations.<sup>1432</sup> No alternative haemostatic agents or transfusions were administered, except for tranexamic acid. An acute cerebrovascular accident was reported in a patient with a history of cardiovascular disease. The authors concluded that rFVIIa was an effective alternative to plasma-derived FXI, but that rFVIIa may not be suitable for patients with pre-existing thrombotic risk factors.

rFVIIa appears effective in patients with FV or FVIII deficiency and surgical bleeding resistant to supplementation therapy.<sup>1464</sup> Registry data suggest that rFVIIa treatment may control or prevent bleeding in other RBDs, with a favourable safety profile.<sup>1465</sup>

## Recommendation

There are insufficient data to recommend periprocedural desmopressin or antifibrinolytic drugs in patients with mild rare bleeding disorders. C

Desmopressin has also been used in RBDs, especially mild cases. Limited data suggest a potential role for desmopressin in the treatment of bleeding episodes or prevention of postoperative bleeding in mild FXI defects. Such use is described in a systematic review of 16 case reports.<sup>1466</sup>

Antifibrinolytic agents may be given to patients with RBDs, particularly for mucosal bleeding or bleeding prevention following dental extractions.<sup>1341,1446</sup>

## **11 FINAL REMARKS**

The overall aim of this extensive document is to provide clinicians with evidence-based and up-to-date guidelines for better clinical management of our patients. Great care has been taken by the task force and the steering committee to follow a transparent and comprehensive approach in finding relevant literature and assessing the existing evidence.

Guided by expert assistance, our search strategy was based on predefined criteria and broadly adhered to accepted methodologies, such as those advocated by the Cochrane Collaboration. More than 20 000 abstracts were selected by a sensitive search strategy. As with all database searches, it is possible that some relevant literature was not initially captured. Therefore, to make the process as robust as possible, the authors of each section were asked to conduct supplementary searches and provide the committee with any additional relevant literature. The authors subsequently assessed all publications relevant to their sections.

As initially required by the ESA Scientific and Guideline committee, we applied the SIGN method, which places emphasis on risk of bias when grading the quality of the evidence in publications such as systematic reviews or RCTs. This approach is similar to that advocated by the

Cochrane Collaboration for evaluating the quality of trials and the various domains of bias. When assessing all relevant publications, the authors were required to consider important issues such as publication bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision and funding bias. Finally, the authors were requested to combine the above with their own expert opinions in a transparent manner to generate appropriate and clinically meaningful recommendations.

The team of authors acknowledges that, despite adhering to common assessment tools such as SIGN and GRADE, it is nearly impossible when creating a guideline to avoid an element of subjectivity. Indeed, these guideline tools provide room for subjectivity, for instance when weighing risks versus benefits, considering preferences of patients and evaluating resources and costs. Despite the universal acceptance of its importance, evidence-based medicine is an ideal that is often very difficult to achieve. If guidelines had to be developed using a purely objective approach with no room for subjectivity, we would be left with very little of true value to recommend. Thus, guidelines *per se* will always be subject to a degree of subjectivity. What is essential is that readers are provided with sufficient information to assess the degree of transparency of the process by which a guideline has been developed. We believe that we have achieved this in this detailed document.

It comes as no surprise that there are variations in our practices across Europe. We acknowledge the importance of guidelines as a steering tool but also appreciate the fact that recommendations should be evaluated locally. Some countries and national societies may decide to assess the evidence and recommendations differently.

Some institutions may decide not to introduce devices, medications or strategies advocated in this guideline until further supporting evidence is available. This might be the case with point-of-care testing and products such as fibrinogen concentrate and prothrombin complex concentrate, for which the results of the many ongoing trials are eagerly anticipated.

Furthermore, some institutions may consider it difficult to justify funding the introduction, daily use and maintenance of point-of-care devices, and the higher direct costs of coagulation factor concentrates compared with allogeneic blood products. We note, however, that although allogeneic blood products are perceived as low cost, substantial indirect and infrastructure costs mean that the actual cost of transfusion is high. There is evidence that use of coagulation factor concentrates guided by point-of-care testing may actually reduce costs in some settings. However, cost analyses performed in studies will not reflect the local situation in every hospital and prices for allogeneic blood products and coagulation factor concentrates vary among countries depending on the local market. This task force acknowledges these issues and our recommendations may need to be viewed differently in some countries and institutions until additional evidence to support routine use of these products and devices is published. This statement is in accordance with the official position of the ESA Guideline Committee, and we emphasise that our recommendations can be adopted, modified or not implemented, depending on institutional or national requirements.

Many of the authors and experts involved in developing this guideline have conflicts of interest. Each of these individuals has provided a detailed disclosure statement, as declared in this article. In order to minimise bias in our assessment of the literature, the entire guideline document was subject to internal and external review and was open to critical input from colleagues and national organisations.

#### Acknowledgement

Assistance with the guidelines: Dr. Georgina Imberger (literature search). The various chapters were edited by the following authors: chapters 4.1 (AS, CA), 4.2 (GI), 4.3 (AS); 5.1 (ML, AA), 5.2 (CS, AA), 6.1 (SK), 6.2 (PW, MJ, JM), 6.3 (PVdL), 7.1 (DF), 7.2 (EDR), 7.3 (KG, SK), 8.1 (NR), 8.2 (AW), 8.3 (KG, TH), 8.4 (SM), 8.5 (TH, KG), 9 (CMS, PA, JL), 10 (DF).

Financial support and sponsorship: The literature search was funded by the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Editorial assistance by Meridian HealthComms was funded by the Austrian Society of Anaesthesiology, Resuscitation and Intensive Care.

Conflicts of interest: PA received honoraria for lecturing from Abbott, Bayer, Boehringer-Ingelheim, CSL Behring, Daiichi Sankyo, LFB, Fresenius and Pfizer-BMS. PA is on the advisory committees of Bayer, Boehringer-Ingelheim and Pfizer-BMS. DFi received honoraria for lecturing and travel reimbursement from Abbott, Bayer, B. Braun, Edwards, GlaxoSmithKline, Medtronic, Fresenius Kabi, MSD, Novo Nordisk, Pfizer, Sanofi-Aventis, Schering AG, Servier and Vifor Pharma. DFi is co-author of the trauma bleeding management guidelines which were supported by unrestricted grants from CSL Behring (Germany) and LFB Biomedicaments (France). KG received honoraria for lecturing and travel reimbursement from CSL Behring GmbH, Octapharma AG, Tem International GmbH and Verum Diagnostic GmbH. KG is currently employed by Tem International GmbH but was in the sole employ of the University Hospital Essen at the time of writing. DF received honoraria for lecturing, travel reimbursement, consulting fees and grants from AstraZeneca, Baxter, B. Braun, Biotest, CSL Behring, Delta Select, Dade Behring, Fresenius Kabi, GlaxoSmithKline, Haemoscope, Hemogen, Lilly, LFB, Mitsubishi Pharma, Novo Nordisk, Sangart, Tem Innovations and the US Army. TH received honoraria for lecturing and travel reimbursement from CSL Behring and Octapharma AG. MJ received honoraria for lecturing and travel reimbursement from Fresenius Kabi, B. Braun, Serumwerk Bernburg and Baxter. MJ also received unrestricted research grants from Fresenius Kabi, CSL Behring and Serumwerk Bernburg. SKL received honoraria for lecturing, travel reimbursement and consulting fees within the last 10 years from Baxter, B. Braun, Biotest, Pfizer-BMS, CSL Behring, Fresenius Kabi, Mitsubishi Pharma, Novo Nordisk, Octapharma, TEM International and Verum Diagnostics. JL received honoraria for lecturing within the last 3 years from Bayer, Baxter, Boehringer-Ingelheim, CSL Behring, Fresenius Kabi, Pfizer-BMS, Rovi and Sanofi. JL is

on the advisory committees of Bayer, Baxter, Boehringer-Ingelheim, CSL Behring, Pfizer-BMS and Sanovi-Aventis. SMc is on the advisory committee of Haemonetics. JM received honoraria for lecturing from CSL Behring, Pulsion, Sorin Group and TEVA. NR-M is a member of advisory boards for CSL Behring and MSD, and received unrestricted grants for clinical studies from these companies. CMS received honoraria for lecturing from Abbott, AstraZeneca, Bayer, Biotest, Boehringer-Ingelheim, CSL Behring, Daiichi Sankyo, LFB, Fresenius, GlaxoSmithKline, Octapharma, Pfizer-BMS and Rovi. CMS is on the advisory committees of Bayer, Boehringer-Ingelheim, Fresenius, Haemonetics and Pfizer-BMS. CMS is a Primary Investigator for LFB, GlaxoSmithKline, Sanofi, Bayer and Haemonetics. AS was chair of the ESA Guideline Committee during most of the period over which this guideline was prepared. CS received honoraria for lecturing, travel reimbursement and consulting fees from CSL Behring, Haemoscope, LFB and TEM International. CS is currently employed by CSL Behring but was in the sole employ of Salzburg University Hospital at the time of writing.

AA, CA, ED, GI, ML, AW, PW, AS, PW did not report any conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Doree C, Stanworth S, Brunskill SJ, Hopewell S, Hyde CJ, Murphy MF. Where are the systematic reviews in transfusion medicine? A study of the transfusion evidence base. *Transfus Med Rev* 2010; 24:286–294.
- 2 Brevig J, McDonald J, Zelinka ES, Gallagher T, Jin R, Grunkemeier GL. Blood transfusion reduction in cardiac surgery: multidisciplinary approach at a community hospital. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 87:532– 539.
- 3 Glance LG, Dick AW, Mukamel DB, et al. Association between intraoperative blood transfusion and mortality and morbidity in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery. Anesthesiology 2011; 114:283-292.
- 4 Marik PE, Corwin HL. Efficacy of red blood cell transfusion in the critically ill: a systematic review of the literature. *Crit Care Med* 2008; 36:2667-2674.
- 5 O'Keeffe SD, Davenport DL, Minion DJ, Sorial EE, Endean ED, Xenos ES. Blood transfusion is associated with increased morbidity and mortality after lower extremity revascularization. *J Vasc Surg* 2010; 51:616–621; 621 e611–613.
- 6 Reeves BC, Murphy GJ. Increased mortality, morbidity, and cost associated with red blood cell transfusion after cardiac surgery. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol* 2008; 21:669–673.
- 7 Rouette J, Trottier H, Ducruet T, *et al.* Red blood cell transfusion threshold in postsurgical pediatric intensive care patients: a randomized clinical trial. *Ann Surg* 2010; **251**:421–427.
- 8 Carless PA, Henry DA, Carson JL, Hebert PP, McClelland B, Ker K. Transfusion thresholds and other strategies for guiding allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; (10):CD002042.
- 9 Hajjar LA, Vincent JL, Galas FR, et al. Transfusion requirements after cardiac surgery: the TRACS randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2010; 304:1559-1567.
- 10 Moskowitz DM, McCullough JN, Shander A, et al. The impact of blood conservation on outcomes in cardiac surgery: is it safe and effective? Ann Thorac Surg 2010; 90:451-458.
- 11 Rogers MA, Blumberg N, Saint S, Langa KM, Nallamothu BK. Hospital variation in transfusion and infection after cardiac surgery: a cohort study. *BMC Med* 2009; **7**:37.
- 12 Snyder-Ramos SA, Mohnle P, Weng YS, et al. The ongoing variability in blood transfusion practices in cardiac surgery. *Transfusion* 2008; 48:1284-1299.
- 13 Ferraris VA, Brown JR, Despotis GJ, et al. Society of Thoracic Surgeons Blood Conservation Guideline Task Force. 2011 update to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons and the Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists blood conservation clinical practice guidelines. Ann Thorac Surg 2011; 91:944–982.
- 14 Stover EP, Siegel LC, Parks R, et al. Variability in transfusion practice for coronary artery bypass surgery persists despite national consensus guidelines: a 24-institution study. Institutions of the Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. *Anesthesiology* 1998; 88:327–333.

- 15 Phan HH, Wisner DH. Should we increase the ratio of plasma/platelets to red blood cells in massive transfusion: what is the evidence? *Vox Sang* 2010; **98**:395–402.
- Roback JD, Caldwell S, Carson J, et al. Evidence-based practice guidelines for plasma transfusion. *Transfusion* 2010; **50**:1227–1239.
   Afshari A, Wikkelso A, Brok J, Moller AM, Wattarelay J.
- 17 Afshari A, Wikkelso A, Brok J, Moller AM, Wetterslev J. Thrombelastography (TEG) or thromboelastometry (ROTEM) to monitor haemotherapy versus usual care in patients with massive transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; **3**:CD007871.
- 18 Shakur H, Roberts I, et al., CRASH-trial collaborators. Effects of tranexamic acid on death, vascular occlusive events, and blood transfusion in trauma patients with significant haemorrhage (CRASH-2): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2010; **376**:23–32.
- 19 Ducloy-Bouthors AS, Jude B, Duhamel A, et al. High-dose tranexamic acid reduces blood loss in postpartum haemorrhage. Crit Care 2011; 15:R117.
- 20 Hartog CS, Kohl M, Reinhart K. A systematic review of third-generation hydroxyethyl starch (HES 130/0.4) in resuscitation: safety not adequately addressed. *Anesth Analg* 2011; **112**:635–645.
- 21 Murphy MF, Stanworth SJ, Yazer M. Transfusion practice and safety: current status and possibilities for improvement. *Vox Sang* 2011; 100:46-59.
- 22 Basora M, Colomina MJ, Moral V, *et al.* Descriptive study of perioperative transfusion practices in Spanish hospitals. *Transfusion Alternatives in Transfusion Medicine* 2008; **10**:9–16.
- 23 Gombotz H, Rehak PH, Shander A, Hofmann A. Blood use in elective surgery: the Austrian benchmark study. *Transfusion* 2007; 47:1468– 1480.
- 24 Grol R. Successes and failures in the implementation of evidence-based guidelines for clinical practice. *Med Care* 2001; **39 (8 Suppl 2)**:II46 – 54.
- 25 Hakkennes S, Dodd K. Guideline implementation in allied health professions: a systematic review of the literature. *Qual Saf Health Care* 2008; **17**:296–300.
- 26 Maddux FW, Dickinson TA, Rilla D, et al. Institutional variability of intraoperative red blood cell utilization in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Am J Med Qual 2009; 24:403-411.
- 27 The Sanguis Study Group. Use of blood products for elective surgery in 43 European hospitals. *Transfus Med* 1994; 4:251–268.
- 28 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. A guideline developer's handbook 2011. http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/105/ index.html [Accessed 28 March 2012].
- 29 Craig J, Aguiar-Ibanez R, Bhattacharya S, et al. Health Technology Assessment Report 11: The clinical and cost effectiveness of thromboelastography/thromboelastometry. Healthcare Improvement Scotland; 2008. www.nhshealthquality.org. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 30 Innerhofer P, Streif W, Kuhbacher G, Fries D. [Monitoring of Perioperative Dilutional Coagulopathy Using the ROTEM Analyzer: Basic Principles and Clinical Examples]. Anasthesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther 2004; 39:739-744.
- 31 Doran CM, Woolley T, Midwinter MJ. Feasibility of using rotational thromboelastometry to assess coagulation status of combat casualties in a deployed setting. *J Trauma* 2010; **69 (Suppl 1)**: S40-48.
- 32 Singer AJ, Viccellio P, Thode HC Jr, Bock JL, Henry MC. Introduction of a stat laboratory reduces emergency department length of stay. Acad Emerg Med 2008; 15:324–328.
- 33 Watson HG, Greaves M. Can we predict bleeding? Semin Thromb Hemost 2008; 34:97-103.
- 34 Chee YL, Crawford JC, Watson HG, Greaves M. Guidelines on the assessment of bleeding risk prior to surgery or invasive procedures. British Committee for Standards in Haematology. *Br J Haematol* 2008; 140:496–504.
- 35 Kozek-Langenecker SA. Perioperative coagulation monitoring. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol* 2010; **24**:27–40.
- 36 Hiippala ST, Myllyla GJ, Vahtera EM. Hemostatic factors and replacement of major blood loss with plasma-poor red cell concentrates. *Anesth Analg* 1995; 81:360–365.
- 37 Clauss A. [Rapid physiological coagulation method in determination of fibrinogen]. Acta Haematol 1957; 17:237-246.
- 38 Adam S, Karger R, Kretschmer V. Influence of different hydroxyethyl starch (HES) formulations on fibrinogen measurement in HES-diluted plasma. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2010; **16**:454–460.
- 39 Adam S, Karger R, Kretschmer V. Photo-optical methods can lead to clinically relevant overestimation of fibrinogen concentration in plasma diluted with hydroxyethyl starch. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2010; 16:461-471.

- 40 Fenger-Eriksen C, Moore GW, Rangarajan S, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Fibrinogen estimates are influenced by methods of measurement and hemodilution with colloid plasma expanders. *Transfusion* 2010; 50:2571–2576.
- 41 Mackie J, Lawrie AS, Kitchen S, et al. A performance evaluation of commercial fibrinogen reference preparations and assays for Clauss and PT-derived fibrinogen. *Thromb Haemost* 2002; 87:997–1005.
- 42 Hartert H. Coagulation analysis with thromboelastography, a new method [in German]. *Klin Wochenschr* 1948; 26:577-658.
- 43 Lang T, Bauters A, Braun SL, et al. Multi-centre investigation on reference ranges for ROTEM thromboelastometry. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2005; 16:301–310.
- 44 Nielsen VG, Geary BT, Baird MS. Evaluation of the contribution of platelets to clot strength by thromboelastography in rabbits: the role of tissue factor and cytochalasin D. Anesth Analg 2000; 91:35– 39.
- 45 Fries D, Innerhofer P, Perger P, et al. [Coagulation management in trauma-related massive bleeding. - Recommendations of the Task Force for Coagulation (AGPG) of the Austrian Society of Anesthesiology, Resuscitation and Intensive Care Medicine (OGARI)]. Anasthesiol Intensivmed Notfallmed Schmerzther 2010; 45:552–561.
- 46 Cosmi B, Alatri A, Cattaneo M, et al. Assessment of the risk of bleeding in patients undergoing surgery or invasive procedures: Guidelines of the Italian Society for Haemostasis and Thrombosis (SISET). Thromb Res 2009; **124**:e6-e12.
- 47 Liumbruno GM, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, et al. Recommendations for the transfusion management of patients in the peri-operative period. I. The pre-operative period. Blood Transfus 2011; 9:19-40.
- 48 Bidlingmaier C, Olivieri M, Stelter K, Eberl W, von Kries R, Kurnik K. Postoperative bleeding in paediatric ENT surgery. First results of the German ESPED trial. *Hamostaseologie* 2010; **30 (Suppl 1)**: 108-111.
- 49 Eberl W, Wendt I, Schroeder HG. [Preoperative coagulation screening prior to adenoidectomy and tonsillectomy]. *Klin Padiatr* 2005; **217**:20– 24.
- 50 Eisert S, Hovermann M, Bier H, Gobel U. Preoperative screening for coagulation disorders in children undergoing adenoidectomy (AT) and tonsillectomy (TE): does it prevent bleeding complications? *Klin Padiatr* 2006; **218**:334–339.
- 51 Gerlinger I, Torok L, Nagy A, Patzko A, Losonczy H, Pytel J. [Frequency of coagulopathies in cases with post-tonsillectomy bleeding]. Orv Hetil 2008; 149:441-446.
- 52 Koscielny J, Ziemer S, Radtke H, et al. A practical concept for preoperative identification of patients with impaired primary hemostasis. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2004; 10:195–204.
- 53 Licameli GR, Jones DT, Santosuosso J, Lapp C, Brugnara C, Kenna MA. Use of a preoperative bleeding questionnaire in pediatric patients who undergo adenotonsillectomy. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2008; 139:546-550.
- 54 Scheckenbach K, Bier H, Hoffmann TK, et al. [Risk of hemorrhage after adenoidectomy and tonsillectomy. Value of the preoperative determination of partial thromboplastin time, prothrombin time and platelet count]. *HINO* 2008; **56**:312–320.
- 55 Schramm B, Leslie K, Myles PS, Hogan CJ. Coagulation studies in preoperative neurosurgical patients. *Anaesth Intensive Care* 2001; 29:388–392.
- 56 Schwaab M, Hansen S, Gurr A, Dazert S. [Significance of blood tests prior to adenoidectomy]. *Laryngorhinootologie* 2008; 87:100–106.
- 57 Schwaab M, Shagdarsuren S, Hansen S, Dazert S. [Are blood tests prior to ear operations in children necessary? A retrospective analysis]. *Laryngorhinootologie* 2009; 88:23–27.
- 58 Tosetto A, Castaman G, Rodeghiero F. Bleeding scores in inherited bleeding disorders: clinical or research tools? *Haemophilia* 2008; 14:415-422.
- 59 Ng KF, Lai KW, Tsang SF. Value of preoperative coagulation tests: reappraisal of major noncardiac surgery. World J Surg 2002; 26:515– 520.
- 60 Abdel MP, Morrey BF. Implications of revision total elbow arthroplasty on blood transfusion. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg* 2010; **19**:190–195.
- 61 Ayantunde AA, Ng MY, Pal S, Welch NT, Parsons SL. Analysis of blood transfusion predictors in patients undergoing elective oesophagectomy for cancer. *BMC Surg* 2008; 8:3.
- 62 Chang SS, Duong DT, Wells N, Cole EE, Smith JA Jr, Cookson MS. Predicting blood loss and transfusion requirements during radical prostatectomy: the significant negative impact of increasing body mass index. J Urol 2004; 171:1861–1865.
- 63 Durasek J, Dovzak-Bajs I, Saric V. [Factors affecting blood loss in total knee arthroplasty patients]. Acta Med Croatica 2010; 64:209–214.

- 64 Gamiz MJ, Lopez-Escamez JA. [Preoperative markers for risk of posttonsillectomy bleeding in adults]. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp 2000; 51:407-411.
- 65 Karkouti K, O'Farrell R, Yau TM, Beattie WS, Reducing Bleeding in Cardiac Surgery Research Group. Prediction of massive blood transfusion in cardiac surgery. *Can J Anaesth* 2006; **53**:781–794.
- 66 Kim J, Konyalian V, Huynh R, Mittal R, Stamos M, Kumar R. Identification of predictive factors for perioperative blood transfusion in colorectal resection patients. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2007; 22:1493–1497.
- 67 Lloyd JC, Banez LL, Aronson WJ, et al. Preoperative predictors of blood loss at the time of radical prostatectomy: results from the SEARCH database. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 2009; 12:264–268.
- 68 Odumala AO, Ayekoloye CI, Packer G. Predictors of excessive blood loss during operative treatment of hip fractures. J R Coll Surg Edinb 2002; 47:552–556.
- 69 Favaloro EJ, Kershaw G, Bukuya M, Hertzberg M, Koutts J. Laboratory diagnosis of von Willebrand disorder (vWD) and monitoring of DDAVP therapy: efficacy of the PFA-100 and vWF:CBA as combined diagnostic strategies. *Haemophilia* 2001; **7**:180–189.
- 70 Pfanner G, Koscielny J, Pernerstorfer T, et al. [Preoperative evaluation of the bleeding history. Recommendations of the working group on perioperative coagulation of the Austrian Society for Anaesthesia, Resuscitation and Intensive Care]. Anaesthesist 2007; 56:604-611.
- 71 Weber CF, Dietrich W, Spannagl M, Hofstetter C, Jambor C. A point-ofcare assessment of the effects of desmopressin on impaired platelet function using multiple electrode whole-blood aggregometry in patients after cardiac surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2010; **110**:702–707.
- 72 Weber CF, Görlinger K, Byhahn C, et al. Tranexamic acid partially improves platelet function in patients treated with dual antiplatelet therapy. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2011; 28:57–62.
- 73 Hayward CP, Harrison P, Cattaneo M, et al. Platelet function analyzer (PFA)-100 closure time in the evaluation of platelet disorders and platelet function. J Thromb Haemost 2006; 4:312–319.
- 74 Karger R, Donner-Banzhoff N, Muller HH, Kretschmer V, Hunink M. Diagnostic performance of the platelet function analyzer (PFA-100) for the detection of disorders of primary haemostasis in patients with a bleeding history-a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Platelets* 2007; 18:249–260.
- 75 Dyszkiewicz-Korpanty A, Olteanu H, Frenkel EP, Sarode R. Clopidogrel anti-platelet effect: an evaluation by optical aggregometry, impedance aggregometry, and the platelet function analyzer (PFA-100). *Platelets* 2007; **18**:491–496.
- 76 Kotzailias N, Elwischger K, Sycha T, et al. Clopidogrel-induced platelet inhibition cannot be detected by the platelet function analyzer-100 system in stroke patients. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2007; 16:199– 202.
- 77 Siller-Matula JM, Gouya G, Wolzt M, Jilma B. Cross validation of the Multiple Electrode Aggregometry. A prospective trial in healthy volunteers. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; **102**:397–403.
- 78 Kobsar AL, Koessler J, Rajkovic MS, Brunner KP, Steigerwald U, Walter U. Prostacyclin receptor stimulation facilitates detection of human platelet P2Y(12) receptor inhibition by the PFA-100 system. *Platelets* 2010; **21**:112–116.
- 79 Koessler J, Kobsar AL, Rajkovic MS, et al. The new INNOVANCE(R) PFA P2Y cartridge is sensitive to the detection of the P2Y(1)(2) receptor inhibition. *Platelets* 2011; 22:20–27.
- 80 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Preoperative tests (CG3) - The use of routine preoperative tests for elective surgery. http:// www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG3. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 81 De Hert S, Imberger G, Carlisle J, et al. Preoperative evaluation of the adult patient undergoing non-cardiac surgery: guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2011; 28:684-722.
- 82 Eckman MH, Erban JK, Singh SK, Kao GS. Screening for the risk for bleeding or thrombosis. *Ann Intern Med* 2003; **138**:W15-24.
- 83 Owen CA Jr. Historical account of tests of hemostasis. Am J Clin Pathol 1990; 93 (4 Suppl 1):S3-8.
- 84 Shaw PH, Reynolds S, Gunawardena S, Krishnamurti L, Ritchey AK. The prevalence of bleeding disorders among healthy pediatric patients with abnormal preprocedural coagulation studies. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol* 2008; 30:135–141.
- 85 Blome M, Isgro F, Kiessling AH, et al. Relationship between factor XIII activity, fibrinogen, haemostasis screening tests and postoperative bleeding in cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Thromb Haemost* 2005; 93:1101–1107.
- 86 Ucar HI, Oc M, Tok M, et al. Preoperative fibrinogen levels as a predictor of postoperative bleeding after open heart surgery. *Heart Surg Forum* 2007; 10:E392-396.

87 de Lloyd L, Bovington R, Kaye A, *et al.* Standard haemostatic tests following major obstetric haemorrhage. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2011; 20:135–141.

EJΔ

- 88 Korte W, Gabi K, Rohner M, et al. Preoperative fibrin monomer measurement allows risk stratification for high intraoperative blood loss in elective surgery. *Thromb Haemost* 2005; 94:211–215.
- 89 Miyashita T, Ando M, Hanafusa Y, Onishi Y, Kuro M. An analysis of risk factors of perioperative bleeding in surgical repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm. J Cardiovasc Surg 2000; 41:595–599.
- 90 Nair SC, Dargaud Y, Chitlur M, Srivastava A. Tests of global haemostasis and their applications in bleeding disorders. *Haemophilia* 2010; 16 (Suppl 5):85–92.
- 91 Segal JB, Dzik WH, Transfusion Medicine/Hemostasis Clinical Trials Network. Paucity of studies to support that abnormal coagulation test results predict bleeding in the setting of invasive procedures: an evidence-based review. *Transfusion* 2005; **45**:1413–1425.
- 92 Chee YL, Greaves M. Role of coagulation testing in predicting bleeding risk. *Hematol J* 2003; **4**:373–378.
- 93 Koscielny J, von Tempelhoff GF, Ziemer S, et al. A practical concept for preoperative management of patients with impaired primary hemostasis. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2004; 10:155–166.
- 94 Gabriel P, Mazoit X, Ecoffey C. Relationship between clinical history, coagulation tests, and perioperative bleeding during tonsillectomies in pediatrics. J Clin Anesth 2000; 12:288–291.
- 95 Munro J, Booth A, Nicholl J. Routine preoperative testing: a systematic review of the evidence. *Health Technol Assess* 1997; 1:i-iv; 1-62.
- 96 Coakley M, Evans C, Collins P, Hall JE. Predicting blood loss using novel thromboelastometry assays in cardiac surgery. *Anaesthesia* 2010; 65:99–100.
- 97 Coakley M, Hall JE, Evans C, et al. Assessment of thrombin generation measured before and after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery and its association with postoperative bleeding. J Thromb Haemost 2011; 9:282–292.
- 98 Dai Y, Lee A, Critchley LA, White PF. Does thromboelastography predict postoperative thromboembolic events? A systematic review of the literature. Anesth Analg 2009; 108:734–742.
- 99 Davidson SJ, McGrowder D, Roughton M, Kelleher AA. Can ROTEM thromboelastometry predict postoperative bleeding after cardiac surgery? J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2008; 22:655-661.
- 100 Reinhofer M, Brauer M, Franke U, Barz D, Marx G, Losche W. The value of rotation thromboelastometry to monitor disturbed perioperative haemostasis and bleeding risk in patients with cardiopulmonary bypass. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2008; **19**:212–219.
- 101 Pivalizza EG. Perioperative use of the Thrombelastograph in patients with inherited bleeding disorders. J Clin Anesth 2003; 15:366–370.
- 102 Achrol AS, Pawlikowska L, McCulloch CE, et al. Tumor necrosis factoralpha-238G>A promoter polymorphism is associated with increased risk of new hemorrhage in the natural course of patients with brain arteriovenous malformations. Stroke 2006; 37:231–234.
- 103 Achrol AS, Kim H, Pawlikowska L, et al. Association of tumor necrosis factor-alpha-238G>A and apolipoprotein E2 polymorphisms with intracranial hemorrhage after brain arteriovenous malformation treatment. *Neurosurgery* 2007; 61:731-739; discussion 740.
- 104 Agren A, Kolmert T, Wiman B, Schulman S. Low PAI-1 activity in relation to the risk for perioperative bleeding complications in transurethral resection of the prostate. *Thromb Res* 2007; **119**:715–721.
- 105 Sirgo G, Morales P, Rello J. PAI-1 gene: pharmacogenetic association of 4G/4G genotype with bleeding after cardiac surgery - pilot study. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2009; **26**:404–411.
- 106 Morawski W, Sanak M, Cisowski M, et al. Prediction of the excessive perioperative bleeding in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: role of aspirin and platelet glycoprotein Illa polymorphism. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005; **130**:791–796.
- 107 Pola E, Gaetani E, Pola R, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism may influence blood loss in a geriatric population undergoing total hip arthroplasty. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50:2025– 2028.
- 108 Welsby IJ, Podgoreanu MV, Phillips-Bute B, et al. Genetic factors contribute to bleeding after cardiac surgery. J Thromb Haemost 2005; 3:1206-1212.
- 109 Welsby IJ, Podgoreanu MV, Phillips-Bute B, et al. Association of the 98T ELAM-1 polymorphism with increased bleeding after cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2010; 24:427-433.
- 110 Gaarder C, Naess PA, Frischknecht Christensen E, et al. Scandinavian Guidelines-'The massively bleeding patient'. Scand J Surg 2008; 97:15–36.

- 111 Levi M, Toh CH, Thachil J, Watson HG. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of disseminated intravascular coagulation. British Committee for Standards in Haematology. *Br J Haematol* 2009; 145:24-33.
- 112 Liumbruno GM, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, et al. Recommendations for the transfusion management of patients in the peri-operative period. II. The intra-operative period. Blood Transfus 2011; 9:189–217.
- 113 Kashuk JL, Moore EE, Sawyer M, et al. Postinjury coagulopathy management: goal directed resuscitation via POC thrombelastography. Ann Surg 2010; 251:604–614.
- 114 Moganasundram S, Hunt BJ, Sykes K, et al. The relationship among thromboelastography, hemostatic variables, and bleeding after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery in children. Anesth Analg 2010; 110:995–1002.
- 115 Coakley M, Reddy K, Mackie I, Mallett S. Transfusion triggers in orthotopic liver transplantation: a comparison of the thromboelastometry analyzer, the thromboelastogram, and conventional coagulation tests. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth* 2006; **20**:548–553.
- 116 Rahe-Meyer N, Pichlmaier M, Haverich A, et al. Bleeding management with fibrinogen concentrate targeting a high-normal plasma fibrinogen level: a pilot study. Br J Anaesth 2009; **102**:785–792.
- 117 Rahe-Meyer N, Solomon C, Winterhalter M, *et al.* Thromboelastometryguided administration of fibrinogen concentrate for the treatment of excessive intraoperative bleeding in thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm surgery. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2009; **138**:694–702.
- 118 Schöchl H, Nienaber U, Maegele M, *et al.* Transfusion in trauma: thromboelastometry-guided coagulation factor concentrate-based therapy versus standard fresh frozen plasma-based therapy. *Crit Care* 2011; **15**:R83.
- 119 Weber CF, Görlinger K, Meininger D, et al. Point-of-care testing: a prospective, randomized clinical trial of efficacy in coagulopathic cardiac surgery patients. Anesthesiology 2012; 117:531–547.
- 120 Görlinger K, Dirkmann D, Hanke AA, et al. First-line therapy with coagulation factor concentrates combined with point-of-care coagulation testing is associated with decreased allogeneic blood transfusion in cardiovascular surgery: a retrospective, single-center cohort study. Anesthesiology 2011; **115**:1179-1191.
- 121 Ak K, Isbir CS, Tetik S, *et al.* Thromboelastography-based transfusion algorithm reduces blood product use after elective CABG: a prospective randomized study. *J Card Surg* 2009; **24**:404–410.
- 122 Johansson PI, Stensballe J. Effect of Haemostatic Control Resuscitation on mortality in massively bleeding patients: a before and after study. *Vox Sang* 2009; **96**:111–118.
- 123 Larsen OH, Fenger-Eriksen C, Christiansen K, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Diagnostic performance and therapeutic consequence of thromboelastometry activated by kaolin versus a panel of specific reagents. *Anesthesiology* 2011; **115**:294–302.
- 124 Schöchl H, Forster L, Woidke R, Solomon C, Voelckel W. Use of rotation thromboelastometry (ROTEM) to achieve successful treatment of polytrauma with fibrinogen concentrate and prothrombin complex concentrate. *Anaesthesia* 2010; 65:199–203.
- 125 Schöchl H, Nienaber U, Hofer G, et al. Goal-directed coagulation management of major trauma patients using thromboelastometry (ROTEM)-guided administration of fibrinogen concentrate and prothrombin complex concentrate. *Crit Care* 2010; **14**:R55.
- 126 Schöchl H, Posch A, Hanke A, Voelckel W, Solomon C. High-dose fibrinogen concentrate for haemostatic therapy of a major trauma patient with recent clopidogrel and aspirin intake. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 2010; **70**:453–457.
- 127 Nylund CM, Borgman MA, Holcomb JB, Jenkins D, Spinella PC. Thromboelastography to direct the administration of recombinant activated factor VII in a child with traumatic injury requiring massive transfusion. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2009; **10**:e22– e26.
- 128 Walker C, Ingram M, Edwards D, Wood P. Use of thromboelastometry in the assessment of coagulation before epidural insertion after massive transfusion. *Anaesthesia* 2011; 66:52–55.
- 129 Girdauskas E, Kempfert J, Kuntze T, *et al.* Thromboelastometrically guided transfusion protocol during aortic surgery with circulatory arrest: a prospective, randomized trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010; 140:1117–1124; e1112.
- 130 Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Parallel use of by-passing agents in haemophilia with inhibitors: a critical review. Br J Haematol 2011; 155:256-262.
- 131 Lee SH, Lee SM, Kim CS, et al. Use of fibrin-based thromboelastometry for cryoprecipitate transfusion in cardiac surgery involving deep hypothermic circulatory arrest during cardiopulmonary bypass. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2010; **21**:687–691.

- 132 Fuchs RJ, Levin J, Tadel M, Merritt W. Perioperative coagulation management in a patient with afibrinogenemia undergoing liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2007; **13**:752–756.
- 133 Wang SC, Shieh JF, Chang KY, *et al.* Thromboelastography-guided transfusion decreases intraoperative blood transfusion during orthotopic liver transplantation: randomized clinical trial. *Transplant Proc* 2010; 42:2590–2593.
- 134 Trzebicki J, Flakiewicz E, Kosieradzki M, et al. The use of thromboelastometry in the assessment of hemostasis during orthotopic liver transplantation reduces the demand for blood products. Ann Transplant 2010; 15:19–24.
- 135 Armstrong S, Fernando R, Ashpole K, Simons R, Columb M. Assessment of coagulation in the obstetric population using ROTEM(R) thromboelastometry. Int J Obstet Anesth 2011; 20:293–298.
- 136 Urwyler N, Staub LP, Beran D, et al. Is perioperative point-of-care prothrombin time testing accurate compared to the standard laboratory test? *Thromb Haemost* 2009; **102**:779-786.
- 137 Kashuk JL, Moore EE, Sabel A, et al. Rapid thrombelastography (r-TEG) identifies hypercoagulability and predicts thromboembolic events in surgical patients. Surgery 2009; 146:764–772.
- 138 Nielsen AB, Bochsen L, Steinbruchel DA. Hypercoagulability and platelet inhibition after OPCAB. Randomized intervention with clopidogrel. *Scand Cardiovasc J* 2007; **41**:325–330.
- 139 Tripodi A, Cappellini MD, Chantarangkul V, et al. Hypercoagulability in splenectomized thalassemic patients detected by whole-blood thromboelastometry, but not by thrombin generation in platelet-poor plasma. Haematologica 2009; 94:1520–1527.
- 140 Watters JM, Sambasivan CN, Zink K, et al. Splenectomy leads to a persistent hypercoagulable state after trauma. Am J Surg 2010; 199:646-651.
- 141 Dara SI, Rana R, Afessa B, Moore SB, Gajic O. Fresh frozen plasma transfusion in critically ill medical patients with coagulopathy. *Crit Care Med* 2005; **33**:2667–2671.
- 142 Verlicchi F, Facco G, Macri M, Antoncecchi S, Bonomo P. Blood transfusion practice: a nationwide survey in Italy. *Blood Transfus* 2011; 9:430-435.
- 143 Jans O, Kehlet H, Hussain Z, Johansson PI. Transfusion practice in hip arthroplasty a nationwide study. *Vox Sang* 2011; **100**:374–380.
- 144 Despotis G, Eby C, Lublin DM. A review of transfusion risks and optimal management of perioperative bleeding with cardiac surgery. *Transfusion* 2008; **48 (1 Suppl)**:2S-30S.
- 145 Massicotte L, Sassine MP, Lenis S, Roy A. Transfusion predictors in liver transplant. Anesth Analg 2004; 98:1245–1251.
- 146 Cammerer U, Dietrich W, Rampf T, Braun SL, Richter JA. The predictive value of modified computerized thromboelastography and platelet function analysis for postoperative blood loss in routine cardiac surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2003; **96**:51–57.
- 147 Wahba A, Sander S, Birnbaum DE. Are in-vitro platelet function tests useful in predicting blood loss following open heart surgery? *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1998; **46**:228–231.
- 148 Forestier F, Coiffic A, Mouton C, Ekouevi D, Chene G, Janvier G. Platelet function point-of-care tests in post-bypass cardiac surgery: are they relevant? *Br J Anaesth* 2002; **89**:715–721.
- 149 Shenkman B, Einav Y, Salomon O, Varon D, Savion N. Testing agonistinduced platelet aggregation by the Impact-R [Cone and plate(let) analyzer (CPA)]. *Platelets* 2008; **19**:440–446.
- 150 Schmid W, Steindl-Munda P, Madl C, Budde U, Volf I, Panzer S. Estimation of platelet function under high shear conditions to assist a rapid diagnosis of Heyde Syndrome. *Platelets* 2008; **19**:636–640.
- 151 Shah U, Ma AD. Tests of platelet function. Curr Opin Hematol 2007; 14:432-437.
- 152 Jacoby RC, Owings JT, Holmes J, Battistella FD, Gosselin RC, Paglieroni TG. Platelet activation and function after trauma. *J Trauma* 2001; **51**:639-647.
- 153 Solomon C, Traintinger S, Ziegler B, et al. Platelet function following trauma. A multiple electrode aggregometry study. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **106**:322–330.
- 154 Velik-Salchner C, Maier S, Innerhofer P, et al. An assessment of cardiopulmonary bypass-induced changes in platelet function using whole blood and classical light transmission aggregometry: the results of a pilot study. Anesth Analg 2009; 108:1747–1754.
- 155 Straub A, Schiebold D, Wendel HP, et al. Using reagent-supported thromboelastometry (ROTEM) to monitor haemostatic changes in congenital heart surgery employing deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008; 34:641–647.
- 156 Hartmann M, Sucker C, Boehm O, Koch A, Loer S, Zacharowski K. Effects of cardiac surgery on hemostasis. *Transfus Med Rev* 2006; 20:230-241.

- 157 Fukumura F, Sese A, Ueno Y, et al. Haemostatic profile of small children during and following cardiopulmonary bypass. Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003; 51:577–581.
- 158 Solomon C, Hartmann J, Osthaus A, et al. Platelet concentrates transfusion in cardiac surgery in relation to preoperative point-of-care assessment of platelet adhesion and aggregation. *Platelets* 2010; 21:221-228.
- 159 Ranucci M, Baryshnikova E, Soro G, et al. Multiple electrode wholeblood aggregometry and bleeding in cardiac surgery patients receiving thienopyridines. Ann Thorac Surg 2011; 91:123–129.
- 160 Mahla E, Suarez TA, Bliden KP, et al. Platelet function measurementbased strategy to reduce bleeding and waiting time in clopidogreltreated patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: the timing based on platelet function strategy to reduce clopidogrelassociated bleeding related to CABG (TARGET-CABG) study. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 5:261–269.
- 161 Pereboom IT, Adelmeijer J, van Leeuwen Y, Hendriks HG, Porte RJ, Lisman T. No evidence for systemic platelet activation during or after orthotopic liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2009; **15**:956–962.
- 162 Schulte am Esch J 2nd, Akyildiz A, Tustas RY, et al. ADP-dependent platelet function prior to and in the early course of pediatric liver transplantation and persisting thrombocytopenia are positively correlated with ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Transpl Int* 2010; 23:745– 752.
- 163 Cherian JV, Deepak N, Ponnusamy RP, Somasundaram A, Jayanthi V. Non-invasive predictors of esophageal varices. *Saudi J Gastroenterol* 2011; **17**:64–68.
- 164 Goulis J, Chau TN, Jordan S, et al. Thrombopoietin concentrations are low in patients with cirrhosis and thrombocytopenia and are restored after orthotopic liver transplantation. Gut 1999; 44:754-758.
- 165 Caldwell SH, Hoffman M, Lisman T, et al. Coagulation disorders and hemostasis in liver disease: pathophysiology and critical assessment of current management. *Hepatology* 2006; **44**:1039–1046.
- 166 Rubin MH, Weston MJ, Langley PG, White Y, Williams R. Platelet function in chronic liver disease: relationship to disease severity. *Dig Dis Sci* 1979; 24:197–202.
- 167 Lisman T, Leebeek FW, de Groot PG. Haemostatic abnormalities in patients with liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2002; **37**:280–287.
- 168 Hugenholtz GG, Porte RJ, Lisman T. The platelet and platelet function testing in liver disease. *Clin Liver Dis* 2009; **13**:11–20.
- 169 Simchen MJ, Oz R, Shenkman B, Zimran A, Elstein D, Kenet G. Impaired platelet function and peripartum bleeding in women with Gaucher disease. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **105**:509–514.
- 170 Flood K, Peace A, Kent E, et al. Platelet reactivity and pregnancy loss. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2010; 203:281; e281-285.
- 171 Roberts HR, Monroe DM, Escobar MA. Current concepts of hemostasis: implications for therapy. *Anesthesiology* 2004; **100**:722-730.
- 172 Lillicrap D, Nair SC, Srivastava A, Rodeghiero F, Pabinger I, Federici AB. Laboratory issues in bleeding disorders. *Haemophilia* 2006; **12** (Suppl 3):68–75.
- 173 Paniccia R, Antonucci E, Maggini N, et al. Assessment of platelet function on whole blood by multiple electrode aggregometry in high-risk patients with coronary artery disease receiving antiplatelet therapy. Am J Clin Pathol 2009; **131**:834–842.
- 174 Sibbing D, Braun S, Jawansky S, et al. Assessment of ADP-induced platelet aggregation with light transmission aggregometry and multiple electrode platelet aggregometry before and after clopidogrel treatment. *Thromb Haemost* 2008; **99**:121–126.
- 175 Jambor C, Weber CF, Gerhardt K, et al. Whole blood multiple electrode aggregometry is a reliable point-of-care test of aspirin-induced platelet dysfunction. Anesth Analg 2009; 109:25–31.
- 176 Craft RM, Chavez JJ, Snider CC, Muenchen RA, Carroll RC. Comparison of modified Thrombelastograph and Plateletworks whole blood assays to optical platelet aggregation for monitoring reversal of clopidogrel inhibition in elective surgery patients. *J Lab Clin Med* 2005; **145**:309– 315.
- 177 White MM, Krishnan R, Kueter TJ, Jacoski MV, Jennings LK. The use of the point of care Helena ICHOR/Plateletworks and the Accumetrics Ultegra RPFA for assessment of platelet function with GPIIB-Illa antagonists. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* 2004; **18**:163– 169.
- 178 van Werkum JW, Kleibeuker M, Postma S, *et al.* A comparison between the Plateletworks-assay and light transmittance aggregometry for monitoring the inhibitory effects of clopidogrel. *Int J Cardiol* 2010; **140**:123–126.
- 179 Breet NJ, van Werkum JW, Bouman HJ, et al. Comparison of platelet function tests in predicting clinical outcome in patients undergoing coronary stent implantation. JAMA 2010; 303:754-762.

- 180 Mani H, Linnemann B, Luxembourg B, Kirchmayr K, Lindhoff-Last E. Response to aspirin and clopidogrel monitored with different platelet function methods. *Platelets* 2006; **17**:303–310.
- 181 Franz A, Braunlich P, Gamsjager T, Felfernig M, Gustorff B, Kozek-Langenecker SA. The effects of hydroxyethyl starches of varying molecular weights on platelet function. *Anesth Analg* 2001; 92:1402– 1407.
- 182 Innerhofer P, Fries D, Margreiter J, et al. The effects of perioperatively administered colloids and crystalloids on primary platelet-mediated hemostasis and clot formation. Anesth Analg 2002; 95:858-865.
- 183 Steinlechner B, Zeidler P, Base E, et al. Patients with severe aortic valve stenosis and impaired platelet function benefit from preoperative desmopressin infusion. Ann Thorac Surg 2011; 91:1420– 1426.
- 184 Salama ME, Raman S, Drew MJ, Abdel-Raheem M, Mahmood MN. Platelet function testing to assess effectiveness of platelet transfusion therapy. *Transfus Apher Sci* 2004; **30**:93–100.
- 185 Despotis GJ, Levine V, Saleem R, Spitznagel E, Joist JH. Use of point-ofcare test in identification of patients who can benefit from desmopressin during cardiac surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 1999; 354:106–110.
- 186 Rahe-Meyer N, Winterhalter M, Boden A, et al. Platelet concentrates transfusion in cardiac surgery and platelet function assessment by multiple electrode aggregometry. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2009; 53:168–175.
- 187 Sibbing D, Busch G, Braun S, et al. Impact of bivalirudin or unfractionated heparin on platelet aggregation in patients pretreated with 600 mg clopidogrel undergoing elective percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J 2008; 29:1504–1509.
- 188 Despotis GJ, Goodnough LT. Management approaches to plateletrelated microvascular bleeding in cardiothoracic surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2000; 70 (2 Suppl):S20-32.
- 189 Chen L, Bracey AW, Radovancevic R, et al. Clopidogrel and bleeding in patients undergoing elective coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004; 128:425–431.
- 190 Kumar A. Perioperative management of anemia: limits of blood transfusion and alternatives to it. *Cleve Clin J Med* 2009; **76** (Suppl 4):S112-118.
- 191 Goodnough LT, Maniatis A, Earnshaw P, et al. Detection, evaluation, and management of preoperative anaemia in the elective orthopaedic surgical patient: NATA guidelines. Br J Anaesth 2011; 106:13–22.
- 192 Karkouti K, Wijeysundera DN, Beattie WS. Reducing Bleeding in Cardiac Surgery Investigators. Risk associated with preoperative anemia in cardiac surgery: a multicenter cohort study. *Circulation* 2008; 117:478–484.
- 193 Boening A, Boedeker RH, Scheibelhut C, Rietzschel J, Roth P, Schonburg M. Anemia before coronary artery bypass surgery as additional risk factor increases the perioperative risk. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **92**:805–810.
- 194 Musallam KM, Tamim HM, Richards T, et al. Preoperative anaemia and postoperative outcomes in non-cardiac surgery: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2011; 378:1396-1407.
- 195 Dunne JR, Malone D, Tracy JK, Gannon C, Napolitano LM. Perioperative anemia: an independent risk factor for infection, mortality, and resource utilization in surgery. J Surg Res 2002; **102**:237–244.
- 196 Saleh E, McClelland DB, Hay A, Semple D, Walsh TS. Prevalence of anaemia before major joint arthroplasty and the potential impact of preoperative investigation and correction on perioperative blood transfusions. Br J Anaesth 2007; **99**:801–808.
- 197 Shander A, Knight K, Thurer R, Adamson J, Spence R. Prevalence and outcomes of anemia in surgery: a systematic review of the literature. *Am J Med* 2004; **116 (Suppl 7A)**:58S–69S.
- 198 Monk TG. Preoperative recombinant human erythropoietin in anemic surgical patients. *Crit Care* 2004; 8 (Suppl 2):S45-48.
- 199 Ather MH, Faruqui N, Abid F. Optimization of low pre-operative hemoglobin reduces transfusion requirement in patients undergoing transurethral resection of prostate. *J Pak Med Assoc* 2003; **53**:104– 106.
- 200 Cushner FD, Hawes T, Kessler D, Hill K, Scuderi GR. Orthopaedicinduced anemia: the fallacy of autologous donation programs. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2005 Feb; (431):145–149.
- 201 Hastka J, Heimpel H, Metzgeroth G. [Iron deficiency and iron-deficiency anaemia]. Onkopedia; 2011. http://www.dgho-onkopedia.de/ onkopedia/leitlinien/eisenmangel-und-eisenmangelanaemie. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 202 Tefferi A. Anemia in adults: a contemporary approach to diagnosis. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2003; **78**:1274–1280.

- 203 Okuyama M, Ikeda K, Shibata T, Tsukahara Y, Kitada M, Shimano T. Preoperative iron supplementation and intraoperative transfusion during colorectal cancer surgery. *Surg Today* 2005; **35**:36–40.
- 204 Lidder PG, Sanders G, Whitehead E, *et al.* Pre-operative oral iron supplementation reduces blood transfusion in colorectal surgery - a prospective, randomised, controlled trial. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2007; 89:418-421.
- 205 Cuenca J, Garcia-Erce JA, Martinez F, Cardona R, Perez-Serrano L, Munoz M. Preoperative haematinics and transfusion protocol reduce the need for transfusion after total knee replacement. *Int J Surg* 2007; 5:89–94.
- 206 Andrews CM, Lane DW, Bradley JG. Iron pre-load for major joint replacement. *Transfus Med* 1997; 7:281–286.
- 207 Quinn M, Drummond RJ, Ross F, Murray J, Murphy J, Macdonald A. Short course pre-operative ferrous sulphate supplementation-is it worthwhile in patients with colorectal cancer? *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 2010; 92:569-572.
- 208 Lachance K, Savoie M, Bernard M, et al. Oral ferrous sulfate does not increase preoperative hemoglobin in patients scheduled for hip or knee arthroplasty. Ann Pharmacother 2011; 45:764–770.
- 209 Armand-Ugon R, Cheong T, Matapandewu G, et al. Efficacy of intravenous iron for treating postpartum anemia in low-resource African countries: a pilot study in Malawi. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2011; 20:123-127.
- 210 Theusinger OM, Leyvraz PF, Schanz U, Seifert B, Spahn DR. Treatment of iron deficiency anemia in orthopedic surgery with intravenous iron: efficacy and limits: a prospective study. *Anesthesiology* 2007; 107:923-927.
- 211 Munoz M, Garcia-Erce JA, Diez-Lobo AI, et al. [Usefulness of the administration of intravenous iron sucrose for the correction of preoperative anemia in major surgery patients]. *Med Clin* 2009; 132:303–306.
- 212 Edwards TJ, Noble EJ, Durran A, Mellor N, Hosie KB. Randomized clinical trial of preoperative intravenous iron sucrose to reduce blood transfusion in anaemic patients after colorectal cancer surgery. *Br J Surg* 2009; **96**:1122–1128.
- 213 Kim YH, Chung HH, Kang SB, Kim SC, Kim YT. Safety and usefulness of intravenous iron sucrose in the management of preoperative anemia in patients with menorrhagia: a phase IV, open-label, prospective, randomized study. Acta Haematol 2009; 121:37–41.
- 214 Cuenca Espierrez J, Garcia Erce JA, Martinez Martin AA, Solano VM, Modrego Aranda FJ. [Safety and usefulness of parenteral iron in the management of anemia due to hip fracture in the elderly]. *Med Clin* 2004; **123**:281–285.
- 215 Garcia-Erce JA, Cuenca J, Martinez F, Cardona R, Perez-Serrano L, Munoz M. Perioperative intravenous iron preserves iron stores and may hasten the recovery from post-operative anaemia after knee replacement surgery. *Transfus Med* 2006; **16**:335–341.
- 216 Hoen B, Paul-Dauphin A, Kessler M. Intravenous iron administration does not significantly increase the risk of bacteremia in chronic hemodialysis patients. *Clin Nephrol* 2002; **57**:457–461.
- 217 Laupacis A, Fergusson D. Erythropoietin to minimize perioperative blood transfusion: a systematic review of randomized trials. The International Study of Peri-operative Transfusion (ISPOT) Investigators. *Transfus Med* 1998; 8:309–317.
- 218 Alghamdi AA, Albanna MJ, Guru V, Brister SJ. Does the use of erythropoietin reduce the risk of exposure to allogeneic blood transfusion in cardiac surgery? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Card Surg* 2006; **21**:320–326.
- 219 Devon KM, McLeod RS. Pre and peri-operative erythropoietin for reducing allogeneic blood transfusions in colorectal cancer surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009; (1):CD007148.
- 220 Gascon P. Safety update on erythropoiesis-stimulating agents: trials within and outside the accepted indications. *Oncologist* 2008; **13** (Suppl 3):4–10.
- 221 de Andrade JR, Jove M, Landon G, Frei D, Guilfoyle M, Young DC. Baseline hemoglobin as a predictor of risk of transfusion and response to Epoetin alfa in orthopedic surgery patients. *Am J Orthop* 1996; 25:533-542.
- 222 Feagan BG, Wong CJ, Kirkley A, et al. Erythropoietin with iron supplementation to prevent allogeneic blood transfusion in total hip joint arthroplasty. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2000; 133:845–854.
- 223 Stowell CP, Chandler H, Jove M, Guilfoyle M, Wacholtz MC. An openlabel, randomized study to compare the safety and efficacy of perioperative epoetin alfa with preoperative autologous blood donation in total joint arthroplasty. *Orthopedics* 1999; **22 (1 Suppl)**: s105-112.

- 224 Weber EW, Slappendel R, Hemon Y, *et al.* Effects of epoetin alfa on blood transfusions and postoperative recovery in orthopaedic surgery: the European Epoetin Alfa Surgery Trial (EEST). *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2005; **22**:249–257.
- 225 Faris PM, Ritter MA, Abels RI. The effects of recombinant human erythropoietin on perioperative transfusion requirements in patients having a major orthopaedic operation. The American Erythropoietin Study Group. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1996; **78**:62–72.
- 226 Yoo YC, Shim JK, Kim JC, Jo YY, Lee JH, Kwak YL. Effect of single recombinant human erythropoietin injection on transfusion requirements in preoperatively anemic patients undergoing valvular heart surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2011; **115**:929–937.
- 227 Christodoulakis M, Tsiftsis DD. Hellenic Surgical Oncology Perioperative EPOSG. Preoperative epoetin alfa in colorectal surgery: a randomized, controlled study. Ann Surg Oncol 2005; 12:718–725.
- 228 Braga M, Gianotti L, Vignali A, *et al.* Evaluation of recombinant human erythropoietin to facilitate autologous blood donation before surgery in anaemic patients with cancer of the gastrointestinal tract. *Br J Surg* 1995; 82:1637–1640.
- 229 Qvist N, Boesby S, Wolff B, Hansen CP. Recombinant human erythropoietin and hemoglobin concentration at operation and during the postoperative period: reduced need for blood transfusions in patients undergoing colorectal surgery–prospective double-blind placebo-controlled study. *World J Surg* 1999; **23**:30–35.
- 230 Kosmadakis N, Messaris E, Maris A, et al. Perioperative erythropoietin administration in patients with gastrointestinal tract cancer: prospective randomized double-blind study. Ann Surg 2003; 237:417-421.
- 231 Avall A, Hyllner M, Bengtson JP, Carlsson L, Bengtsson A. Recombinant human erythropoietin in preoperative autologous blood donation did not influence the haemoglobin recovery after surgery. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2003; **47**:687–692.
- 232 Monk TG, Goodnough LT, Brecher ME, Colberg JW, Andriole GL, Catalona WJ. A prospective randomized comparison of three blood conservation strategies for radical prostatectomy. *Anesthesiology* 1999; **91**:24–33.
- 233 Kettelhack C, Hones C, Messinger D, Schlag PM. Randomized multicentre trial of the influence of recombinant human erythropoietin on intraoperative and postoperative transfusion need in anaemic patients undergoing right hemicolectomy for carcinoma. *Br J Surg* 1998; 85:63– 67.
- 234 Green D, Lawler M, Rosen M, et al. Recombinant human erythropoietin: effect on the functional performance of anemic orthopedic patients. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1996; 77:242–246.
- 235 Dousias V, Stefos T, Navrozoglou I, Staikos I, Ditto A, Paraskevaidis E. Administration of recombinant human erythropoietin in patients with gynecological cancer before radical surgery. *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol* 2005; **32**:129–131.
- 236 Dousias V, Paraskevaidis E, Dalkalitsis N, Tsanadis G, Navrozoglou I, Lolis D. Recombinant human erythropoietin in mildly anemic women before total hysterectomy. *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol* 2003; **30**:235– 238.
- 237 Larson B, Bremme K, Clyne N, Nordstrom L. Preoperative treatment of anemic women with epoetin beta. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2001; 80:559-562.
- 238 Bisbe E, Castillo J, Nomen N, Mestre C, Gonzalez R, Comps O. [Preoperative erythropoietin as blood conservation technique for elderly patients in elective orthopedic surgery]. *Med Clin (Barc)* 2004; 123:413–415.
- 239 Bisbe E, Saez M, Nomen N, et al. [Erythropoietin alone or as an adjuvant for the autologous blood donation program in major orthopedic surgery]. *Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim* 2003; **50**:395–400.
- 240 Sesti F, Ticconi C, Bonifacio S, Piccione E. Preoperative administration of recombinant human erythropoietin in patients undergoing gynecologic surgery. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2002; 54:1–5.
- 241 Goldberg MA, McCutchen JW, Jove M, et al. A safety and efficacy comparison study of two dosing regimens of epoetin alfa in patients undergoing major orthopedic surgery. Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ) 1996; 25:544-552.
- 242 Stowell CP, Jones SC, Enny C, Langholff W, Leitz G. An open-label, randomized, parallel-group study of perioperative epoetin alfa versus standard of care for blood conservation in major elective spinal surgery: safety analysis. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 2009; **34**:2479– 2485.
- 243 Garcia-Erce JA, Cuenca J, Haman-Alcober S, Martinez AA, Herrera A, Munoz M. Efficacy of preoperative recombinant human erythropoietin administration for reducing transfusion requirements in patients undergoing surgery for hip fracture repair. An observational cohort study. *Vox Sang* 2009; **97**:260–267.

- 244 Kennedy C, Leonard M, Devitt A, Girardi FP, Cammisa FP Jr. Efficacy of preoperative autologous blood donation for elective posterior lumbar spinal surgery. Spine 2011; 36:E1736–1743.
- 245 Henry DA, Carless PA, Moxey AJ, et al. Pre-operative autologous donation for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2002; (2):CD003602.
- 246 Kiyama H, Ohshima N, Imazeki T, Yamada T. Autologous blood donation with recombinant human erythropoietin in anemic patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1999; **68**:1652–1656.
- 247 Billote DB, Glisson SN, Green D, Wixson RL. Efficacy of preoperative autologous blood donation: analysis of blood loss and transfusion practice in total hip replacement. J Clin Anesth 2000; 12:537–542.
- 248 Jawan B, Cheng YF, Tseng CC, et al. Effect of autologous blood donation on the central venous pressure, blood loss and blood transfusion during living donor left hepatectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2005; 11:4233–4236.
- 249 Sule SD, Bartlett S, Parker A, Dorsi M, Towns M, Bathon J. Preoperative autologous blood donation by arthritis patients is associated with preoperative anemia and perioperative transfusion. *J Clin Rheumatol* 2004; **10**:252–258.
- 250 Hyllner M, Avall A, Swolin B, Bengtson JP, Bengtson A. Autologous blood transfusion in radical hysterectomy with and without erythropoietin therapy. *Obstet Gynecol* 2002; **99 (5 Pt 1)**:757–762.
- 251 Kasper SM, Giesecke T, Limpers P, Sabatowski R, Mehlhorn U, Diefenbach C. Failure of autologous fresh frozen plasma to reduce blood loss and transfusion requirements in coronary artery bypass surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2001; **95**:81–86.
- 252 Farouk M, El-Halafawy Y, Hememy W, Khedr H, Sadek H. Effect of autologous platelet-rich plasma on blood loss and haemostatic functions in patients undergoing open-heart surgery. *Egypt J Anaesth* 2003; 19:225–231.
- 253 Izuel-Rami M, Cuenca Espierrez J, Garcia-Erce JA, Gomez-Barrera M, Carcelen Andres J, Rabanaque Hernandez MJ. [Perioperative anaemia in geriatric patients with hip fracture]. *Farm Hosp* 2005; 29:250-257.
- 254 Kubota R, Nozawa M, Matsuda K, *et al.* Combined preoperative autologous blood donation and intra-operative cell salvage for hip surgery. *J Orthop Surg* 2009; **17**:288–290.
- 255 Brandstrup B, Tonnesen H, Beier-Holgersen R, et al. Effects of intravenous fluid restriction on postoperative complications: comparison of two perioperative fluid regimens: a randomized assessor-blinded multicenter trial. Ann Surg 2003; 238:641–648.
- 256 Cohn SM, Pearl RG, Acosta SM, et al. A prospective randomized pilot study of near-infrared spectroscopy-directed restricted fluid therapy versus standard fluid therapy in patients undergoing elective colorectal surgery. Am Surg 2010; **76**:1384–1392.
- 257 Futier E, Constantin JM, Petit A, *et al.* Conservative vs restrictive individualized goal-directed fluid replacement strategy in major abdominal surgery: a prospective randomized trial. *Arch Surg* 2010; 145:1193-1200.
- 258 Gan TJ, Soppitt A, Maroof M, et al. Goal-directed intraoperative fluid administration reduces length of hospital stay after major surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2002; 97:820–826.
- 259 Hiltebrand LB, Pestel G, Hager H, Ratnaraj J, Sigurdsson GH, Kurz A. Perioperative fluid management: comparison of high, medium and low fluid volume on tissue oxygen pressure in the small bowel and colon. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2007; 24:927–933.
- 260 Holte K, Klarskov B, Christensen DS, et al. Liberal versus restrictive fluid administration to improve recovery after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a randomized, double-blind study. Ann Surg 2004; 240:892–899.
- 261 Holte K, Kristensen BB, Valentiner L, Foss NB, Husted H, Kehlet H. Liberal versus restrictive fluid management in knee arthroplasty: a randomized, double-blind study. Anesth Analg 2007; 105:465-474.
- 262 Kabon B, Akca O, Taguchi A, et al. Supplemental intravenous crystalloid administration does not reduce the risk of surgical wound infection. Anesth Analg 2005; 101:1546–1553.
- 263 Lobo DN, Bostock KA, Neal KR, Perkins AC, Rowlands BJ, Allison SP. Effect of salt and water balance on recovery of gastrointestinal function after elective colonic resection: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2002; **359**:1812–1818.
- 264 MacKay G, Fearon K, McConnachie A, Serpell MG, Molloy RG, O'Dwyer PJ. Randomized clinical trial of the effect of postoperative intravenous fluid restriction on recovery after elective colorectal surgery. *Br J Surg* 2006; **93**:1469–1474.
- 265 Magner JJ, McCaul C, Carton E, Gardiner J, Buggy D. Effect of intraoperative intravenous crystalloid infusion on postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynaecological laparoscopy: comparison of 30 and 10 ml kg<sup>-1</sup>. Br J Anaesth 2004; **93**:381–385.

- 266 Maharaj CH, Kallam SR, Malik A, Hassett P, Grady D, Laffey JG. Preoperative intravenous fluid therapy decreases postoperative nausea and pain in high risk patients. *Anesth Analg* 2005; **100**:675–682.
- 267 Nisanevich V, Felsenstein I, Almogy G, Weissman C, Einav S, Matot I. Effect of intraoperative fluid management on outcome after intraabdominal surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2005; **103**:25–32.
- 268 Jacob M, Chappell D, Rehm M. Clinical update: perioperative fluid management. *Lancet* 2007; 369:1984–1986.
- 269 Conway DH, Mayall R, Abdul-Latif MS, Gilligan S, Tackaberry C. Randomised controlled trial investigating the influence of intravenous fluid titration using oesophageal Doppler monitoring during bowel surgery. *Anaesthesia* 2002; 57:845–849.
- 270 Bundgaard-Nielsen M, Holte K, Secher NH, Kehlet H. Monitoring of perioperative fluid administration by individualized goal-directed therapy. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2007; **51**:331–340.
- 271 Kehlet H. Multimodal approach to control postoperative pathophysiology and rehabilitation. Br J Anaesth 1997; 78:606–617.
- 272 Gurgel ST, do Nascimento P Jr. Maintaining tissue perfusion in high-risk surgical patients: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. *Anesth Analg* 2011; **112**:1384–1391.
- 273 Hamilton MA, Cecconi M, Rhodes A. A systematic review and metaanalysis on the use of preemptive hemodynamic intervention to improve postoperative outcomes in moderate and high-risk surgical patients. *Anesth Analg* 2011; **112**:1392–1402.
- 274 Bellamy MC. Wet, dry or something else? Br J Anaesth 2006; 97:755– 757.
- 275 Holte K, Sharrock NE, Kehlet H. Pathophysiology and clinical implications of perioperative fluid excess. Br J Anaesth 2002; 89:622– 632.
- 276 Baron JF, De Kegel D, Prost AC, *et al.* Low molecular weight hydroxyethyl starch 6% compared to albumin 4% during intentional hemodilution. *Intensive Care Med* 1991; **17**:141–148.
- 277 Riddez L, Hahn RG, Brismar B, Strandberg A, Svensen C, Hedenstierna G. Central and regional hemodynamics during acute hypovolemia and volume substitution in volunteers. *Crit Care Med* 1997; 25:635–640.
- 278 Chan ST, Kapadia CR, Johnson AW, Radcliffe AG, Dudley HA. Extracellular fluid volume expansion and third space sequestration at the site of small bowel anastomoses. *Br J Surg* 1983; **70**:36–39.
- 279 Marik PE, Baram M, Vahid B. Does central venous pressure predict fluid responsiveness? A systematic review of the literature and the tale of seven mares. *Chest* 2008; **134**:172–178.
- 280 Marik PE, Cavallazzi R, Vasu T, Hirani A. Dynamic changes in arterial waveform derived variables and fluid responsiveness in mechanically ventilated patients: a systematic review of the literature. *Crit Care Med* 2009; **37**:2642–2647.
- 281 Mythen MG, Webb AR. Perioperative plasma volume expansion reduces the incidence of gut mucosal hypoperfusion during cardiac surgery. *Arch Surg* 1995; **130**:423–429.
- 282 Noblett SE, Snowden CP, Shenton BK, Horgan AF. Randomized clinical trial assessing the effect of Doppler-optimized fluid management on outcome after elective colorectal resection. *Br J Surg* 2006; **93**:1069– 1076.
- 283 Sinclair S, James S, Singer M. Intraoperative intravascular volume optimisation and length of hospital stay after repair of proximal femoral fracture: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 1997; **315**:909–912.
- 284 Venn R, Steele A, Richardson P, Poloniecki J, Grounds M, Newman P. Randomized controlled trial to investigate influence of the fluid challenge on duration of hospital stay and perioperative morbidity in patients with hip fractures. *Br J Anaesth* 2002; **88**:65–71.
- 285 Wakeling HG, McFall MR, Jenkins CS, et al. Intraoperative oesophageal Doppler guided fluid management shortens postoperative hospital stay after major bowel surgery. Br J Anaesth 2005; 95:634– 642.
- 286 Buettner M, Schummer W, Huettemann E, Schenke S, van Hout N, Sakka SG. Influence of systolic-pressure-variation-guided intraoperative fluid management on organ function and oxygen transport. *Br J Anaesth* 2008; **101**:194–199.
- 287 Lamke LO, Liljedahl SO. Plasma volume changes after infusion of various plasma expanders. *Resuscitation* 1976; 5:93-102.
- 288 Lobo DN, Stanga Z, Aloysius MM, et al. Effect of volume loading with 1 liter intravenous infusions of 0.9% saline, 4% succinylated gelatine (Gelofusine) and 6% hydroxyethyl starch (Voluven) on blood volume and endocrine responses: a randomized, three-way crossover study in healthy volunteers. Crit Care Med 2010; **38**:464–470.
- 289 Jacob M, Rehm M, Orth V, et al. [Exact measurement of the volume effect of 6% hydoxyethyl starch 130/0.4 (Voluven) during acute preoperative normovolemic hemodilution]. Anaesthesist 2003; 52:896–904.

- 290 Verheij J, van Lingen A, Raijmakers PG, et al. Effect of fluid loading with saline or colloids on pulmonary permeability, oedema and lung injury score after cardiac and major vascular surgery. Br J Anaesth 2006; 96:21-30.
- 291 Kumar A, Anel R, Bunnell E, *et al.* Pulmonary artery occlusion pressure and central venous pressure fail to predict ventricular filling volume, cardiac performance, or the response to volume infusion in normal subjects. *Crit Care Med* 2004; **32**:691–699.
- 292 Hartog CS, Bauer M, Reinhart K. The efficacy and safety of colloid resuscitation in the critically ill. Anesth Analg 2011; **112**:156– 164.
- 293 Lowell JA, Schifferdecker C, Driscoll DF, Benotti PN, Bistrian BR. Postoperative fluid overload: not a benign problem. *Crit Care Med* 1990; 18:728-733.
- 294 van der Heijden M, Verheij J, van Nieuw Amerongen GP, Groeneveld AB. Crystalloid or colloid fluid loading and pulmonary permeability, edema, and injury in septic and nonseptic critically ill patients with hypovolemia. *Crit Care Med* 2009; **37**:1275–1281.
- 295 Story DA, Morimatsu H, Bellomo R. Hyperchloremic acidosis in the critically ill: one of the strong-ion acidoses? *Anesth Analg* 2006; 103:144–148.
- 296 Lieberman JA, Weiskopf RB, Kelley SD, et al. Critical oxygen delivery in conscious humans is less than 7.3 ml O<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>. Anesthesiology 2000; **92**:407-413.
- 297 Hebért PC. Transfusion requirements in critical care (TRICC): a multicentre, randomized, controlled clinical study. Transfusion Requirements in Critical Care Investigators and the Canadian Critical care Trials Group. *Br J Anaesth* 1998; **81 (Suppl 1)**:25–33.
- 298 Corwin HL, Gettinger A, Pearl RG, et al. The CRIT Study: Anemia and blood transfusion in the critically ill-current clinical practice in the United States. Crit Care Med 2004; 32:39–52.
- 299 Vincent JL, Baron JF, Reinhart K, et al. Anemia and blood transfusion in critically ill patients. JAMA 2002; 288:1499–1507.
- 300 Vincent JL, Sakr Y, Sprung C, Harboe S, Damas P. Sepsis Occurrence in Acutely III Patients Investigators. Are blood transfusions associated with greater mortality rates? Results of the Sepsis Occurrence in Acutely III Patients study. *Anesthesiology* 2008; **108**:31–39.
- 301 Sagesaka T. Influence of red blood cell concentration on the initiation time of blood coagulation: risk of thrombus formation by hemoconcentration. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc* 2004; **31**:243–249.
- 302 Kilgannon JH, Jones AE, Parrillo JE, *et al.* Relationship between supranormal oxygen tension and outcome after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. *Circulation* 2011; **123**:2717–2722.
- 303 Cabello JB, Burls A, Emparanza JI, Bayliss S, Quinn T. Oxygen therapy for acute myocardial infarction. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; (6):CD007160.
- 304 Snyder HS. Significance of the initial spun hematocrit in trauma patients. Am J Emerg Med 1998; 16:150-153.
- 305 Paradis NA, Balter S, Davison CM, Simon G, Rose M. Hematocrit as a predictor of significant injury after penetrating trauma. *Am J Emerg Med* 1997; **15**:224–228.
- 306 Wilson M, Davis DP, Coimbra R. Diagnosis and monitoring of hemorrhagic shock during the initial resuscitation of multiple trauma patients: a review. J Emerg Med 2003; 24:413-422.
- 307 Porter JM, Ivatury RR. In search of the optimal end points of resuscitation in trauma patients: a review. *J Trauma* 1998; **44**:908–914.
- 308 Vincent JL, Dufaye P, Berre J, Leeman M, Degaute JP, Kahn RJ. Serial lactate determinations during circulatory shock. *Crit Care Med* 1983; 11:449-451.
- 309 Englehart MS, Schreiber MA. Measurement of acid-base resuscitation endpoints: lactate, base deficit, bicarbonate or what? *Curr Opin Crit Care* 2006; 12:569–574.
- 310 Jones AE, Shapiro NI, Trzeciak S, et al. Lactate clearance vs central venous oxygen saturation as goals of early sepsis therapy: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2010; 303:739–746.
- 311 Rady MY, Rivers EP, Martin GB, Smithline H, Appelton T, Nowak RM. Continuous central venous oximetry and shock index in the emergency department: use in the evaluation of clinical shock. *Am J Emerg Med* 1992; **10**:538–541.
- 312 Reinhart K, Kuhn HJ, Hartog C, Bredle DL. Continuous central venous and pulmonary artery oxygen saturation monitoring in the critically ill. *Intensive Care Med* 2004; **30**:1572–1578.
- 313 Luban NL. Transfusion safety: where are we today? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005; 1054:325-341.
- 314 Pillonel J, Laperche S, Etablissement Français du Sang. Trends in risk of transfusion-transmitted viral infections (HIV, HCV, HBV) in France between 1992 and 2003 and impact of nucleic acid testing (NAT). *Euro Surveill* 2005; **10**:5–8.

- 315 NBS/HPA Surveillance Unit. Bloodborne infections in blood donors (BIBD). 2008. http://www.hpa.org.uk/infections/topics\_az/BIBD/ est\_freq\_uk\_htm. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 316 Offergeld R, Faensen D, Ritter S, Hamouda O. Human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis C and hepatitis B infections among blood donors in Germany 2000–2002: risk of virus transmission and the impact of nucleic acid amplification testing. *Euro Surveill* 2005; **10**:8– 11.
- 317 Soldan K, Davison K, Dow B. Estimates of the frequency of HBV, HCV, and HIV infectious donations entering the blood supply in the United Kingdom, 1996 to 2003. *Euro Surveill* 2005; **10**:17–19.
- 318 Kitchen AD, Barbara JAJ. Current information on the infectious risks of allogeneic blood transfusion. In: Maniatis A, Van der Linden P, Hardy JF, editors. Alternatives to Blood Transfusion in Transfusion Medicine. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. pp. 21–30.
- 319 Wagner SJ. Transfusion-transmitted bacterial infection: risks, sources and interventions. Vox Sang 2004; 86:157–163.
- 320 Serious Hazards of Transfusion Steering Group. SHOT Annual Report for 2009. 2010. http://www.shotuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/07/ SHOT2009.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 321 Hébert PC, Wells G, Blajchman MA, et al. A multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial of transfusion requirements in critical Care. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:409–417.
- 322 Rao SV, Jollis JG, Harrington RA, et al. Relationship of blood transfusion and clinical outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes. JAMA 2004; 292:1555-1562.
- 323 Wu WC, Rathore SS, Wang Y, Radford MJ, Krumholz HM. Blood transfusion in elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:1230–1236.
- 324 Horowitz B, Bonomo R, Prince AM, Chin SN, Brotman B, Shulman RW. Solvent/detergent-treated plasma: a virus-inactivated substitute for fresh frozen plasma. *Blood* 1992; **79**:826-831.
- 325 Lin L, Cook DN, Wiesehahn GP, et al. Photochemical inactivation of viruses and bacteria in platelet concentrates by use of a novel psoralen and long-wavelength ultraviolet light. *Transfusion* 1997; **37**:423–435.
- 326 McCullough J, Vesole DH, Benjamin RJ, *et al.* Therapeutic efficacy and safety of platelets treated with a photochemical process for pathogen inactivation: the SPRINT Trial. *Blood* 2004; **104**:1534–1541.
- 327 Alvarez-Larran A, Del Rio J, Ramirez C, et al. Methylene bluephotoinactivated plasma vs. fresh-frozen plasma as replacement fluid for plasma exchange in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Vox Sang* 2004; 86:246-251.
- 328 Bowden RA, Slichter SJ, Sayers M, et al. A comparison of filtered leukocyte-reduced and cytomegalovirus (CMV) seronegative blood products for the prevention of transfusion-associated CMV infection after marrow transplant. *Blood* 1995; 86:3598–3603.
- 329 van de Watering L. What has universal leucodepletion given us: evidence from clinical trials? *Vox Sang* 2004; 87 (Suppl 2):139–142.
- 330 Vengelen-Tyler V. *Technical Manual*, 12th ed. Bethesda: American Association of Blood Banks; 1996.
- 331 Heddle NM, Klama L, Singer J, et al. The role of the plasma from platelet concentrates in transfusion reactions. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:625– 628.
- 332 Heddle NM, Blajchman MA, Meyer RM, et al. A randomized controlled trial comparing the frequency of acute reactions to plasma-removed platelets and prestorage WBC-reduced platelets. *Transfusion* 2002; 42:556–566.
- 333 Stainsby D, Jones H, Asher D, et al. Serious hazards of transfusion: a decade of hemovigilance in the UK. *Transfus Med Rev* 2006; 20:273– 282.
- 334 Walker RH. Noninfectious risks and new trends in transfusion practice. J Fla Med Assoc 1993; 80:37–38.
- 335 Mollison PL, Engelfriet CP, Contreras M, editors. Blood Transfusion in Clinical Medicine. 10th ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 1997.
- 336 Abe T, Matsumoto C, Shimada E, et al. Immunoglobulin E oligomers identified in blood components activate mast cells: relevance to anaphylactic transfusion reaction. *Transfusion* 2011; 51:2327-2336.
- 337 Taylor C, Navarrete C, Contreras M. Immunological complications of blood transfusion. In: Maniatis A, Van der Linden P, Hardy JF, editors. *Alternatives to Bood Transfusion in Transfusion Medicine*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. pp. 31–46.
- 338 Ozier Y, Renaudier P, Caldani C, et al. [Post-transfusion pulmonary oedema: the French hemovigilance network classification method]. *Transfus Clin Biol* 2010; 17:284–290.
- 339 Triulzi DJ, Kleinman S, Kakaiya RM, et al. The effect of previous pregnancy and transfusion on HLA alloimmunization in blood donors: implications for a transfusion-related acute lung injury risk reduction strategy. *Transfusion* 2009; 49:1825–1835.

- 340 Chapman CE, Stainsby D, Jones H, *et al.* Ten years of hemovigilance reports of transfusion-related acute lung injury in the United Kingdom and the impact of preferential use of male donor plasma. *Transfusion* 2009; **49**:440–452.
- 341 Ferrara JL, Deeg HJ. Graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 1991; 324:667–674.
- 342 Kunstmann E, Bocker T, Roewer L, Sauer H, Mempel W, Epplen JT. Diagnosis of transfusion-associated graft-versus-host disease by genetic fingerprinting and polymerase chain reaction. *Transfusion* 1992; 32:766–770.
- 343 Wang L, Juji T, Tokunaga K, et al. Brief report: polymorphic microsatellite markers for the diagnosis of graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 1994; 330:398–401.
- 344 Sage D, Stanworth S, Turner D, Navarrete C. Diagnosis of transfusionassociated graft-vs.-host disease: the importance of short tandem repeat analysis. *Transfus Med* 2005; 15:481–485.
- 345 BCSH Blood Transfusion Task Force. Guidelines on gamma irradiation of blood components for the prevention of transfusion-associated graftversus-host disease. *Transfus Med* 1996; 6:261-271.
- 346 Vamvakas EC, Blajchman MA. Transfusion-related immunomodulation (TRIM): an update. *Blood Rev* 2007; **21**:327–348.
- 347 Amato A, Pescatori M. Perioperative blood transfusions for the recurrence of colorectal cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006; (1):CD005033.
- 348 van de Watering LM, Brand A, Houbiers JG, *et al.* Perioperative blood transfusions, with or without allogeneic leucocytes, relate to survival, not to cancer recurrence. *Br J Surg* 2001; 88:267–272.
- 349 Hill GE, Frawley WH, Griffith KE, Forestner JE, Minei JP. Allogeneic blood transfusion increases the risk of postoperative bacterial infection: a meta-analysis. J Trauma 2003; 54:908–914.
- 350 Blumberg N, Zhao H, Wang H, Messing S, Heal JM, Lyman GH. The intention-to-treat principle in clinical trials and meta-analyses of leukoreduced blood transfusions in surgical patients. *Transfusion* 2007; 47:573-581.
- 351 Vamvakas EC. White-blood-cell-containing allogeneic blood transfusion, postoperative infection and mortality: a metaanalysis of observational 'before-and-after' studies. *Vox Sang* 2004; 86:111-119.
- 352 Vamvakas EC. White-blood-cell-containing allogeneic blood transfusion and postoperative infection or mortality: an updated meta-analysis. *Vox Sang* 2007; **92**:224–232.
- 353 van de Watering LM, Hermans J, Houbiers JG, et al. Beneficial effects of leukocyte depletion of transfused blood on postoperative complications in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a randomized clinical trial. *Circulation* 1998; **97**:562–568.
- 354 Bilgin YM, van de Watering LM, Eijsman L, et al. Double-blind, randomized controlled trial on the effect of leukocyte-depleted erythrocyte transfusions in cardiac valve surgery. *Circulation* 2004; 109:2755–2760.
- 355 Cardigan R, Maclennan S. Allogeneic blood components. In: Maniatis A, Van der Linden P, Hardy JF, editors. Alternatives to Blood Transfusion in Transfusion Medicine. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. pp. 11–20.
- 356 The Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland. Blood Transfusion and the Anaesthetist: Intra-operative Cell Salvage. September 2009. http://www.aagbi.org/sites/default/files/ cell%20\_salvage\_2009\_amended.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 357 Rosencher N, Kerkkamp HE, Macheras G, et al. Orthopedic Surgery Transfusion Hemoglobin European Overview (OSTHEO) study: blood management in elective knee and hip arthroplasty in Europe. *Transfusion* 2003; **43**:459–469.
- 358 Williamson KR, Taswell HF. Intraoperative blood salvage: a review. *Transfusion* 1991; **31**:662–675.
- 359 Burman JF, Westlake AS, Davidson SJ, *et al.* Study of five cell salvage machines in coronary artery surgery. *Transfus Med* 2002; 12:173-179.
- 360 Serrick CJ, Scholz M, Melo A, Singh O, Noel D. Quality of red blood cells using autotransfusion devices: a comparative analysis. J Extra Corpor Technol 2003; 35:28–34.
- 361 Reeder GD. Autotransfusion theory of operation: a review of the physics and hematology. *Transfusion* 2004; 44 (12 Suppl): 35S-39S.
- 362 American Association of Blood Banks. Guidelines for blood recovery and reinfusion in surgery and trauma. 1997 http://www.aabb.org/ Pages/Product.aspx?product\_id=1453.
- 363 Wang G, Bainbridge D, Martin J, Cheng D. The efficacy of an intraoperative cell saver during cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Anesth Analg* 2009; **109**:320–330.

- 364 Ferraris VA, Ferraris SP, Saha SP, *et al.* Society of Thoracic Surgeons Blood Conservation Guideline Task Force. Perioperative blood transfusion and blood conservation in cardiac surgery: the Society of Thoracic Surgeons and The Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists clinical practice guideline. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 83 (5 Suppl):S27–86.
- 365 Rubens FD, Fergusson D, Wells PS, Huang M, McGowan JL, Laupacis A. Platelet-rich plasmapheresis in cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis of the effect on transfusion requirements. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1998; 116:641–647.
- 366 Niranjan G, Asimakopoulos G, Karagounis A, Cockerill G, Thompson M, Chandrasekaran V. Effects of cell saver autologous blood transfusion on blood loss and homologous blood transfusion requirements in patients undergoing cardiac surgery on- versus off-cardiopulmonary bypass: a randomised trial. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2006; **30**:271–277.
- 367 Munoz M, Campos A, Munoz E. Red cell salvage in orthopedic surgery. Transfus Altern Transfus Med 2006; 8:41–51.
- 368 Lisander B, Ivarsson I, Jacobsson SA. Intraoperative autotransfusion is associated with modest reduction of allogeneic transfusion in prosthetic hip surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1998; 42:707–712.
- 369 Mercer KG, Spark JI, Berridge DC, Kent PJ, Scott DJ. Randomized clinical trial of intraoperative autotransfusion in surgery for abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Br J Surg* 2004; **91**:1443–1448.
- 370 Cavallieri S, Riou B, Roche S, Ducart A, Roy-Camille R, Viars P. Intraoperative autologous transfusion in emergency surgery for spine trauma. *J Trauma* 1994; **36**:639–643.
- 371 Waters JH. Indications and contraindications of cell salvage. *Transfusion* 2004; **44 (12 Suppl)**:40S-44S.
- 372 Fidler IJ, Talmadge JE. Evidence that intravenously derived murine pulmonary melanoma metastases can originate from the expansion of a single tumor cell. *Cancer Res* 1986; **46**:5167–5171.
- 373 Nieder AM, Carmack AJ, Sved PD, Kim SS, Manoharan M, Soloway MS. Intraoperative cell salvage during radical prostatectomy is not associated with greater biochemical recurrence rate. *Urology* 2005; 65:730-734.
- 374 Nieder AM, Manoharan M, Yang Y, Soloway MS. Intraoperative cell salvage during radical cystectomy does not affect long-term survival. *Urology* 2007; 69:881–884.
- 375 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. IPG258 Intraoperative red blood cell salvage during radical prostatectomy or radical cystectomy: guidance. 2010. http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/ live/11891/40380/40380.pdf [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 376 Hansen E, Knuechel R, Altmeppen J, Taeger K. Blood irradiation for intraoperative autotransfusion in cancer surgery: demonstration of efficient elimination of contaminating tumor cells. *Transfusion* 1999; 39:608-615.
- 377 Hansen E, Pawlik M, Altmeppen J, Bechmann V. Advantages of intraoperative blood salvage with blood irradiation in cancer surgery. *Transfus Med Hemother* 2004; **31**:286–292.
- 378 Bowley DM, Barker P, Boffard KD. Intraoperative blood salvage in penetrating abdominal trauma: a randomised, controlled trial. World J Surg 2006; 30:1074-1080.
- 379 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Intraoperative blood cell salvage in obstetrics. 2011. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/IPG144. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 380 The Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health (CEMACH). Saving Mothers' lives: reviewing maternal deaths to make motherhood safer. 2003–2005. http://www.pbh.gov.br/smsa/bhpelopartonormal/ estudos\_cientificos/arquivos/saving\_mothers\_lives.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 381 Zubair AC. Clinical impact of blood storage lesions. Am J Hematol 2010; 85:117-122.
- Hogman CF. Preparation and preservation of red cells. Vox Sang 1998;
  74 (Suppl 2):177-187.
- 383 Beutler E, Wood L. The in vivo regeneration of red cell 2,3 diphosphoglyceric acid (DPG) after transfusion of stored blood. *J Lab Clin Med* 1969; **74**:300–304.
- 384 Tinmouth A, Fergusson D, Yee IC, Hebert PC, Able Investigators; Canadian Critical Care Trials Group. Clinical consequences of red cell storage in the critically ill. *Transfusion* 2006; 46:2014–2027.
- 385 Greenwalt TJ, Zehner Sostok C, Dumaswala UJ. Studies in red blood cell preservation. 1. Effect of the other formed elements. *Vox Sang* 1990; 58:85–89.
- 386 Seghatchian J. Universal leucodepletion: an overview of some unresolved issues and the highlights of lessons learned. *Transfus Apher Sci* 2003; **29**:105–117.
- 387 Kim-Shapiro DB, Lee J, Gladwin MT. Storage lesion: role of red blood cell breakdown. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:844–851.

- 388 Koch CG, Li L, Sessler DI, et al. Duration of red-cell storage and complications after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:1229– 1239.
- 389 Vamvakas EC, Carven JH. Transfusion and postoperative pneumonia in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: effect of the length of storage of transfused red cells. *Transfusion* 1999; **39**:701-710.
- 390 Basran S, Frumento RJ, Cohen A, et al. The association between duration of storage of transfused red blood cells and morbidity and mortality after reoperative cardiac surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2006; 103:15–20.
- 391 Keller ME, Jean R, LaMorte WW, Millham F, Hirsch E. Effects of age of transfused blood on length of stay in trauma patients: a preliminary report. J Trauma 2002; 53:1023-1025.
- 392 Vamvakas EC. Meta-analysis of clinical studies of the purported deleterious effects of 'old' (versus 'fresh') red blood cells: are we at equipoise? *Transfusion* 2010; **50**:600–610.
- 393 Alfano KM, Tarasev M. Investigating direct non-age metrics of stored blood quality loss. *The Internet Journal of Medical Technology* 2011; 5:1. http://blazemedicaldevices.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/12/ Alfano-Tarasev2011.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 394 Raval JS, Waters JH, Seltsam A, *et al.* The use of the mechanical fragility test in evaluating sublethal RBC injury during storage. *Vox Sang* 2010; 99:325-331.
- 395 Vincent JL, Sakr Y, De Backer D, Van der Linden P. Efficacy of allogeneic red blood cell transfusions. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol* 2007; 21:209–219.
- 396 Watson GA, Sperry JL, Rosengart MR, et al. Fresh frozen plasma is independently associated with a higher risk of multiple organ failure and acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Trauma 2009; 67:221–227.
- 397 Snyder CW, Weinberg JA, McGwin G Jr, et al. The relationship of blood product ratio to mortality: survival benefit or survival bias? J Trauma 2009; 66:358–362.
- 398 Nienaber U, Innerhofer P, Westermann I, et al. The impact of fresh frozen plasma vs coagulation factor concentrates on morbidity and mortality in trauma-associated haemorrhage and massive transfusion. *Injury* 2011; 42:697-701.
- 399 Sarani B, Dunkman WJ, Dean L, Sonnad S, Rohrbach JI, Gracias VH. Transfusion of fresh frozen plasma in critically ill surgical patients is associated with an increased risk of infection. *Crit Care Med* 2008; 36:1114–1118.
- 400 Khan H, Belsher J, Yilmaz M, *et al.* Fresh-frozen plasma and platelet transfusions are associated with development of acute lung injury in critically ill medical patients. *Chest* 2007; **131**:1308–1314.
- 401 Rana R, Fernandez-Perez ER, Khan SA, et al. Transfusion-related acute lung injury and pulmonary edema in critically ill patients: a retrospective study. Transfusion 2006; 46:1478–1483.
- 402 Abdel-Wahab OI, Healy B, Dzik WH. Effect of fresh-frozen plasma transfusion on prothrombin time and bleeding in patients with mild coagulation abnormalities. *Transfusion* 2006; 46:1279-1285.
- 403 Chowdary P, Saayman AG, Paulus U, Findlay GP, Collins PW. Efficacy of standard dose and 30 ml/kg fresh frozen plasma in correcting laboratory parameters of haemostasis in critically ill patients. *Br J Haematol* 2004; **125**:69–73.
- 404 Stanworth SJ, Brunskill SJ, Hyde CJ, McClelland DB, Murphy MF. Is fresh frozen plasma clinically effective? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Br J Haematol* 2004; **126**:139– 152.
- 405 Stanworth SJ, Grant-Casey J, Lowe D, *et al.* The use of fresh-frozen plasma in England: high levels of inappropriate use in adults and children. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:62–70.
- 406 Scalea TM, Bochicchio KM, Lumpkins K, et al. Early aggressive use of fresh frozen plasma does not improve outcome in critically injured trauma patients. Ann Surg 2008; 248:578–584.
- 407 Kashuk JL, Moore EE, Johnson JL, et al. Postinjury life threatening coagulopathy: is 1:1 fresh frozen plasma:packed red blood cells the answer? J Trauma 2008; 65:261–270.
- 408 Casbard AC, Williamson LM, Murphy MF, Rege K, Johnson T. The role of prophylactic fresh frozen plasma in decreasing blood loss and correcting coagulopathy in cardiac surgery. A systematic review. *Anaesthesia* 2004; **59**:550–558.
- 409 Singbartl K, Innerhofer P, Radvan J, et al. Hemostasis and hemodilution: a quantitative mathematical guide for clinical practice. Anesth Analg 2003; 96:929-935.
- 410 Gerlach R, Tolle F, Raabe A, Zimmermann M, Siegemund A, Seifert V. Increased risk for postoperative hemorrhage after intracranial surgery in patients with decreased factor XIII activity: implications of a prospective study. *Stroke* 2002; **33**:1618–1623.

- 411 Mittermayr M, Streif W, Haas T, et al. Hemostatic changes after crystalloid or colloid fluid administration during major orthopedic surgery: the role of fibrinogen administration. Anesth Analg 2007; 105:905-917.
- 412 Ogawa S, Szlam F, Chen EP, et al. A comparative evaluation of rotation thromboelastometry and standard coagulation tests in hemodilutioninduced coagulation changes after cardiac surgery. *Transfusion* 2012; 52:14-22.
- 413 Fenger-Eriksen C, Tonnesen E, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Mechanisms of hydroxyethyl starch-induced dilutional coagulopathy. *J Thromb Haemost* 2009; 7:1099-1105.
- 414 Charbit B, Mandelbrot L, Samain E, et al. The decrease of fibrinogen is an early predictor of the severity of postpartum hemorrhage. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5:266–273.
- 415 Fries D, Innerhofer P, Reif C, et al. The effect of fibrinogen substitution on reversal of dilutional coagulopathy: an in vitro model. Anesth Analg 2006; **102**:347–351.
- 416 De Lorenzo C, Calatzis A, Welsch U, Heindl B. Fibrinogen concentrate reverses dilutional coagulopathy induced in vitro by saline but not by hydroxyethyl starch 6%. Anesth Analg 2006; **102**:1194–1200.
- 417 Kalina U, Stohr HA, Bickhard H, et al. Rotational thromboelastography for monitoring of fibrinogen concentrate therapy in fibrinogen deficiency. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2008; 19:777–783.
- 418 Haas T, Fries D, Velik-Salchner C, Reif C, Klingler A, Innerhofer P. The in vitro effects of fibrinogen concentrate, factor XIII and fresh frozen plasma on impaired clot formation after 60% dilution. *Anesth Analg* 2008; 106:1360-1365.
- 419 Fenger-Eriksen C, Anker-Moller E, Heslop J, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Thrombelastographic whole blood clot formation after ex vivo addition of plasma substitutes: improvements of the induced coagulopathy with fibrinogen concentrate. Br J Anaesth 2005; 94:324–329.
- 420 Fries D, Haas T, Klingler A, et al. Efficacy of fibrinogen and prothrombin complex concentrate used to reverse dilutional coagulopathy–a porcine model. Br J Anaesth 2006; 97:460–467.
- 421 Fries D, Krismer A, Klingler A, et al. Effect of fibrinogen on reversal of dilutional coagulopathy: a porcine model. Br J Anaesth 2005; 95:172– 177.
- 422 Velik-Salchner C, Haas T, Innerhofer P, et al. The effect of fibrinogen concentrate on thrombocytopenia. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5:1019– 1025.
- 423 Mitterlechner T, Innerhofer P, Streif W, et al. Prothrombin complex concentrate and recombinant prothrombin alone or in combination with recombinant factor X and FVIIa in dilutional coagulopathy: a porcine model. J Thromb Haemost 2011; 9:729-737.
- 424 Dickneite G, Pragst I, Joch C, Bergman GE. Animal model and clinical evidence indicating low thrombogenic potential of fibrinogen concentrate (Haemocomplettan P). *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2009; 20:535-540.
- 425 Stinger HK, Spinella PC, Perkins JG, et al. The ratio of fibrinogen to red cells transfused affects survival in casualties receiving massive transfusions at an army combat support hospital. J Trauma 2008; 64 (Suppl 2):S79–85.
- 426 Fenger-Eriksen C, Lindberg-Larsen M, Christensen AQ, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Fibrinogen concentrate substitution therapy in patients with massive haemorrhage and low plasma fibrinogen concentrations. *Br J Anaesth* 2008; **101**:769–773.
- 427 Haas T, Fries D, Velik-Salchner C, Oswald E, Innerhofer P. Fibrinogen in craniosynostosis surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2008; **106**:725–731.
- 428 Solomon C, Cadamuro J, Ziegler B, et al. A comparison of fibrinogen measurement methods with fibrin clot elasticity assessed by thromboelastometry, before and after administration of fibrinogen concentrate in cardiac surgery patients. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:1695– 1706.
- 429 Solomon C, Pichlmaier U, Schoechl H, et al. Recovery of fibrinogen after administration of fibrinogen concentrate to patients with severe bleeding after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. Br J Anaesth 2010; 104:555– 562.
- 430 Karlsson M, Ternstrom L, Hyllner M, et al. Prophylactic fibrinogen infusion reduces bleeding after coronary artery bypass surgery. A prospective randomised pilot study. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; 102:137–144.
- 431 Fenger-Eriksen C, Jensen TM, Kristensen BS, et al. Fibrinogen substitution improves whole blood clot firmness after dilution with hydroxyethyl starch in bleeding patients undergoing radical cystectomy: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Thromb Haemost 2009; 7:795-802.
- 432 Hoffman M, Koepke JA, Widmann FK. Fibrinogen content of low-volume cryoprecipitate. *Transfusion* 1987; **27**:356–358.

- 433 Hoffman M, Jenner P. Variability in the fibrinogen and von Willebrand factor content of cryoprecipitate. Implications for reducing donor exposure. *Am J Clin Pathol* 1990; **93**:694–697.
- 434 Sorensen B, Bevan D. A critical evaluation of cryoprecipitate for replacement of fibrinogen. Br J Haematol 2010; 149:834–843.
- 435 Bevan DH. Cryoprecipitate: no longer the best therapeutic choice in congenital fibrinogen disorders? *Thromb Res* 2009; **124 (Suppl 2)**: S12-16.
- 436 Ternström L, Radulovic V, Karlsson M, et al. Plasma activity of individual coagulation factors, hemodilution and blood loss after cardiac surgery: a prospective observational study. *Thromb Res* 2010; **126**:e128–e133.
- 437 Korte W. [Fibrin monomer and factor XIII: a new concept for unexplained intraoperative coagulopathy]. *Hamostaseologie* 2006; **26 (3 Suppl 1)**: S30–35.
- 438 Chandler WL, Patel MA, Gravelle L, et al. Factor XIIIA and clot strength after cardiopulmonary bypass. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2001; 12:101-108.
- 439 Wettstein P, Haeberli A, Stutz M, et al. Decreased factor XIII availability for thrombin and early loss of clot firmness in patients with unexplained intraoperative bleeding. Anesth Analg 2004; 99:1564–1569.
- 440 Gerlach R, Raabe A, Zimmermann M, Siegemund A, Seifert V. Factor XIII deficiency and postoperative hemorrhage after neurosurgical procedures. Surg Neurol 2000; 54:260–264.
- 441 Nahrendorf M, Hu K, Frantz S, et al. Factor XIII deficiency causes cardiac rupture, impairs wound healing, and aggravates cardiac remodeling in mice with myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2006; **113**:1196–1202.
- 442 Tacke F, Fiedler K, von Depka M, et al. Clinical and prognostic role of plasma coagulation factor XIII activity for bleeding disorders and 6-year survival in patients with chronic liver disease. *Liver Int* 2006; 26:173– 181.
- 443 Godje O, Gallmeier U, Schelian M, Grunewald M, Mair H. Coagulation factor XIII reduces postoperative bleeding after coronary surgery with extracorporeal circulation. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2006; 54:26–33.
- 444 Nielsen VG. Effects of Hextend hemodilution on plasma coagulation kinetics in the rabbit: role of factor XIII-mediated fibrin polymer crosslinking. J Surg Res 2006; 132:17–22.
- 445 Nielsen VG. Colloids decrease clot propagation and strength: role of factor XIII-fibrin polymer and thrombin-fibrinogen interactions. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2005; 49:1163–1171.
- 446 Nielsen VG, Gurley WQ Jr, Burch TM. The impact of factor XIII on coagulation kinetics and clot strength determined by thrombelastography. *Anesth Analg* 2004; **99**:120–123.
- 447 Nielsen VG, Kirklin JK, Hoogendoorn H, Ellis TC, Holman WL. Thrombelastographic method to quantify the contribution of factor XIII to coagulation kinetics. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2007; **18**:145–150.
- 448 Korte WC, Szadkowski C, Gahler A, et al. Factor XIII substitution in surgical cancer patients at high risk for intraoperative bleeding. *Anesthesiology* 2009; **110**:239–245.
- 449 Pabinger I, Brenner B, Kalina U, *et al.* Prothrombin complex concentrate (Beriplex P/N) for emergency anticoagulation reversal: a prospective multinational clinical trial. *J Thromb Haemost* 2008; **6**:622–631.
- 450 Pabinger-Fasching I. Warfarin-reversal: results of a phase III study with pasteurised, nanofiltrated prothrombin complex concentrate. *Thromb Res* 2008; **122 (Suppl 2)**:S19–22.
- 451 Dickneite G, Doerr B, Kaspereit F. Characterization of the coagulation deficit in porcine dilutional coagulopathy and substitution with a prothrombin complex concentrate. *Anesth Analg* 2008; **106**:1070– 1077.
- 452 Dickneite G, Dorr B, Kaspereit F, Tanaka KA. Prothrombin complex concentrate versus recombinant factor VIIa for reversal of hemodilutional coagulopathy in a porcine trauma model. *J Trauma* 2010; **68**:1151– 1157.
- 453 Dickneite G, Pragst I. Prothrombin complex concentrate vs fresh frozen plasma for reversal of dilutional coagulopathy in a porcine trauma model. *Br J Anaesth* 2009; **102**:345–354.
- 454 Tanaka KA, Szlam F, Dickneite G, Levy JH. Effects of prothrombin complex concentrate and recombinant activated factor VII on vitamin K antagonist induced anticoagulation. *Thromb Res* 2008; **122**:117–123.
- 455 Pragst I, Kaspereit F, Dorr B, Dickneite G. Prothrombin complex concentrate (Beriplex P/N) for control of bleeding after kidney trauma in a rabbit dilutional coagulopathy model. *Thromb Res* 2010; **125**:272– 277.
- 456 Kaspereit F, Hoffmann S, Pragst I, Dickneite G. Prothrombin complex concentrate mitigates diffuse bleeding after cardiopulmonary bypass in a porcine model. *Br J Anaesth* 2010; **105**:576–582.
- 457 Bruce D, Nokes TJ. Prothrombin complex concentrate (Beriplex P/N) in severe bleeding: experience in a large tertiary hospital. *Crit Care* 2008; 12:R105.

- 458 Schick KS, Fertmann JM, Jauch KW, Hoffmann JN. Prothrombin complex concentrate in surgical patients: retrospective evaluation of vitamin K antagonist reversal and treatment of severe bleeding. *Crit Care* 2009; 13:R191.
- 459 Le Sache F, Le Bonniec B, Gaussem P, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII and prothrombin complex concentrates have different effects on bleeding and arterial thrombosis in the haemodiluted rabbit. Br J Anaesth 2012; **108**:586–593.
- 460 Staudinger T, Frass M, Rintelen C, *et al.* Influence of prothrombin complex concentrates on plasma coagulation in critically ill patients. *Intensive Care Med* 1999; 25:1105–1110.
- 461 Grottke O, Rossaint R. Prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC) for the treatment of coagulopathy associated with massive bleeding. *Wien Klin Wochenschr* 2010; **122 (Suppl 5)**:S23–24.
- 462 Poon MC, d'Oiron R, Hann I, et al. Use of recombinant factor VIIa (NovoSeven) in patients with Glanzmann thrombasthenia. Semin Hematol 2001; 38 (4 Suppl 12):21-25.
- 463 Martinowitz U, Kenet G, Segal E, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII for adjunctive hemorrhage control in trauma. J Trauma 2001; 51:431 – 438.
- 464 Isbister J, Phillips L, Dunkley S, Jankelowitz G, McNeil J, Cameron P. Recombinant activated factor VII in critical bleeding: experience from the Australian and New Zealand Haemostasis Register. *Intern Med J* 2008; 38:156–165.
- 465 Dunkley S, Phillips L, McCall P, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII in cardiac surgery: experience from the Australian and New Zealand Haemostasis Registry. Ann Thorac Surg 2008; 85:836–844.
- 466 Phillips LE, McLintock C, Pollock W, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII in obstetric hemorrhage: experiences from the Australian and New Zealand Haemostasis Registry. Anesth Analg 2009; **109**:1908–1915.
- 467 Chavez-Tapia NC, Alfaro-Lara R, Tellez-Avila F, et al. Prophylactic activated recombinant factor VII in liver resection and liver transplantation: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2011; 6:e22581.
- 468 Lin Y, Stanworth S, Birchall J, Doree C, Hyde C. Recombinant factor Vlla for the prevention and treatment of bleeding in patients without haemophilia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; (2):CD005011.
- 469 Lin Y, Stanworth S, Birchall J, Doree C, Hyde C. Use of recombinant factor VIIa for the prevention and treatment of bleeding in patients without hemophilia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ 2011; 183:E9-19.
- 470 Perkins JG, Schreiber MA, Wade CE, Holcomb JB. Early versus late recombinant factor VIIa in combat trauma patients requiring massive transfusion. *J Trauma* 2007; **62**:1095–1099.
- 471 Tanaka KA, Taketomi T, Szlam F, Calatzis A, Levy JH. Improved clot formation by combined administration of activated factor VII (NovoSeven) and fibrinogen (Haemocomplettan P). *Anesth Analg* 2008; 106:732–738.
- 472 Martinowitz U, Michaelson M, Israeli Multidisciplinary rFVIIa Task Force. Guidelines for the use of recombinant activated factor VII (rFVIIa) in uncontrolled bleeding: a report by the Israeli Multidisciplinary rFVIIa Task Force. J Thromb Haemost 2005; 3:640–648.
- 473 Coats T, Roberts I, Shakur H. Antifibrinolytic drugs for acute traumatic injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2004; (4):CD004896.
- 474 Dunn CJ, Goa KL. Tranexamic acid: a review of its use in surgery and other indications. *Drugs* 1999; **57**:1005-1032.
- 475 Fergusson DA, Hebert PC, Mazer CD, et al. A comparison of aprotinin and lysine analogues in high-risk cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:2319-2331.
- 476 Molenaar IQ, Warnaar N, Groen H, Tenvergert EM, Slooff MJ, Porte RJ. Efficacy and safety of antifibrinolytic drugs in liver transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Transplant* 2007; 7:185– 194.
- 477 Zufferey P, Merquiol F, Laporte S, et al. Do antifibrinolytics reduce allogeneic blood transfusion in orthopedic surgery? *Anesthesiology* 2006; **105**:1034–1046.
- 478 Henry DA, Carless PA, Moxey AJ, et al. Anti-fibrinolytic use for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007; (4):CD001886.
- 479 Henry DA, Moxey AJ, Carless PA, et al. Anti-fibrinolytic use for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2001; (1):CD001886.
- 480 Henry DA, Carless PA, Moxey AJ, et al. Anti-fibrinolytic use for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; (1):CD001886.
- 481 Roberts I, Shakur H, et al., CRASH-trial collaborators. The importance of early treatment with tranexamic acid in bleeding trauma patients: an exploratory analysis of the CRASH-2 randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2011; **377**:1096–1101, 1101 e1091-1092.

- 482 Wong AY, Irwin MG, Hui TW, Fung SK, Fan ST, Ma ES. Desmopressin does not decrease blood loss and transfusion requirements in patients undergoing hepatectomy. *Can J Anaesth* 2003; **50**:14–20.
- 483 Gurusamy KS, Li J, Sharma D, Davidson BR. Pharmacological interventions to decrease blood loss and blood transfusion requirements for liver resection. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009; (4):CD008085.
- 484 Keyl C, Kmitta E, Kueri S, Zietak T, Trenk D. Effects of aspirin and desmopressin on platelet reactivity in patients undergoing cardiac surgery with extracorporeal circulation. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; 105:113–121.
- 485 Pleym H, Stenseth R, Wahba A, *et al.* Prophylactic treatment with desmopressin does not reduce postoperative bleeding after coronary surgery in patients treated with aspirin before surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2004; **98**:578–584.
- 486 Rajagopalan S, Mascha E, Na J, Sessler DI. The effects of mild perioperative hypothermia on blood loss and transfusion requirement. *Anesthesiology* 2008; **108**:71–77.
- 487 Cavallini M, Baruffaldi Preis FW, Casati A. Effects of mild hypothermia on blood coagulation in patients undergoing elective plastic surgery. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2005; **116**:316–321.
- 488 Winkler M, Akca O, Birkenberg B, et al. Aggressive warming reduces blood loss during hip arthroplasty. Anesth Analg 2000; 91:978–984.
- 489 Kettner SC, Sitzwohl C, Zimpfer M, et al. The effect of graded hypothermia (36 degrees C-32 degrees C) on hemostasis in anesthetized patients without surgical trauma. Anesth Analg 2003; 96:1772-1776.
- 490 Martini WZ, Pusateri AE, Uscilowicz JM, Delgado AV, Holcomb JB. Independent contributions of hypothermia and acidosis to coagulopathy in swine. *J Trauma* 2005; **58**:1002–1009.
- 491 Meng ZH, Wolberg AS, Monroe DM 3rd, Hoffman M. The effect of temperature and pH on the activity of factor VIIa: implications for the efficacy of high-dose factor VIIa in hypothermic and acidotic patients. *J Trauma* 2003; **55**:886–891.
- 492 Bladbjerg EM, Jespersen J. Activity of recombinant factor VIIa under different conditions in vitro: effect of temperature, pH, and haemodilution. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2008; **19**:369–374.
- 493 Kheirabadi BS, Delgado AV, Dubick MA, et al. In vitro effect of activated recombinant factor VII (rFVIIa) on coagulation properties of human blood at hypothermic temperatures. J Trauma 2007; 63:1079–1086.
- 494 Hall K, Forrest P, Sawyer C. The effects of acidosis and hypothermia on blood transfusion requirements following factor VII administration. *Anaesth Intensive Care* 2007; 35:494–497.
- 495 Viuff D, Lauritzen B, Pusateri AE, Andersen S, Rojkjaer R, Johansson PI. Effect of haemodilution, acidosis, and hypothermia on the activity of recombinant factor VIIa (NovoSeven). Br J Anaesth 2008; 101:324– 331.
- 496 Dirkmann D, Hanke AA, Görlinger K, Peters J. Hypothermia and acidosis synergistically impair coagulation in human whole blood. *Anesth Analg* 2008; **106**:1627-1632.
- 497 Martini WZ, Dubick MA, Pusateri AE, Park MS, Ryan KL, Holcomb JB. Does bicarbonate correct coagulation function impaired by acidosis in swine? J Trauma 2006; 61:99–106.
- 498 Ho KM, Leonard AD. Concentration-dependent effect of hypocalcaemia on mortality of patients with critical bleeding requiring massive transfusion: a cohort study. *Anaesth Intensive Care* 2011; **39**:46–54.
- 499 Fukuda T, Nakashima Y, Harada M, et al. Effect of whole blood clotting time in rats with ionized hypocalcemia induced by rapid intravenous citrate infusion. J Toxicol Sci 2006; 31:229-234.
- 500 Bjelke JR, Olsen OH, Fodje M, *et al.* Mechanism of the Ca2+-induced enhancement of the intrinsic factor VIIa activity. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 283:25863-25870.
- 501 Burris JM, Lin PH, Johnston WF, Huynh TT, Kougias P. Emergent embolization of the gastroduodenal artery in the treatment of upper gastrointestinal bleeding. The experience from a surgeon-initiated interventional program. *Am J Surg* 2009; **198**:59–63.
- 502 Holme JB, Nielsen DT, Funch-Jensen P, Mortensen FV. Transcatheter arterial embolization in patients with bleeding duodenal ulcer: an alternative to surgery. *Acta Radiol* 2006; **47**:244–247.
- 503 Eriksson LG, Ljungdahl M, Sundbom M, Nyman R. Transcatheter arterial embolization versus surgery in the treatment of upper gastrointestinal bleeding after therapeutic endoscopy failure. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2008; 19:1413–1418.
- 504 Ripoll C, Banares R, Beceiro I, et al. Comparison of transcatheter arterial embolization and surgery for treatment of bleeding peptic ulcer after endoscopic treatment failure. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2004; 15:447–450.
- 505 Ljungdahl M, Eriksson LG, Nyman R, Gustavsson S. Arterial embolisation in management of massive bleeding from gastric and duodenal ulcers. *Eur J Surg* 2002; **168**:384–390.

- 506 Loffroy R, Guiu B, Cercueil JP, et al. Refractory bleeding from gastroduodenal ulcers: arterial embolization in high-operative-risk patients. J Clin Gastroenterol 2008; 42:361–367.
- 507 Jae HJ, Chung JW, Jung AY, Lee W, Park JH. Transcatheter arterial embolization of nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding with N-butyl cyanoacrylate. *Korean J Radiol* 2007; 8:48–56.
- 508 Hausegger KA, Temmel W. Interventional radiological treatment of gastrointestinal bleeding. *Eur Surg Acta Chirurg Austr* 2002; 34:225– 229.
- 509 Gillespie CJ, Sutherland AD, Mossop PJ, Woods RJ, Keck JO, Heriot AG. Mesenteric embolization for lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2010; **53**:1258–1264.
- 510 Lipof T, Sardella WV, Bartus CM, Johnson KH, Vignati PV, Cohen JL. The efficacy and durability of super-selective embolization in the treatment of lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2008; 51:301–305.
- 511 Luchtefeld MA, Senagore AJ, Szomstein M, Fedeson B, Van Erp J, Rupp S. Evaluation of transarterial embolization for lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2000; **43**:532–534.
- 512 Mansueto G, Cenzi D, D'Onofrio M, et al. Endovascular treatment of arterial bleeding in patients with pancreatitis. *Pancreatology* 2007; 7:360-369.
- 513 Chou WC, Lu CH, Lin G, et al. Transcutaneous arterial embolization to control massive tumor bleeding in head and neck cancer: 63 patients' experiences from a single medical center. Support Care Cancer 2007; 15:1185–1190.
- 514 Spiess BD, Royston D, Levy JH, et al. Platelet transfusions during coronary artery bypass graft surgery are associated with serious adverse outcomes. *Transfusion* 2004; 44:1143–1148.
- 515 Murphy GJ, Reeves BC, Rogers CA, Rizvi SI, Culliford L, Angelini GD. Increased mortality, postoperative morbidity, and cost after red blood cell transfusion in patients having cardiac surgery. *Circulation* 2007; 116:2544-2552.
- 516 Aronson D, Dann EJ, Bonstein L, et al. Impact of red blood cell transfusion on clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2008; 102:115–119.
- 517 de Boer MT, Christensen MC, Asmussen M, et al. The impact of intraoperative transfusion of platelets and red blood cells on survival after liver transplantation. Anesth Analg 2008; 106:32–44.
- 518 Beattie WS, Karkouti K, Wijeysundera DN, Tait G. Risk associated with preoperative anemia in noncardiac surgery: a single-center cohort study. *Anesthesiology* 2009; **110**:574–581.
- 519 Pereboom IT, de Boer MT, Haagsma EB, Hendriks HG, Lisman T, Porte RJ. Platelet transfusion during liver transplantation is associated with increased postoperative mortality due to acute lung injury. *Anesth Analg* 2009; **108**:1083–1091.
- 520 Shander A. Financial and clinical outcomes associated with surgical bleeding complications. *Surgery* 2007; **142 (4 Suppl)**:S20–S25.
- 521 Shander A, Hofmann A, Gombotz H, Theusinger OM, Spahn DR. Estimating the cost of blood: past, present, and future directions. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol* 2007; 21:271–289.
- 522 Shander A, Hofmann A, Ozawa S, Theusinger OM, Gombotz H, Spahn DR. Activity-based costs of blood transfusions in surgical patients at four hospitals. *Transfusion* 2010; **50**:753–765.
- 523 Dasta JF, McLaughlin TP, Mody SH, Piech CT. Daily cost of an intensive care unit day: the contribution of mechanical ventilation. *Crit Care Med* 2005; **33**:1266–1271.
- 524 Kaushal R, Bates DW, Franz C, Soukup JR, Rothschild JM. Costs of adverse events in intensive care units. *Crit Care Med* 2007; **35**:2479– 2483.
- 525 Sharples L, Buxton M, Caine N, et al. Evaluation of the ventricular assist device programme in the UK. Chaper 6: Analysis of patientspecific data on resource use and costs. *Health Technol Assess* 2006; 10:67–72.
- 526 Christensen MC, Krapf S, Kempel A, von Heymann C. Costs of excessive postoperative hemorrhage in cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009; 138:687–693.
- 527 Mangano DT, Tudor IC, Dietzel C, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group; Ischemia Research and Education Foundation. The risk associated with aprotinin in cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2006; **354**:353–365.
- 528 Brown JR, Birkmeyer NJ, O'Connor GT. Meta-analysis comparing the effectiveness and adverse outcomes of antifibrinolytic agents in cardiac surgery. *Circulation* 2007; **115**:2801–2813.
- 529 Urban MK, Beckman J, Gordon M, Urquhart B, Boachie-Adjei O. The efficacy of antifibrinolytics in the reduction of blood loss during complex adult reconstructive spine surgery. *Spine* 2001; 26:1152– 1156.

- 530 Husted H, Blond L, Sonne-Holm S, Holm G, Jacobsen TW, Gebuhr P. Tranexamic acid reduces blood loss and blood transfusions in primary total hip arthroplasty: a prospective randomized double-blind study in 40 patients. Acta Orthop Scand 2003; **74**:665–669.
- 531 Camarasa MA, Olle G, Serra-Prat M, et al. Efficacy of aminocaproic, tranexamic acids in the control of bleeding during total knee replacement: a randomized clinical trial. Br J Anaesth 2006; 96:576– 582.
- 532 Sadeghi M, Mehr-Aein A. Does a single bolus dose of tranexamic acid reduce blood loss and transfusion requirements during hip fracture surgery? A prospective randomized double blind study in 67 patients. *Acta Medica Iranica* 2007; **45**:437–442.
- 533 Shapiro F, Zurakowski D, Sethna NF. Tranexamic acid diminishes intraoperative blood loss and transfusion in spinal fusions for duchenne muscular dystrophy scoliosis. *Spine* 2007; **32**:2278–2283.
- 534 Tzortzopoulou A, Cepeda MS, Schumann R, Carr DB. Antifibrinolytic agents for reducing blood loss in scoliosis surgery in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008; (3):CD006883.
- 535 Rajesparan K, Biant LC, Ahmad M, Field RE. The effect of an intravenous bolus of tranexamic acid on blood loss in total hip replacement. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2009; **91**:776–783.
- 536 Elgafy H, Bransford RJ, McGuire RA, Dettori JR, Fischer D. Blood loss in major spine surgery: are there effective measures to decrease massive hemorrhage in major spine fusion surgery? *Spine* 2010; **35 (Suppl 9)**: S47–56.
- 537 Goobie SM, Meier PM, Pereira LM, *et al.* Efficacy of tranexamic acid in pediatric craniosynostosis surgery: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Anesthesiology* 2011; **114**:862–871.
- 538 MacGillivray RG, Tarabichi SB, Hawari MF, Raoof NT. Tranexamic acid to reduce blood loss after bilateral total knee arthroplasty: a prospective, randomized double blind study. *J Arthroplasty* 2011; **26**:24–28.
- 539 Pleym H, Stenseth R, Wahba A, Bjella L, Karevold A, Dale O. Singledose tranexamic acid reduces postoperative bleeding after coronary surgery in patients treated with aspirin until surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2003; 96:923–928.
- 540 Ozier Y, Schlumberger S. Pharmacological approaches to reducing blood loss and transfusions in the surgical patient. *Can J Anaesth* 2006; 53 (6 Suppl):S21–29.
- 541 Mehr-Aein A, Sadeghi M, Madani-civi M. Does tranexamic acid reduce blood loss in off-pump coronary artery bypass? Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2007; 15:285–289.
- 542 Myles PS, Smith J, Knight J, et al. Aspirin and Tranexamic Acid for Coronary Artery Surgery (ATACAS) Trial: rationale and design. *Am Heart J* 2008; **155**:224–230.
- 543 McIlroy DR, Myles PS, Phillips LE, Smith JA. Antifibrinolytics in cardiac surgical patients receiving aspirin: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Br J Anaesth 2009; 102:168–178.
- 544 Greiff G, Stenseth R, Wahba A, et al. Tranexamic acid reduces blood transfusions in elderly patients undergoing combined aortic valve and coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomized controlled trial. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2012; 26:232–238.
- 545 Ferrer P, Roberts I, Sydenham E, Blackhall K, Shakur H. Anti-fibrinolytic agents in post partum haemorrhage: a systematic review. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2009; **9**:29.
- 546 Novikova N, Hofmeyr GJ. Tranexamic acid for preventing postpartum haemorrhage. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010; (7):CD007872.
- 547 Dalmau A, Sabate A, Acosta F, *et al.* Tranexamic acid reduces red cell transfusion better than epsilon-aminocaproic acid or placebo in liver transplantation. *Anesth Analg* 2000; **91**:29–34.
- 548 Ickx BE, van der Linden PJ, Melot C, et al. Comparison of the effects of aprotinin and tranexamic acid on blood loss and red blood cell transfusion requirements during the late stages of liver transplantation. *Transfusion* 2006; **46**:595–605.
- 549 Guerriero C, Cairns J, Jayaraman S, Roberts I, Perel P, Shakur H. Giving tranexamic acid to reduce surgical bleeding in sub-Saharan Africa: an economic evaluation. *Cost Eff Resour Alloc* 2010; **8**:1.
- 550 Guerriero C, Cairns J, Perel P, Shakur H, Roberts I, CRASH-trial collaborators. Cost-effectiveness analysis of administering tranexamic acid to bleeding trauma patients using evidence from the CRASH-2 trial. *PLoS One* 2011; 6:e18987.
- 551 Duchesne JC, Mathew KA, Marr AB, Pinsky MR, Barbeau JM, McSwain NE. Current evidence based guidelines for factor VIIa use in trauma: the good, the bad, and the ugly. *Am Surg* 2008; **74**:1159– 1165.
- 552 Dutton R, Hauser C, Boffard K, et al. Scientific and logistical challenges in designing the CONTROL trial: recombinant factor VIIa in severe trauma patients with refractory bleeding. *Clin Trials* 2009; 6:467–479.

## *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

- 553 Hauser CJ, Boffard K, Dutton R, *et al.* Results of the CONTROL trial: efficacy and safety of recombinant activated Factor VII in the management of refractory traumatic hemorrhage. *J Trauma* 2010; 69:489-500.
- 554 Levi M, Levy JH, Andersen HF, Truloff D. Safety of recombinant activated factor VII in randomized clinical trials. N Engl J Med 2010; 363:1791 – 1800.
- 555 Mayer SA, Brun NC, Begtrup K, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII for acute intracerebral hemorrhage. N Engl J Med 2005; 352:777–785.
- 556 Sugg RM, Gonzales NR, Matherne DE, et al. Myocardial injury in patients with intracerebral hemorrhage treated with recombinant factor VIIa. *Neurology* 2006; 67:1053-1055.
- 557 Diringer MN, Skolnick BE, Mayer SA, et al. Risk of thromboembolic events in controlled trials of rFVIIa in spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke* 2008; **39**:850–856.
- 558 Lodge JP, Jonas S, Oussoultzoglou E, et al. Recombinant coagulation factor VIIa in major liver resection: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Anesthesiology 2005; 102:269–275.
- 559 Gill R, Herbertson M, Vuylsteke A, et al. Safety and efficacy of recombinant activated factor VII: a randomized placebo-controlled trial in the setting of bleeding after cardiac surgery. *Circulation* 2009; **120**:21 – 27.
- 560 The Board of the German Medical Association on the Recommendation of the Scientific Advisory Board (Bundesärztekammer). Chapter 7: Procoagulators. Cross-Sectional Guidelines for Therapy with Blood Components and Plasma Derivatives, 4th Ed. *Transfus Med Hemother* 2009; **36**:419–436.
- 561 Thomas D, Wee M, Clyburn P, et al. Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland. Blood transfusion and the anaesthetist: management of massive haemorrhage. Anaesthesia 2010; 65:1153– 1161.
- 562 Rossaint R, Bouillon B, Cerny V, et al. Management of bleeding following major trauma: an updated European guideline. Crit Care 2010; 14:R52.
- 563 Stürmer KM, Neugebauer E. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Unfallchiurgie (federführend). S3: Leitlinie Polytrauma /Schwerverletzen-Behandlung. http://www.awmf.org/uploads/tx\_szleitlinien/012-019k\_S3\_Polytrauma\_Schwerverletzten-Behandlung\_2011-07.pdf. [Accessed 21 Feb 2012].
- 564 Davies L, Brown TJ, Haynes S, Payne K, Elliott RA, McCollum C. Costeffectiveness of cell salvage and alternative methods of minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion: a systematic review and economic model. *Health Technol Assess* 2006; **10**:iii–iv, ix-x, 1–210.
- 565 Carless PA, Henry DA, Moxey AJ, O'Connell D, Brown T, Fergusson DA. Cell salvage for minimising perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; (4):CD001888.
- 566 Holcomb JB, Wade CE, Michalek JE, et al. Increased plasma and platelet to red blood cell ratios improves outcome in 466 massively transfused civilian trauma patients. Ann Surg 2008; 248:447–458.
- 567 Maegele M, Lefering R, Paffrath T, et al. Red-blood-cell to plasma ratios transfused during massive transfusion are associated with mortality in severe multiple injury: a retrospective analysis from the Trauma Registry of the Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Unfallchirurgie. Vox Sang 2008; 95:112–119.
- 568 Dente CJ, Shaz BH, Nicholas JM, et al. Improvements in early mortality and coagulopathy are sustained better in patients with blunt trauma after institution of a massive transfusion protocol in a civilian level I trauma center. J Trauma 2009; 66:1616–1624.
- 569 Shaz BH, Dente CJ, Nicholas J, et al. Increased number of coagulation products in relationship to red blood cell products transfused improves mortality in trauma patients. *Transfusion* 2010; **50**:493–500.
- 570 Sperry JL, Ochoa JB, Gunn SR, *et al.* An FFP:PRBC transfusion ratio >/=1:1.5 is associated with a lower risk of mortality after massive transfusion. *J Trauma* 2008; **65**:986–993.
- 571 Zehtabchi S, Nishijima DK. Impact of transfusion of fresh-frozen plasma and packed red blood cells in a 1:1 ratio on survival of emergency department patients with severe trauma. *Acad Emerg Med* 2009; 16:371-378.
- 572 Murad MH, Stubbs JR, Gandhi MJ, *et al.* The effect of plasma transfusion on morbidity and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Transfusion* 2010; **50**:1370–1383.
- 573 Cushing M, Shaz BH. Blood transfusion in trauma patients: unresolved questions. *Minerva Anestesiol* 2011; **77**:349–359.
- 574 O'Keeffe T, Refaai M, Tchorz K, Forestner JE, Sarode R. A massive transfusion protocol to decrease blood component use and costs. *Arch Surg* 2008; **143**:686–690.
- 575 Cotton BA, Gunter OL, Isbell J, et al. Damage control hematology: the impact of a trauma exsanguination protocol on survival and blood product utilization. J Trauma 2008; 64:1177–1182.

- 576 Görlinger K, Dirkmann D, Müller-Beißenhirtz H, Paul A, Hartmann M, Saner F. Thromboelastometry-Based Perioperative Coagulation Management in Visceral Surgery and Liver Transplantation: Experience of 10 Years and 1105 LTX. *Liver Transplant* 2010; **16** (Suppl 1):S86.
- 577 Mehta RH, Sheng S, O'Brien SM, *et al.* Reoperation for bleeding in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: incidence, risk factors, time trends, and outcomes. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2009; **2**:583–590.
- 578 Spalding GJ, Hartrumpf M, Sierig T, Oesberg N, Kirschke CG, Albes JM. Cost reduction of perioperative coagulation management in cardiac surgery: value of 'bedside' thrombelastography (ROTEM). *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2007; **31**:1052–1057.
- 579 Hanke AA, Herold U, Dirkmann D, Tsagakis K, Jakob H, Görlinger K. Thromboelastometry based early goal-directed coagulation management reduces blood transfusion requirements, adverse events, and costs in acute Type A aortic dissection: a pilot ptudy. *Transfus Med Hemother* 2012; **39**:121–128.
- 580 Karlsson M, Ternstrom L, Hyllner M, Baghaei F, Nilsson S, Jeppsson A. Plasma fibrinogen level, bleeding, and transfusion after on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: a prospective observational study. *Transfusion* 2008; **48**:2152–2158.
- 581 Fenger-Eriksen C, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Fibrinogen concentrate-a potential universal hemostatic agent. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 2009; 9:1325-1333.
- 582 Fries D, Martini WZ. Role of fibrinogen in trauma-induced coagulopathy. Br J Anaesth 2010; 105:116-121.
- 583 Danes AF, Cuenca LG, Bueno SR, Mendarte Barrenechea L, Ronsano JB. Efficacy and tolerability of human fibrinogen concentrate administration to patients with acquired fibrinogen deficiency and active or in high-risk severe bleeding. *Vox Sang* 2008; **94**:221–226.
- 584 Weinkove R, Rangarajan S. Fibrinogen concentrate for acquired hypofibrinogenaemic states. *Transfus Med* 2008; 18:151–157.
- 585 Kozek-Langenecker S, Sorensen B, Hess JR, Spahn DR. Clinical effectiveness of fresh frozen plasma compared with fibrinogen concentrate: a systematic review. *Crit Care* 2011; **15**:R239.
- 586 Makris M, Greaves M, Phillips WS, Kitchen S, Rosendaal FR, Preston EF. Emergency oral anticoagulant reversal: the relative efficacy of infusions of fresh frozen plasma and clotting factor concentrate on correction of the coagulopathy. *Thromb Haemost* 1997; 77:477-480.
- 587 Preston FE, Laidlaw ST, Sampson B, Kitchen S. Rapid reversal of oral anticoagulation with warfarin by a prothrombin complex concentrate (Beriplex): efficacy and safety in 42 patients. *Br J Haematol* 2002; **116**:619–624.
- 588 Lubetsky A, Hoffman R, Zimlichman R, et al. Efficacy and safety of a prothrombin complex concentrate (Octaplex) for rapid reversal of oral anticoagulation. Thromb Res 2004; 113:371–378.
- 589 Lankiewicz MW, Hays J, Friedman KD, Tinkoff G, Blatt PM. Urgent reversal of warfarin with prothrombin complex concentrate. *J Thromb Haemost* 2006; 4:967–970.
- 590 Riess HB, Meier-Hellmann A, Motsch J, Elias M, Kursten FW, Dempfle CE. Prothrombin complex concentrate (Octaplex) in patients requiring immediate reversal of oral anticoagulation. *Thromb Res* 2007; **121**:9–16.
- 591 Vigue B, Ract C, Tremey B, et al. Ultra-rapid management of oral anticoagulant therapy-related surgical intracranial hemorrhage. Intensive Care Med 2007; 33:721-725.
- 592 Ansell J, Hirsh J, Hylek E, *et al.* Pharmacology and management of the vitamin K antagonists: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008; 133 (6 Suppl):160S-198S.
- 593 Vigue B. Bench-to-bedside review: Optimising emergency reversal of vitamin K antagonists in severe haemorrhage - from theory to practice. *Crit Care* 2009; **13**:209.
- 594 Bershad EM, Suarez JI. Prothrombin complex concentrates for oral anticoagulant therapy-related intracranial hemorrhage: a review of the literature. *Neurocrit Care* 2010; **12**:403–413.
- 595 Makris M, van Veen JJ, Maclean R. Warfarin anticoagulation reversal: management of the asymptomatic and bleeding patient. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2010; 29:171–181.
- 596 Majeed A, Eelde A, Agren A, Schulman S, Holmstrom M. Thromboembolic safety and efficacy of prothrombin complex concentrates in the emergency reversal of warfarin coagulopathy. *Thromb Res* 2012; **129**:146–151.
- 597 Guest JF, Watson HG, Limaye S. Modeling the cost-effectiveness of prothrombin complex concentrate compared with fresh frozen plasma in emergency warfarin reversal in the United kingdom. *Clin Ther* 2010; 32:2478–2493.

- 599 Fries D, Innerhofer P, Schobersberger W. Time for changing coagulation management in trauma-related massive bleeding. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol* 2009; 22:267–274.
- 600 Theusinger OM, Spahn DR, Ganter MT. Transfusion in trauma: why and how should we change our current practice? *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol* 2009; 22:305-312.
- 601 Spahn DR, Ganter MT. Towards early individual goal-directed coagulation management in trauma patients. *Br J Anaesth* 2010; 105:103–105.
- 602 Ganter MT, Spahn DR. Active, personalized, and balanced coagulation management saves lives in patients with massive bleeding. *Anesthesiology* 2010; **113**:1016–1018.
- 603 Vekeman F, LaMori JC, Laliberte F, et al. Risks and cost burden of venous thromboembolism and bleeding for patients undergoing total hip or knee replacement in a managed-care population. J Med Econ 2011; 14:324–334.
- 604 Ruppert A, Steinle T, Lees M. Economic burden of venous thromboembolism: a systmatic review. J Med Econ 2011; 14:65–74.
- 605 Dobesh PP. Economic burden of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients. *Pharmacotherapy* 2009; **29**:943–953.
- 606 Kirchner C, Görlinger K, Dirkmann D, et al. Safety and efficacy of prothrombin complex and fibrinogen concentrates in liver transplantation. *Liver Transplant* 2012; **18 (Supplement 1)**:S189.
- 607 Campos JM, Paniagua P. Hypothermia during cardiac surgery. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2008; 22:695-709.
- 608 Kestin AS, Valeri CR, Khuri SF, et al. The platelet function defect of cardiopulmonary bypass. Blood 1993; 82:107–117.
- 609 Paparella D, Rotunno C, Guida P, et al. Hemostasis alterations in patients with acute aortic dissection. Ann Thorac Surg 2011; 91:1364– 1369.
- 610 Schramko A, Suojaranta-Ylinen R, Kuitunen A, Raivio P, Kukkonen S, Niemi T. Hydroxyethylstarch and gelatin solutions impair blood coagulation after cardiac surgery: a prospective randomized trial. *Br J Anaesth* 2010; **104**:691–697.
- 611 Achneck HE, Rizzo JA, Tranquilli M, Elefteriades JA. Safety of thoracic aortic surgery in the present era. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 84:1180– 1185; discussion 1185.
- 612 Brandt M, Abdelkerim S, Clemm S, Boning A, Cremer J. Composite valve graft versus separate aortic valve and ascending aortic replacement. *Cardiology* 2004; **102**:156–159.
- 613 Sioris T, David TE, Ivanov J, Armstrong S, Feindel CM. Clinical outcomes after separate and composite replacement of the aortic valve and ascending aorta. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2004; **128**:260– 265.
- 614 Dunning J, Versteegh M, Fabbri A, et al. Guideline on antiplatelet and anticoagulation management in cardiac surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008; 34:73–92.
- 615 Eagle KA, Guyton RA, Davidoff R, et al. ACC/AHA 2004 guideline update for coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the 1999 Guidelines for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery). Circulation 2004; 110:e340– e437.
- 616 Ferraris VA, Ferraris SP, Moliterno DJ, *et al.* The Society of Thoracic Surgeons practice guideline series: aspirin and other antiplatelet agents during operative coronary revascularization (executive summary). *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79**:1454–1461.
- 617 Sun JC, Whitlock R, Cheng J, et al. The effect of pre-operative aspirin on bleeding, transfusion, myocardial infarction, and mortality in coronary artery bypass surgery: a systematic review of randomized and observational studies. *Eur Heart J* 2008; 29:1057– 1071.
- 618 Alghamdi AA, Moussa F, Fremes SE. Does the use of preoperative aspirin increase the risk of bleeding in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting surgery? Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Card Surg* 2007; **22**:247–256.
- 619 Ghaffarinejad MH, Fazelifar AF, Shirvani SM, et al. The effect of preoperative aspirin use on postoperative bleeding and perioperative myocardial infarction in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery. Cardiol J 2007; 14:453–457.
- 620 Kunadian B, Thornley AR, Tanos M, Dunning J. Should clopidogrel be stopped prior to urgent cardiac surgery? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2006; **5**:630–636.
- 621 Purkayastha S, Athanasiou T, Malinovski V, et al. Does clopidogrel affect outcome after coronary artery bypass grafting? A meta-analysis. *Heart* 2006; 92:531–532.

- 622 Pickard AS, Becker RC, Schumock GT, Frye CB. Clopidogrelassociated bleeding and related complications in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *Pharmacotherapy* 2008; 28:376-392.
- 623 Firanescu CE, Martens EJ, Schonberger JP, Soliman Hamad MA, van Straten AH. Postoperative blood loss in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery after preoperative treatment with clopidogrel. A prospective randomised controlled study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2009; **36**:856–862.
- 624 Sirvinskas E, Veikutiene A, Grybauskas P, et al. Influence of aspirin or heparin on platelet function and postoperative blood loss after coronary artery bypass surgery. *Perfusion* 2006; **21**:61–66.
- 625 Hillis LD, Smith PK, Anderson JL, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Developed in collaboration with the American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58:e123-e210.
- 626 Medalion B, Frenkel G, Patachenko P, Hauptman E, Sasson L, Schachner A. Preoperative use of enoxaparin is not a risk factor for postoperative bleeding after coronary artery bypass surgery. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **126**:1875–1879.
- 627 Renda G, Di Pillo R, D'Alleva A, *et al.* Surgical bleeding after preoperative unfractionated heparin and low molecular weight heparin for coronary bypass surgery. *Haematologica* 2007; **92**:366–373.
- 628 Thiagarajamurthy S, Levine A, Dunning J. Does prophylactic tranexamic acid safely reduce bleeding without increasing thrombotic complications in patients undergoing cardiac surgery? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2004; **3**:489–494.
- 629 Murphy GJ, Mango E, Lucchetti V, et al. A randomized trial of tranexamic acid in combination with cell salvage plus a meta-analysis of randomized trials evaluating tranexamic acid in off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006; 132:475-480; 480 e471-478.
- 630 Karski J, Djaiani G, Carroll J, *et al.* Tranexamic acid and early saphenous vein graft patency in conventional coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a prospective randomized controlled clinical trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2005; **130**:309–314.
- 631 Kojima T, Gando S, Morimoto Y, et al. Systematic elucidation of effects of tranexamic acid on fibrinolysis and bleeding during and after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Thromb Res* 2001; 104:301–307.
- 632 Chauhan S, Bisoi AK, Rao BH, Rao MS, Saxena N, Venogopal P. Dosage of epsilon-aminocaproic acid to reduce postoperative blood loss. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2000; 8:15–18.
- 633 Demeyere R, Gillardin S, Arnout J, Strengers PF. Comparison of fresh frozen plasma and prothrombin complex concentrate for the reversal of oral anticoagulants in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery: a randomized study. *Vox Sang* 2010; **99**:251–260.
- 634 Slaughter TF, Mark JB, El-Moalem H, et al. Hemostatic effects of antithrombin III supplementation during cardiac surgery: results of a prospective randomized investigation. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2001; 12:25–31.
- 635 Liumbruno G, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, et al. Recommendations for the use of antithrombin concentrates and prothrombin complex concentrates. Blood Transfus 2009; 7:325-334.
- 636 Tokunaga C, Hiramatsu Y, Horigome H, Takahashi-Igari M, Noma M, Sakakibara Y. Palliative open heart surgery in an infant with factor VII deficiency. Ann Thorac Surg 2003; 76:2093–2094.
- 637 Maddali MM, Fahr J. A randomized study of the impact of on-site measurements of whole blood heparin concentration and ACT, on the incidence of postoperative bleeding and blood product use following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Egyptian J Anaesth* 2004; 20:113– 117.
- 638 Pappalardo F, Franco A, Crescenzi G, De Simone F, Torracca L, Zangrillo A. Anticoagulation management in patients undergoing open heart surgery by activated clotting time and whole blood heparin concentration. *Perfusion* 2006; **21**:285–290.
- 639 Noui N, Zogheib E, Walczak K, *et al.* Anticoagulation monitoring during extracorporeal circulation with the Hepcon/HMS device. *Perfusion* 2012; 27:214–220.
- 640 Runge M, Moller CH, Steinbruchel DA. Increased accuracy in heparin and protamine administration decreases bleeding: a pilot study. *J Extra Corpor Technol* 2009; **41**:10–14.
- 641 DeLaria GA, Tyner JJ, Hayes CL, Armstrong BW. Heparin-protamine mismatch. A controllable factor in bleeding after open heart surgery. *Arch Surg* 1994; **129**:944–950.

642 Gertler R, Wiesner G, Tassani-Prell P, Braun SL, Martin K. Are the pointof-care diagnostics MULTIPLATE and ROTEM valid in the setting of high concentrations of heparin and its reversal with protamine? *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth* 2011; 25:981–986.

EJΔ

- 643 McLaughlin KE, Dunning J. In patients post cardiac surgery do high doses of protamine cause increased bleeding? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2003; 2:424–426.
- 644 Mochizuki T, Olson PJ, Szlam F, Ramsay JG, Levy JH. Protamine reversal of heparin affects platelet aggregation and activated clotting time after cardiopulmonary bypass. *Anesth Analg* 1998; **87**:781–785.
- 645 Henry D, Carless P, Fergusson D, Laupacis A. The safety of aprotinin and lysine-derived antifibrinolytic drugs in cardiac surgery: a metaanalysis. *CMAJ* 2009; **180**:183–193.
- 646 Takagi H, Manabe H, Kawai N, Goto SN, Umemoto T. Aprotinin increases mortality as compared with tranexamic acid in cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized head-to-head trials. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2009; **9**:98–101.
- 647 Raghunathan K, Connelly NR, Kanter GJ. epsilon-Aminocaproic acid and clinical value in cardiac anesthesia. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2011; 25:16–19.
- 648 Greilich PE, Jessen ME, Satyanarayana N, et al. The effect of epsilonaminocaproic acid and aprotinin on fibrinolysis and blood loss in patients undergoing primary, isolated coronary artery bypass surgery: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, noninferiority trial. Anesth Analg 2009; 109:15–24.
- 649 Rahman Z, Hoque R, Ali A, Rahman M, Rahman MS. Blood conservation strategies for reducing peri-operative blood loss in open heart surgery. *Mymensingh Med J* 2011; **20**:45–53.
- 650 Maddali MM, Rajakumar MC. Tranexamic acid and primary coronary artery bypass surgery: a prospective study. *Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann* 2007; **15**:313–319.
- 651 Dietrich W, Spannagl M, Boehm J, et al. Tranexamic acid and aprotinin in primary cardiac operations: an analysis of 220 cardiac surgical patients treated with tranexamic acid or aprotinin. Anesth Analg 2008; 107:1469-1478.
- 652 Later AF, Maas JJ, Engbers FH, et al. Tranexamic acid and aprotinin in low- and intermediate-risk cardiac surgery: a non-sponsored, doubleblind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2009; **36**:322–329.
- 653 Ngaage DL, Bland JM. Lessons from aprotinin: is the routine use and inconsistent dosing of tranexamic acid prudent? Meta-analysis of randomised and large matched observational studies. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2010; **37**:1375–1383.
- 654 Vacharaksa K, Prakanrattana U, Suksompong S, Chumpathong S. Tranexamic acid as a means of reducing the need for blood and blood component therapy in children undergoing open heart surgery for congenital cyanotic heart disease. *J Med Assoc Thai* 2002; **85** (Suppl 3):S904–909.
- 655 Fawzy H, Elmistekawy E, Bonneau D, Latter D, Errett L. Can local application of Tranexamic acid reduce post-coronary bypass surgery blood loss? A randomized controlled trial. *J Cardiothorac Surg* 2009; 4:25.
- 656 Kluger R, Olive DJ, Stewart AB, Blyth CM. Epsilon-aminocaproic acid in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: preincision or postheparin? *Anesthesiology* 2003; **99**:1263–1269.
- 657 Adler Ma SC, Brindle W, Burton G, et al. Tranexamic acid is associated with less blood transfusion in off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2011; 25:26–35.
- 658 Yang L, Stanworth S, Hopewell S, Doree C, Murphy M. Is fresh-frozen plasma clinically effective? An update of a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Transfusion* 2012; **52**:1673–1686.
- 659 Ozkisacik E, Islamoglu F, Posacioglu H, et al. Desmopressin usage in elective cardiac surgery. J Cardiovasc Surg 2001; 42:741-747.
- 660 Oliver WC Jr, Santrach PJ, Danielson GK, Nuttall GA, Schroeder DR, Ereth MH. Desmopressin does not reduce bleeding and transfusion requirements in congenital heart operations. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2000; 70:1923–1930.
- 661 Warmuth M, Mad P, Wild C. Systematic review of the efficacy and safety of fibrinogen concentrate substitution in adults. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2012; 56:539–548.
- 662 Rahe-Meyer N, Solomon C, Hanke A, et al. Effects of fibrinogen concentrate as first-line therapy during major aortic replacement surgery - a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Anesthesiology* 2013; 118:40-50.
- 663 Cui Y, Hei F, Long C, et al. Perioperative monitoring of thromboelastograph on blood protection and recovery for severely cyanotic patients undergoing complex cardiac surgery. Artif Organs 2010; 34:955–960.

- 664 Fraser TA, Corke CF, Mohajeri M, Stevenson L, Campbell PJ. A retrospective audit of the use of Prothrombinex-HT for refractory bleeding following adult cardiac surgery. *Crit Care Resusc* 2006; 8:141–145.
- 665 Sorour Y, Van Veen JJ, Makris M. Recombinant factor VIIa for unlicensed indications–a definite No or a cautious Maybe in selected patients? *Int J Clin Pract* 2010; 64:1468–1471.
- 666 Ranucci M, Isgro G. Recombinant activated factor VII in cardiac surgery. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2007; 24:83–88.
- 667 Warren O, Mandal K, Hadjianastassiou V, *et al.* Recombinant activated factor VII in cardiac surgery: a systematic review. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 83:707-714.
- 668 Warren OJ, Rogers PL, Watret AL, *et al.* Defining the role of recombinant activated factor VII in pediatric cardiac surgery: where should we go from here? *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2009; **10**:572–582.
- 669 Warren OJ, Alcock EM, Choong AM, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII: a solution to refractory haemorrhage in vascular surgery? Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2008; 35:145–152.
- 670 Karkouti K, Beattie WS, Crowther MA, *et al.* The role of recombinant factor VIIa in on-pump cardiac surgery: proceedings of the Canadian Consensus Conference. *Can J Anaesth* 2007; 54:573–582.
- 671 Yu L, Gu T, Song L, et al. Fibrin sealant provides superior hemostasis for sternotomy compared with bone wax. Ann Thorac Surg 2012; 93:641– 644.
- 672 Mangano DT, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. Aspirin and mortality from coronary bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:1309–1317.
- 673 Chan V, Kulik A, Bourke ME, Ressler L, Mesana TG, Ruel M. Clopidogrel is safe early after on- and off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery. *J Card Surg* 2007; 22:493–497.
- 674 Casati V, Bellotti F, Gerli C, et al. Tranexamic acid administration after cardiac surgery: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. Anesthesiology 2001; 94:8-14.
- 675 Liumbruno GM, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, et al. Recommendations for the transfusion management of patients in the peri-operative period. III. The post-operative period. Blood Transfus 2011; **9**:320–335.
- 676 Tanos M, Dunning J. Is recombinant activated factor VII useful for intractable bleeding after cardiac surgery? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2006; **5**:493–498.
- 677 Westbrook AJ, Olsen J, Bailey M, Bates J, Scully M, Salamonsen RF. Protocol based on thromboelastograph (TEG) out-performs physician preference using laboratory coagulation tests to guide blood replacement during and after cardiac surgery: a pilot study. *Heart Lung Circ* 2009; **18**:277–288.
- 678 Parker WH, Wagner WH. Gynecologic surgery and the management of hemorrhage. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am 2010; 37:427–436.
- 679 Cao Z. [Prevention and management of severe hemorrhage during gynecological operations]. *Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi* 2001; 36:355-359.
- 680 Thoestesen LM, Rasmussen KL, Lauszus FF, Hansen CT, Titlestad KE, Larsen R. Transfusion rate and prevalence of unexpected red blood cell alloantibodies in women undergoing hysterectomy for benign disease. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2011; **90**:636–641.
- 681 Otton GR, Mandapati S, Streatfeild KA, Hewson AD. Transfusion rate associated with hysterectomy for benign disease. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2001; **41**:439–442.
- 682 Price FV, Kelley JL, Edwards RP, Hasley PB, Amin RM. A survey of blood transfusion practices of gynecologic oncologists. *Gynecol Oncol* 1995; 59:45–50.
- 683 Beveniste D, Lund B, Nielsen J, Pedersen JE. Fresh autotransfusion in major surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1978; 22:1–6.
- 684 Covens A, Pinkerton P, Osborne R, DePetrillo A. Review of autologous and allogeneic blood transfusion practices in patients undergoing radical hysterectomy. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* 1997; 18:449-452.
- 685 Dinse H, Deusch H. [Sepsis following autologous blood transfusion]. Anaesthesist 1996; 45:460-463.
- 686 Goodnough LT, Saha P, Hirschler NV, Yomtovian R. Autologous blood donation in nonorthopaedic surgical procedures as a blood conservation strategy. *Vox Sang* 1992; 63:96–101.
- 687 Mirhashemi R, Averette HE, Deepika K, et al. The impact of intraoperative autologous blood transfusion during type III radical hysterectomy for early-stage cervical cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1999; 181:1310– 1315.
- 688 O'Dwyer G, Mylotte M, Sweeney M, Egan EL. Experience of autologous blood transfusion in an obstetrics and gynaecology department. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1993; **100**:571–574.

- 689 Obed JY, Geidam AD, Reuben N. Autologous blood donation and transfusion in obstetrics and gynaecology at the University of Maiduguri Teaching Hospital Maiduguri, Nigeria. *Niger J Clin Pract* 2010; 13:139-143.
- 690 Pellegrino A, Landoni F, Cormio G, et al. Effectiveness of autologous blood transfusion in patients undergoing radical hysterectomy. Ann Chir Gynaecol 1995; 84:391–394.
- 691 Pinkerton PH, Coovadia AS, Downie H. Transfusion practice in support of surgery during introduction of a hospital-based autologous presurgical blood donor program. *Can J Surg* 1995; **38**:154–161.
- 692 Wang C, Lau W, Herst R, Drutz H, Fernandes B. Preoperative autologous blood deposition in support of gynaecological repair procedures. *Transfus Med* 1998; 8:23–27.
- 693 Oberhauser M, Bardenheuer HJ, Bernasconi H, Genz T, Kreimeier U. [Isovolemic hemodilution for avoiding homologous blood transfusions: effectiveness in large gynecologic interventions]. *Infusionsther Transfusionsmed* 1996; 23:15–23.
- 694 Rehm M, Orth V, Kreimeier U, et al. Changes in intravascular volume during acute normovolemic hemodilution and intraoperative retransfusion in patients with radical hysterectomy. Anesthesiology 2000; 92:657–664.
- 695 Santoso JT, Hannigan EV, Levine L, Solanki DR, Mathru M. Effect of hemodilution on tissue perfusion and blood coagulation during radical hysterectomy. *Gynecol Oncol* 2001; 82:252–256.
- 696 Rosenblatt MA, Cantos EM Jr, Mohandas K. Intraoperative hemodilution is more cost-effective than preoperative autologous donation for patients undergoing procedures associated with a low risk for transfusion. J Clin Anesth 1997; 9:26–29.
- 697 Horowitz NS, Gibb RK, Menegakis NE, Mutch DG, Rader JS, Herzog TJ. Utility and cost-effectiveness of preoperative autologous blood donation in gynecologic and gynecologic oncology patients. *Obstet Gynecol* 2002; **99 (5 Pt 1)**:771–776.
- 698 Williamson LM, Greaves M. Blood usage for elective surgery. A reappraisal of the need for autologous transfusion. *Clin Lab Haematol* 1989; **11**:233-236.
- 699 Kanter MH, van Maanen D, Anders KH, Castro F, Mya WW, Clark K. Preoperative autologous blood donations before elective hysterectomy. *JAMA* 1996; **276**:798–801.
- 700 Fischer M, Matsuo K, Gonen M, et al. Relationship between intraoperative fluid administration and perioperative outcome after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized trial of acute normovolemic hemodilution compared with standard intraoperative management. Ann Surg 2010; 252:952–958.
- 701 Waters JH, Donnenberg AD. Blood salvage and cancer surgery: should we do it? *Transfusion* 2009; 49:2016–2018.
- 702 Nagarsheth NP, Sharma T, Shander A, Awan A. Blood salvage use in gynecologic oncology. *Transfusion* 2009; 49:2048–2053.
- 703 Beck-Schimmer B, Romero B, Booy C, *et al.* Release of inflammatory mediators in irradiated cell salvage blood and their biological consequences in human beings following transfusion. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2004; **21**:46–52.
- 704 Catling S, Williams S, Freites O, Rees M, Davies C, Hopkins L. Use of a leucocyte filter to remove tumour cells from intra-operative cell salvage blood. *Anaesthesia* 2008; **63**:1332–1338.
- 705 Connor JP, Morris PC, Alagoz T, Anderson B, Bottles K, Buller RE. Intraoperative autologous blood collection and autotransfusion in the surgical management of early cancers of the uterine cervix. *Obstet Gynecol* 1995; 86:373–378.
- 706 Yamada T, Ikeda A, Okamoto Y, Okamoto Y, Kanda T, Ueki M. Intraoperative blood salvage in abdominal simple total hysterectomy for uterine myoma. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1997; **59**:233–236.
- 707 Kim YT, Kim SW, Yoon BS, *et al.* Effect of intravenously administered iron sucrose on the prevention of anemia in the cervical cancer patients treated with concurrent chemoradiotherapy. *Gynecol Oncol* 2007; **105**:199–204.
- 708 Dangsuwan P, Manchana T. Blood transfusion reduction with intravenous iron in gynecologic cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. *Gynecol Oncol* 2010; **116**:522–525.
- 709 Kourounis GS, Michail GD, Adonakis GL. Managing anemia in gynecologic surgery with postoperative administration of recombinant human epoetins. *Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol* 2005; **32**:68–70.
- 710 Yamawaki T, Tanaka H, Takeuchi S, Yanase H, Taniguchi H, Toyoda N. Autologous blood transfusion using recombinant human erythropoietin in radical hysterectomy. *Asia Oceania J Obstet Gynaecol* 1994; 20:147-153.
- 711 von Tempelhoff GF, Niemann F, Schneider DM, Kirkpatrick CJ, Hommel G, Heilmann L. Blood rheology during chemotherapy in patients with ovarian cancer. *Thromb Res* 1998; **90**:73–82.

- 712 von Tempelhoff GF, Heilmann L, Hommel G, Schneider D, Niemann F, Zoller H. Hyperviscosity syndrome in patients with ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer* 1998; 82:1104–1111.
- 713 Suzuki N, Yoshioka N, Ohara T, *et al.* Risk factors for perioperative venous thromboembolism: A retrospective study in Japanese women with gynecologic diseases. *Thromb J* 2010; **8**:17.
- 714 Myers ER, Clarke-Pearson DL, Olt GJ, Soper JT, Berchuck A. Preoperative coagulation testing on a gynecologic oncology service. Obstet Gynecol 1994; 83:438–444.
- 715 Abu-Rustum NR, Richard S, Wilton A, et al. Transfusion utilization during adnexal or peritoneal cancer surgery: effects on symptomatic venous thromboembolism and survival. Gynecol Oncol 2005; 99:320–326.
- 716 Ciacma A, Debski R, Malinowski A, Wlodarczyk B. Recombinant activated factor VII (rFVIIa) effectively controls bleeding in gynecologic surgery: A report of four cases. J Gynecol Surg 2005; 21:13–20.
- 717 Yank V, Tuohy CV, Logan AC, et al. Systematic review: benefits and harms of in-hospital use of recombinant factor VIIa for off-label indications. Ann Intern Med 2011; 154:529–540.
- 718 Lethaby A, Farquhar C, Cooke I. Antifibrinolytics for heavy menstrual bleeding. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000; (4):CD000249.
- 719 Lundvall F, Nielsen NC. The hemostatic effect of tranexamic acid in conisatio colli uteri. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1984; 63:81–84.
- 720 Celebi N, Celebioglu B, Selcuk M, Canbay O, Karagoz AH, Aypar U. The role of antifibrinolytic agents in gynecologic cancer surgery. *Saudi Med J* 2006; **27**:637–641.
- 721 Caglar GS, Tasci Y, Kayikcioglu F, Haberal A. Intravenous tranexamic acid use in myomectomy: a prospective randomized double-blind placebo controlled study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2008; 137:227–231.
- 722 Paidas MJ, Hossain N, Shamsi TS, Rodger MA, Langhoff-Roos J, Locjwood CJ. Haemostasis and thrombosis in Obstetrics and Gynecology. Chichester, West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011.
- 723 Bergmann RL, Richter R, Bergmann KE, Dudenhausen JW. Prevalence and risk factors for early postpartum anemia. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2010; **150**:126–131.
- 724 Bais JM, Eskes M, Pel M, Bonsel GJ, Bleker OP. Postpartum haemorrhage in nulliparous women: incidence and risk factors in low and high risk women. A Dutch population-based cohort study on standard (> or = 500 ml) and severe (> or = 1000 ml) postpartum haemorrhage. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2004; **115**:166–172.
- 725 Balki M, Dhumne S, Kasodekar S, Seaward G, Carvalho JC. Blood transfusion for primary postpartum hemorrhage: a tertiary care hospital review. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2008; 30:1002–1007.
- 726 Chauleur C, Cochery-Nouvellon E, Mercier E, et al. Analysis of the venous thromboembolic risk associated with severe postpartum haemorrhage in the NOHA First cohort. *Thromb Haemost* 2008; 100:773–779.
- 727 James AH, Paglia MJ, Gernsheimer T, Grotegut C, Thames B. Blood component therapy in postpartum hemorrhage. *Transfusion* 2009; 49:2430-2433.
- 728 Jansen AJ, van Rhenen DJ, Steegers EA, Duvekot JJ. Postpartum hemorrhage and transfusion of blood and blood components. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* 2005; **60**:663–671.
- 729 WHO guidelines for the management of postpartum haemorrhage and retained placenta. 2009. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2009/ 9789241598514\_eng.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 730 Cooper GM, McClure JH. Anaesthesia chapter from Saving mothers' lives; reviewing maternal deaths to make pregnancy safer. *Br J Anaesth* 2008; **100**:17–22.
- 731 O'Brien D, Babiker E, O'Sullivan O, et al. Prediction of peripartum hysterectomy and end organ dysfunction in major obstetric haemorrhage. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2010; 153:165–169.
- 732 Heyer L, Mebazaa A, Gayat E, et al. Cardiac troponin and skeletal muscle oxygenation in severe post-partum haemorrhage. *Crit Care* 2009; 13 (Suppl 5):S8.
- 733 Karpati PC, Rossignol M, Pirot M, et al. High incidence of myocardial ischemia during postpartum hemorrhage. Anesthesiology 2004; 100:30-36.
- 734 So-Osman C, Cicilia J, Brand A, Schipperus M, Berning B, Scherjon S. Triggers and appropriateness of red blood cell transfusions in the postpartum patient–a retrospective audit. *Vox Sang* 2010; 98:65–69.
- 735 Matot I, Einav S, Goodman S, Zeldin A, Weissman C, Elchalal U. A survey of physicians' attitudes toward blood transfusion in patients undergoing cesarean section. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2004; **190**:462– 467.
- 736 Butwick AJ, Aleshi P, Fontaine M, Riley ET, Goodnough LT. Retrospective analysis of transfusion outcomes in pregnant patients at a tertiary obstetric center. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2009; **18**:302–308.

- 737 Parker J, Thompson J, Stanworth S. A retrospective one-year singlecentre survey of obstetric red cell transfusions. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2009; **18**:309-313.
- 738 Silverman JA, Barrett J, Callum JL. The appropriateness of red blood cell transfusions in the peripartum patient. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004; **104** (5 Pt 1):1000-1004.
- 739 Palo R, Ahonen J, Salo H, Salmenpera M, Krusius T, Maki T. Transfusion of red blood cells: no impact on length of hospital stay in moderately anaemic parturients. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2007; 51:565–569.
- 740 Jansen AJ, Duvekot JJ, Hop WC, et al. New insights into fatigue and health-related quality of life after delivery. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2007; 86:579-584.
- 741 Matsuda Y, Kamitomo M. Amniotic fluid embolism: a comparison between patients who survived and those who died. *J Int Med Res* 2009; **37**:1515–1521.
- 742 Eller AG, Bennett MA, Sharshiner M, et al. Maternal morbidity in cases of placenta accreta managed by a multidisciplinary care team compared with standard obstetric care. Obstet Gynecol 2011; 117 (2 Pt 1):331– 337.
- 743 Harkness M, Clark V. The use of cell salvage during obstetric procedures: an audit of Scotland's maternity units. *Scott Med J* 2008; 53:24-27.
- 744 Malik S, Brooks H, Singhal T. Cell saver use in obstetrics. J Obstet Gynaecol 2010; **30**:826–828.
- 745 Bernstein HH, Rosenblatt MA, Gettes M, Lockwood C. The ability of the Haemonetics 4 Cell Saver System to remove tissue factor from blood contaminated with amniotic fluid. *Anesth Analg* 1997; 85:831– 833.
- 746 Catling SJ, Williams S, Fielding AM. Cell salvage in obstetrics: an evaluation of the ability of cell salvage combined with leucocyte depletion filtration to remove amniotic fluid from operative blood loss at caesarean section. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 1999; **8**:79–84.
- 747 Sullivan I, Faulds J, Ralph C. Contamination of salvaged maternal blood by amniotic fluid and fetal red cells during elective Caesarean section. Br J Anaesth 2008; 101:225–229.
- 748 Waters JH, Biscotti C, Potter PS, Phillipson E. Amniotic fluid removal during cell salvage in the cesarean section patient. *Anesthesiology* 2000; **92**:1531–1536.
- 749 Catling SJ, Freites O, Krishnan S, Gibbs R. Clinical experience with cell salvage in obstetrics: 4 cases from one UK centre. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2002; **11**:128–134.
- 750 Kessack LK, Hawkins N. Severe hypotension related to cell salvaged blood transfusion in obstetrics. *Anaesthesia* 2010; 65:745-748.
- 751 Fong J, Gurewitsch ED, Kang HJ, Kump L, Mack PF. An analysis of transfusion practice and the role of intraoperative red blood cell salvage during cesarean delivery. *Anesth Analg* 2007; **104**:666–672.
- 752 King M, Wrench I, Galimberti A, Spray R. Introduction of cell salvage to a large obstetric unit: the first six months. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2009; 18:111-117.
- 753 McDonnell NJ, Kennedy D, Long LJ, Gallagher-Swann MC, Paech MJ. The development and implementation of an obstetric cell salvage service. Anaesth Intensive Care 2010; 38:492–499.
- 754 Parry N, Junghans C, Skelton V, Okunuga A. Audit of cell salvage use in obstetric patients: adding experience. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2010; 19:238-239.
- 755 Rebarber A, Lonser R, Jackson S, Copel JA, Sipes S. The safety of intraoperative autologous blood collection and autotransfusion during cesarean section. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998; **179 (3 Pt 1)**: 715–720.
- 756 Rainaldi MP, Tazzari PL, Scagliarini G, Borghi B, Conte R. Blood salvage during caesarean section. Br J Anaesth 1998; 80:195–198.
- 757 Breymann C, Honegger C, Holzgreve W, Surbek D. Diagnosis and treatment of iron-deficiency anaemia during pregnancy and postpartum. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2010; **282**:577–580.
- 758 Bhandal N, Russell R. Intravenous versus oral iron therapy for postpartum anaemia. *BJOG* 2006; **113**:1248-1252.
- 759 Breymann C, Gliga F, Bejenariu C, Strizhova N. Comparative efficacy and safety of intravenous ferric carboxymaltose in the treatment of postpartum iron deficiency anemia. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2008; 101:67-73.
- 760 Giannoulis C, Daniilidis A, Tantanasis T, Dinas K, Tzafettas J. Intravenous administration of iron sucrose for treating anemia in postpartum women. *Hippokratia* 2009; **13**:38–40.
- 761 Seid MH, Derman RJ, Baker JB, Banach W, Goldberg C, Rogers R. Ferric carboxymaltose injection in the treatment of postpartum iron deficiency anemia: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2008; **199**:435; e431–437.

- 762 Van Wyck DB, Martens MG, Seid MH, Baker JB, Mangione A. Intravenous ferric carboxymaltose compared with oral iron in the treatment of postpartum anemia: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2007; **110 (2 Pt 1)**:267–278.
- 763 Westad S, Backe B, Salvesen KA, *et al.* A 12-week randomised study comparing intravenous iron sucrose versus oral ferrous sulphate for treatment of postpartum anemia. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2008; 87:916–923.
- 764 Urato AC. Intravenous ferric carboxymaltose compared with oral iron in the treatment of postpartum anemia: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2008; **112**:703.
- 765 Goodnough LT, Skikne B, Brugnara C. Erythropoietin, iron, and erythropoiesis. *Blood* 2000; 96:823–833.
- 766 Richardson D. Clinical factors influencing sensitivity and response to epoetin. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2002; **17 (Suppl 1)**:53– 59.
- 767 Kotto-Kome AC, Calhoun DA, Montenegro R, Sosa R, Maldonado L, Christensen RD. Effect of administering recombinant erythropoietin to women with postpartum anemia: a meta-analysis. *J Perinatol* 2004; 24:11–15.
- 768 Oyelese Y, Ananth CV. Placental abruption. Obstet Gynecol 2006; 108:1005-1016.
- 769 Ledee N, Ville Y, Musset D, Mercier F, Frydman R, Fernandez H. Management in intractable obstetric haemorrhage: an audit study on 61 cases. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2001; 94:189–196.
- 770 Annecke T, Geisenberger T, Kurzl R, Penning R, Heindl B. Algorithmbased coagulation management of catastrophic amniotic fluid embolism. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2010; **21**:95–100.
- 771 Tempfer CB, Brunner A, Bentz EK, Langer M, Reinthaller A, Hefler LA. Intrauterine fetal death and delivery complications associated with coagulopathy: a retrospective analysis of 104 cases. *J Womens Health* 2009; **18**:469–474.
- 772 Kobayashi T, Terao T, Maki M, Ikenoue T. Diagnosis and management of acute obstetrical DIC. Semin Thromb Hemost 2001; 27:161–167.
- 773 Malvino E, Eisele G, Dono J, Amanzi P, Martinez M. Evaluation of comsumptive coagulopathy associated to severe obstetricc hemorrhagies [Spanish]. *Clinica e Investigacio en Ginecologia y Obstetricia* 2010; **37**:233–238.
- 774 Levi M. Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) in pregnancy and the peri-partum period. *Thromb Res* 2009; **123 (Suppl 2)**:S63-64.
- 775 Huissoud C, Carrabin N, Benchaib M, et al. Coagulation assessment by rotation thrombelastometry in normal pregnancy. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; **101**:755–761.
- 776 Gayat E, Resche-Rigon M, Morel O, *et al.* Predictive factors of advanced interventional procedures in a multicentre severe postpartum haemorrhage study. *Intensive Care Med* 2011; **37**:1816–1825.
- 777 Cortet M, Deneux-Tharaux C, Dupont C, et al. Association between fibrinogen level and severity of postpartum haemorrhage: secondary analysis of a prospective trial. Br J Anaesth 2012; **108**:984–989.
- 778 Simon L, Santi TM, Sacquin P, Hamza J. Pre-anaesthetic assessment of coagulation abnormalities in obstetric patients: usefulness, timing and clinical implications. *Br J Anaesth* 1997; **78**:678–683.
- 779 Huissoud C, Carrabin N, Audibert F, et al. Bedside assessment of fibrinogen level in postpartum haemorrhage by thrombelastometry. BJOG 2009; **116**:1097–1102.
- 780 Butwick A, Ting V, Ralls LA, Harter S, Riley E. The association between thromboelastographic parameters and total estimated blood loss in patients undergoing elective cesarean delivery. *Anesth Analg* 2011; 112:1041-1047.
- 781 Macafee B, Campbell JP, Ashpole K, et al. Reference ranges for thromboelastography (TEG((R))) and traditional coagulation tests in term parturients undergoing caesarean section under spinal anaesthesia. Anaesthesia 2012; 67:741–747.
- 782 Wetzka B, Bonn C, Zahradnik HP. Assessment of coagulation in uncomplicated and hypertensive pregnancies by thrombelastometry [German]. Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde 2004; 64:1184–1191.
- 783 Hellgren M. Hemostasis during normal pregnancy and puerperium. Semin Thromb Hemost 2003; 29:125–130.
- 784 Maki M, Soga K, Seki H. Fibrinolytic activity during pregnancy. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 1980; **132**:349–354.
- 785 Burtelow M, Riley E, Druzin M, Fontaine M, Viele M, Goodnough LT. How we treat: management of life-threatening primary postpartum hemorrhage with a standardized massive transfusion protocol. *Transfusion* 2007; **47**:1564–1572.
- 786 Snegovskikh D, Clebone A, Norwitz E. Anesthetic management of patients with placenta accreta and resuscitation strategies for associated massive hemorrhage. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol* 2011; 24:274–281.

- 787 Chigbu B, Onwere S, Kamanu C, et al. Lessons learned from the outcome of bloodless emergency laparotomies on Jehovah's Witness women presenting in the extremis with ruptured uterus. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2009; 279:469–472.
- 788 Bell SF, Rayment R, Collins PW, Collis RE. The use of fibrinogen concentrate to correct hypofibrinogenaemia rapidly during obstetric haemorrhage. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2010; **19**:218–223.
- 789 Hall DR. Abruptio placentae and disseminated intravascular coagulopathy. *Semin Perinatol* 2009; **33**:189–195.
- 790 Tramoni G, Valentin S, Robert MO, *et al.* Amniotic fluid embolism during caesarean section. *Int J Obstet Anesth* 2004; **13**:271–274.
- 791 Peitsidis P, Kadir RA. Antifibrinolytic therapy with tranexamic acid in pregnancy and postpartum. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2011; 12:503– 516.
- 792 Gai MY, Wu LF, Su QF, Tatsumoto K. Clinical observation of blood loss reduced by tranexamic acid during and after caesarian section: a multicenter, randomized trial. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2004; **112**:154–157.
- 793 Gohel M, Patel P, Gupta A, Desai P. Efficacy of transxamic acid in decreasing blood loss during and after ceasarean section: a randomized case controlled prospective study. *J Obstet Gynaecol India* 2007; 57:227-230.
- 794 Sekhavat L, Tabatabaii A, Dalili M, Farajkhoda T, Tafti AD. Efficacy of tranexamic acid in reducing blood loss after cesarean section. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2009; 22:72–75.
- 795 Kayem G, Kurinczuk JJ, Alfirevic Z, Spark P, Brocklehurst P, Knight M. Specific second-line therapies for postpartum haemorrhage: a national cohort study. *BJOG* 2011; **118**:856–864.
- 796 Ahonen J, Jokela R. Recombinant factor VIIa for life-threatening postpartum haemorrhage. Br J Anaesth 2005; 94:592–595.
- 797 Arab TS, Al-Wazzan AB, Maslow K. Postpartum hemorrhage in a Jehovah's Witness patient controlled with Tisseel, tranexamic acid, and recombinant factor VIIa. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2010; 32:984–987.
- 798 Boehlen F, Morales MA, Fontana P, Ricou B, Irion O, de Moerloose P. Prolonged treatment of massive postpartum haemorrhage with recombinant factor VIIa: case report and review of the literature. *BJOG* 2004; **111**:284–287.
- 799 Bouwmeester FW, Jonkhoff AR, Verheijen RH, van Geijn HP. Successful treatment of life-threatening postpartum hemorrhage with recombinant activated factor VII. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003; **101**:1174–1176.
- 800 Brice A, Hilbert U, Roger-Christoph S, et al. [Recombinant activated factor VII as a life-saving therapy for severe postpartum haemorrhage unresponsive to conservative traditional management]. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim 2004; 23:1084-1088.
- 801 Courtois L, Becher P, Miot S, et al. [Life-threatening postpartum hemorrhage and recombinant activated factor rFVIIa NovoSeven use]. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod 2007; 36:78–82.
- 802 Gandhimathi K, McLornan D, O'Neill F. Hepatic capsule haemorrhagedue to HELLP syndrome managed with recombinant factor VIIa. *Clin Intensive Care* 2004; **15**:15–18.
- 803 Gidiri M, Noble W, Rafique Z, Patil K, Lindow SW. Caesarean section for placenta praevia complicated by postpartum haemorrhage managed successfully with recombinant activated human coagulation Factor VIIa. J Obstet Gynaecol 2004; 24:925–926.
- 804 Haynes J, Laffan M, Plaat F. Use of recombinant activated factor VII in massive obstetric haemorrhage. Int J Obstet Anesth 2007; 16:40–49.
- 805 Heilmann L, Wild C, Hojnacki B, Pollow K. Successful treatment of lifethreatening bleeding after cesarean section with recombinant activated factor VII. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2006; **12**:227–229.
- 806 Ilic-Mostic T, Argirovic R, Sparic R, et al. [Successful application of recombinant activated factor VII in a patient with HELLP syndrome and disseminated intravascular coagulation]. Srp Arh Celok Lek 2008; 136 (Suppl 3):253–258.
- 807 Jan JY, Lin SY, Lin CH, Lee CN, Fan SZ, Han YY. Recombinant activated factor VII as a promising adjuvant therapy for postpartum hemorrhage in the practice of obstetric anesthesia: experience from a university hospital in Taiwan. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2011; 37:901– 907.
- 808 Jirapinyo M, Manonai J, Herabutya Y, Chuncharunee S. Effectiveness of recombinant activated factor VII (rFVII a) for controlling intractable postpartum bleeding: report of two cases and literature review. J Med Assoc Thai 2007; 90:977–981.
- 809 Lim Y, Loo CC, Chia V, Fun W. Recombinant factor VIIa after amniotic fluid embolism and disseminated intravascular coagulopathy. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2004; 87:178–179.
- McMorrow RC, Ryan SM, Blunnie WP, et al. Use of recombinant factor VIIa in massive post-partum haemorrhage. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2008; 25:293–298.

- 811 Mechsner S, Baessler K, Brunne B, Albrecht T, Hopp H, Dudenhausen JW. Using recombinant activated factor VII, B-Lynch compression, and reversible embolization of the uterine arteries for treatment of severe conservatively intractable postpartum hemorrhage: new method for management of massive hemorrhage in cases of placenta increta. *Fertil Steril* 2008; **90**:2012 e2011–2015.
- 812 Nohira T, Osakabe Y, Suda S, *et al.* Successful management by recombinant activated factor VII in a case of disseminated intravascular coagulopathy caused by obstetric hemorrhage. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* 2008; **34 (4 Pt 2)**:623–630.
- 813 Pepas LP, Arif-Adib M, Kadir RA. Factor VIIa in puerperal hemorrhage with disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Obstet Gynecol* 2006; **108** (3 Pt 2):757–761.
- 814 Price G, Kaplan J, Skowronski G. Use of recombinant factor VIIa to treat life-threatening non-surgical bleeding in a post-partum patient. *Br J Anaesth* 2004; **93**:298–300.
- 815 Segal S, Shemesh IY, Blumental R, *et al.* The use of recombinant factor VIIa in severe postpartum hemorrhage. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2004; 83:771–772.
- 816 Seoud M, Cheaib S, Birjawi G, Tawil A, Jamali F. Successful treatment of severe retro-peritoneal bleeding with recombinant factor VIIa in women with placenta percreta invading into the left broad ligament: unusual repeated ante-partum intra-abdominal bleeding. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2010; 36:183–186.
- 817 Shamsi TS, Hossain N, Soomro N, *et al.* Use of recombinant factor VIIa for massive postpartum haemhorrage: case series and review of literature. *J Pak Med Assoc* 2005; **55**:512–515.
- 818 Sobieszczyk S, Breborowicz GH, Platicanov V, Tanchev S, Kessler CM. Recombinant factor VIIa in the management of postpartum bleeds: an audit of clinical use. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2006; 85:1239– 1247.
- 819 Tanchev S, Platikanov V, Karadimov D. Administration of recombinant factor VIIa for the management of massive bleeding due to uterine atonia in the post-placental period. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2005; 84:402–403.
- 820 Verre M, Bossio F, Mammone A, Piccirillo M, Tancioni F, Varano M. Use of recombinant activated factor VII in a case of severe postpartum haemorrhage. *Minerva Ginecol* 2006; **58**:81–84.
- 821 Wissa I, Ebeid E, El-Shawarby S, Chandakas S, Kamal T, Hill N. The role of recombinant activated Factor VII in major obstetric haemorrhage: the Farnborough experience. J Obstet Gynaecol 2009; 29:21–24.
- 822 Mostic T, Sparic R, Argirovic R, et al. [Our experince with the use of recombinant activated factor VII in postpartum haemorrhage]. Srp Arh Celok Lek 2008; 136 (Suppl 3):204–209.
- 823 Barillari G, Frigo MG, Casarotto M, et al. Use of recombinant activated factor VII in severe post-partum haemorrhage: data from the Italian Registry: a multicentric observational retrospective study. *Thromb Res* 2009; **124**:e41-e47.
- 824 Seidlova D, Blatny J, Penka M, *et al.* [Recombinant activated factor VII in the treatment of life threatening post-partum haemorrhage; registry UniSeven in the Czech Republic]. *Ceska Gynekol* 2010; 75:297–305.
- 825 Ahonen J, Jokela R, Korttila K. An open non-randomized study of recombinant activated factor VII in major postpartum haemorrhage. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2007; 51:929–936.
- 826 Alfirevic Z, Elbourne D, Pavord S, et al. Use of recombinant activated factor VII in primary postpartum hemorrhage: the Northern European registry 2000–2004. Obstet Gynecol 2007; **110**:1270–1278.
- 827 Bouma LS, Bolte AC, van Geijn HP. Use of recombinant activated factor VII in massive postpartum haemorrhage. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2008; **137**:172–177.
- 828 Kalina M, Tinkoff G, Fulda G. Massive postpartum hemorrhage: recombinant factor VIIa use is safe but not effective. *Del Med J* 2011; 83:109-113.
- 829 Lewis NR, Brunker P, Lemire SJ, Kaufman RM. Failure of recombinant factor VIIa to correct the coagulopathy in a case of severe postpartum hemorrhage. *Transfusion* 2009; **49**:689–695.
- 830 Geiger A, Collange O, Samin J, Meyer A, Freys G, Pottecher T. [Efficiency and safety of recombinant activated factor VII in a case of severe postpartum hemorrhage]. *Ann Fr Anesth Reanim* 2010; 29:728-731.
- 831 Dahl OE, Quinlan DJ, Bergqvist D, Eikelboom JW. A critical appraisal of bleeding events reported in venous thromboembolism prevention trials of patients undergoing hip and knee arthroplasty. *J Thromb Haemost* 2010; 8:1966–1975.
- 832 Boralessa H, Boralessa H, Contreras M, Lang-Stevenson A, DeSilva A. Effectiveness of a protocol to improve transfusion practice in knee replacement surgery. *Vox Sang* 2001; 81:248–253.

- 833 Ballantyne A, Walmsley P, Brenkel I. Reduction of blood transfusion rates in unilateral total knee arthroplasty by the introduction of a simple blood transfusion protocol. *Knee* 2003; **10**:379–384.
- 834 Helm AT, Karski MT, Parsons SJ, Sampath JS, Bale RS. A strategy for reducing blood-transfusion requirements in elective orthopaedic surgery. Audit of an algorithm for arthroplasty of the lower limb. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2003; 85:484–489.
- 835 Slappendel R, Dirksen R, Weber EW, van der Schaaf DB. An algorithm to reduce allogenic red blood cell transfusions for major orthopedic surgery. Acta Orthop Scand 2003; 74:569–575.
- 836 Cuenca J, Garcia-Erce JA, Martinez F, Perez-Serrano L, Herrera A, Munoz M. Perioperative intravenous iron, with or without erythropoietin, plus restrictive transfusion protocol reduce the need for allogeneic blood after knee replacement surgery. *Transfusion* 2006; **46**:1112– 1119.
- 837 Vera-Llonch M, Hagiwara M, Oster G. Clinical and economic consequences of bleeding following major orthopedic surgery. *Thromb Res* 2006; **117**:569–577.
- 838 Bridgens JP, Evans CR, Dobson PM, Hamer AJ. Intraoperative red blood-cell salvage in revision hip surgery. A case-matched study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007; 89:270–275.
- 839 Martinez V, Monsaingeon-Lion A, Cherif K, Judet T, Chauvin M, Fletcher D. Transfusion strategy for primary knee and hip arthroplasty: impact of an algorithm to lower transfusion rates and hospital costs. *Br J Anaesth* 2007; **99**:794–800.
- 840 Billote DB, Glisson SN, Green D, Wixson RL. A prospective, randomized study of preoperative autologous donation for hip replacement surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2002; 84-A:1299-1304.
- 841 Friederichs MG, Mariani EM, Bourne MH. Perioperative blood salvage as an alternative to predonating blood for primary total knee and hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2002; 17:298–303.
- 842 Woolson ST, Wall WW. Autologous blood transfusion after total knee arthroplasty: a randomized, prospective study comparing predonated and postoperative salvage blood. *J Arthroplasty* 2003; 18:243–249.
- 843 Muller U, Roder C, Pisan M, Orler R, El-Kerdi A, Eggli S. Autologous blood donation in total knee arthroplasties is not necessary. *Acta Orthop Scand* 2004; **75**:66–70.
- 844 Cheng SC, Hung TS, Tse PY. Investigation of the use of drained blood reinfusion after total knee arthroplasty: a prospective randomised controlled study. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 2005; 13:120–124.
- 845 Clark CR, Spratt KF, Blondin M, Craig S, Fink L. Perioperative autotransfusion in total hip and knee arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty* 2006; 21:23–35.
- 846 Hendriks HG, van Erve RH, Salden H, van der Zwet WC, Barnaart LF. [Fewer blood transfusions after introduction of auto-transfusion system as part of hip- and knee-replacement surgery]. *Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd* 2009; **153**:B187.
- 847 Laffosse JM, Minville V, Chiron P, et al. Preoperative use of epoietin beta in total hip replacement: a prospective study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2010; **130**:41-45.
- 848 Na HS, Shin SY, Hwang JY, Jeon YT, Kim CS, Do SH. Effects of intravenous iron combined with low-dose recombinant human erythropoietin on transfusion requirements in iron-deficient patients undergoing bilateral total knee replacement arthroplasty. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:118–124.
- 849 Serrano-Trenas JA, Ugalde PF, Cabello LM, Chofles LC, Lazaro PS, Benitez PC. Role of perioperative intravenous iron therapy in elderly hip fracture patients: a single-center randomized controlled trial. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:97–104.
- 850 Huttner HB, Schellinger PD, Hartmann M, et al. Hematoma growth and outcome in treated neurocritical care patients with intracerebral hemorrhage related to oral anticoagulant therapy: comparison of acute treatment strategies using vitamin K, fresh frozen plasma, and prothrombin complex concentrates. *Stroke* 2006; **37**:1465–1470.
- 851 Rodriguez-Luna D, Rubiera M, Ribo M, et al. Ultraearly hematoma growth predicts poor outcome after acute intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurology* 2011; 77:1599–1604.
- 852 Taylor RW, Manganaro L, O'Brien J, Trottier SJ, Parkar N, Veremakis C. Impact of allogenic packed red blood cell transfusion on nosocomial infection rates in the critically ill patient. *Crit Care Med* 2002; **30**:2249– 2254.
- 853 Raghavan M, Marik PE. Anemia, allogenic blood transfusion, and immunomodulation in the critically ill. Chest 2005; 127:295–307.
- 854 Innerhofer P, Walleczek C, Luz G, *et al.* Transfusion of buffy coatdepleted blood components and risk of postoperative infection in orthopedic patients. *Transfusion* 1999; **39**:625–632.

- 855 Innerhofer P, Klingler A, Klimmer C, Fries D, Nussbaumer W. Risk for postoperative infection after transfusion of white blood cellfiltered allogeneic or autologous blood components in orthopedic patients undergoing primary arthroplasty. *Transfusion* 2005; **45**:103– 110.
- 856 Taylor RW, O'Brien J, Trottier SJ, et al. Red blood cell transfusions and nosocomial infections in critically ill patients. *Crit Care Med* 2006; 34:2302–2308.
- 857 Weber EW, Slappendel R, Prins MH, van der Schaaf DB, Durieux ME, Strumper D. Perioperative blood transfusions and delayed wound healing after hip replacement surgery: effects on duration of hospitalization. Anesth Analg 2005; 100:1416-1421.
- 858 Langeron O, Doelberg M, Ang ET, Bonnet F, Capdevila X, Coriat P. Voluven, a lower substituted novel hydroxyethyl starch (HES 130/0.4), causes fewer effects on coagulation in major orthopedic surgery than HES 200/0.5. Anesth Analg 2001; 92:855–862.
- 859 Evans PA, Heptinstall S, Crowhurst EC, et al. Prospective double-blind randomized study of the effects of four intravenous fluids on platelet function and hemostasis in elective hip surgery. J Thromb Haemost 2003; 1:2140-2148.
- 860 Fries D, Streif W, Margreiter J, et al. The effects of perioperatively administered crystalloids and colloids on concentrations of molecular markers of activated coagulation and fibrinolysis. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2004; 15:213–219.
- 861 Kozek-Langenecker SA. Effects of hydroxyethyl starch solutions on hemostasis. *Anesthesiology* 2005; **103**:654–660.
- 862 Fries D. [Dilutional coagulopathy: development, diagnostic options and management]. *Hamostaseologie* 2006; **26 (3 Suppl 1)**:S15–19.
- 863 Kozek-Langenecker SA, Jungheinrich C, Sauermann W, Van der Linden P. The effects of hydroxyethyl starch 130/0.4 (6%) on blood loss and use of blood products in major surgery: a pooled analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Anesth Analg* 2008; **107**:382–390.
- 864 Mittermayr M, Streif W, Haas T, et al. Effects of colloid and crystalloid solutions on endogenous activation of fibrinolysis and resistance of polymerized fibrin to recombinant tissue plasminogen activator added ex vivo. Br J Anaesth 2008; 100:307–314.
- 865 Meunier A, Lisander B, Good L. Effects of celecoxib on blood loss, pain, and recovery of function after total knee replacement: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Acta Orthop* 2007; **78**:661–667.
- 866 Weber EW, Slappendel R, Durieux ME, Dirksen R, van der Heide H, Spruit M. COX 2 selectivity of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and perioperative blood loss in hip surgery. A randomized comparison of indomethacin and meloxicam. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2003; 20:963–966.
- 867 Li W, Lian YY, Yue WJ, et al. Experimental study of COX-2 selective and traditional non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in total hip replacement. J Int Med Res 2009; 37:472–478.
- 868 Slappendel R, Weber EW, Benraad B, Dirksen R, Bugter ML. Does ibuprofen increase perioperative blood loss during hip arthroplasty? *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2002; **19**:829–831.
- 869 Anekstein Y, Tamir E, Halperin N, Mirovsky Y. Aspirin therapy and bleeding during proximal femoral fracture surgery. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2004; (418): 205–208.
- 870 Manning BJ, O'Brien N, Aravindan S, Cahill RA, McGreal G, Redmond HP. The effect of aspirin on blood loss and transfusion requirements in patients with femoral neck fractures. *Injury* 2004; **35**:121–124.
- 871 Kennedy MT, Roche S, Fleming SM, Lenehan B, Curtin W. The association between aspirin and blood loss in hip fracture patients. *Acta Orthop Belg* 2006; **72**:29–33.
- 872 Thaler HW, Frisee F, Korninger C. Platelet aggregation inhibitors, platelet function testing, and blood loss in hip fracture surgery. *J Trauma* 2010; **69**:1217–1220.
- 873 Lavelle WF, Demers Lavelle EA, Uhl R. Operative delay for orthopedic patients on clopidogrel (plavix): a complete lack of consensus. *J Trauma* 2008; **64**:996–1000.
- 874 Metzler H, Kozek-Langenecker S, Huber K. Antiplatelet therapy and coronary stents in perioperative medicine–the two sides of the coin. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2008; 22:81–94.
- 875 Newsome LT, Weller RS, Gerancher JC, Kutcher MA, Royster RL. Coronary artery stents: II. Perioperative considerations and management. *Anesth Analg* 2008; **107**:570–590.
- 876 Jambor C, Spannagl M, Zwissler B. [Perioperative management of patients with coronary stents in non-cardiac surgery]. *Anaesthesist* 2009; **58**:971–985.
- 877 Llau JV, Ferrandis R, Sierra P, Gomez-Luque A. Prevention of the renarrowing of coronary arteries using drug-eluting stents in the perioperative period: an update. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* 2010; 6:855– 867.

- 878 Korte W, Cattaneo M, Chassot PG, et al. Peri-operative management of antiplatelet therapy in patients with coronary artery disease: joint position paper by members of the working group on Perioperative Haemostasis of the Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis Research (GTH), the working group on Perioperative Coagulation of the Austrian Society for Anesthesiology, Resuscitation and Intensive Care (OGARI) and the Working Group Thrombosis of the European Society for Cardiology (ESC). Thromb Haemost 2011; 105:743–749.
- 879 Nydick JA, Farrell ED, Marcantonio AJ, Hume EL, Marburger R, Ostrum RF. The use of clopidogrel (Plavix) in patients undergoing nonelective orthopaedic surgery. J Orthop Trauma 2010; 24:383–386.
- 880 Creutzfeldt CJ, Weinstein JR, Longstreth WT Jr, Becker KJ, McPharlin TO, Tirschwell DL. Prior antiplatelet therapy, platelet infusion therapy, and outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2009; 18:221–228.
- 881 Sansing LH, Messe SR, Cucchiara BL, et al. Prior antiplatelet use does not affect hemorrhage growth or outcome after ICH. *Neurology* 2009; 72:1397–1402.
- 882 Diener HC, Bogousslavsky J, Brass LM, et al. Aspirin and clopidogrel compared with clopidogrel alone after recent ischaemic stroke or transient ischaemic attack in high-risk patients (MATCH): randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2004; **364**:331–337.
- 883 Cucchiara B, Kasner SE, Tanne D, et al. Factors associated with intracerebral hemorrhage after thrombolytic therapy for ischemic stroke: pooled analysis of placebo data from the Stroke-Acute Ischemic NXY Treatment (SAINT) I and SAINT II Trials. *Stroke* 2009; **40**:3067–3072.
- 884 Moussouttas M, Malhotra R, Fernandez L, et al. Role of antiplatelet agents in hematoma expansion during the acute period of intracerebral hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 2010; 12:24–29.
- 885 Thompson BB, Bejot Y, Caso V, et al. Prior antiplatelet therapy and outcome following intracerebral hemorrhage: a systematic review. *Neurology* 2010; **75**:1333–1342.
- 886 Wiviott SD, Braunwald E, McCabe CH, et al. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2007; 357:2001–2015.
- 887 Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A, et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:1045-1057.
- 888 Anderson SD, Shah NK, Yim J, Epstein BJ. Efficacy and safety of ticagrelor: a reversible P2Y12 receptor antagonist. *Ann Pharmacother* 2010; **44**:524–537.
- 889 Appelboom G, Piazza M, Han JE, et al. von Willebrand Factor Genetic Variant Associated with Hematoma Expansion After Intracerebral Hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2012; In press.
- 890 Scharf RE. Management of bleeding in patients using antithrombotic agents: prediction, prevention, protection and problem-oriented intervention. *Hamostaseologie* 2009; 29:388–398.
- 891 Alexander JH, Lopes RD, James S, et al. Apixaban with antiplatelet therapy after acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 2011; 365:699– 708.
- 892 Connolly SJ, Eikelboom J, Joyner C, et al. Apixaban in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011; 364:806-817.
- 893 Eikelboom JW, Wallentin L, Connolly SJ, et al. Risk of bleeding with 2 doses of dabigatran compared with warfarin in older and younger patients with atrial fibrillation: an analysis of the randomized evaluation of long-term anticoagulant therapy (RE-LY) trial. *Circulation* 2011; 123:2363–2372.
- 894 Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, et al. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011; 365:883-891.
- 895 Turpie AG. New oral anticoagulants in atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2008; 29:155-165.
- 896 Heindl B, Spannagl M. [New oral anticoagulants. Consequences for perioperative coagulation diagnostics and therapy]. *Anaesthesist* 2009; 58:1252–1255.
- 897 Samama MM, Martinoli JL, LeFlem L, et al. Assessment of laboratory assays to measure rivaroxaban-an oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor. *Thromb Haemost* 2010; 103:815-825.
- 898 van Ryn J, Stangier J, Haertter S, et al. Dabigatran etexilate-a novel, reversible, oral direct thrombin inhibitor: interpretation of coagulation assays and reversal of anticoagulant activity. *Thromb Haemost* 2010; 103:1116-1127.
- 899 Salmela B, Joutsi-Korhonen L, Armstrong E, Lassila R. Active online assessment of patients using new oral anticoagulants: bleeding risk, compliance, and coagulation analysis. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 2012; 38:23-30.
- 900 Zhou W, Schwarting S, Illanes S, et al. Hemostatic therapy in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage associated with the direct thrombin inhibitor dabigatran. Stroke 2011; 42:3594-3599.

- 901 Lauer A, Cianchetti FA, Van Cott EM, et al. Anticoagulation with the oral direct thrombin inhibitor dabigatran does not enlarge hematoma volume in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Circulation* 2011; 124:1654–1662.
- 902 Truumees E, Gaudu T, Dieterichs C, Geck M, Stokes J. Epidural hematoma and intraoperative hemorrhage in a spine trauma patient on Pradaxa (dabigatran). *Spine* 2012; **37**:E863–865.
- 903 Gogarten W, Vandermeulen E, Van Aken H, et al. Regional anaesthesia and antithrombotic agents: recommendations of the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2010; 27:999–1015.
- 904 Wong J, El Beheiry H, Rampersaud YR, et al. Tranexamic Acid reduces perioperative blood loss in adult patients having spinal fusion surgery. Anesth Analg 2008; 107:1479-1486.
- 905 Campbell PG, Yadla S, Sen AN, Jallo J, Jabbour P. Emergency reversal of clopidogrel in the setting of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *World Neurosurg* 2011; **76**:100–104.
- 906 Lee SB, Manno EM, Layton KF, Wijdicks EF. Progression of warfarinassociated intracerebral hemorrhage after INR normalization with FFP. *Neurology* 2006; 67:1272–1274.
- 907 Gregoire SM, Jager HR, Yousry TA, Kallis C, Brown MM, Werring DJ. Brain microbleeds as a potential risk factor for antiplatelet-related intracerebral haemorrhage: hospital-based, case-control study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2010; 81:679–684.
- 908 Lovelock CE, Cordonnier C, Naka H, et al. Antithrombotic drug use, cerebral microbleeds, and intracerebral hemorrhage: a systematic review of published and unpublished studies. *Stroke* 2010; **41**:1222– 1228.
- 909 Downey DM, Monson B, Butler KL, et al. Does platelet administration affect mortality in elderly head-injured patients taking antiplatelet medications? Am Surg 2009; 75:1100–1103.
- 910 de Gans K, de Haan RJ, Majoie CB, *et al.* PATCH: platelet transfusion in cerebral haemorrhage: study protocol for a multicentre, randomised, controlled trial. *BMC Neurol* 2010; **10**:19.
- 911 Washington CW, Schuerer DJ, Grubb RL Jr. Platelet transfusion: an unnecessary risk for mild traumatic brain injury patients on antiplatelet therapy. J Trauma 2011; 71:358–363.
- 912 Rahe-Meyer N, Winterhalter M, Hartmann J, et al. An evaluation of cyclooxygenase-1 inhibition before coronary artery surgery: aggregometry versus patient self-reporting. Anesth Analg 2008; 107:1791-1797.
- 913 Naidech AM, Bernstein RA, Levasseur K, et al. Platelet activity and outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage. Ann Neurol 2009; 65:352– 356.
- 914 Naidech AM, Bassin SL, Bernstein RA, *et al.* Reduced platelet activity is more common than reported anti-platelet medication use in patients with intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* 2009; **11**:307–310.
- 915 Sibbing D, Schulz S, Braun S, et al. Antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel and bleeding in patients undergoing coronary stent placement. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8:250–256.
- 916 Sibbing D, Steinhubl SR, Schulz S, Schomig A, Kastrati A. Platelet aggregation and its association with stent thrombosis and bleeding in clopidogrel-treated patients: initial evidence of a therapeutic window. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2010; **56**:317–318.
- 917 Naidech AM, Bendok BR, Garg RK, et al. Reduced platelet activity is associated with more intraventricular hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* 2009; 65:684–688.
- 918 Naidech AM, Jovanovic B, Liebling S, et al. Reduced platelet activity is associated with early clot growth and worse 3-month outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage. Stroke 2009; 40:2398–2401.
- 919 Bracey AW, Grigore AM, Nussmeier NA. Impact of platelet testing on presurgical screening and implications for cardiac and noncardiac surgical procedures. *Am J Cardiol* 2006; **98 (10A)**:25N-32N.
- 920 Bergmann L, Kienbaum P, Görlinger K, Peters J. Uneventful removal of an epidural catheter guided by impedance aggregometry in a patient with recent coronary stenting and treated with clopidogrel and acetylsalicylic acid. *Reg Anesth Pain Med* 2007; **32**:354–357.
- 921 Benzon HT, McCarthy RJ, Benzon HA, et al. Determination of residual antiplatelet activity of clopidogrel before neuraxial injections. Br J Anaesth 2011; 107:966–971.
- 922 Tanaka KA, Dietrich W. Is it time to implement preoperative platelet function testing before invasive procedures? *Br J Anaesth* 2011; 107:842-843.
- 923 Sucker C, Zotz RB, Görlinger K, Hartmann M. Rotational thrombelastometry for the bedside monitoring of recombinant hirudin. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2008; **52**:358–362.
- 924 Fujii Y, Takeuchi S, Sasaki O, Minakawa T, Tanaka R. Multivariate analysis of predictors of hematoma enlargement in spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke* 1998; 29:1160–1166.

- 925 Samama CM, Djoudi R, Lecompte T, Nathan N, Schved JF. French Health Products Safety Agency Expert G. Perioperative platelet transfusion. Recommendations of the French Health Products Safety Agency (AFSSAPS) 2003. *Minerva Anestesiol* 2006; **72**:447–452.
- 926 Greinacher A, Kiefel V, Kluter H, et al. [Recommendations for platelet transfusion by the Joint Thrombocyte Working Party of the German Societies of Transfusion Medicine and Immunohaematology (DGTI), Thrombosis and Haemostasis Research (GTH), and Haematology and Oncology (DGHO)]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 2006; 131:2675-2679.
- 927 Slichter SJ. Evidence-based platelet transfusion guidelines. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program* 2007: 172–178.
- 928 Liumbruno G, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, et al. Recommendations for the transfusion of plasma and platelets. *Blood Transfus* 2009; 7:132– 150.
- 929 British Committee for Standards in Haematology Blood Transfusion Task Force. Guidelines for the use of platelet transfusions. Br J Haematol 2003; **122**:10–23.
- 930 Dragu A, Bach AD, Leffler M, Unglaub F, Horch RE. Acute and diffuse postoperative bleeding after free latissimus dorsi flap–Factor XIII deficiency: a case report and review of the literature. *Med Sci Monit* 2009; **15**:CS1-4.
- 931 Albanese A, Tuttolomondo A, Anile C, et al. Spontaneous chronic subdural hematomas in young adults with a deficiency in coagulation factor XIII. Report of three cases. J Neurosurg 2005; 102:1130-1132.
- 932 Vural M, Yarar C, Durmaz R, Atasoy MA. Spontaneous acute subdural hematoma and chronic epidural hematoma in a child with F XIII deficiency. J Emerg Med 2010; 38:25–29.
- 933 Perez DL, Diamond EL, Castro CM, et al. Factor XIII deficiency related recurrent spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage: a case and literature review. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2011; 113:142–145.
- 934 Shirahata A, Nakamura T, Shimono M, Kaneko M, Tanaka S. Blood coagulation findings and the efficacy of factor XIII concentrate in premature infants with intracranial hemorrhages. *Thromb Res* 1990; 57:755–763.
- 935 Thie A, Henze T. Factor XIII concentrate for prevention of recurrent subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a multicenter pilot study. The FISAH Study Group. *Neurochirurgia (Stuttg)* 1991; 34:107–110.
- 936 Lusher J, Pipe SW, Alexander S, Nugent D. Prophylactic therapy with Fibrogammin P is associated with a decreased incidence of bleeding episodes: a retrospective study. *Haemophilia* 2010; **16**:316–321.
- 937 Ruigrok YM, Slooter AJ, Rinkel GJ, Wijmenga C, Rosendaal FR. Genes influencing coagulation and the risk of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, and subsequent complications of secondary cerebral ischemia and rebleeding. *Acta Neurochir* 2010; **152**:257–262.
- 938 Ladenvall C, Csajbok L, Nylen K, Jood K, Nellgard B, Jern C. Association between factor XIII single nucleotide polymorphisms and aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 2009; 110:475–481.
- 939 Carling MS, Jeppsson A, Wessberg P, Henriksson A, Baghaei F, Brisby H. Preoperative fibrinogen plasma concentration is associated with perioperative bleeding and transfusion requirements in scoliosis surgery. *Spine* 2011; **36**:549–555.
- 940 El Kady N, Khedr H, Yosry M, El Mekawi S. Perioperative assessment of coagulation in paediatric neurosurgical patients using thromboelastography. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2009; 26:293–297.
- 941 Kalina U, Bickhard H, Schulte S. Biochemical comparison of seven commercially available prothrombin complex concentrates. Int J Clin Pract 2008; 62:1614–1622.
- 942 Johansson PI, Stissing T, Bochsen L, Ostrowski SR. Thrombelastography and tromboelastometry in assessing coagulopathy in trauma. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2009; 17:45.
- 943 Weiss G, Lison S, Spannagl M, Heindl B. Expressiveness of global coagulation parameters in dilutional coagulopathy. *Br J Anaesth* 2010; 105:429–436.
- 944 Hylek EM, Singer DE. Risk factors for intracranial hemorrhage in outpatients taking warfarin. Ann Intern Med 1994; 120:897–902.
- 945 Gorter JW. Major bleeding during anticoagulation after cerebral ischemia: patterns and risk factors. Stroke Prevention In Reversible Ischemia Trial (SPIRIT). European Atrial Fibrillation Trial (EAFT) study groups. *Neurology* 1999; **53**:1319–1327.
- 946 Hylek EM, Go AS, Chang Y, et al. Effect of intensity of oral anticoagulation on stroke severity and mortality in atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2003; 349:1019–1026.
- 947 Fang MC, Chang Y, Hylek EM, et al. Advanced age, anticoagulation intensity, and risk for intracranial hemorrhage among patients taking warfarin for atrial fibrillation. Ann Intern Med 2004; 141:745-752.
- 948 Reynolds MW, Fahrbach K, Hauch O, et al. Warfarin anticoagulation and outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Chest 2004; **126**:1938–1945.

- 949 Oden A, Fahlen M, Hart RG. Optimal INR for prevention of stroke and death in atrial fibrillation: a critical appraisal. *Thromb Res* 2006; 117:493-499.
- 950 Hylek EM, Evans-Molina C, Shea C, Henault LE, Regan S. Major hemorrhage and tolerability of warfarin in the first year of therapy among elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 2007; **115**:2689– 2696.
- 951 Fuster V, Ryden LE, Asinger RW, et al. ACC/AHA/ESC guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: executive summary. A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines and Policy Conferences (Committee to Develop Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation): developed in Collaboration With the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 38:1231–1266.
- 952 Flaherty ML, Tao H, Haverbusch M, et al. Warfarin use leads to larger intracerebral hematomas. *Neurology* 2008; 71:1084–1089.
- 953 Kagoma YK, Crowther MA, Douketis J, Bhandari M, Eikelboom J, Lim W. Use of antifibrinolytic therapy to reduce transfusion in patients undergoing orthopedic surgery: a systematic review of randomized trials. *Thromb Res* 2009; **123**:687–696.
- 954 Sukeik M, Alshryda S, Haddad FS, Mason JM. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the use of tranexamic acid in total hip replacement. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2011; **93**:39–46.
- 955 Cid J, Lozano M. Tranexamic acid reduces allogeneic red cell transfusions in patients undergoing total knee arthroplasty: results of a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Transfusion* 2005; 45:1302–1307.
- 956 Ho KM, Ismail H. Use of intravenous tranexamic acid to reduce allogeneic blood transfusion in total hip and knee arthroplasty: a metaanalysis. *Anaesth Intensive Care* 2003; **31**:529–537.
- 957 Gill JB, Chin Y, Levin A, Feng D. The use of antifibrinolytic agents in spine surgery. A meta-analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2008; 90:2399– 2407.
- 958 Eubanks JD. Antifibrinolytics in major orthopaedic surgery. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2010; **18**:132-138.
- 959 Amar D, Grant FM, Zhang H, Boland PJ, Leung DH, Healey JA. Antifibrinolytic therapy and perioperative blood loss in cancer patients undergoing major orthopedic surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2003; **98**:337– 342.
- 960 Kokoszka A, Kuflik P, Bitan F, Casden A, Neuwirth M. Evidence-based review of the role of aprotinin in blood conservation during orthopaedic surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2005; 87:1129–1136.
- 961 Zufferey PJ, Miquet M, Quenet S, et al. Tranexamic acid in hip fracture surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Br J Anaesth 2010; 104:23-30.
- 962 Alshryda S, Sarda P, Sukeik M, Nargol A, Blenkinsopp J, Mason JM. Tranexamic acid in total knee replacement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2011; 93:1577-1585.
- 963 Harley BJ, Beaupre LA, Jones CA, Cinats JG, Guenther CR. The effect of epsilon aminocaproic acid on blood loss in patients who undergo primary total hip replacement: a pilot study. *Can J Surg* 2002; **45**:185– 190.
- 964 Florentino-Pineda I, Thompson GH, Poe-Kochert C, Huang RP, Haber LL, Blakemore LC. The effect of amicar on perioperative blood loss in idiopathic scoliosis: the results of a prospective, randomized doubleblind study. *Spine* 2004; 29:233–238.
- 965 Ray M, Hatcher S, Whitehouse SL, Crawford S, Crawford R. Aprotinin and epsilon aminocaproic acid are effective in reducing blood loss after primary total hip arthroplasty–a prospective randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Thromb Haemost 2005; 3:1421–1427.
- 966 Thompson GH, Florentino-Pineda I, Poe-Kochert C. The role of amicar in decreasing perioperative blood loss in idiopathic scoliosis. *Spine* 2005;
  30 (Suppl 17):S94–99.
- 967 Berenholtz SM, Pham JC, Garrett-Mayer E, et al. Effect of epsilon aminocaproic acid on red-cell transfusion requirements in major spinal surgery. Spine 2009; 34:2096–2103.
- 968 Johansson T, Pettersson LG, Lisander B. Tranexamic acid in total hip arthroplasty saves blood and money: a randomized, double-blind study in 100 patients. Acta Orthop 2005; **76**:314–319.
- 969 Orpen NM, Little C, Walker G, Crawfurd EJ. Tranexamic acid reduces early post-operative blood loss after total knee arthroplasty: a prospective randomised controlled trial of 29 patients. *Knee* 2006; 13:106-110.
- 970 Claeys MA, Vermeersch N, Haentjens P. Reduction of blood loss with tranexamic acid in primary total hip replacement surgery. *Acta Chir Belg* 2007; **107**:397–401.

- 971 Kazemi SM, Mosaffa F, Eajazi A, et al. The effect of tranexamic acid on reducing blood loss in cementless total hip arthroplasty under epidural anesthesia. Orthopedics 2010; 33:17.
- 972 Malhotra R, Kumar V, Garg B. The use of tranexamic acid to reduce blood loss in primary cementless total hip arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthopaed Surg Traumatol* 2010; 21:101–104.
- 973 Ekback G, Axelsson K, Ryttberg L, et al. Tranexamic acid reduces blood loss in total hip replacement surgery. Anesth Analg 2000; 91:1124– 1130.
- 974 Veien M, Sorensen JV, Madsen F, Juelsgaard P. Tranexamic acid given intraoperatively reduces blood loss after total knee replacement: a randomized, controlled study. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2002; 46:1206–1211.
- 975 Good L, Peterson E, Lisander B. Tranexamic acid decreases external blood loss but not hidden blood loss in total knee replacement. *Br J Anaesth* 2003; **90**:596–599.
- 976 Zohar E, Fredman B, Ellis MH, Ifrach N, Stern A, Jedeikin R. A comparative study of the postoperative allogeneic blood-sparing effects of tranexamic acid and of desmopressin after total knee replacement. *Transfusion* 2001; **41**:1285–1289.
- 977 Lemay E, Guay J, Cote C, Roy A. Tranexamic acid reduces the need for allogenic red blood cell transfusions in patients undergoing total hip replacement. *Can J Anaesth* 2004; **51**:31–37.
- 978 Alvarez JC, Santiveri FX, Ramos I, Vela E, Puig L, Escolano F. Tranexamic acid reduces blood transfusion in total knee arthroplasty even when a blood conservation program is applied. *Transfusion* 2008; 48:519–525.
- 979 Ahmed AA, Abdelrhman H, Zaky M, Abdallah M. Allogeneic- bloodsparing effect of tranexamic acid versus acute normovolemic hemodilution for total hip replacement. *Egyp J Anaesth* 2010; 26:23– 30.
- 980 Zohar E, Ellis M, Ifrach N, Stern A, Sapir O, Fredman B. The postoperative blood-sparing efficacy of oral versus intravenous tranexamic acid after total knee replacement. *Anesth Analg* 2004; 99:1679–1683.
- 981 Narayan RK, Maas AI, Marshall LF, et al. Recombinant factor VIIA in traumatic intracerebral hemorrhage: results of a dose-escalation clinical trial. Neurosurgery 2008; 62:776–786.
- 982 Neilipovitz DT, Murto K, Hall L, Barrowman NJ, Splinter WM. A randomized trial of tranexamic acid to reduce blood transfusion for scoliosis surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2001; **93**:82–87.
- 983 Elwatidy S, Jamjoom Z, Elgamal E, Zakaria A, Turkistani A, El-Dawlatly A. Efficacy and safety of prophylactic large dose of tranexamic acid in spine surgery: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Spine* 2008; **33**:2577–2580.
- 984 Hillman J, Fridriksson S, Nilsson O, Yu Z, Saveland H, Jakobsson KE. Immediate administration of tranexamic acid and reduced incidence of early rebleeding after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective randomized study. *J Neurosurg* 2002; **97**:771–778.
- 985 Palmer JD, Francis JL, Pickard JD, Iannotti F. The efficacy and safety of aprotinin for hemostasis during intracranial surgery. *J Neurosurg* 2003; 98:1208–1216.
- 986 Ludlam CA, Smith MP, Morfini M, Gringeri A, Santagostino E, Savidge GF. A prospective study of recombinant activated factor VII administered by continuous infusion to inhibitor patients undergoing elective major orthopaedic surgery: a pharmacokinetic and efficacy evaluation. Br J Haematol 2003; **120**:808–813.
- 987 Giangrande PL, Wilde JT, Madan B, et al. Consensus protocol for the use of recombinant activated factor VII [eptacog alfa (activated); NovoSeven] in elective orthopaedic surgery in haemophilic patients with inhibitors. Haemophilia 2009; 15:501–508.
- 988 Kolban M, Balachowska-Kosciolek I, Chmielnicki M. Recombinant coagulation factor VIIa-a novel haemostatic agent in scoliosis surgery? *Eur Spine J* 2006; 15:944–952.
- 989 Kaw LL Jr, Coimbra R, Potenza BM, Garfin SR, Hoyt DB. The use of recombinant factor VIIa for severe intractable bleeding during spine surgery. Spine 2004; 29:1384–1387.
- 990 Kolban M, Balachowska-Kosciolek I, Chmielnicki M. [The use of recombinant coagulation factor VIIa in patients undergoing surgical correction of scoliosis with the C-D method]. Ortop Traumatol Rehabil 2005; 7:285-289.
- 991 Sachs B, Delacy D, Green J, et al. Recombinant activated factor VII in spinal surgery: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, dose-escalation trial. Spine 2007; 32:2285–2293.
- 992 Raobaikady R, Redman J, Ball JA, Maloney G, Grounds RM. Use of activated recombinant coagulation factor VII in patients undergoing reconstruction surgery for traumatic fracture of pelvis or pelvis and acetabulum: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Br J Anaesth* 2005; **94**:586–591.

- 993 Park P, Fewel ME, Garton HJ, Thompson BG, Hoff JT. Recombinant activated factor VII for the rapid correction of coagulopathy in nonhemophilic neurosurgical patients. *Neurosurgery* 2003; **53**:34–38.
- 994 White CE, Schrank AE, Baskin TW, Holcomb JB. Effects of recombinant activated factor VII in traumatic nonsurgical intracranial hemorrhage. *Curr Surg* 2006; 63:310–317.
- 995 Culley CM, Guttendorf S, Coldren M, *et al.* Coagulation factor VIIa (recombinant) in nonhemophilic patients requiring neurosurgery. *Am J Health Syst Pharm* 2009; **66**:1554–1559.
- 996 Stein DM, Dutton RP, Kramer ME, Handley C, Scalea TM. Recombinant factor VIIa: decreasing time to intervention in coagulopathic patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Trauma 2008; 64:620–627.
- 997 McQuay N Jr, Cipolla J, Franges EZ, Thompson GE. The use of recombinant activated factor VIIa in coagulopathic traumatic brain injuries requiring emergent craniotomy: is it beneficial? *J Neurosurg* 2009; **111**:666–671.
- 998 Mayer SA, Brun NC, Begtrup K, *et al.* Efficacy and safety of recombinant activated factor VII for acute intracerebral hemorrhage. *N Engl J Med* 2008; **358**:2127–2137.
- 999 Yuan ZH, Jiang JK, Huang WD, Pan J, Zhu JY, Wang JZ. A meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of recombinant activated factor VII for patients with acute intracerebral hemorrhage without hemophilia. *J Clin Neurosci* 2010; **17**:685–693.
- 1000 Rama-Maceiras P, Ingelmo-Ingelmo I, Fabregas-Julia N, Hernandez-Palazon J. [The role of recombinant activated factor VII in neurosurgical and neurocritical patients]. *Neurocirugia (Astur)* 2011; 22:209–223.
- 1001 Johansson PI. Off-label use of recombinant factor VIIa for treatment of haemorrhage: results from randomized clinical trials. *Vox Sang* 2008; 95:1-7.
- 1002 Al-Shahi Salman R. Haemostatic drug therapies for acute spontaneous intracerebral haemorrhage. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009::CD005951.
- 1003 Nussbaum ES, Janjua TM, Defillo A, Sinner P, Zelensky A. Perioperative use of recombinant factor VII to prevent intraoperative aneurysm rupture in high risk patients: a preliminary safety evaluation. *Neurocrit Care* 2009; **10**:55–60.
- 1004 Kluger Y, Riou B, Rossaint R, et al. Safety of rFVIIa in hemodynamically unstable polytrauma patients with traumatic brain injury: post hoc analysis of 30 patients from a prospective, randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind clinical trial. Crit Care 2007; 11:R85.
- 1005 Brown CV, Foulkrod KH, Lopez D, et al. Recombinant factor VIIa for the correction of coagulopathy before emergent craniotomy in blunt trauma patients. J Trauma 2010; 68:348–352.
- 1006 Nishijima DK, Dager WE, Schrot RJ, Holmes JF. The efficacy of factor VIIa in emergency department patients with warfarin use and traumatic intracranial hemorrhage. Acad Emerg Med 2010; 17:244–251.
- 1007 Perel P, Roberts I, Shakur H, Thinkhamrop B, Phuenpathom N, Yutthakasemsunt S. Haemostatic drugs for traumatic brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; (1):CD007877.
- 1008 Heisel M, Nagib M, Madsen L, Alshiekh M, Bendel A. Use of recombinant factor VIIa (rFVIIa) to control intraoperative bleeding in pediatric brain tumor patients. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2004; 43:703-705.
- 1009 Hartmann M, Sucker C. Pharmacology and clinical use of recombinant activated factor seven in neurosciences. *Neurocrit Care* 2007; 6:149– 157.
- 1010 Baker RI, Coughlin PB, Gallus AS, et al. Warfarin reversal: consensus guidelines, on behalf of the Australasian Society of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. Med J Aust 2004; 181:492–497.
- 1011 Hirsh J, Guyatt G, Albers GW, Harrington R, Schunemann HJ, American College of Chest P. Antithrombotic and thrombolytic therapy: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008; **133 (6 Suppl)**:110S– 112S.
- 1012 The Board of the German Medical Association (BÄK) on the Recommendation of the Scientific Advisory Board. Cross-Sectional Guidelines for Therapy with Blood Components and Plasma Derivatives. 4th revised edition. Chapter 7: Procoagulators. *Transfus Med Hemother* 2009; **36**:419–436.
- 1013 Lin Y, Callum J. Emergency reversal of warfarin anticoagulation. *CMAJ* 2004; **182 (18).**
- 1014 Masotti L, Di Napoli M, Godoy DA, et al. The practical management of intracerebral hemorrhage associated with oral anticoagulant therapy. Int J Stroke 2011; 6:228–240.
- 1015 Matevosyan K, Madden C, Barnett SL, Beshay JE, Rutherford C, Sarode R. Coagulation factor levels in neurosurgical patients with mild prolongation of prothrombin time: effect on plasma transfusion therapy. *J Neurosurg* 2011; **114**:3–7.

- 1016 Appelboam R, Thomas EO. The headache over warfarin in British neurosurgical intensive care units: a national survey of current practice. *Intensive Care Med* 2007; 33:1946–1953.
- 1017 Levy JH, Tanaka KA, Dietrich W. Perioperative hemostatic management of patients treated with vitamin K antagonists. *Anesthesiology* 2008; 109:918–926.
- 1018 Barillari G, Pasca S, Barillari A, De Angelis V. Emergency reversal of anticoagulation: from theory to real use of prothrombin complex concentrates. A retrospective Italian experience. *Blood Transfus* 2012; 10:87–94.
- 1019 Radaelli F, Paggi S, Terruzzi V, et al. Management of warfarin-associated coagulopathy in patients with acute gastrointestinal bleeding: a crosssectional physician survey of current practice. *Dig Liver Dis* 2011; 43:444-447.
- 1020 Stanworth SJ, Walsh TS, Prescott RJ, et al. A national study of plasma use in critical care: clinical indications, dose and effect on prothrombin time. Crit Care 2011; 15:R108.
- 1021 Samama CM. Prothrombin complex concentrates: a brief review. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2008; 25:784–789.
- 1022 Sorensen B, Spahn DR, Innerhofer P, Spannagl M, Rossaint R. Clinical review: Prothrombin complex concentrates-evaluation of safety and thrombogenicity. *Crit Care* 2011; 15:201.
- 1023 Imberti D, Barillari G, Biasioli C, et al. Prothrombin complex concentrates for urgent anticoagulation reversal in patients with intracranial haemorrhage. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2008; 36:259–265.
- 1024 Leissinger CA, Blatt PM, Hoots WK, Ewenstein B. Role of prothrombin complex concentrates in reversing warfarin anticoagulation: a review of the literature. Am J Hematol 2008; 83:137-143.
- 1025 Chong CT, Lew TW, Kuperan P, Tan JJ, Tan HL, Kwek TK. Rapid reversal of coagulopathy in warfarin-related intracranial haemorrhages with prothrombin complex concentrates. *Anaesth Intensive Care* 2010; 38:474–480.
- 1026 Imberti D, Barillari G, Biasioli C, et al. Emergency reversal of anticoagulation with a three-factor prothrombin complex concentrate in patients with intracranial haemorrhage. Blood Transfus 2011; 9:148– 155.
- 1027 Tran H, Collecutt M, Whitehead S, Salem HH. Prothrombin complex concentrates used alone in urgent reversal of warfarin anticoagulation. *Intern Med J* 2011; 41:337–343.
- 1028 Holland L, Warkentin TE, Refaai M, Crowther MA, Johnston MA, Sarode R. Suboptimal effect of a three-factor prothrombin complex concentrate (Profilnine-SD) in correcting supratherapeutic international normalized ratio due to warfarin overdose. *Transfusion* 2009; 49:1171– 1177.
- 1029 Goodnough LT, Shander A. How I treat warfarin-associated coagulopathy in patients with intracerebral hemorrhage. *Blood* 2011; 117:6091-6099.
- 1030 Ogawa S, Szlam F, Ohnishi T, Molinaro RJ, Hosokawa K, Tanaka KA. A comparative study of prothrombin complex concentrates and freshfrozen plasma for warfarin reversal under static and flow conditions. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **106**:1215–1223.
- 1031 Aledort LM. Comparative thrombotic event incidence after infusion of recombinant factor VIIa versus factor VIII inhibitor bypass activity. *J Thromb Haemost* 2004; 2:1700–1708.
- 1032 Bonnet PO, Yoon BS, Wong WY, Boswell K, Ewenstein BM. Cost minimization analysis to compare activated prothrombin complex concentrate (APCC) and recombinant factor VIIa for haemophilia patients with inhibitors undergoing major orthopaedic surgeries. *Haemophilia* 2009; **15**:1083–1089.
- 1033 Teitel JM, Carcao M, Lillicrap D, et al. Orthopaedic surgery in haemophilia patients with inhibitors: a practical guide to haemostatic, surgical and rehabilitative care. *Haemophilia* 2009; 15:227–239.
- 1034 Ehrlich HJ, Henzl MJ, Gomperts ED. Safety of factor VIII inhibitor bypass activity (FEIBA): 10-year compilation of thrombotic adverse events. *Haemophilia* 2002; 8:83–90.
- 1035 Dimichele D, Negrier C. A retrospective postlicensure survey of FEIBA efficacy and safety. *Haemophilia* 2006; **12**:352–362.
- 1036 Rodriguez-Merchan EC, Jimenez-Yuste V, Gomez-Cardero P, Alvarez-Roman M, Martin-Salces M, Rodriguez de la Rua A. Surgery in haemophilia patients with inhibitors, with special emphasis on orthopaedics: Madrid experience. *Haemophilia* 2010; 16:84–88.
- 1037 Hay JW, Zhou ZY. Systematic literature review of economics analysis on treatment of mild-to-moderate bleeds with aPCC versus rFVIIa. J Med Econ 2011; 14:516–525.
- 1038 Rangarajan S, Yee TT, Wilde J. Experience of four UK comprehensive care centres using FEIBA(R) for surgeries in patients with inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2011; 17:28–34.

- 1039 Cartmill M, Dolan G, Byrne JL, Byrne PO. Prothrombin complex concentrate for oral anticoagulant reversal in neurosurgical emergencies. *Br J Neurosurg* 2000; **14**:458–461.
- 1040 Evans G, Luddington R, Baglin T. Beriplex P/N reverses severe warfarin-induced overanticoagulation immediately and completely in patients presenting with major bleeding. *Br J Haematol* 2001; **115**:998–1001.
- 1041 Goldstein JN, Thomas SH, Frontiero V, et al. Timing of fresh frozen plasma administration and rapid correction of coagulopathy in warfarinrelated intracerebral hemorrhage. Stroke 2006; 37:151–155.
- 1042 Lorenz R, Kienast J, Otto U, *et al.* Successful emergency reversal of phenprocoumon anticoagulation with prothrombin complex concentrate: a prospective clinical study. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2007; **18**:565–570.
- 1043 Scott LJ. Prothrombin complex concentrate (Beriplex P/N). Drugs 2009; 69:1977-1984.
- 1044 Bechtel BF, Nunez TC, Lyon JA, Cotton BA, Barrett TW. Treatments for reversing warfarin anticoagulation in patients with acute intracranial hemorrhage: a structured literature review. Int J Emerg Med 2011; 4:40.
- 1045 West KL, Adamson C, Hoffman M. Prophylactic correction of the international normalized ratio in neurosurgery: a brief review of a brief literature. J Neurosurg 2011; 114:9–18.
- 1046 Popovsky MA. Pulmonary consequences of transfusion: TRALI and TACO. *Transfus Apher Sci* 2006; **34**:243–244.
- 1047 Gajic O, Rana R, Winters JL, et al. Transfusion-related acute lung injury in the critically ill: prospective nested case-control study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007; 176:886–891.
- 1048 Triulzi DJ. Transfusion-related acute lung injury: current concepts for the clinician. *Anesth Analg* 2009; **108**:770–776.
- 1049 Knowles S, Cohen H. The 2010 Annual SHOT Report. Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT) Steering Group; 2010. http://www.shotuk.org/ wp-content/uploads/2011/07/SHOT-2010-Report.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 1050 Elliott J, Smith M. The acute management of intracerebral hemorrhage: a clinical review. *Anesth Analg* 2010; **110**:1419–1427.
- 1051 Steiner T, Rosand J, Diringer M. Intracerebral hemorrhage associated with oral anticoagulant therapy: current practices and unresolved questions. *Stroke* 2006; **37**:256–262.
- 1052 Aiyagari V, Testai FD. Correction of coagulopathy in warfarin associated cerebral hemorrhage. Curr Opin Crit Care 2009; 15:87–92.
- 1053 Ostermann H, Haertel S, Knaub S, Kalina U, Jung K, Pabinger I. Pharmacokinetics of Beriplex P/N prothrombin complex concentrate in healthy volunteers. *Thromb Haemost* 2007; **98**:790–797.
- 1054 Bobbitt L, Merriman E, Raynes J, Henderson R, Blacklock H, Chunilal S. PROTHROMBINEX((R))-VF (PTX-VF) usage for reversal of coagulopathy: prospective evaluation of thrombogenic risk. *Thromb Res* 2011; **128**:577–582.
- 1055 Dentali F, Marchesi C, Pierfranceschi MG, et al. Safety of prothrombin complex concentrates for rapid anticoagulation reversal of vitamin K antagonists. A meta-analysis. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **106**:429-438.
- 1056 Hanke AA, Rodewald L, Joch C, Görlinger K. Efficacy and long-term safety of a pasteurised nanofiltrated prothrombin complex cencentrate (Beriplex (P/N). *J Thromb Haemost* 2009; **7 (Suppl 2)**:863.
- 1057 Streiff MB. Prothrombin complex concentrates for reversal of vitamin K antagonists: assessing the risks. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **106**:389– 390.
- 1058 Görlinger K, Dirkmann D, Weber CF, Rahe-Meyer N, AA. H. Algorithms for transfusion and coagulation management in massive haemorrhage. *Anästh Intensivmed* 2011; **52**:145–159.
- 1059 Grottke O, Braunschweig T, Spronk HM, et al. Increasing concentrations of prothrombin complex concentrate induce disseminated intravascular coagulation in a pig model of coagulopathy with blunt liver injury. Blood 2011; 118:1943–1951.
- 1060 Dickneite G. Prothrombin complex concentrate versus recombinant factor VIIa for reversal of coumarin anticoagulation. *Thromb Res* 2007; 119:643-651.
- 1061 Gatt A, Riddell A, van Veen JJ, Kitchen S, Tuddenham EG, Makris M. Optimizing warfarin reversal-an ex vivo study. *J Thromb Haemost* 2009; 7:1123-1127.
- 1062 Honickel M, Rieg A, Rossaint R, et al. Prothrombin complex concentrate reduces blood loss and enhances thrombin generation in a pig model with blunt liver injury under severe hypothermia. Thromb Haemost 2011; 106:724-733.
- 1063 Scherer R, Gille A, Erhard J, Paar D, Kox WJ. [The effect of substitution with AT III- and PPSB-concentrates in patients with terminal liver insufficiency]. Anaesthesist 1994; 43:178–182.
- 1064 Bohrer H. Prothrombin complex concentrate substitution during liver transplantation. *Thromb Res* 1999; **95 (4 Suppl 1)**:S71-74.

- 1065 Lorenz R, Kienast J, Otto U, et al. Efficacy and safety of a prothrombin complex concentrate with two virus-inactivation steps in patients with severe liver damage. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2003; 15:15-20.
- 1066 Görlinger K. [Coagulation management during liver transplantation]. Hamostaseologie 2006; **26 (3 Suppl 1)**:S64–76.
- 1067 Gerlach R, Krause M, Seifert V, Goerlinger K. Hemostatic and hemorrhagic problems in neurosurgical patients. *Acta Neurochir* 2009; 151:873–900.
- 1068 Patanwala AE, Acquisto NM, Erstad BL. Prothrombin complex concentrate for critical bleeding. Ann Pharmacother 2011; 45 (7-8): 990-999.
- 1069 Huisman MV, Quinlan DJ, Dahl OE, Schulman S. Enoxaparin versus dabigatran or rivaroxaban for thromboprophylaxis after hip or knee arthroplasty: Results of separate pooled analyses of phase III multicenter randomized trials. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2010; 3:652–660.
- 1070 Rolfe S, Papadopoulos S, Cabral KP. Controversies of anticoagulation reversal in life-threatening bleeds. J Pharm Pract 2010; 23:217–225.
- 1071 Huisman MV. The proof for new oral anticoagulants: clinical trial evidence. *Eur Orthop Traumatol* 2011; **2**:7–14.
- 1072 Loke YK, Kwok CS. Dabigatran and rivaroxaban for prevention of venous thromboembolism-systematic review and adjusted indirect comparison. *J Clin Pharm Ther* 2011; **36**:111–124.
- 1073 Gatt A, van Veen JJ, Woolley AM, Kitchen S, Cooper P, Makris M. Thrombin generation assays are superior to traditional tests in assessing anticoagulation reversal in vitro. *Thromb Haemost* 2008; 100:350–355.
- 1074 Harder S. Renal profiles of anticoagulants. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2012; **52**:964–975.
- 1075 Levi M, Eerenberg E, Kamphuisen PW. Bleeding risk and reversal strategies for old and new anticoagulants and antiplatelet agents. *J Thromb Haemost* 2011; **9**:1705–1712.
- 1076 Rosencher N, Albaladejo P. A new approach with anticoagulant development: tailoring anticoagulant therapy with dabigatran etexilate according to patient risk. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2012; **13**:217– 226.
- 1077 Samama MM. Use of low-molecular-weight heparins and new anticoagulants in elderly patients with renal impairment. *Drugs Aging* 2011; 28:177-193.
- 1078 Sie P, Samama CM, Godier A, *et al.* Surgery and invasive procedures in patients on long-term treatment with direct oral anticoagulants: thrombin or factor-Xa inhibitors. Recommendations of the Working Group on Perioperative Haemostasis and the French Study Group on Thrombosis and Haemostasis. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis* 2011; **104**:669–676.
- 1079 Spahn DR, Korte W. Novel oral anticoagulants: new challenges for anesthesiologists in bleeding patients. *Anesthesiology* 2012; **116**:9– 11.
- 1080 Weightman WM, Gibbs NM. Management of coagulation: an Australian perspective. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2012; 25:86-95.
- 1081 Eerenberg ES, Kamphuisen PW, Sijpkens MK, Meijers JC, Buller HR, Levi M. Reversal of rivaroxaban and dabigatran by prothrombin complex concentrate: a randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover study in healthy subjects. *Circulation* 2011; **124**:1573–1579.
- 1082 Elmer J, Wittels KA. Emergency reversal of pentasaccharide anticoagulants: a systematic review of the literature. *Transfus Med* 2012; 22:108–115.
- 1083 Godier A, Miclot A, Le Bonniec B, et al. Evaluation of prothrombin complex concentrate and recombinant activated factor VII to reverse rivaroxaban in a rabbit model. Anesthesiology 2012; 116:94– 102.
- 1084 Desmurs-Clavel H, Huchon C, Chatard B, Negrier C, Dargaud Y. Reversal of the inhibitory effect of fondaparinux on thrombin generation by rFVIIa, aPCC and PCC. *Thromb Res* 2009; **123**:796–798.
- 1085 Lisman T, Caldwell SH, Burroughs AK, et al. Hemostasis and thrombosis in patients with liver disease: the ups and downs. J Hepatol 2010; 53:362–371.
- 1086 Lisman T, Bakhtiari K, Pereboom IT, Hendriks HG, Meijers JC, Porte RJ. Normal to increased thrombin generation in patients undergoing liver transplantation despite prolonged conventional coagulation tests. *J Hepatol* 2010; **52**:355–361.
- 1087 Tripodi A, Salerno F, Chantarangkul V, *et al.* Evidence of normal thrombin generation in cirrhosis despite abnormal conventional coagulation tests. *Hepatology* 2005; **41**:553–558.
- 1088 Gatt A, Riddell A, Calvaruso V, Tuddenham EG, Makris M, Burroughs AK. Enhanced thrombin generation in patients with cirrhosis-induced coagulopathy. *J Thromb Haemost* 2010; 8:1994–2000.
- 1089 Violi F, Basili S, Raparelli V, Chowdary P, Gatt A, Burroughs AK. Patients with liver cirrhosis suffer from primary haemostatic defects? Fact or fiction? J Hepatol 2011; 55:1415–1427.

- 1090 Ben-Ari Z, Panagou M, Patch D, *et al.* Hypercoagulability in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis evaluated by thrombelastography. *J Hepatol* 1997; **26**:554–559.
- 1091 Pihusch R, Rank A, Gohring P, Pihusch M, Hiller E, Beuers U. Platelet function rather than plasmatic coagulation explains hypercoagulable state in cholestatic liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2002; 37:548–555.
- 1092 Segal H, Cottam S, Potter D, Hunt BJ. Coagulation and fibrinolysis in primary biliary cirrhosis compared with other liver disease and during orthotopic liver transplantation. *Hepatology* 1997; 25:683–688.
- 1093 Stravitz RT, Lisman T, Luketic VA, et al. Acute liver injury/failure (ALI/ALF) results in balanced hemostasis despite elevated INR. *Hepatology* 2010; 52:1082A-1083A.
- 1094 Massicotte L, Beaulieu D, Thibeault L, et al. Coagulation defects do not predict blood product requirements during liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2008; 85:956–962.
- 1095 Northup PG, Intagliata NM. Anticoagulation in cirrhosis patients: what don't we know? *Liver Int* 2011; **31**:4-6.
- 1096 Dupont J, Messiant F, Declerck N, et al. Liver transplantation without the use of fresh frozen plasma. Anesth Analg 1996; 83:681– 686.
- 1097 Massicotte L, Lenis S, Thibeault L, Sassine MP, Seal RF, Roy A. Reduction of blood product transfusions during liver transplantation. *Can J Anaesth* 2005; **52**:545–546.
- 1098 Tripodi A, Mannucci PM. Abnormalities of hemostasis in chronic liver disease: reappraisal of their clinical significance and need for clinical and laboratory research. J Hepatol 2007; 46:727–733.
- 1099 Rockey DC, Caldwell SH, Goodman ZD, Nelson RC, Smith AD. American Association for the Study of Liver D. Liver biopsy. *Hepatology* 2009; **49**:1017–1044.
- 1100 Porte RJ, Lisman T, Tripodi A, Caldwell SH, Trotter JF. Coagulation in Liver Disease Study G. The International Normalized Ratio (INR) in the MELD score: problems and solutions. *Am J Transplant* 2010; **10**:1349– 1353.
- 1101 Tavares M, DiQuattro P, Nolette N, Conti G, Sweeney J. Reduction in plasma transfusion after enforcement of transfusion guidelines. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:754–761.
- 1102 Tripodi A, Primignani M, Chantarangkul V, et al. Thrombin generation in patients with cirrhosis: the role of platelets. *Hepatology* 2006; 44:440– 445.
- 1103 Afdhal N, McHutchison J, Brown R, et al. Thrombocytopenia associated with chronic liver disease. J Hepatol 2008; **48**:1000–1007.
- 1104 Giannini EG, Greco A, Marenco S, Andorno E, Valente U, Savarino V. Incidence of bleeding following invasive procedures in patients with thrombocytopenia and advanced liver disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; **8**:899–902; quiz e109.
- 1105 Violi F, Leo R, Vezza E, Basili S, Cordova C, Balsano F. Bleeding time in patients with cirrhosis: relation with degree of liver failure and clotting abnormalities. C.A.L.C. Group. Coagulation Abnormalities in Cirrhosis Study Group. J Hepatol 1994; 20:531–536.
- 1106 Basili S, Ferro D, Leo R, *et al.* Bleeding time does not predict gastrointestinal bleeding in patients with cirrhosis. The CALC Group. Coagulation Abnormalities in Liver Cirrhosis. *J Hepatol* 1996; 24:574– 580.
- 1107 Boberg KM, Brosstad F, Egeland T, Egge T, Schrumpf E. Is a prolonged bleeding time associated with an increased risk of hemorrhage after liver biopsy? *Thromb Haemost* 1999; **81**:378–381.
- 1108 Tripodi A. The coagulopathy of chronic liver disease: is there a causal relationship with bleeding? No. *Eur J Intern Med* 2010; **21**:65–69.
- 1109 Lisman T, Porte RJ, Leebeek FW, Caldwell SH. Methodological issues with coagulation testing in patients with liver disease. *J Thromb Haemost* 2006; 4:2061–2062.
- 1110 Thachil J. Anemia-the overlooked factor in bleeding related to liver disease. J Hepatol 2011; 54:593-594.
- 1111 Munoz SJ, Rajender Reddy K, Lee W, Acute Liver Failure Study G. The coagulopathy of acute liver failure and implications for intracranial pressure monitoring. *Neurocrit Care* 2008; **9**:103–107.
- 1112 Stravitz RT, Lisman T, Luketic VA, et al. Minimal effects of acute liver injury/acute liver failure on hemostasis as assessed by thromboelastography. J Hepatol 2012; 56:129–136.
- 1113 Lisman T, Porte RJ. Activation and regulation of hemostasis in acute liver failure and acute pancreatitis. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 2010; **36**:437– 443.
- 1114 Munoz SJ, Stravitz RT, Gabriel DA. Coagulopathy of acute liver failure. *Clin Liver Dis* 2009; **13**:95–107.
- 1115 Stravitz RT, Kramer AH, Davern T, *et al.* Intensive care of patients with acute liver failure: recommendations of the U.S. Acute Liver Failure Study Group. *Crit Care Med* 2007; **35**:2498–2508.

# EJA

- 1116 Shami VM, Caldwell SH, Hespenheide EE, Arseneau KO, Bickston SJ, Macik BG. Recombinant activated factor VII for coagulopathy in fulminant hepatic failure compared with conventional therapy. *Liver Transpl* 2003; **9**:138–143.
- 1117 Le TV, Rumbak MJ, Liu SS, Alsina AE, van Loveren H, Agazzi S. Insertion of intracranial pressure monitors in fulminant hepatic failure patients: early experience using recombinant factor VII. *Neurosurgery* 2010; 66:455-458.
- 1118 Pavese P, Bonadona A, Beaubien J, et al. FVIIa corrects the coagulopathy of fulminant hepatic failure but may be associated with thrombosis: a report of four cases. Can J Anaesth 2005; 52:26–29.
- 1119 Stravitz RT. Critical management decisions in patients with acute liver failure. *Chest* 2008; **134**:1092–1102.
- 1120 Blonski W, Siropaides T, Reddy KR. Coagulopathy in liver disease. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol 2007; 10:464-473.
- 1121 McCluskey SA, Karkouti K, Wijeysundera DN, et al. Derivation of a risk index for the prediction of massive blood transfusion in liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2006; **12**:1584–1593.
- 1122 Massicotte L, Beaulieu D, Roy JD, *et al.* MELD score and blood product requirements during liver transplantation: no link. *Transplantation* 2009; 87:1689-1694.
- 1123 Steib A, Freys G, Lehmann C, Meyer C, Mahoudeau G. Intraoperative blood losses and transfusion requirements during adult liver transplantation remain difficult to predict. *Can J Anaesth* 2001; 48:1075-1079.
- 1124 Ozier Y, Pessione F, Samain E, Courtois F. French Study Group on Blood Transfusion in Liver T. Institutional variability in transfusion practice for liver transplantation. *Anesth Analg* 2003; **97**:671–679.
- 1125 Schumann R. Intraoperative resource utilization in anesthesia for liver transplantation in the United States: a survey. *Anesth Analg* 2003; 97:21-28.
- 1126 Massicotte L, Sassine MP, Lenis S, Seal RF, Roy A. Survival rate changes with transfusion of blood products during liver transplantation. *Can J Anaesth* 2005; **52**:148–155.
- 1127 Lopez-Plaza I. Transfusion guidelines and liver transplantation: time for consensus. *Liver Transpl* 2007; **13**:1630–1632.
- 1128 Massicotte L, Lenis S, Thibeault L, Sassine MP, Seal RF, Roy A. Effect of low central venous pressure and phlebotomy on blood product transfusion requirements during liver transplantations. *Liver Transpl* 2006; 12:117–123.
- 1129 Massicotte L, Perrault MA, Denault AY, et al. Effects of phlebotomy and phenylephrine infusion on portal venous pressure and systemic hemodynamics during liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2010; 89:920–927.
- 1130 Schroeder RA, Collins BH, Tuttle-Newhall E, *et al.* Intraoperative fluid management during orthotopic liver transplantation. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth* 2004; **18**:438–441.
- 1131 Bang SR, Kim YH, Kim GS. The effects of in vitro hemodilution with 6% hydroxyethyl starch (HES) (130/0.4) solution on thrombelastograph analysis in patients undergoing liver transplantation. *Clin Transplant* 2011; **25**:450–456.
- 1132 Massicotte L, Thibeault L, Beaulieu D, Roy JD, Roy A. Evaluation of cell salvage autotransfusion utility during liver transplantation. *HPB* 2007; 9:52–57.
- 1133 The Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland. Blood transfusion and the anaesthetist intra-operative cell salvage. 2009. http://www.aagbi.org/sites/default/files/cell%20\_salvage\_2009\_amended.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 1134 Liang TB, Li DL, Liang L, et al. Intraoperative blood salvage during liver transplantation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: efficiency of leukocyte depletion filters in the removal of tumor cells. *Transplantation* 2008; **85**:863–869.
- 1135 Toulon P, Ozier Y, Ankri A, Fleron MH, Leroux G, Samama CM. Point-of-care versus central laboratory coagulation testing during haemorrhagic surgery. A multicenter study. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; 101:394–401.
- 1136 Perry DJ, Fitzmaurice DA, Kitchen S, Mackie IJ, Mallett S. Point-of-care testing in haemostasis. *Br J Haematol* 2010; **150**:501–514.
- 1137 Kang YG, Martin DJ, Marquez J, et al. Intraoperative changes in blood coagulation and thrombelastographic monitoring in liver transplantation. Anesth Analg 1985; 64:888–896.
- 1138 Gillies BS. Thromboelastography and liver transplantation. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 1995; **21 (Suppl 4)**:45–49.
- 1139 McNicol PL, Liu G, Harley ID, et al. Blood loss and transfusion requirements in liver transplantation: experience with the first 75 cases. Anaesth Intensive Care 1994; 22:666–671.
- 1140 Kang Y. Thromboelastography in liver transplantation. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 1995; **21 (Suppl 4)**:34–44.

- 1141 Noval-Padillo JA, Leon-Justel A, Mellado-Miras P, *et al.* Introduction of fibrinogen in the treatment of hemostatic disorders during orthotopic liver transplantation: implications in the use of allogenic blood. *Transplant Proc* 2010; **42**:2973–2974.
- 1142 Harding SA, Mallett SV, Peachey TD, Cox DJ. Use of heparinase modified thrombelastography in liver transplantation. *Br J Anaesth* 1997; **78**:175–179.
- 1143 Ferro D, Celestini A, Violi F. Hyperfibrinolysis in liver disease. *Clin Liver Dis* 2009; **13**:21–31.
- 1144 Porte RJ, Bontempo FA, Knot EA, Lewis JH, Kang YG, Starzl TE. Systemic effects of tissue plasminogen activator-associated fibrinolysis and its relation to thrombin generation in orthotopic liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 1989; **47**:978–984.
- 1145 Homatas J, Wasantapruek S, Von Kaulla E, Von Kaulla KN, Eiseman B. Clotting abnormalities following orthotopic and heterotopic transplantation of marginally preserved pig livers. *Acta Hepatosplenol* 1971; 18:14–26.
- 1146 Mallett SV, Cox D, Burroughs AK, Rolles K. Aprotinin and reduction of blood loss and transfusion requirements in orthotopic liver transplantation. *Lancet* 1990; **336**:886–887.
- 1147 Shiga T, Wajima Z, Inoue T, Sakamoto A. Aprotinin in major orthopedic surgery: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Anesth Analg* 2005; **101**:1602–1607.
- 1148 Warnaar N, Mallett SV, de Boer MT, et al. The impact of aprotinin on renal function after liver transplantation: an analysis of 1,043 patients. *Am J Transplant* 2007; 7:2378–2387.
- 1149 Warnaar N, Mallett SV, Klinck JR, *et al.* Aprotinin and the risk of thrombotic complications after liver transplantation: a retrospective analysis of 1492 patients. *Liver Transpl* 2009; 15:747– 753.
- 1150 Porte RJ, Blauw E, Knot EA, et al. Role of the donor liver in the origin of platelet disorders and hyperfibrinolysis in liver transplantation. J Hepatol 1994; 21:592–600.
- Planinsic RM, van der Meer J, Testa G, et al. Safety and efficacy of a single bolus administration of recombinant factor VIIa in liver transplantation due to chronic liver disease. *Liver Transpl* 2005; 11:895–900.
- 1152 Lodge JP, Jonas S, Jones RM, et al. Efficacy and safety of repeated perioperative doses of recombinant factor VIIa in liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2005; 11:973–979.
- 1153 Warnaar N, Molenaar IQ, Colquhoun SD, et al. Intraoperative pulmonary embolism and intracardiac thrombosis complicating liver transplantation: a systematic review. J Thromb Haemost 2008; 6:297– 302.
- 1154 Xia VW, Ho JK, Nourmand H, Wray C, Busuttil RW, Steadman RH. Incidental intracardiac thromboemboli during liver transplantation: incidence, risk factors, and management. *Liver Transpl* 2010; **16**:1421– 1427.
- 1155 Lerner AB, Sundar E, Mahmood F, Sarge T, Hanto DW, Panzica PJ. Four cases of cardiopulmonary thromboembolism during liver transplantation without the use of antifibrinolytic drugs. *Anesth Analg* 2005; 101:1608–1612.
- 1156 Ramsay MA, Randall HB, Burton EC. Intravascular thrombosis and thromboembolism during liver transplantation: antifibrinolytic therapy implicated? *Liver Transpl* 2004; **10**:310–314.
- 1157 Lisman T, Porte RJ. Towards a rational use of low-molecular-weight heparin in patients with cirrhosis. *Liver Int* 2011; **31**:1063.
- 1158 Albaladejo P, Marret E, Samama CM, et al. Non-cardiac surgery in patients with coronary stents: the RECO study. *Heart* 2011; 97:1566– 1572.
- 1159 Ferreiro JL, Angiolillo DJ. Clopidogrel response variability: current status and future directions. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; **102**:7–14.
- 1160 Gurbel PA, Mahla E, Tantry US. Peri-operative platelet function testing: the potential for reducing ischaemic and bleeding risks. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **106**:248–252.
- 1161 Kwak YL, Kim JC, Choi YS, Yoo KJ, Song Y, Shim JK. Clopidogrel responsiveness regardless of the discontinuation date predicts increased blood loss and transfusion requirement after off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56:1994–2002.
- 1162 James K, Bertoja E, O'Beirne J, Mallett S. Use of thromboelastography PlateletMapping to monitor antithrombotic therapy in a patient with Budd-Chiari syndrome. *Liver Transpl* 2010; 16:38–41.
- 1163 Ferreiro JL, Sibbing D, Angiolillo DJ. Platelet function testing and risk of bleeding complications. *Thromb Haemost* 2010; **103**:1128– 1135.
- 1164 Alkozai EM, Lisman T, Porte RJ. Bleeding in liver surgery: prevention and treatment. *Clin Liver Dis* 2009; **13**:145–154.

- 1165 Gurusamy K, Sahay SJ, Burroughs AK, Davidson BR. Systematic review and meta-analysis of intraoperative versus preoperative endoscopic sphincterotomy in patients with gallbladder and suspected common bile duct stones. *Br J Surg* 2011; **98**:908–916.
- 1166 Melendez JA, Arslan V, Fischer ME, et al. Perioperative outcomes of major hepatic resections under low central venous pressure anesthesia: blood loss, blood transfusion, and the risk of postoperative renal dysfunction. J Am Coll Surg 1998; **187**:620–625.
- 1167 Chavez-Tapia NC, Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Tellez-Avila FI, Soares-Weiser K, Uribe M. Antibiotic prophylaxis for cirrhotic patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; (9):CD002907.
- 1168 Senzolo M, Cholongitas E, Thalheimer U, et al. Heparin-like effect in liver disease and liver transplantation. *Clin Liver Dis* 2009; 13:43–53.
- 1169 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Management of acute upper and lower gastrointestinal bleeding. 2008. http://www.sign.ac.uk/ guidelines/fulltext/105/index.html. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 1170 Augustin S, Gonzalez A, Genesca J. Acute esophageal variceal bleeding: Current strategies and new perspectives. World J Hepatol 2010; 2:261–274.
- 1171 Ioannou G, Doust J, Rockey DC. Terlipressin for acute esophageal variceal hemorrhage. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003; (1):CD002147.
- 1172 Chavez-Tapia NC, Barrientos-Gutierrez T, Tellez-Avila F, et al. Metaanalysis: antibiotic prophylaxis for cirrhotic patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding - an updated Cochrane review. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011; 34:509-518.
- 1173 Finfer S, Bellomo R, Boyce N, et al. A comparison of albumin and saline for fluid resuscitation in the intensive care unit. N Engl J Med 2004; 350:2247-2256.
- 1174 Perel P, Roberts I. Colloids versus crystalloids for fluid resuscitation in critically ill patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007; (4):CD000567.
- 1175 Montalto P, Vlachogiannakos J, Cox DJ, Pastacaldi S, Patch D, Burroughs AK. Bacterial infection in cirrhosis impairs coagulation by a heparin effect: a prospective study. J Hepatol 2002; 37:463-470.
- 1176 Chau TN, Chan YW, Patch D, Tokunaga S, Greenslade L, Burroughs AK. Thrombelastographic changes and early rebleeding in cirrhotic patients with variceal bleeding. *Gut* 1998; **43**:267–271.
- 1177 Gluud LL, Klingenberg SL, Langholz SE. Systematic review: tranexamic acid for upper gastrointestinal bleeding. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2008; 27:752–758.
- 1178 Henry DA, O'Connell DL. Effects of fibrinolytic inhibitors on mortality from upper gastrointestinal haemorrhage. BMJ 1989; 298:1142–1146.
- 1179 Bosch J, Thabut D, Albillos A, et al. Recombinant factor VIIa for variceal bleeding in patients with advanced cirrhosis: A randomized, controlled trial. *Hepatology* 2008; 47:1604–1614.
- 1180 Romero-Castro R, Jimenez-Saenz M, Pellicer-Bautista F, et al. Recombinant-activated factor VII as hemostatic therapy in eight cases of severe hemorrhage from esophageal varices. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004; 2:78–84.
- 1181 Vincent JL, Rossaint R, Riou B, Ozier Y, Zideman D, Spahn DR. Recommendations on the use of recombinant activated factor VII as an adjunctive treatment for massive bleeding–a European perspective. *Crit Care* 2006; **10**:R120.
- 1182 Boccardo P, Remuzzi G, Galbusera M. Platelet dysfunction in renal failure. Semin Thromb Hemost 2004; **30**:579–589.
- 1183 Matsuo T, Koide M, Kario K, Suzuki S, Matsuo M. Extrinsic coagulation factors and tissue factor pathway inhibitor in end-stage chronic renal failure. *Haemostasis* 1997; 27:163–167.
- 1184 Jalal DI, Chonchol M, Targher G. Disorders of hemostasis associated with chronic kidney disease. Semin Thromb Hemost 2010; 36:34–40.
- 1185 Hedges SJ, Dehoney SB, Hooper JS, Amanzadeh J, Busti AJ. Evidencebased treatment recommendations for uremic bleeding. *Nat Clin Pract Nephrol* 2007; **3**:138–153.
- 1186 Zupan IP, Sabovic M, Salobir B, Ponikvar JB, Cernelc P. Utility of in vitro closure time test for evaluating platelet-related primary hemostasis in dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 2003; 42:746-751.
- 1187 Islam N, Fulop T, Zsom L, et al. Do platelet function analyzer-100 testing results correlate with bleeding events after percutaneous renal biopsy? *Clin Nephrol* 2010; **73**:229–237.
- 1188 Ho SJ, Gemmell R, Brighton TA. Platelet function testing in uraemic patients. *Hematology* 2008; **13**:49–58.
- 1189 Galbusera M, Remuzzi G, Boccardo P. Treatment of bleeding in dialysis patients. *Semin Dial* 2009; **22**:279–286.
- 1190 Vigano G, Benigni A, Mendogni D, Mingardi G, Mecca G, Remuzzi G. Recombinant human erythropoietin to correct uremic bleeding. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1991; **18**:44–49.

- 1191 Livio M, Gotti E, Marchesi D, Mecca G, Remuzzi G, de Gaetano G. Uraemic bleeding: role of anaemia and beneficial effect of red cell transfusions. *Lancet* 1982; 2:1013–1015.
- 1192 Mannucci PM, Remuzzi G, Pusineri F, et al. Deamino-8-D-arginine vasopressin shortens the bleeding time in uremia. N Engl J Med 1983; 308:8-12.
- 1193 Mannucci PM. Desmopressin (DDAVP) in the treatment of bleeding disorders: the first 20 years. *Blood* 1997; **90**:2515-2521.
- 1194 Manno C, Bonifati C, Torres DD, Campobasso N, Schena FP. Desmopressin acetate in percutaneous ultrasound-guided kidney biopsy: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2011; **57**:850– 855.
- 1195 Livio M, Mannucci PM, Vigano G, *et al.* Conjugated estrogens for the management of bleeding associated with renal failure. *N Engl J Med* 1986; **315**:731–735.
- 1196 Vigano G, Gaspari F, Locatelli M, Pusineri F, Bonati M, Remuzzi G. Doseeffect and pharmacokinetics of estrogens given to correct bleeding time in uremia. *Kidney Int* 1988; **34**:853–858.
- 1197 Sloand JA, Schiff MJ. Beneficial effect of low-dose transdermal estrogen on bleeding time and clinical bleeding in uremia. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1995; 26:22–26.
- 1198 Ng HJ, Koh LP, Lee LH. Successful control of postsurgical bleeding by recombinant factor VIIa in a renal failure patient given low molecular weight heparin and aspirin. *Ann Hematol* 2003; 82:257–258.
- 1199 Andrew M, Paes B, Johnston M. Development of the hemostatic system in the neonate and young infant. *Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol* 1990; 12:95-104.
- 1200 Monagle P, Ignjatovic V, Savoia H. Hemostasis in neonates and children: pitfalls and dilemmas. *Blood Rev* 2010; **24**:63-68.
- 1201 Guzzetta NA, Miller BE. Principles of hemostasis in children: models and maturation. *Paediatric anaesthesia* 2011; **21**:3–9.
- 1202 Oswald E, Stalzer B, Heitz E, *et al.* Thromboelastometry (ROTEM) in children: age-related reference ranges and correlations with standard coagulation tests. *Br J Anaesth* 2010; **105**:827–835.
- 1203 Strauss T, Levy-Shraga Y, Ravid B, *et al.* Clot formation of neonates tested by thromboelastography correlates with gestational age. *Thromb Haemost* 2010; **103**:344–350.
- 1204 Edwards RM, Naik-Mathuria BJ, Gay AN, Olutoye OO, Teruya J. Parameters of thromboelastography in healthy newborns. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2008; **130**:99–102.
- 1205 Chan KL, Summerhayes RG, Ignjatovic V, Horton SB, Monagle PT. Reference values for kaolin-activated thromboelastography in healthy children. *Anesth Analg* 2007; **105**:1610–1613.
- 1206 Ganter MT, Hofer CK. Coagulation monitoring: current techniques and clinical use of viscoelastic point-of-care coagulation devices. *Anesth Analg* 2008; **106**:1366–1375.
- 1207 MacDonald SG, Luddington RJ. Critical factors contributing to the thromboelastography trace. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 2010; **36**:712– 722.
- 1208 Miller BE, Guzzetta NA, Tosone SR, et al. Tissue factor-activated thromboelastograms in children undergoing cardiac surgery: baseline values and comparisons. Anesth Analg 2003; 97:1289–1293.
- 1209 Haizinger B, Gombotz H, Rehak P, Geiselseder G, Mair R. Activated thrombelastogram in neonates and infants with complex congenital heart disease in comparison with healthy children. *Br J Anaesth* 2006; 97:545–552.
- 1210 Romlin BS, Wahlander H, Berggren H, et al. Intraoperative thromboelastometry is associated with reduced transfusion prevalence in pediatric cardiac surgery. Anesth Analg 2011; 112:30– 36.
- 1211 Bolliger D, Görlinger K, Tanaka KA. Pathophysiology and treatment of coagulopathy in massive hemorrhage and hemodilution. *Anesthesiology* 2010; **113**:1205–1219.
- 1212 Williams GD, Ellenbogen RG, Gruss JS. Abnormal coagulation during pediatric craniofacial surgery. *Pediatric neurosurgery* 2001; 35:5-12.
- 1213 Friesen RH, Perryman KM, Weigers KR, Mitchell MB, Friesen RM. A trial of fresh autologous whole blood to treat dilutional coagulopathy following cardiopulmonary bypass in infants. *Paediatric anaesthesia* 2006; **16**:429–435.
- 1214 Haas T, Preinreich A, Oswald E, et al. Effects of albumin 5% and artificial colloids on clot formation in small infants. Anaesthesia 2007; 62:1000– 1007.
- 1215 Osthaus WA, Witt L, Johanning K, et al. Equal effects of gelatin and hydroxyethyl starch (6% HES 130/0.42) on modified thrombelastography in children. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2009; 53:305–310.

# Eur J Anaesthesiol 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

- 1216 Sumpelmann R, Kretz FJ, Gabler R, et al. Hydroxyethyl starch 130/0.42/ 6:1 for perioperative plasma volume replacement in children: preliminary results of a European Prospective Multicenter Observational Postauthorization Safety Study (PASS). *Paediatric anaesthesia* 2008; 18:929–933.
- 1217 Perel P, Roberts I. Colloids versus crystalloids for fluid resuscitation in critically ill patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; (3):CD000567.
- 1218 Morley SL. Red blood cell transfusions in acute paediatrics. Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed 2009; **94**:65-73.
- 1219 Stainsby D, MacLennan S, Thomas D, Isaac J, Hamilton PJ. British Committee for Standards in Haematology. Guidelines on the management of massive blood loss. Br J Haematol 2006; 135:634– 641.
- 1220 Lacroix J, Hebert PC, Hutchison JS, et al. Transfusion strategies for patients in pediatric intensive care units. N Engl J Med 2007; 356:1609-1619.
- 1221 Hume HA, Limoges P. Perioperative blood transfusion therapy in pediatric patients. *Am J Ther* 2002; **9**:396–405.
- 1222 Randomised trial of prophylactic early fresh-frozen plasma or gelatin or glucose in preterm babies: outcome at 2 years. Northern Neonatal Nursing Initiative Trial Group. *Lancet* 1996; **348**:229-232.
- 1223 Hildebrandt B, Machotta A, Riess H, *et al.* Intraoperative fresh-frozen plasma versus human albumin in craniofacial surgery–a pilot study comparing coagulation profiles in infants younger than 12 months. *Thromb Haemost* 2007; **98**:172–177.
- 1224 Kerner T, Machotta A, Kerner S, *et al.* A clinical pilot study of fresh frozen plasma versus human albumin in paediatric craniofacial repair. *J Int Med Res* 2008; **36**:171–177.
- 1225 Stricker PA, Shaw TL, Desouza DG, et al. Blood loss, replacement, and associated morbidity in infants and children undergoing craniofacial surgery. Paediatric anaesthesia 2010; 20:150–159.
- 1226 O'Shaughnessy DF, Atterbury C, Bolton Maggs P, et al. Guidelines for the use of fresh-frozen plasma, cryoprecipitate and cryosupernatant. Br J Haematol 2004; 126:11–28.
- 1227 Practice guidelines for perioperative blood transfusion and adjuvant therapies: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Perioperative Blood Transfusion and Adjuvant Therapies. *Anesthesiology* 2006; **105**:198–208.
- 1228 Holland LL, Brooks JP. Toward rational fresh frozen plasma transfusion: The effect of plasma transfusion on coagulation test results. Am J Clin Pathol 2006; 126:133–139.
- 1229 Silliman CC, McLaughlin NJ. Transfusion-related acute lung injury. *Blood Rev* 2006; **20**:139–159.
- 1230 Church GD, Matthay MA, Liu K, Milet M, Flori HR. Blood product transfusions and clinical outcomes in pediatric patients with acute lung injury. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2009; **10**:297–302.
- 1231 Skeate RC, Eastlund T. Distinguishing between transfusion related acute lung injury and transfusion associated circulatory overload. *Curr Opin Hematol* 2007; 14:682–687.
- 1232 Jeschke MG, Chinkes DL, Finnerty CC, Przkora R, Pereira CT, Herndon DN. Blood transfusions are associated with increased risk for development of sepsis in severely burned pediatric patients. *Crit Care Med* 2007; **35**:579–583.
- 1233 Muntean W. Fresh frozen plasma in the pediatric age group and in congenital coagulation factor deficiency. *Thromb Res* 2002; **107** (Suppl 1):S29-32.
- 1234 Manco-Johnson MJ, Dimichele D, Castaman G, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of fibrinogen concentrate. J Thromb Haemost 2009; 7:2064–2069.
- 1235 Korte WF. XIII in perioperative coagulation management. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol* 2010; **24**:85–93.
- 1236 Agarwal N, Spahr JE, Rodgers GM. Successful management of intraabdominal hemorrhage in the presence of severe alcoholic liver disease with activated recombinant factor VII (rFVIIa; NovoSeven): a case report and review of the literature on approved and off-label use of rFVIIa. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2007; **18**:205–207.
- 1237 Guzzetta NA, Huch S, Fernandez JD, Tosone SR, Miller BE. Use of recombinant factor VIIa for uncontrolled bleeding in neonates after cardiopulmonary bypass. *Paediatric anaesthesia* 2009; **19**:364–370.
- 1238 Pychynska-Pokorska M, Moll JJ, Krajewski W, Jarosik P. The use of recombinant coagulation factor VIIa in uncontrolled postoperative bleeding in children undergoing cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2004; **5**:246–250.
- 1239 Uhrig L, Blanot S, Baugnon T, Orliaguet G, Carli PA, Meyer PG. Use of recombinant activated factor VII in intractable bleeding during pediatric neurosurgical procedures. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2007; 8:576–579.

- 1240 Ekert H, Brizard C, Eyers R, Cochrane A, Henning R. Elective administration in infants of low-dose recombinant activated factor VII (rFVIIa) in cardiopulmonary bypass surgery for congenital heart disease does not shorten time to chest closure or reduce blood loss and need for transfusions: a randomized, double-blind, parallel group, placebo-controlled study of rFVIIa and standard haemostatic replacement therapy versus standard haemostatic replacement therapy. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2006; **17**:389–395.
- 1241 Boffard KD, Riou B, Warren B, *et al.* Recombinant factor VIIa as adjunctive therapy for bleeding control in severely injured trauma patients: two parallel randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trials. *J Trauma* 2005; **59**:8–15.
- 1242 Aledort LM. Factor VIII inhibitor bypassing activity (FEIBA) addressing safety issues. *Haemophilia* 2008; 14:39–43.
- 1243 Witmer CM, Huang YS, Lynch K, Raffini LJ, Shah SS. Off-label recombinant factor VIIa use and thrombosis in children: a multi-center cohort study. J Pediatr 2011; 158:820-825; e821.
- 1244 Simpson E, Lin Y, Stanworth S, Birchall J, Doree C, Hyde C. Recombinant factor VIIa for the prevention and treatment of bleeding in patients without haemophilia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; 3:CD005011.
- 1245 Crescenzi G, Landoni G, Biondi-Zoccai G, *et al.* Desmopressin reduces transfusion needs after surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Anesthesiology* 2008; **109**:1063–1076.
- 1246 Lethagen S. Desmopressin–a haemostatic drug: state-of-the-art review. *Eur J Anaesthesiol Suppl* 1997; **14**:1–9.
- 1247 Seear MD, Wadsworth LD, Rogers PC, Sheps S, Ashmore PG. The effect of desmopressin acetate (DDAVP) on postoperative blood loss after cardiac operations in children. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1989; 98:217–219.
- 1248 Reynolds LM, Nicolson SC, Jobes DR, et al. Desmopressin does not decrease bleeding after cardiac operation in young children. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1993; 106:954–958.
- 1249 Guay J, Reinberg C, Poitras B, *et al.* A trial of desmopressin to reduce blood loss in patients undergoing spinal fusion for idiopathic scoliosis. *Anesth Analg* 1992; **75**:405–410.
- 1250 Theroux MC, Corddry DH, Tietz AE, Miller F, Peoples JD, Kettrick RG. A study of desmopressin and blood loss during spinal fusion for neuromuscular scoliosis: a randomized, controlled, double-blinded study. Anesthesiology 1997; 87:260–267.
- 1251 Letts M, Pang E, D'Astous J, et al. The influence of desmopressin on blood loss during spinal fusion surgery in neuromuscular patients. *Spine* 1998; 23:475–478.
- 1252 Schouten ES, van de Pol AC, Schouten AN, Turner NM, Jansen NJ, Bollen CW. The effect of aprotinin, tranexamic acid, and aminocaproic acid on blood loss and use of blood products in major pediatric surgery: a meta-analysis. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2009; 10:182–190.
- 1253 Chauhan S, Bisoi A, Kumar N, et al. Dose comparison of tranexamic acid in pediatric cardiac surgery. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2004; 12:121–124.
- 1254 Patrono C, Baigent C, Hirsh J, Roth G, American College of Chest P. Antiplatelet drugs: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008; **133** (6 Suppl):199S-233S.
- 1255 Cahill RA, McGreal GT, Crowe BH, et al. Duration of increased bleeding tendency after cessation of aspirin therapy. J Am Coll Surg 2005; 200:564–573; quiz A559-561.
- 1256 Beving H, Zhao C, Albage A, Ivert T. Abnormally high platelet activity after discontinuation of acetylsalicylic acid treatment. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 1996; **7**:80–84.
- 1257 Vial JH, McLeod LJ, Roberts MS. Rebound elevation in urinary thromboxane B2 and 6-keto-PGF1 alpha excretion after aspirin withdrawal. Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot Res 1991; 21A:157-160.
- 1258 Collet JP, Montalescot G, Blanchet B, et al. Impact of prior use or recent withdrawal of oral antiplatelet agents on acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation* 2004; **110**:2361–2367.
- 1259 Bachman DS. Discontinuing chronic aspirin therapy: another risk factor for stroke? *Ann Neurol* 2002; **51**:137–138.
- 1260 Albaladejo P, Geeraerts T, Francis F, Castier Y, Leseche G, Marty J. Aspirin withdrawal and acute lower limb ischemia. *Anesth Analg* 2004; 99:440-443; table of contents.
- 1261 Pulmonary Embolism Prevention PEP Trial Collaborative Group. Prevention of pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis with low dose aspirin: Pulmonary Embolism Prevention (PEP) trial. *Lancet* 2000; 355: 1295–1302.

- 1262 Burger W, Chemnitius JM, Kneissl GD, Rucker G. Low-dose aspirin for secondary cardiovascular prevention - cardiovascular risks after its perioperative withdrawal versus bleeding risks with its continuation review and meta-analysis. J Intern Med 2005; 257:399-414.
- 1263 Giannarini G, Mogorovich A, Valent F, et al. Continuing or discontinuing low-dose aspirin before transrectal prostate biopsy: results of a prospective randomized trial. Urology 2007; 70:501–505.
- 1264 Ehrlich Y, Yossepowitch O, Margel D, Lask D, Livne PM, Baniel J. Early initiation of aspirin after prostate and transurethral bladder surgeries is not associated with increased incidence of postoperative bleeding: a prospective, randomized trial. *J Urol* 2007; 178:524–528.
- 1265 Sobel M, Verhaeghe R. American College of Chest P, American College of Chest P. Antithrombotic therapy for peripheral artery occlusive disease: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008; **133 (6 Suppl)**: 815S-843S.
- 1266 Oscarsson A, Gupta A, Fredrikson M, *et al.* To continue or discontinue aspirin in the perioperative period: a randomized, controlled clinical trial. *Br J Anaesth* 2010; **104**:305–312.
- 1267 Mantz J, Samama CM, Tubach F, et al. Impact of preoperative maintenance or interruption of aspirin on thrombotic and bleeding events after elective non-cardiac surgery: the multicentre, randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled, STRATAGEM trial. Br J Anaesth 2011; 107:899– 910.
- 1268 Samama CM, Bonnin P, Bonneau M, et al. Comparative arterial antithrombotic activity of clopidogrel and acetyl salicylic acid in the pig. *Thromb Haemost* 1992; 68:500-505.
- 1269 Kaluza GL, Joseph J, Lee JR, Raizner ME, Raizner AE. Catastrophic outcomes of noncardiac surgery soon after coronary stenting. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 35:1288–1294.
- 1270 Nuttall GA, Brown MJ, Stombaugh JW, et al. Time and cardiac risk of surgery after bare-metal stent percutaneous coronary intervention. *Anesthesiology* 2008; **109**:588–595.
- 1271 Daemen J, Wenaweser P, Tsuchida K, et al. Early and late coronary stent thrombosis of sirolimus-eluting and paclitaxel-eluting stents in routine clinical practice: data from a large two-institutional cohort study. Lancet 2007; 369:667–678.
- 1272 Iakovou I, Schmidt T, Bonizzoni E, et al. Incidence, predictors, and outcome of thrombosis after successful implantation of drug-eluting stents. JAMA 2005; 293:2126-2130.
- 1273 Eisenberg MJ, Richard PR, Libersan D, Filion KB. Safety of short-term discontinuation of antiplatelet therapy in patients with drug-eluting stents. *Circulation* 2009; **119**:1634–1642.
- 1274 Rabbitts JA, Nuttall GA, Brown MJ, et al. Cardiac risk of noncardiac surgery after percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting stents. Anesthesiology 2008; 109:596–604.
- 1275 Godet G, Le Manach Y, Lesache F, Perbet S, Coriat P. Drug-eluting stent thrombosis in patients undergoing non-cardiac surgery: is it always a problem? *Br J Anaesth* 2008; **100**:472–477.
- 1276 Schouten O, van Domburg RT, Bax JJ, et al. Noncardiac surgery after coronary stenting: early surgery and interruption of antiplatelet therapy are associated with an increase in major adverse cardiac events. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49:122–124.
- 1277 Gurbel PA, Bliden KP, Butler K, et al. Randomized double-blind assessment of the ONSET and OFFSET of the antiplatelet effects of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with stable coronary artery disease: the ONSET/OFFSET study. *Circulation* 2009; **120**:2577– 2585.
- 1278 Johnson EA, Mulloy B. The molecular-weight range of mucosal-heparin preparations. Carbohydr Res 1976; 51:119–127.
- 1279 Raschke R, Hirsh J, Guidry JR. Suboptimal monitoring and dosing of unfractionated heparin in comparative studies with low-molecularweight heparin. Ann Intern Med 2003; 138:720-723.
- 1280 Samama CM, Albaladejo P, Benhamou D, et al. Venous thromboembolism prevention in surgery and obstetrics: clinical practice guidelines. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2006; 23:95–116.
- 1281 Hirsh J, Warkentin TE, Shaughnessy SG, et al. Heparin and lowmolecular-weight heparin: mechanisms of action, pharmacokinetics, dosing, monitoring, efficacy, and safety. Chest 2001; **119 (1 Suppl)**: 64S-94S.
- 1282 Hubbard AR, Jennings CA. Neutralisation of heparan sulphate and low molecular weight heparin by protamine. *Thromb Haemost* 1985; 53:86–89.
- 1283 Boneu B, Necciari J, Cariou R, et al. Pharmacokinetics and tolerance of the natural pentasaccharide (SR90107/Org31540) with high affinity to antithrombin III in man. *Thromb Haemost* 1995; 74:1468-1473.

- 1284 Weitz JI, Hirsh J, Samama MM. American College of Chest P. New antithrombotic drugs: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008; 133 (6 Suppl):234S-256S.
- 1285 Donat F, Duret JP, Santoni A, *et al.* The pharmacokinetics of fondaparinux sodium in healthy volunteers. *Clinical pharmacokinetics* 2002; **41 (Suppl 2)**:1–9.
- 1286 Gerotziafas GT, Depasse F, Chakroun T, Samama MM, Elalamy I. Recombinant factor VIIa partially reverses the inhibitory effect of fondaparinux on thrombin generation after tissue factor activation in platelet rich plasma and whole blood. *Thromb Haemost* 2004; **91**:531 – 537.
- 1287 Eriksson BI, Dahl OE, Rosencher N, et al. Dabigatran etexilate versus enoxaparin for prevention of venous thromboembolism after total hip replacement: a randomised, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2007; **370**:949–956.
- 1288 Eriksson BI, Dahl OE, Rosencher N, et al. Oral dabigatran etexilate vs. subcutaneous enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after total knee replacement: the RE-MODEL randomized trial. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5:2178-2185.
- 1289 The RE-MOBILIZE Writing Committee. The Oral Thrombin Inhibitor Dabigatran Etexilate vs the North American Enoxaparin Regimen for the Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism after Knee Arthroplasty Surgery. J Arthroplasty 2009; 24: 1–9.
- 1290 Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:1139-1151.
- 1291 Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:2342-2352.
- 1292 van Ryn J, Litzenburger T, Waterman A, et al. Dabigatran anticoagulant activity is neutralized by an antibody selective to Dabigatran in in vitro and invivo models. JACC 2011; 57:E1130.
- 1293 Weitz Jl. New oral anticoagulants in development. *Thromb Haemost* 2010; **103**:62–70.
- 1294 Lassen MR, Ageno W, Borris LC, *et al.* Rivaroxaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after total knee arthroplasty. *N Engl J Med* 2008; 358:2776-2786.
- 1295 Eriksson BI, Borris LC, Friedman RJ, et al. Rivaroxaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after hip arthroplasty. N Engl J Med 2008; **358**:2765–2775.
- 1296 Xu, Q. Xarelto (Rivaroxaban): Cardiovascular and Renal Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting. March 19, 2009. http://www.fda.gov/downloads/ AdvisoryCommittees/Committees/MeetingMaterials/Drugs/ CardiovascularandRenalDrugsAdvisoryCommittee/UCM143660.pdf. [Accessed 20 March 2012].
- 1297 EINSTEIN Investigators, Bauersachs R, Berkowitz SD, et al. Oral rivaroxaban for symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2010; 363: 2499–2510.
- 1298 Lassen MR, Raskob GE, Gallus A, Pineo G, Chen D, Portman RJ. Apixaban or enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after knee replacement. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:594–604.
- 1299 Lassen MR, Raskob GE, Gallus A, et al. Apixaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after knee replacement (ADVANCE-2): a randomised double-blind trial. *Lancet* 2010; 375:807-815.
- 1300 Lassen MR, Gallus A, Raskob GE, *et al.* Apixaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after hip replacement. *N Engl J Med* 2010; 363:2487-2498.
- 1301 Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray JJ, et al. Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2011; 365:981– 992.
- 1302 Raskob G, Cohen AT, Eriksson BI, et al. Oral direct factor Xa inhibition with edoxaban for thromboprophylaxis after elective total hip replacement. A randomised double-blind dose-response study. Thromb Haemost 2010; 104:642–649.
- 1303 Thompson CA, Kyle R, Gertz M, Heit J, Pruthi R, Pardanani A. Systemic AL amyloidosis with acquired factor X deficiency: A study of perioperative bleeding risk and treatment outcomes in 60 patients. *Am J Hematol* 2010; **85**:171–173.
- 1304 Franchini M, Lippi G, Manzato F, Vescovi PP, Targher G. Hemostatic abnormalities in endocrine and metabolic disorders. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2010; **162**:439–451.
- 1305 Franchini M. Hemostasis and thyroid diseases revisited. J Endocrinol Invest 2004; 27:886–892.
- 1306 McCloskey DJ, Postolache TT, Vittone BJ, et al. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: measurement of effect on platelet function. *Transl Res* 2008; **151**:168–172.

Eur J Anaesthesiol 2013; **30:**270–382

Copyright © European Society of Anaesthesiology. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

1307 Movig KL, Janssen MW, de Waal Malefijt J, Kabel PJ, Leufkens HG, Egberts AC. Relationship of serotonergic antidepressants and need for blood transfusion in orthopedic surgical patients. *Arch Intern Med* 2003; 163:2354–2358.

EJΔ

- 1308 van Haelst IM, Egberts TC, Doodeman HJ, et al. Use of serotonergic antidepressants and bleeding risk in orthopedic patients. Anesthesiology 2010; 112:631-636.
- 1309 Andreasen JJ, Riis A, Hjortdal VE, Jorgensen J, Sorensen HT, Johnsen SP. Effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors on requirement for allogeneic red blood cell transfusion following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs* 2006; **6**:243–250.
- 1310 Tully PJ, Cardinal T, Bennetts JS, Baker RA. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, venlafaxine and duloxetine are associated with in hospital morbidity but not bleeding or late mortality after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Heart Lung Circ* 2012; 21:206–214.
- 1311 Labos C, Dasgupta K, Nedjar H, Turecki G, Rahme E. Risk of bleeding associated with combined use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and antiplatelet therapy following acute myocardial infarction. CMAJ 2011; 183:1835–1843.
- 1312 Huyse FJ, Touw DJ, van Schijndel RS, de Lange JJ, Slaets JP. Psychotropic drugs and the perioperative period: a proposal for a guideline in elective surgery. *Psychosomatics* 2006; **47**:8–22.
- 1313 Eberl W, Budde U, Bentele K, et al. Acquired von Willebrand syndrome as side effect of valproic acid therapy in children is rare. *Hamostaseologie* 2009; 29:137–142.
- 1314 Kose G, Arhan E, Unal B, Ozaydin E, Guven A, Sayli TR. Valproateassociated coagulopathies in children during short-term treatment. *J Child Neurol* 2009; 24:1493–1498.
- 1315 Schädlich D, Friebel D, Schallner J, et al. [Evaluation of haemostasis in children treated with valproic acid]. *Hamostaseologie* 2010; **30** (Suppl 1):S132-137.
- 1316 Manohar C, Avitsian R, Lozano S, Gonzalez-Martinez J, Cata JP. The effect of antiepileptic drugs on coagulation and bleeding in the perioperative period of epilepsy surgery: the Cleveland Clinic experience. J Clin Neurosci 2011; 18:1180–1184.
- 1317 Kellermann AJ, Kloft C. Is there a risk of bleeding associated with standardized Ginkgo biloba extract therapy? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pharmacotherapy* 2011; **31**:490–502.
- 1318 Gardner CD, Zehnder JL, Rigby AJ, Nicholus JR, Farquhar JW. Effect of Ginkgo biloba (EGb 761) and aspirin on platelet aggregation and platelet function analysis among older adults at risk of cardiovascular disease: a randomized clinical trial. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2007; 18:787–793.
- 1319 Wolf HR. Does Ginkgo biloba special extract EGb 761 provide additional effects on coagulation and bleeding when added to acetylsalicylic acid 500 mg daily? *Drugs R D* 2006; 7:163–172.
- 1320 Nichols WL, Hultin MB, James AH, *et al.* von Willebrand disease (VWD): evidence-based diagnosis and management guidelines, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) Expert Panel report (USA). *Haemophilia* 2008; **14**:171–232.
- 1321 Mannucci PM. Treatment of von Willebrand's Disease. N Engl J Med 2004; **351**:683-694.
- 1322 Franchini M, Lippi G. Acquired von Willebrand syndrome: an update. *Am J Hematol* 2007; **82**:368–375.
- 1323 Rodeghiero F, Castaman G, Tosetto A. How I treat von Willebrand disease. *Blood* 2009; **114**:1158–1165.
- 1324 Tosetto A, Rodeghiero F, Castaman G, et al. A comparison between two semi-quantitative bleeding scales for the diagnosis and assessment of bleeding severity in type 1 von Willebrand disease. *Haemophilia* 2011; 17:165–166.
- 1325 Tosetto A, Castaman G, Plug I, Rodeghiero F, Eikenboom J. Prospective evaluation of the clinical utility of quantitative bleeding severity assessment in patients referred for hemostatic evaluation. *J Thromb Haemost* 2011; **9**:1143–1148.
- 1326 Bowman M, Riddel J, Rand ML, Tosetto A, Silva M, James PD. Evaluation of the diagnostic utility for von Willebrand disease of a pediatric bleeding questionnaire. J Thromb Haemost 2009; 7:1418–1421.
- 1327 Marcus PD, Nire KG, Grooms L, Klima J, O'Brien SH. The power of a standardized bleeding score in diagnosing paediatric type 1 von Willebrand's disease and platelet function defects. *Haemophilia* 2011; 17:223–227.
- 1328 Tosetto A, Rodeghiero F, Castaman G, et al. A quantitative analysis of bleeding symptoms in type 1 von Willebrand disease: results from a multicenter European study (MCMDM-1 VWD). J Thromb Haemost 2006; 4:766–773.
- 1329 Biss TT, Blanchette VS, Clark DS, *et al.* Quantitation of bleeding symptoms in children with von Willebrand disease: use of a standardized pediatric bleeding questionnaire. *J Thromb Haemost* 2010; **8**:950–956.

- 1330 Mannucci PM, Franchini M, Castaman G, Federici AB. Italian Association of Hemophilia C. Evidence-based recommendations on the treatment of von Willebrand disease in Italy. *Blood Transfus* 2009; 7:117-126.
- 1331 Pasi KJ, Collins PW, Keeling DM, et al. Management of von Willebrand disease: a guideline from the UK Haemophilia Centre Doctors' Organization. Haemophilia 2004; 10:218–231.
- 1332 Michiels JJ, van Vliet HH, Berneman Z, Schroyens W, Gadisseur A. Managing patients with von Willebrand disease type 1, 2 and 3 with desmopressin and von Willebrand factor-factor VIII concentrate in surgical settings. Acta Haematol 2009; 121:167–176.
- 1333 Castaman G, Lethagen S, Federici AB, et al. Response to desmopressin is influenced by the genotype and phenotype in type 1 von Willebrand disease (VWD): results from the European Study MCMDM-1VWD. Blood 2008; 111:3531–3539.
- 1334 Federici AB, Sacco R, Stabile F, Carpenedo M, Zingaro E, Mannucci PM. Optimising local therapy during oral surgery in patients with von Willebrand disease: effective results from a retrospective analysis of 63 cases. *Haemophilia* 2000; 6:71–77.
- 1335 Morimoto Y, Yoshioka A, Sugimoto M, Imai Y, Kirita T. Haemostatic management of intraoral bleeding in patients with von Willebrand disease. Oral Dis 2005; 11:243–248.
- 1336 Nitu-Whalley IC, Griffioen A, Harrington C, Lee CA. Retrospective review of the management of elective surgery with desmopressin and clotting factor concentrates in patients with von Willebrand disease. Am J Hematol 2001; 66:280–284.
- 1337 Revel-Vilk S, Schmugge M, Carcao MD, Blanchette P, Rand ML, Blanchette VS. Desmopressin (DDAVP) responsiveness in children with von Willebrand disease. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2003; 25:874–879.
- 1338 Jimenez-Yuste V, Prim MP, De Diego JI, et al. Otolaryngologic surgery in children with von Willebrand disease. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002; **128**:1365–1368.
- 1339 Rodriguez KD, Sun GH, Pike F, Mandel EM, Casselbrant ML, Chi DH. Post-tonsillectomy bleeding in children with von Willebrand disease: a single-institution experience. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2010; 142:715-721.
- 1340 Witmer CM, Elden L, Butler RB, Manno CS, Raffini LJ. Incidence of bleeding complications in pediatric patients with type 1 von Willebrand disease undergoing adenotonsillar procedures. *J Pediatr* 2009; 155:68–72.
- 1341 Keeling D, Tait C, Makris M. Guideline on the selection and use of therapeutic products to treat haemophilia and other hereditary bleeding disorders. A United Kingdom Haemophilia Center Doctors' Organisation (UKHCDO) guideline approved by the British Committee for Standards in Haematology. *Haemophilia* 2008; **14**:671–684.
- 1342 Howman R, Barnes C, Curtin J, et al. The clinical efficacy and safety of the FVIII/VWF concentrate, BIOSTATE(R), in children with von Willebrand disorder: a multi-centre retrospective review. *Haemophilia* 2011; 17:463–469.
- 1343 Lillicrap D, Poon MC, Walker I, Xie F, Schwartz BA. Association of Hemophilia Clinic Directors of C. Efficacy and safety of the factor VIII/von Willebrand factor concentrate, haemate-P/humate-P: ristocetin cofactor unit dosing in patients with von Willebrand disease. *Thromb Haemost* 2002; **87**:224–230.
- 1344 Federici AB, Barillari G, Zanon E, et al. Efficacy and safety of highly purified, doubly virus-inactivated VWF/FVIII concentrates in inherited von Willebrand's disease: results of an Italian cohort study on 120 patients characterized by bleeding severity score. *Haemophilia* 2010; 16:101–110.
- 1345 Franchini M, Rossetti G, Tagliaferri A, et al. Efficacy and safety of factor VIII/von Willebrand's factor concentrate (Haemate-P) in preventing bleeding during surgery or invasive procedures in patients with von Willebrand disease. *Haematologica* 2003; 88:1279–1283.
- 1346 Hernandez-Navarro F, Quintana M, Jimenez-Yuste V, Alvarez MT, Fernandez-Morata R. Clinical efficacy in bleeding and surgery in von Willebrand patients treated with Fanhdi a highly purified, doubly inactivated FVIII/VWF concentrate. *Haemophilia* 2008; 14:963–967.
- 1347 Rivard GE, Aledort L, Alphanate Surgical I. Efficacy of factor VIII/von Willebrand factor concentrate Alphanate in preventing excessive bleeding during surgery in subjects with von Willebrand disease. *Haemophilia* 2008; 14:271–275.
- 1348 Thompson AR, Gill JC, Ewenstein BM, Mueller-Velten G, Schwartz BA, Humate PSG. Successful treatment for patients with von Willebrand disease undergoing urgent surgery using factor VIII/VWF concentrate (Humate-P). *Haemophilia* 2004; **10**:42–51.
- 1349 Viswabandya A, Mathews V, George B, et al. Successful surgical haemostasis in patients with von Willebrand disease with Koate DVI. Haemophilia 2008; 14:763–767.

- 1350 Windyga J, von Depka-Prondzinski M, European Wilate Study G. Efficacy and safety of a new generation von Willebrand factor/factor VIII concentrate (Wilate(R)) in the management of perioperative haemostasis in von Willebrand disease patients undergoing surgery. *Thromb Haemost* 2011; **105**:1072–1079.
- 1351 Federici AB. The safety of plasma-derived von Willebrand/factor VIII concentrates in the management of inherited von Willebrand disease. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* 2009; **8**:203–210.
- 1352 van Vliet HH, Kappers-Klunne MC, Leebeek FW, Michiels JJ. PFA-100 monitoring of von Willebrand factor (VWF) responses to desmopressin (DDAVP) and factor VIII/VWF concentrate substitution in von Willebrand disease type 1 and 2. *Thromb Haemost* 2008; **100**:462– 468.
- 1353 Makris M, Colvin B, Gupta V, Shields ML, Smith MP. Venous thrombosis following the use of intermediate purity FVIII concentrate to treat patients with von Willebrand's disease. *Thromb Haemost* 2002; 88:387–388.
- 1354 Sindet-Pedersen S. Distribution of tranexamic acid to plasma and saliva after oral administration and mouth rinsing: a pharmacokinetic study. *J Clin Pharmacol* 1987; 27:1005–1008.
- 1355 Castillo R, Escolar G, Monteagudo J, Aznar-Salatti J, Reverter JC, Ordinas A. Hemostasis in patients with severe von Willebrand disease improves after normal platelet transfusion and normalizes with further correction of the plasma defect. *Transfusion* 1997; **37**:785–790.
- 1356 Bolton-Maggs PH, Chalmers EA, Collins PW, et al. A review of inherited platelet disorders with guidelines for their management on behalf of the UKHCDO. Br J Haematol 2006; 135:603–633.
- 1357 Coppola A, Di Minno G. Desmopressin in inherited disorders of platelet function. *Haemophilia* 2008; **14 (Suppl 1)**:31–39.
- 1358 Alamelu J, Liesner R. Modern management of severe platelet function disorders. *Br J Haematol* 2010; **149**:813–823.
- 1359 Rodeghiero F, Tosetto A, Castaman G. How to estimate bleeding risk in mild bleeding disorders. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5 (Suppl 1):157– 166.
- 1360 Tosetto A, Balduini CL, Cattaneo M, *et al.* Management of bleeding and of invasive procedures in patients with platelet disorders and/or thrombocytopenia: Guidelines of the Italian Society for Haemostasis and Thrombosis (SISET). *Thromb Res* 2009; **124**:e13–e18.
- 1361 Rodeghiero F, Tosetto A, Abshire T, et al. ISTH/SSC bleeding assessment tool: a standardized questionnaire and a proposal for a new bleeding score for inherited bleeding disorders. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8:2063–2065.
- 1362 Biss TT, Blanchette VS, Clark DS, Wakefield CD, James PD, Rand ML. Use of a quantitative pediatric bleeding questionnaire to assess mucocutaneous bleeding symptoms in children with a platelet function disorder. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8:1416–1419.
- 1363 Quiroga T, Goycoolea M, Panes O, *et al.* High prevalence of bleeders of unknown cause among patients with inherited mucocutaneous bleeding. A prospective study of 280 patients and 299 controls. *Haematologica* 2007; 92:357–365.
- 1364 Podda GM, Bucciarelli P, Lussana F, Lecchi A, Cattaneo M. Usefulness of PFA-100 testing in the diagnostic screening of patients with suspected abnormalities of hemostasis: comparison with the bleeding time. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5:2393–2398.
- 1365 Peyvandi F, Cattaneo M, Inbal A, De Moerloose P, Spreafico M. Rare bleeding disorders. *Haemophilia* 2008; **14 (Suppl 3)**:202–210.
- 1366 Rao AK, Ghosh S, Sun L, et al. Mechanisms of platelet dysfunction and response to DDAVP in patients with congenital platelet function defects. A double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Thromb Haemost* 1995; 74:1071-1078.
- 1367 Zatik J, Poka R, Borsos A, Pfliegler G. Variable response of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome to prophylactic administration of 1-desamino 8Darginine in subsequent pregnancies. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2002; **104**:165–166.
- 1368 Poon MC, D'Oiron R, Von Depka M, et al. Prophylactic and therapeutic recombinant factor VIIa administration to patients with Glanzmann's thrombasthenia: results of an international survey. J Thromb Haemost 2004; 2:1096–1103.
- 1369 Almeida AM, Khair K, Hann I, Liesner R. The use of recombinant factor VIIa in children with inherited platelet function disorders. *Br J Haematol* 2003; **121**:477–481.
- 1370 Hennewig U, Laws HJ, Eisert S, Gobel U. Bleeding and surgery in children with Glanzmann thrombasthenia with and without the use of recombinant factor VII a. *Klin Padiatr* 2005; **217**:365–370.
- 1371 Blumberg N, Heal JM, Phillips GL. Platelet transfusions: trigger, dose, benefits, and risks. F1000 Med Rep 2010; 2:5.
- 1372 Bishop JF, Schiffer CA, Aisner J, Matthews JP, Wiernik PH. Surgery in acute leukemia: a review of 167 operations in thrombocytopenic patients. Am J Hematol 1987; 26:147–155.

- 1373 Zeidler K, Arn K, Senn O, Schanz U, Stussi G. Optimal preprocedural platelet transfusion threshold for central venous catheter insertions in patients with thrombocytopenia. *Transfusion* 2011; **51**:2269–2276.
- 1374 Cid J, Lozano M. Lower or higher doses for prophylactic platelet transfusions: results of a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Transfusion* 2007; **47**:464–470.
- 1375 Mannucci PM, Tuddenham EG. The hemophilias-from royal genes to gene therapy. N Engl J Med 2001; **344**:1773-1779.
- 1376 White GC 2nd, Rosendaal F, Aledort LM, et al. Definitions in hemophilia. Recommendation of the scientific subcommittee on factor VIII and factor IX of the scientific and standardization committee of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis. Thromb Haemost 2001; 85:560.
- 1377 Franchini M, Favaloro EJ, Lippi G. Mild hemophilia A. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8:421-432.
- 1378 Franchini M, Zaffanello M, Lippi G. Acquired hemophilia in pediatrics: a systematic review. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2010; **55**:606–611.
- 1379 Hermans C, Altisent C, Batorova A, et al. Replacement therapy for invasive procedures in patients with haemophilia: literature review, European survey and recommendations. *Haemophilia* 2009; 15:639– 658.
- 1380 Aryal KR, Wiseman D, Siriwardena AK, Bolton-Maggs PH, Hay CR, Hill J. General surgery in patients with a bleeding diathesis: how we do it. World J Surg 2011; 35:2603-2610.
- 1381 Goldmann G, Holoborodska Y, Oldenburg J, et al. Perioperative management and outcome of general and abdominal surgery in hemophiliacs. Am J Surg 2010; 199:702-707.
- 1382 Sikkema T, Boerboom AL, Meijer K. A comparison between the complications and long-term outcome of hip and knee replacement therapy in patients with and without haemophilia; a controlled retrospective cohort study. *Haemophilia* 2011; **17**:300–303.
- 1383 Watts RG, Cook RP. Operative management and outcomes in children with congenital bleeding disorders: a retrospective review at a single haemophilia treatment centre. *Haemophilia* 2012; **18**:421–425.
- 1384 Batlle J, Villar A, Liras A, et al. Consensus opinion for the selection and use of therapeutic products for the treatment of haemophilia in Spain. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2008; 19:333–340.
- 1385 Mauser-Bunschoten EP, Roosendaal G, van den Berg HM. Product choice and haemophilia treatment in the Netherlands. *Haemophilia* 2001; 7:96-98.
- 1386 Santagostino E, Mannucci PM, Bianchi Bonomi A. Guidelines on replacement therapy for haemophilia and inherited coagulation disorders in Italy. *Haemophilia* 2000; 6:1–10.
- 1387 World Federation of Haemophilia. Guidelines for the management of haemophilia. http://www.wfh.org. [Accessed November 27 2011].
- 1388 Srivastava A, Chandy M, Sunderaj GD, et al. Low-dose intermittent factor replacement for post-operative haemostasis in haemophilia. *Haemophilia* 1998; 4:799–801.
- 1389 Wong JM, Mann HA, Goddard NJ. Perioperative clotting factor replacement and infection in total knee arthroplasty. *Haemophilia* 2012; 18:607–612.
- 1390 Franchini M. Plasma-derived versus recombinant Factor VIII concentrates for the treatment of haemophilia A: recombinant is better. Blood Transfus 2010; 8:292–296.
- 1391 Mannucci PM. Plasma-derived versus recombinant factor VIII concentrates for the treatment of haemophilia A: plasma-derived is better. *Blood Transfus* 2010; **8**:288–291.
- 1392 Goudemand J, Rothschild C, Demiguel V, et al. Influence of the type of factor VIII concentrate on the incidence of factor VIII inhibitors in previously untreated patients with severe hemophilia A. Blood 2006; 107:46-51.
- 1393 Strauss T, Lubetsky A, Ravid B, et al. Recombinant factor concentrates may increase inhibitor development: a single centre cohort study. *Haemophilia* 2011; 17:625–629.
- 1394 Gouw SC, van der Bom JG, Marijke van den Berg H. Treatment-related risk factors of inhibitor development in previously untreated patients with hemophilia A: the CANAL cohort study. *Blood* 2007; **109**:4648–4654.
- 1395 Musso R. Efficacy and safety of recombinant factor VIII products in patients with hemophilia A. *Drugs Today* 2008; **44**:735-750.
- 1396 Franchini M, Tagliaferri A, Mengoli C, Cruciani M. Cumulative inhibitor incidence in previously untreated patients with severe hemophilia A treated with plasma-derived versus recombinant factor VIII concentrates: a critical systematic review. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 2012; 81:82–93.
- 1397 Iorio A, Halimeh S, Holzhauer S, et al. Rate of inhibitor development in previously untreated hemophilia A patients treated with plasma-derived or recombinant factor VIII concentrates: a systematic review. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8:1256–1265.

1398 Mancuso ME, Mannucci PM, Rocino A, Garagiola I, Tagliaferri A, Santagostino E. Source and purity of factor VIII products as risk factors for inhibitor development in patients with hemophilia A. J Thromb Haemost 2012; 10:781–790.

EJΔ

- 1399 Lissitchkov T, Matysiak M, Zavilska K, et al. A clinical study assessing the pharmacokinetics, efficacy and safety of AlphaNine((R)), a high-purity factor IX concentrate, in patients with severe haemophilia B. Haemophilia 2011; 17:590–596.
- 1400 Ragni MV, Pasi KJ, White GC, et al. Use of recombinant factor IX in subjects with haemophilia B undergoing surgery. *Haemophilia* 2002; 8:91–97.
- 1401 Mauser-Bunschoten EP, Kleine Budde I, Lopaciuk S, et al. An ultrapure plasma-derived monoclonal antibody-purified factor IX concentrate (Nonafact(R)), results of phase III and IV clinical studies. *Haemophilia* 2011; **17**:439–445.
- 1402 Coppola A, Franchini M, Makris M, Santagostino E, Di Minno G, Mannucci PM. Thrombotic adverse events to coagulation factor concentrates for treatment of patients with haemophilia and von Willebrand disease: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Haemophilia* 2012; **18**:e173-e187.
- 1403 Franchini M, Makris M, Santagostino E, Coppola A, Mannucci PM. Nonthrombotic-, non-inhibitor-associated adverse reactions to coagulation factor concentrates for treatment of patients with hemophilia and von Willebrand's disease: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Haemophilia* 2012; **18**:e164-e172.
- 1404 Batorova A, Martinowitz U. Intermittent injections vs. continuous infusion of factor VIII in haemophilia patients undergoing major surgery. Br J Haematol 2000; 110:715–720.
- 1405 Stieltjes N, Altisent C, Auerswald G, et al. Continuous infusion of Bdomain deleted recombinant factor VIII (ReFacto) in patients with haemophilia A undergoing surgery: clinical experience. Haemophilia 2004; 10:452–458.
- 1406 Négrier C, Shapiro A, Berntorp E, *et al.* Surgical evaluation of a recombinant factor VIII prepared using a plasma/albumin-free method: efficacy and safety of Advate in previously treated patients. *Thromb Haemost* 2008; **100**:217–223.
- 1407 Schulman S, Loogna J, Wallensten R. Minimizing factor requirements for surgery without increased risk. *Haemophilia* 2004; **10 (Suppl 4)**:35– 40.
- 1408 Martinowitz U, Luboshitz J, Bashari D, et al. Stability, efficacy, and safety of continuously infused sucrose-formulated recombinant factor VIII (rFVIII-FS) during surgery in patients with severe haemophilia. *Haemophilia* 2009; **15**:676–685.
- 1409 Eckhardt CL, Menke LA, van Ommen CH, *et al.* Intensive peri-operative use of factor VIII and the Arg593–>Cys mutation are risk factors for inhibitor development in mild/moderate hemophilia A. *J Thromb Haemost* 2009; **7**:930–937.
- 1410 Windyga J, Rusen L, Gruppo R, et al. BDDrFVIII (Moroctocog alfa [AF-CC]) for surgical haemostasis in patients with haemophilia A: results of a pivotal study. *Haemophilia* 2010; **16**:731–739.
- 1411 Batorova A, Holme P, Gringeri A, et al. Continuous infusion in haemophilia: current practice in Europe. Haemophilia 2012; 18:753– 759.
- 1412 Morfini M. Secondary prophylaxis with factor IX concentrates: continuous infusion. *Blood Transfus* 2008; 6 (Suppl 2):s21-s25.
- 1413 Chowdary P, Dasani H, Jones JA, et al. Recombinant factor IX (BeneFix) by adjusted continuous infusion: a study of stability, sterility and clinical experience. *Haemophilia* 2001; 7:140–145.
- 1414 Hoots WK, Leissinger C, Stabler S, et al. Continuous intravenous infusion of a plasma-derived factor IX concentrate (Mononine) in haemophilia B. Haemophilia 2003; 9:164–172.
- 1415 Iorio A, Matino D, D'Amico R, Makris M. Recombinant Factor VIIa concentrate versus plasma derived concentrates for the treatment of acute bleeding episodes in people with haemophilia and inhibitors. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; (8):CD004449.
- 1416 Johansson PI, Ostrowski SR. Evidence supporting the use of recombinant activated factor VII in congenital bleeding disorders. *Drug Des Devel Ther* 2010; 4:107–116.
- 1417 Lloyd Jones M, Wight J, Paisley S, Knight C. Control of bleeding in patients with haemophilia A with inhibitors: a systematic review. *Haemophilia* 2003; **9**:464–520.
- 1418 Lauroua P, Ferrer AM, Guerin V. Successful major and minor surgery using factor VIII inhibitor bypassing activity in patients with haemophilia A and inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2009; 15:1300–1307.
- 1419 Leissinger CA, Becton DL, Ewing NP, Valentino LA. Prophylactic treatment with activated prothrombin complex concentrate (FEIBA) reduces the frequency of bleeding episodes in paediatric patients with haemophilia A and inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2007; **13**:249–255.

- 1420 Valentino LA. The benefits of prophylactic treatment with APCC in patients with haemophilia and high-titre inhibitors: a retrospective case series. *Haemophilia* 2009; 15:733–742.
- 1421 Tjonnfjord GE. Surgery in patients with hemophilia and inhibitors: a review of the Norwegian experience with FEIBA. *Semin Hematol* 2006; 43 (2 Suppl 4):S18–21.
- 1422 Obergfell A, Auvinen MK, Mathew P. Recombinant activated factor VII for haemophilia patients with inhibitors undergoing orthopaedic surgery: a review of the literature. *Haemophilia* 2008; **14**:233–241.
- 1423 Shapiro AD, Gilchrist GS, Hoots WK, Cooper HA, Gastineau DA. Prospective, randomised trial of two doses of rFVIIa (NovoSeven) in haemophilia patients with inhibitors undergoing surgery. *Thromb Haemost* 1998; **80**:773–778.
- 1424 Valentino LA, Cooper DL, Goldstein B. Surgical experience with rFVIIa (NovoSeven) in congenital haemophilia A and B patients with inhibitors to factors VIII or IX. *Haemophilia* 2011; **17**:579–589.
- 1425 Pruthi RK, Mathew P, Valentino LA, et al. Haemostatic efficacy and safety of bolus and continuous infusion of recombinant factor VIIa are comparable in haemophilia patients with inhibitors undergoing major surgery. Results from an open-label, randomized, multicenter trial. *Thromb Haemost* 2007; **98**:726-732.
- 1426 Santagostino E, Morfini M, Rocino A, Baudo F, Scaraggi FA, Gringeri A. Relationship between factor VII activity and clinical efficacy of recombinant factor VIIa given by continuous infusion to patients with factor VIII inhibitors. *Thromb Haemost* 2001; 86:954–958.
- 1427 Smith MP, Ludlam CA, Collins PW, et al. Elective surgery on factor VIII inhibitor patients using continuous infusion of recombinant activated factor VII: plasma factor VII activity of 10 IU/ml is associated with an increased incidence of bleeding. *Thromb Haemost* 2001; 86:949-953.
- 1428 Knight C, Dano AM, Kennedy-Martin T. A systematic review of the costeffectiveness of rFVIIa and APCC in the treatment of minor/moderate bleeding episodes for haemophilia patients with inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2009; **15**:405–419.
- 1429 Lyseng-Williamson KA, Plosker GL. Recombinant factor VIIa (eptacog alfa): a pharmacoeconomic review of its use in haemophilia in patients with inhibitors to clotting factors VIII or IX. *Pharmacoeconomics* 2007; 25:1007–1029.
- 1430 Kraut EH, Aledort LM, Arkin S, Stine KC, Wong WY. Surgical interventions in a cohort of patients with haemophilia A and inhibitors: an experiential retrospective chart review. *Haemophilia* 2007; 13:508– 517.
- 1431 Martinowitz U, Livnat T, Zivelin A, Kenet G. Concomitant infusion of low doses of rFVIIa and FEIBA in haemophilia patients with inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2009; 15:904–910.
- 1432 O'Connell NM, Riddell AF, Pascoe G, Perry DJ, Lee CA. Recombinant factor VIIa to prevent surgical bleeding in factor XI deficiency. *Haemophilia* 2008; 14:775–781.
- 1433 Abshire T, Kenet G. Safety update on the use of recombinant factor VIIa and the treatment of congenital and acquired deficiency of factor VIII or IX with inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2008; **14**:898–902.
- 1434 Hvas AM, Sorensen HT, Norengaard L, Christiansen K, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Tranexamic acid combined with recombinant factor VIII increases clot resistance to accelerated fibrinolysis in severe hemophilia A. J Thromb Haemost 2007; 5:2408-2414.
- 1435 Ghosh K, Shetty S, Jijina F, Mohanty D. Role of epsilon amino caproic acid in the management of haemophilic patients with inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2004; 10:58–62.
- 1436 Lee AP, Boyle CA, Savidge GF, Fiske J. Effectiveness in controlling haemorrhage after dental scaling in people with haemophilia by using tranexamic acid mouthwash. *Br Dent J* 2005; **198**:33–38.
- 1437 Hewson I, Makhmalbaf P, Street A, McCarthy P, Walsh M. Dental surgery with minimal factor support in the inherited bleeding disorder population at the Alfred Hospital. *Haemophilia* 2011; **17**:e185–e188.
- 1438 Hermans C, Hammer F, Lobet S, Lambert C. Subclinical deep venous thrombosis observed in 10% of hemophilic patients undergoing major orthopedic surgery. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8:1138–1140.
- 1439 Tang M, Wierup P, Terp K, Ingerslev J, Sorensen B. Cardiac surgery in patients with haemophilia. *Haemophilia* 2009; **15**:101–107.
- 1440 Mannucci PM, Mauser-Bunschoten EP. Cardiovascular disease in haemophilia patients: a contemporary issue. *Haemophilia* 2010; 16 (Suppl 3):58-66.
- 1441 Castaman G. Prophylaxis of bleeding episodes and surgical interventions in patients with rare inherited coagulation disorders. *Blood Transfus* 2008; **6 (Suppl 2)**:s39–44.
- 1442 Kadir R, Chi C, Bolton-Maggs P. Pregnancy and rare bleeding disorders. Haemophilia 2009; **15**:990–1005.
- 1443 Berntorp E, de Moerloose P, Ljung RC. The role of prophylaxis in bleeding disorders. *Haemophilia* 2010; **16 (Suppl 5)**:189–193.

- 1444 Peyvandi F, Haertel S, Knaub S, Mannucci PM. Incidence of bleeding symptoms in 100 patients with inherited afibrinogenemia or hypofibrinogenemia. *J Thromb Haemost* 2006; **4**:1634–1637.
- 1445 Salomon O, Steinberg DM, Seligshon U. Variable bleeding manifestations characterize different types of surgery in patients with severe factor XI deficiency enabling parsimonious use of replacement therapy. *Haemophilia* 2006; **12**:490–493.
- 1446 Bolton-Maggs PH, Perry DJ, Chalmers EA, et al. The rare coagulation disorders-review with guidelines for management from the United Kingdom Haemophilia Centre Doctors' Organisation. *Haemophilia* 2004; 10:593–628.
- 1447 Kobayashi T, Kanayama N, Tokunaga N, Asahina T, Terao T. Prenatal and peripartum management of congenital afibrinogenaemia. *Br J Haematol* 2000; **109**:364–366.
- 1448 Kreuz W, Meili E, Peter-Salonen K, *et al.* Efficacy and tolerability of a pasteurised human fibrinogen concentrate in patients with congenital fibrinogen deficiency. *Transfus Apher Sci* 2005; **32**:247–253.
- 1449 Benlakhal F, Mura T, Schved JF, Giansily-Blaizot M. French Study Group of Factor VIID. A retrospective analysis of 157 surgical procedures performed without replacement therapy in 83 unrelated factor VIIdeficient patients. *J Thromb Haemost* 2011; **9**:1149–1156.
- 1450 Lobel JS, Majumdar S, Kovats-Bell S. Successful prophylactic treatment for bleeding in a girl with severe hereditary prothrombin deficiency using a prothrombin complex concentrate (Bebulin VH). *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol* 2004; **26**:480–483.
- 1451 Mathias M, Pollard D, Riddell A. Prophylaxis in severe prothrombin deficiency. Br J Haematol 2011; 152:243-244.
- 1452 Barillari G, Pasca S, Gonano N, Daminato R. Prothrombin complex concentrate such as therapy and prophylaxis in factor X-deficient patient (Friuli variant). *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2011; **17**:332–336.
- 1453 van Veen JJ, Hampton KK, Maclean R, Fairlie F, Makris M. Blood product support for delivery in severe factor X deficiency: the use of thrombin generation to guide therapy. *Blood Transfus* 2007; **5**:204–209.
- 1454 Lovejoy AE, Reynolds TC, Visich JE, *et al.* Safety and pharmacokinetics of recombinant factor XIII-A2 administration in patients with congenital factor XIII deficiency. *Blood* 2006; **108**:57–62.
- 1455 Salomon O, Steinberg DM, Tamarin I, Zivelin A, Seligsohn U. Plasma replacement therapy during labor is not mandatory for women with severe factor XI deficiency. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* 2005; 16:37–41.

- 1456 Napolitano M, Mariani G, Lapecorella M. Hereditary combined deficiency of the vitamin K-dependent clotting factors. *Orphanet J Rare Dis* 2010; **5**:21.
- 1457 Brenner B, Wiis J. Experience with recombinant-activated factor VII in 30 patients with congenital factor VII deficiency. *Hematology* 2007; 12:55–62.
- 1458 Busani S, Semeraro G, Cantaroni C, Masetti M, Marietta M, Girardis M. Recombinant activated factor VII in critical bleeding after orthotopic liver transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2008; **40**:1989– 1990.
- 1459 Schulman S, Tjonnfjord GE, Wallensten R, Martinowitz U, Kenet G. Continuous infusion of recombinant factor VIIa for surgery in patients with deficiency of factor VII. *Thromb Haemost* 2005; 94:1177– 1180.
- 1460 Mariani G, Dolce A, Batorova A, et al. Recombinant, activated factor VII for surgery in factor VII deficiency: a prospective evaluation - the surgical STER. Br J Haematol 2011; 152:340–346.
- 1461 Kenet G, Lubetsky A, Luboshitz J, et al. Lower doses of rFVIla therapy are safe and effective for surgical interventions in patients with severe FXI deficiency and inhibitors. *Haemophilia* 2009; 15:1065– 1073.
- 1462 Chi C, Kulkarni A, Lee CA, Kadir RA. The obstetric experience of women with factor XI deficiency. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2009; 88:1095– 1100.
- 1463 Livnat T, Tamarin I, Mor Y, *et al.* Recombinant activated factor VII and tranexamic acid are haemostatically effective during major surgery in factor XI-deficient patients with inhibitor antibodies. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; **102**:487–492.
- 1464 Lapecorella M, Napolitano M, Bernardi F, et al. Effective hemostasis during minor surgery in a case of hereditary combined deficiency of vitamin K-dependent clotting factors. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2010; 16:221–223.
- 1465 Di Marzio I, Iuliani O, Malizia R, *et al.* Successful use of recombinant FVIIa in combined factor V and FVIII deficiency with surgical bleeding resistant to substitutive treatment. A case report. *Haemophilia* 2011; **17**:160– 161.
- 1466 Franchini M, Manzato F, Salvagno GL, Montagnana M, Lippi G. The use of desmopressin in congenital factor XI deficiency: a systematic review. *Ann Hematol* 2009; 88:931–935.